ZEBULON
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
AGENDA
SEPTEMBER 8, 2025
6:00pm

1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

3. PUBLIC COMMENT

All wishing to speak must sign up prior to 5:50pm. The comment period will be no
longer than 15 minutes with speakers having three minutes each to speak. No
speaker can speak on a public hearing item or any item that would need to be
discussed under Closed Session. Speakers cannot give their minutes to another
speaker. If you would like to submit comments to be read into the record at the
meeting, please send comments, of 400 words or less, to Dora Moore at
tozclerk@townofzebulon.org by 3:00pm on September 8, 2025.

4. SCHOOL RECOGNITION

A. Zebulon GT Magnet Elementary
i.  Anna Mitchell - Student
ii. Frank Adamkiewicz - Teacher

5. PRESENTATIONS
A. Housing Study — Aaron Finley, TPMA
B. Proclamations
C. SEED Community Foundation — Karen Farmer

6. CONSENT AGENDA

A. Finance
i. Wake County Tax Report —June 2025
ii. Appropriation of Insurance Proceeds for Community Park Pavilion Repair —
Ordinance 2026-08

B. Planning
i. Zebulon South Planned Development — Ordinance 2026-09



C. Public Works
i Infrastructure Acceptance
a. Sidney Creek Phase 3A — Resolution 2026-05
b. Sidney Creek Phase 3B — Resolution 2026-06
c. Woodland Crossing — Resolution 2026-07

6. NEW BUSINESS

A. Fire
i.  Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) Acceptance for Fire/EMS Station

ii. Adoption of Wake County Emergency Operations Plan and Mutual Aid
Agreement

B. Planning
i. Rezoning 301 Jones St and 108 Pearces Road — Ordinance 2026-10

ii. Public Hearing—1915 & 1917 Old Bunn Road Annexation
a. Annexation Request for 1915 and 1917 Old Bunn Rd - Ordinance

2026-06
iii. Planned Development-1915 & 1917 Old Bunn Road - Ordinance 2026-07

iv. Letter of Intent for the Bennett Bunn House

7. MANAGER’S REPORT
i. Update on Key Personnel Hiring
ii. Financial Addendum

8. BOARD COMMENTS

9. ADJOURN



WAKE|  Board of Commissioners reL 919 856 6180

P.O. Box 550 ¢ Raleigh, NC 27602 Fax 919 856 5699

NORTH CAROLINA

SUSAN P. EVANS, CHAIR
DON MIAL, VICE-CHAIR
VICKIE ADAMSON
SAFIYAH JACKSON
CHERYL STALLINGS
SHINICA THOMAS

TARA WATERS August 19, 2025

Ms. Ana Gomez

Town Clerk

Town of Zebulon

1003 North Arendell Avenue
Zebulon, North Carolina 27597

Dear Ms. Gomez:

The Wake County Board of Commissioners, in regular session on August 18, 2025,
approved and accepted the enclosed tax report for the Town of Zebulon.

The attached adopted actions are submitted for your review; no local board action is
required.

Sincerely,

égﬁmg%

erk to the Board
Wake County Board of Commissioners

Enclosure(s)



NV 15656
JAILL

son1) [[& 10] pajeqay sspntadoag op ETOLI'L8Y STOLILSY 000 LL'LST 00°S89 9P LTT'O8F IVLOL ANVED
NOINIAZIOd
agivamd
1) 10} pajeqay sepaadorg | 70°€S T0°€S 000 8y 000 078y TVIOL
SINNODJV
ALdAd0dd
TVAAIAIANIT
pajeqay sepsadoaqd | T0°€S 70°€S 00'0 ®%F 000 08y W04 STV.LOLdNS
TIAAAN TIHd ‘NMOId 000000  $20T  $20T 6LTSP89000  STOT/TI/9 TOES 000 8F 000 078t 6¥TTT6

SINNODIV ALYAJOUd TVAAIAIANI

$TOT/8I/LO
HLVA

YANMO

AdAL
ONITIIdE YUVHA

dOAd YVIA YHAINNN ALVd
XVL INNOJDV SSHO0Ud TVIOL

NOTN4daZ
y0day prera( deqay
ST0T/0€/90 - STOT/10/90

(UCRAAICR. |

LSTAALNI LSI'T
aaTId

NOILVALSINIAAY XV.L ALN10OD HVM

HLVT ALID AL¥ddOUd

DVL
WN JLVETd



STAFF REPORT
ZEBULON ORDINANCE 2026-08

NORTH CAROLINA APPROPRIATION OF INSURANCE PROCEEDS
SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

Topic: Ordinance 2026-08— Appropriation of Insurance Proceeds
Speaker: Bobby Fitts, Finance Director

Prepared by: Bobby Fitts, Finance Director

Approved by: Taiwo Jaiyeoba, Interim Town Manager

Executive Summary:
The appropriation of insurance proceeds through a Budget Adjustment to fund the repair
of damaged property.

Background:
In January 2025, the Community Park Pavilion suffered water damage when pipes froze

due to cold temperatures. Insurance proceeds of approximately $7,185 will go towards
repair of the pavilion.

Discussion:

The Board of Commissioners must recognize insurance proceeds through a Budget
Adjustment in order to appropriate those funds towards repair work or replacement.
Adoption of the attached ordinance will appropriate funds toward repairing these vehicles

Policy Analysis:
NCGS 159-15, as part of The Local Government Budget and Fiscal Control Act, allows
amendments to the budget ordinance with Board approval.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends approval of Ordinance 2026-08.

Attachments:
1. Ordinance 2026-08



ORDINANCE 2026-08

BE IT ORDAINED by the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Zebulon, that
pursuant to North Carolina General Statutes 159-15, the following amendment be made
to the annual budget ordinance for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2026.

Section 1. To amend the General Fund budget as follows:

INCREASE DECREASE
REVENUES
Insurance Proceeds $7,185.00
EXPENDITURES
Parks & Recreation — ZCC & Maintenance Bidg Maintenance
7,185.00

Section 2. Copies of this amendment shall be furnished to the Town Clerk, and
to the Budget Officer, and to the Finance Officer for their direction.

Adopted: September 8, 2025

Effective: September 8, 2025

Glenn L. York - Mayor

ATTEST:

Dora K. Moore, MMC — Interim Town Clerk



STAFF REPORT
ZEBULON RESOLUTION 2026-05
NORTH CAROLINA SIDNEY CREEK PHASE 3A
ROADWAY AND STORM DRAINAGE ACCEPTANCE
September 8, 2025

Topic: Resolution 2026-05— Sidney Creek Phase 3A- Infrastructure Acceptance

Speaker: Joseph Collins, Interim Project Manager (if pulled from Consent)
From: Richard Fletcher, Public Works Director
Prepared by: Joseph Collins, Interim Project Manager
Approved by: Taiwo Jaiyeoba, Interim Town Manager

Executive Summary:

The Board of Commissioners will consider accepting the roadway and storm-drainage
infrastructure constructed in Sidney Creek Phase 3A for Town of Zebulon ownership and
maintenance.

Background:

The Town of Zebulon follows a practice where the Board considers accepting ownership
and maintenance of roadway and storm-drainage infrastructure installed in new
subdivisions. In advance of this consideration, Staff determines whether the infrastructure
complies with and meets the conditions of permits and Town standards.

DRB Group of North Carolina has completed construction of the roadway and stormwater
infrastructure in Sidney Creek Phase 3A, which includes 147 single family lots. The plat
is slated for recording with the Wake County Registrar of Deeds soon. Staff and third-
party inspectors/engineers have verified that the infrastructure meets or exceeds Town
standards and City of Raleigh utility standards. All close-out documents, listed and
confirmed in Attachment 1, are readily available upon request.

Discussion:

The Board must accept the dedication of streets, curbs, gutters, street signage, and storm
drainage for ownership and maintenance, provided the infrastructure aligns with the
Town’s Uniform Development Ordinance (UDO) and current Town standards.

Policy Analysis:

The infrastructure was installed per Special Use Permit 2019-06 (issued September 9,
2019) and complies with the latest version of the “Town of Zebulon Street & Storm
Drainage Standards and Specifications.” It also meets the requirements for the Town of
Zebulon’s Uniform Development Ordinances section 6.10.4 for dedication of roadways.

Infrastructure Amount and Value
Sidney Creek Phase 3A will dedicate three (3) streets totaling 5267 linear feet (~1.0
miles), and 4950 linear feet (~ .93 miles) of storm drainage valued at $1,230,301.41

The infrastructure will be added to the Town’s capital assets (re. Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report). Upon acceptance, the Town will own and maintain 43.04 miles of street
and 33.43 miles of stormwater pipe.



STAFF REPORT
ZEBULON RESOLUTION 2026-05
NORTH CAROLINA SIDNEY CREEK PHASE 3A
ROADWAY AND STORM DRAINAGE ACCEPTANCE
September 8, 2025

Maintenance Cost

In addition to Staff's annual inspection and cleaning efforts, the Town of Zebulon annually
contracts the cleaning of approximately 10% (3.5-miles) of the Town’s stormwater system
(FY26 budget: $40,000). This work is done to meet one component of the “Pollution
Prevention and Good Housekeeping” objectives of the Town'’s permit (National Pollutant
Discharge Elimination System # NCS000557) with the NC Department of Environmental
Quality (the permit regulating how the Town operates its stormwater system). The
acceptance of Sidney Creek 3A increases the storm drainage network by less than 1%

Streets are designed to have a useful life of 20 years; therefore, the Town needs to repave
5% annually, or approximately 2 miles of street currently budgeted at $486,000. The
acceptance of Sidney Creek 3A infrastructure increases the street network by less than
1%.

Revenue Streams
Maintenance costs for street paving are supported by the following dedicated revenues:

a) “Powell Bill” (gas tax) ~ $260,000 (Zebulon's share of this revenue collected by the
State has grown proportionally with increasing population and street mileage).

b) Vehicle Tag Fee ~ $205,000 (this revenue will grow as new residents register their
vehicles within the Town’s limits).

There are no dedicated revenue sources to support stormwater maintenance (0.7¢ on the
property tax rate is dedicated toward stormwater capital improvements). Staff are
reviewing options for the Board to consider a stormwater fee.

Warranty and Insurance

The Town receives a one-year warranty on all the dedicated assets. Staff will conduct an
11-month warranty inspection prior to the final overlay to ensure any issues or failures
are repaired prior to the final asphalt overlay by the developer.

The Town received a Subdivision Bond # 017263428 in the amount of $271,738.98 from
Liberty Mutual Surety to ensure the final completion of outstanding items (e.g., final
asphalt overlay, striping, signage, sidewalks, SCM conversion, landscaping etc.). The
final completion of these items was intentionally delayed to minimize the damage that
may occur as individual lots are constructed. The Site Improvement Performance Bond
is automatically renewed or revised annually to reflect items completed. The Site
Improvement Performance Bond remains active until all items have been completed. All
inspection and development fees of $1,280,079.80 were collected from the developer.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends approval of Resolution 2026-05 to accept Sidney Creek Phase 3A
roadway and storm drainage infrastructure, warranty, and site improvements bond.



STAFF REPORT
ZEBULON RESOLUTION 2026-05
NORTH CAROLINA SIDNEY CREEK PHASE 3A
ROADWAY AND STORM DRAINAGE ACCEPTANCE
September 8, 2025

SR - T \.. .. ol 3 S : :J
S | " / 0 — ) / o ,;'
' 1 o g i ’
5 - Z -y AN /
AR \f - - . /
S ] 0 X 4
o= s I-‘f LA N ) . /
s f i o . ] A G ’
H A N
4 1 l:' ' L A 4 ,
' ;
h

“,!“ y &
il U R

".!“ T
HL“JL‘E* p.u.avrv

IIIII ﬁlilii lﬁl!l RN

.
d\\....-\; ___________ R e

i) ,' i catiin

~-~._,,\ inml lt n: I!

(3 ar 40 SI. x-_? Y1HNE T0SONT flm (]

Attachments:
1. Closeout Document Checklist
2. Resolution 2026-05



Public Works

ZEBULON

NORTH CAROLINA

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT
STREETS AND SANITATION
FACILITIES AND GROUNDS
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION
PROJECT MANAGEMENT
STORMWATER

Sidney Creek Phase 3A Closeout Document Checklist

Project: Sidney Creek Phase 3A
Date: August 18, 2025
Prepared for: Town of Zebulon Public Works Department

The following checklist confirms that all required closeout documents for Sidney Creek Phase 3A
have been received and verified as complete, in accordance with Town of Zebulon standards and

JOSEPH D. COLLINS
CONSTRUCTION CLOSEOUT COORDINATOR
PHONE: 819-269-5285
450 EAST HORTON STREET
ZEBULON, NC 27597
JCOLLINS@TOWNOFZEBULON.ORG

requirements.
Item [ Description | Status ]
1 ]Engineer certification of roadway lengths & dedicated infrastructure values ] Completed |
| _Z_J.Engineer Certification for Roadways and Stormwater ] Completed J
‘TJjEngineering Estimate for Letter of Credit/Bond Completed
| 4 _|isubdivision Bond - Liberty Mutual Surety | Completed
| 5 | Developer warranty/guaranty — Stormwater/Roadway || Completed |
| 6 | Developer warranty/guaranty — Water and Sewer Completed
7 ||Third-party engineering reports for sub-grade, stone, and asphalt Completed
8 ([Engineering certification — Water and Sewer Completed
| 9 |IDeveloper — Release of Lien [| Completed |
{j)_"Contractor — Release of Lien Completed
11 jNotice of conditional acceptance — City of Raleigh Completed
12 ||Proof of payment for streetlights I Completed
13 |[Proof of payment for Town inspections and fees Completed |
14 |[As-built Drawings Completed ]

Certification:

1, Joseph Collins, Construction Closeout Coordinator for the Town of Zebulon, hereby confirm that
all listed closeout documents for Sidney Creek Phase 3A have been received, reviewed, and verified

as complete and compliant with Town standards and requirements.

Signed-‘d—ﬁéd/ MS’ -

Name:ékﬁeph Collins
Title: Construction Closeout Coordinator, Town of Zebulon

Date: | Auly 2015

10



RESOLUTION 2026-05

ACCEPTING ROADWAY AND STORM DRAINAGE
INFRASTRUCTURE FOR SIDNEY CREEK PHASE 3A

WHEREAS, DRB Group of North Carolina has completed construction of the roadway and
stormwater infrastructure for Phase 3A of the Sidney Creek subdivision, which includes 147
single-family homes; and

WHEREAS, the Town of Zebulon Board of Commissioners considers accepting ownership
and maintenance of roadways and storm drainage infrastructure installed in new subdivisions;
and

WHEREAS, DRB Group of North Carolina requests the Town of Zebulon assume ownership
and maintenance of the roadways and storm drainage infrastructure within the public right-of-
way or dedicated easements of Sidney Creek Phase 3A; and

WHEREAS, staff are tasked with confirming whether the infrastructure complies with and
meets the conditions of permits and Town of Zebulon standards; and

WHEREAS, staff and third-party inspectors/engineers have verified that the infrastructure
meets or exceeds the Town of Zebulon’s standards and City of Raleigh Utility Standards; and

WHEREAS, staff confirmed the infrastructure was installed per Special Use Permit 2019-
06 and complies with the latest version of the Town of Zebulon’s Street & Storm Drainage
Standards and Specifications; and

WHEREAS, staff also confirmed the infrastructure meets the requirements for the Town
of Zebulon’s Uniform Development Ordinances section 6.10.4 for dedication of roadways; and

WHEREAS, the Board must accept the dedication of streets, curbs, gutters, street signage,
and storm drainage for ownership and maintenance, provided the infrastructure aligns with the
Town of Zebulon’s Uniform Development Ordinance (UDO) and current Town standards,

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Zebulon
accepts the dedication of the roadway and storm drainage infrastructure for Phase 3A of the
Sidney Creek subdivision.

Adopted the 8" day of September 2025

Glenn L. York — Mayor
SEAL

Dora K. Moore, MMC — Interim Town Clerk

11



STAFF REPORT
ZEBULON RESOLUTION 2026-06
NORTH CAROLINA SIDNEY CREEK PHASE 3B
ROADWAY AND STORM DRAINAGE ACCEPTANCE
September 8, 2025

Topic: Resolution 2026-06— Sidney Creek Phase 3B- Infrastructure Acceptance

Speaker: Joseph Collins, Interim Project Manager (if pulled from Consent)
From: Richard Fletcher, Public Works Director
Prepared by: Joseph Collins, Interim Project Manager
Approved by: Taiwo Jaiyeoba, Interim Town Manager

Executive Summary:

The Board of Commissioners will consider accepting the roadway and storm-drainage
infrastructure constructed in Sidney Creek Phase 3B for Town of Zebulon ownership and
maintenance.

Background:

The Town of Zebulon follows a practice where the Board considers accepting ownership
and maintenance of roadway and storm-drainage infrastructure installed in new
subdivisions. In advance of this consideration, Staff determines whether the infrastructure
complies with and meets the conditions of permits and Town standards.

DRB Group of North Carolina has completed construction of the roadway and stormwater
infrastructure in Sidney Creek Phase 3B, which includes 95 houses. The plat is slated for
recording with the Wake County Registrar of Deeds soon. Staff and third-party
inspectors/engineers have verified that the infrastructure meets or exceeds Town
standards and City of Raleigh utility standards. All close-out documents, listed and
confirmed in Attachment 1, are readily available upon request.

Discussion:

The Board must accept the dedication of streets, curbs, gutters, street signage, and storm
drainage for ownership and maintenance, provided the infrastructure aligns with the
Town’s Uniform Development Ordinance (UDO) and current Town standards.

Policy Analysis:

The infrastructure was installed per Special Use Permit 2019-06 (issued September 9,
2019) and complies with the latest version of the “Town of Zebulon Street & Storm
Drainage Standards and Specifications.” It also meets the requirements for the Town of
Zebulon's Uniform Development Ordinances section 6.10.4 for dedication of roadways.

Infrastructure Amount and Value _
Sidney Creek Phase 3B will dedicate one (1) street totaling 2117 linear feet (~0.40 miles),
and 2047 linear feet (~ .39 miles) of storm drainage valued at $1,230,301.41

The infrastructure will be added to the Town’s capital assets (re. Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report). Upon acceptance, the Town will own and maintain 44.71 miles of street
and 35.09 miles of stormwater pipe.

12



STAFF REPORT
ZEBULON RESOLUTION 2026-06
NORTH CAROLINA SIDNEY CREEK PHASE 3B
ROADWAY AND STORM DRAINAGE ACCEPTANCE
September 8, 2025

Maintenance Cost

In addition to Staff's annual inspection and cleaning efforts, the Town of Zebulon annually
contracts the cleaning of approximately 10% (3.5-miles) of the Town's stormwater system
(FY26 budget: $40,000). This work is done to meet one component of the “Pollution
Prevention and Good Housekeeping” objectives of the Town’s permit (National Pollutant
Discharge Elimination System # NCS000557) with the NC Department of Environmental
Quality (the permit regulating how the Town operates its stormwater system). The
acceptance of Sidney Creek 3B increases the storm drainage network by less than 1%

Streets are designed to have a useful life of 20 years; therefore, the Town needs to repave
5% annually, or approximately 2 miles of street currently budgeted at $486,000. The
acceptance of Sidney Creek 3B infrastructure increases the street network by less than
1%.

Revenue Streams
Maintenance costs for street paving are supported by the following dedicated revenues:

a) “Powell Bill” (gas tax) ~ $260,000 (Zebulon’s share of this revenue collected by the
State has grown proportionally with increasing population and street mileage).

b) Vehicle Tag Fee ~ $205,000 (this revenue will grow as new residents register their
vehicles within the Town’s limits).

There are no dedicated revenue sources to support stormwater maintenance (0.7¢ on the
property tax rate is dedicated toward stormwater capital improvements). Staff are
reviewing options for the Board to consider a stormwater fee.

Warranty and Insurance

The Town receives a one-year warranty on all the dedicated assets. Staff will conduct an
11-month warranty inspection prior to the final overlay to ensure any issues or failures
are repaired prior to the final asphalt overlay by the developer.

The Town received a Subdivision Bond (# 017263481) in the amount of $395,200.94 from
Liberty Mutual Surety to ensure the final completion of outstanding items (e.g., final
asphalt overlay, striping, signage, sidewalks, SCM conversion, landscaping etc.). The
final completion of these items was intentionally delayed to minimize the damage that
may occur as individual lots are constructed. The Site Improvement Performance Bond
is automatically renewed or revised annually to reflect items completed. The Site
Improvement Performance Bond remains active until all items have been completed. All
inspection and development fees of $361,610.40 were collected from the developer.

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends approval of Resolution 2026-06 to accept Sidney Creek Phase 3B
roadway and storm drainage infrastructure, warranty, and site improvements bond.



STAFF REPORT

ZEBULON RESOLUTION 2026-06

NORTH CAROLINA SIDNEY CREEK PHASE 3B

ROADWAY AND STORM DRAINAGE ACCEPTANCE
Septe‘r:nt/)er 8‘,‘ 20_25

e // ko
tnE! EE JEE 'qﬂ;;:_'! _

ﬁﬁ‘{ R
= --““-‘-‘-‘- "‘?":f:‘:‘?"'::‘f*??u' -‘

funhiractan llllhi AN

A ..\. ___..h,........ A —

i eam ¥ gmﬂ ik

P -_- \ -

(a Jdu 40 SI3yL X3) ¥34408 IVISONYT 30 Gl

_."

Attachments:
1. Closeout Document Checklist
2. Resolution 2026-06

14



Public Works

ZEBULON

NORTH CARGCLINA

JOSEPH D. COLLINS

CONSTRUCTION CLOSEOUT COORDINATOR
PHONE: 919-269-5285

450 EasT HORTON STREET

ZERBULON, NC 27597
JCOLLINS@TOWNOFZEBULON.ORG

PuBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT
STREETS AND SANITATION
FACILITIES AND GROUNDS
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION
PROJECT MANAGEMENT
STORMWATER

Sidney Creek Phase 3B Closeout Document Checklist

Project: Sidney Creek Phase 3B
Date: August 18, 2025
Prepared for: Town of Zebulon Public Works Department

The following checklist confirms that all required closeout documents for Sidney Creek Phase 3B
have been received and verified as complete, in accordance with Town of Zebulon standards and

requirements.

Item” Description J[ Status

l 1 I[Engineer certification of roadway lengths & dedicated infrastructure values [ Completed ]
2 IEngineer Certification for Roadways and Stormwater Completed ]
3 I.Engineering Estimate for Letter of Credit/Bond Completed
4 ] Subdivision Bond — Liberty Mutual Surety Completed
5 IDeveloper warranty/guaranty — Stormwater/Roadway Completed

' 6 | Developer warranty@uaranty — Water and Sewer Completed
7 lThird-pany engineering reports for sub-grade, stone, and asphalt || Completed ]
8 |[Engineering certification — Water and Sewer Completed I
9 ﬁ/eloper — Release of Lien Completed

l 10 }/Contractor - Release of Lien Completed |

| 11 INotice of conditional acceptance ~ City of Raleigh H Completcd]
12 IProof of payment for streetlights I Completed
13 lProof of payment for Town inspections and fees l Completeﬂ

| 14 ||As-built Drawings | Completed |

Certification:
I, Joseph Collins, Construction Closeout Coordinator for the Town of Zebulon, hereby confirm that
all listed closeout documents for Sidney Creek Phase 3B have been received, reviewed, and verified

as complete and compliant with Town standards and requirements.

Signed: L, 2 ZAAYS
Name;J46seph Collins
Title: Construction Closeout Coordinator, Town of Zebulon

Date: /Y Aug 2025




RESOLUTION 2026-06

ACCEPTING ROADWAY AND STORM DRAINAGE
INFRASTRUCTURE FOR SIDNEY CREEK PHASE 3B

WHEREAS, DRB Group of North Carolina has completed construction of the roadway and
stormwater infrastructure for Phase 3B of the Sidney Creek subdivision, which includes 95
townhomes; and

WHEREAS, the Town of Zebulon Board of Commissioners considers accepting ownership
and maintenance of roadways and storm drainage infrastructure installed in new subdivisions;
and

WHEREAS, DRB Group of North Carolina requests the Town of Zebulon assume ownership
and maintenance of the roadways and storm drainage infrastructure within the public right-of-
way or dedicated easements of Sidney Creek Phase 3B; and

WHEREAS, staff are tasked with confirming whether the infrastructure complies with and
meets the conditions of permits and Town of Zebulon standards; and

WHEREAS, staff and third-party inspectors/engineers have verified that the infrastructure
meets or exceeds the Town of Zebulon’s standards and City of Raleigh Utility Standards; and

WHEREAS, staff also confirmed the infrastructure was installed per Special Use Permit
2019-06 and complies with the latest version of the Town of Zebulon’s Street & Storm Drainage
Standards and Specifications; and

WHEREAS, staff further confirmed the infrastructure meets the requirements for the
Town of Zebulon’s Uniform Development Ordinances section 6.10.4 for dedication of roadways;
and

WHEREAS, the Board must accept the dedication of streets, curbs, gutters, street signage,
and storm drainage for ownership and maintenance, provided the infrastructure aligns with the
Town of Zebulon’s Uniform Development Ordinance (UDO) and current Town standards.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Zebulon
accepts the dedication of the roadway and storm drainage infrastructure for Phase 3B of the
Sidney Creek subdivision.

Adopted the 8t day of September 2025

Glenn L. York — Mayor
SEAL

Dora K. Moore, MMC — Interim Town Clerk

16



STAFF REPORT
ZEBULON RESOLUTION 2026-07
NORTH CAROLINA WOODLAND CROSSING
ROADWAY AND STORM DRAINAGE ACCEPTANCE
SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

Topic: Resolution 2026-07— Woodland Crossing - Infrastructure Acceptance

Speaker: Joseph Collins, Interim Project Manager (if pulled from Consent)
From: Richard Fletcher, Public Works Director
Prepared by: Joseph Collins, Interim Project Manager
Approved by: Taiwo Jaiyeoba, Interim Town Manager

Executive Summary:

The Board of Commissioners will consider accepting the roadway and storm-drainage
infrastructure constructed in Woodland Crossing for Town of Zebulon ownership and
maintenance.

Background:

The Town of Zebulon follows a practice where the Board considers accepting ownership
and maintenance of roadway and storm-drainage infrastructure installed in new
subdivisions. In advance of this consideration, Staff determines whether the infrastructure
complies with and meets the conditions of permits and Town standards.

Davidson Homes LLC has completed construction of the roadway and stormwater
infrastructure in Woodland Crossing, which will include 1 existing and 45 new Single-
Family homes. The plat has been recorded with the Wake County Registrar of Deeds
soon. Staff and third-party inspectors/engineers have verified that the infrastructure meets
or exceeds Town standards and City of Raleigh utility standards. All close-out
documents, listed and confirmed in Attachment 1, are readily available upon request.

Discussion:

The Board must accept the dedication of streets, curbs, gutters, street signage, and storm
drainage for ownership and maintenance, provided the infrastructure aligns with the
Town’s Uniform Development Ordinance (UDO) and current Town standards.

Policy Analysis:

The infrastructure was installed per Special Use Permit 2019-06 (issued September 9,
2019) and complies with the latest version of the “Town of Zebulon Street & Storm
Drainage Standards and Specifications.” It also meets the requirements for the Town of
Zebulon’s Uniform Development Ordinances section 6.10.4 for dedication of roadways.

Infrastructure Amount and Value
Woodland Crossing will dedicate three (3) streets totaling 2323 linear feet (~0.44 miles),
and 2228 linear feet (~ .42 miles) of storm drainage valued at $394,033.05

The infrastructure will be added to the Town’s capital assets (re. Annual Comprehensive
Financial Report). Upon acceptance, the Town will own and maintain 43.48 miles of street
and 33.85 miles of stormwater pipe.

17



STAFF REPORT
ZEBULON RESOLUTION 2026-07
NORTH CAROLINA WOODLAND CROSSING
ROADWAY AND STORM DRAINAGE ACCEPTANCE
SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

Maintenance Cost

In addition to Staff's annual inspection and cleaning efforts, the Town of Zebulon annually
contracts the cleaning of approximately 10% (3.5-miles) of the Town’s stormwater system

(FY26 budget: $40,000). This work is done to meet one component of the “Pollution
Prevention and Good Housekeeping” objectives of the Town’s permit (National Pollutant
Discharge Elimination System # NCS000557) with the NC Department of Environmental
Quality (the permit regulating how the Town operates its stormwater system). The
acceptance of Woodland Crossing increases the storm drainage network by less than 1%

Streets are designed to have a useful life of 20 years; therefore, the Town needs to repave
5% annually, or approximately 2 miles of street currently budgeted at $486,000. The
acceptance of Woodland Crossing infrastructure increases the street network by less than
1%.

Revenue Streams
Maintenance costs for street paving are supported by the following dedicated revenues:

a) “Powell Bill” (gas tax) ~ $260,000 (Zebulon’s share of this revenue collected by the
State has grown proportionally with increasing population and street mileage).

b) Vehicle Tag Fee ~ $205,000 (this revenue will grow as new residents register their
vehicles within the Town’s limits).

There are no dedicated revenue sources to support stormwater maintenance (0.7¢ on the
property tax rate is dedicated toward stormwater capital improvements). Staff are
reviewing options for the Board to consider a stormwater fee.

Warranty and Insurance

The Town receives a one-year warranty on all the dedicated assets. Staff will conduct an
11-month warranty inspection prior to the final overlay to ensure any issues or failures
are repaired prior to the final asphalt overlay by the developer.

The Town received the following bonds:

s Subdivision Bond (#2355878) in the amount of $1,409,500.46 from Swiss Re
Corporate Solutions America Insurance Corporation to ensure the final completion
of outstanding items (e.g., final asphalt overlay, striping, signage, sidewalks,
landscaping etc.).

e SCM conversion Bond (#2355883) in the amount of $72,002.50 for the final
conversion of the Stormwater Control Measure.

The final completion of these items was intentionally delayed to minimize the damage
that may occur as individual lots are constructed. The Site Improvement Performance
Bond is automatically renewed or revised annually to reflect items completed. The Site
Improvement Performance Bond remains active until all items have been completed. All
inspection and development fees of $217,190.30 were collected from the developer.

18



STAFF REPORT

ZEBULON RESOLUTION 2026-07

NORTH CAROLINA WOODLAND CROSSING

ROADWAY AND STORM DRAINAGE ACCEPTANCE
SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends approval of Resolution 2026-07 to accept Woodland Crossing
roadway and storm drainage infrastructure, warranty, and site improvements bond.

> aiiies thainy /N
.. Ll el 'iffilé’ e

> JE",!E r..Lﬂ.H‘: Jﬂ‘r:f FJ : L %

qﬂq F[— IJFLILFh

i

’I;I. infll "“ 1 i ""!“l |;;-E \
mﬂsbaeam o i i

iiln Tl F 1T tlun duNash

s e N A N = - — [ g e S _._; S .
-

(9 9L 80 SI3: X3) ¥4ING IKNISONYT F0M §1

Attachments:
1. Closeout Document Checklist
2. Resolution 2026-07

19



Public Works

ZEBULON

PuBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT NORTH CAROLINA JOsePH D. COLLINS
STREETS AND SANITATION CONSTRUCTION CLOSEQUT COORDINATOR
FACILITIES AND GROUNDS PHONE: 919-269-5285
CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION 450 EAST HORTON STREET
PROJECT MANAGEMENT ZEBULON, NC 27597
STORMWATER JCOLLINS@TOWNOFZEBULON.ORG

Woodland Crossing Closeout Document Checklist

Project: Woodland Crossing
Date: August 18, 2025
Prepared for: Town of Zebulon Public Works Department

The following checklist confirms that all required closeout documents for Woodland Crossing have
been received and verified as complete, in accordance with Town of Zebulon standards and
requirements.

’Item” Description | Status |

| 1 l Engineer certification of roadway lengths & dedicated infrastructure values Completed

I 2 | Engineer Certification for Roadways and Stormwater Completed
3 "Engineering Estimate for Letter of Credit/Bond Completed ]
4 _||Subdivision Bond — Swiss Re Corporate Solutions America Insurance Company || Completed |
5 _|[Developer warranty/guaranty - Stormwater/Roadway Completed ]
6 |[Developer warranty/guaranty — Water and Sewer Completed ]

lLl[Third-party engineering reports for sub-grade, stone, and asphalt | Completed

l_S_]E_ngineering certification — Water and Sewer Completed
9 Develope: Release of Lien Completed ]
10 JIContractor — Release of Lien Completed ]
11 [[Notice of conditional acceptance ~ City of Raleigh ]| Completed

Li] Proof of payment for streetlights Completed

| 13 IProof of payment for Town inspections and fees Completed I

| 14 J|As-built Drawings Completed |

Certification:

I, Joseph Collins, Construction Closeout Coordinator for the Town of Zebulon, hereby confirm that
all listed closeout documents for Woodland Crossing have been received, reviewed, and verified as
complete and compliant with Town standards and requirements.

Signed:

Name; Jeseph Collins

Title: Construction Closeout Coordinator, Town of Zebulon
Date: [D My 20273

20



RESOLUTION 2026-07

ACCEPTING ROADWAY AND STORM DRAINAGE
INFRASTRUCTURE FOR WOODLAND CROSSING

WHEREAS, Davidson Homes, LLC has completed construction of the roadway and
stormwater infrastructure for the Woodland Crossing subdivision, which includes 1 existing and
45 single-family homes; and

WHEREAS, the Town of Zebulon Board of Commissioners considers accepting ownership
and maintenance of roadways and storm drainage infrastructure installed in new subdivisions;
and

WHEREAS, Davidson Homes, LLC requests the Town of Zebulon assume ownership and
maintenance of the roadways and storm drainage infrastructure within the public right-of-way or
dedicated easements of Woodland Crossing; and

WHEREAS, staff are tasked with confirming whether the infrastructure complies with and
meets the conditions of permits and Town of Zebulon standards; and

WHEREAS, staff and third-party inspectors/engineers have verified that the infrastructure
meets or exceeds the Town of Zebulon’s standards and City of Raleigh Utility Standards; and

WHEREAS, staff confirmed the infrastructure was installed per Special Use Permit 2019-
06 and complies with the latest version of the Town of Zebulon’s Street & Storm Drainage
Standards and Specifications; and

WHEREAS, staff also confirmed the infrastructure meets the requirements for the Town
of Zebulon’s Uniform Development Ordinances section 6.10.4 for dedication of roadways; and

WHEREAS, the Board must accept the dedication of streets, curbs, gutters, street signage,
and storm drainage for ownership and maintenance, provided the infrastructure aligns with the
Town of Zebulon’s Uniform Development Ordinance (UDO) and current Town standards,

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Zebulon
accepts the dedication of the roadway and storm drainage infrastructure for the Woodland
Crossing subdivision.

Adopted the 8t day of September 2025

Glenn L. York — Mayor
SEAL

Dora K. Moore, MMC — Interim Town Clerk

21



STAFF REPORT
FIRE/EMS STATION GMP ACCEPTANCE

ZEBULON SEPTEMBER 8, 2025
NORTH CAROLINA
Topic: Fire/EMS Station Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) Acceptance
Speaker: Chris Perry, Fire Chief
From: Chris Perry, Fire Chief
Prepared by: Chris Perry, Fire Chief
Approved by: Taiwo Jaiyeoba, Interim Town Manager

Executive Summary:
Consideration of acceptance of the Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) Number 1 for the
construction of the Fire/EMS Station project and authorization to execute related contracts.

Background:

At your April 1, 2024 meeting, the Board of Commissioners approved the use of Construction
Manager at Risk (CMAR) Services in the design and construction of the Fire/EMS station project.
On August 12, 2024, an agreement was made and effective between the Town of Zebulon and
Monteith Construction Corporation for these services. The agreement requires the construction
manager to provide a Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) for the major divisions of the project,
which were spelled out in the agreement. The agreement also specified certain documentation
in support of this GMP. The GMP has been reviewed by the design team, including Town of
Zebulon and Wake County staff. To begin construction, the Board must accept GMP Number 1
and authorize the execution of contract documents.

Discussion:
The discussion before the Board is the acceptance of the GMP.

Fiscal Analysis:

The GMP for the project has been provided at $13,930,277.26. Per the adopted interlocal
agreement, Wake County has provided the Town it's portion of the funding and USDA has
committed to its part, as per their grant award policies. Loan proceeds for the Town'’s portion has
been received. The NC Local Government Commission has approved the project as submitted.

Policy Analysis:

N.C.G.S. 143-128.1 allows the use of construction management at risk services after the public
entity concludes that these services are in the best interest of the project, after comparing the
advantages and disadvantages of this method, as compared to other allowable delivery methods.

Staff Recommendation:

Staff recommends approval of Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) #1 contract in the amount of
$13,930,277.26 with the previously selected Construction Manager at Risk, Monteith Construction
Corporation, for building construction work for the Fire/EMS Station. Staff further recommends
authorizing the Mayor to execute contract documents with Monteith Construction Corporation,
establishing the terms, conditions, and GMP #1 amount of $13,930,277.26, with said contract
documents to be reviewed and approved by the Town Attorney.

Attachments:

1. CMAR Agreement of Guaranteed Maximum Price Number 1
2. GMP #1 Deliverables

22



\l MONTEITH

July 1, 2025

Sarah Kahr Richter, PE

Wake County Government

336 S. Fayetteville Street, Suite 110
Raleigh, NC 27601

Re: Zebulon Fire & EMS Station Final GMP #1
Dear Ms. Richter,

Montieth is pleased to submit our Guaranteed Maximum Price for the Zebulon Fire & EMS Station
project. The GMP is based on the drawings and specifications by ADW Architects dated May 2™ 2025
and subsequent addendum. Below you will find trade partner bid costs, accepted alternates, general
conditions, allowance, insurances, and CM Fee is included in the total GMP value of $13,930,277.

Prior to accepting bids, Monteith Construction undertook an extensive trade partner outreach plan to
maximize trade participation, competitive and fair bidding, and MBE participation on the project.
Through this effort we have been able to identify over 18% of the total GMP as being awarded to HUB
certified firms.

After receiving the bids, we have conducted a thorough scope review with each of the apparent low bid
trade partners and recommend the award of trade contracts to the trade partners listed. The
recommended trade partners have confirmed they have included a complete scope of work as per the
provided plans and specifications.

We are confident that the recommended contractors are qualified and competitive, and that we have
taken the necessary steps to ensure a fair and transparent bidding process. Copies of our trade partner
outreach efforts, bid tabulations, and documents relevant to the GMP are included below for your
reference.

We sincerely appreciate the opportunity to partner with Wake County and the Town of Zebulon on this
project.

Thank you,

rew Hardin
Preconstruction Lead
Monteith Construction Corp.

122 Glenwood Avenue #300, Raleigh, NC 27603 984.200.4283

WE BUILD RELATIONSHIPS. WE THRILL PARTNERS. | CHARLESTON | MYRTLE BEACH | RALEIGH | TRIAD | WILMINGTON

23



\l MONTEITH

GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE (GM

Zebulon Fire Station Final GMP

81D PKG | DESCRIPTION SUBCONTRACTOR AMOUNT Accepted Alternates TOTAL

01A |GENERAL TRADES CB&H 265,000.00 - 18 28500000
034 |CONCRETE Honducom Concreta 851,630.00 - 851.630.00
044 [MASONRY Stonecresk Masonry 1,187,000.00 - 1,187,000.00
05A  |STRUCTURAL STEEL & MISC METALS Steel and Pipe Corportation 686,000.00 - 686,000.00
058 [LIGHT GAUGE TRUSSES Trutek Framing Systems LLC 235,000.00 - 235,000.00
0sA  |FINISH CARPENTRY & CASEWORK MDN Cabinets 118.453.00 29,855.00 148,308.00
WA |WATERPROOFING & ENVELOPE SYSTEMS Alpha Insulation & Waterproofing Inc. 166,032.00 - 186,032.00
07¢  |METAL PANELS Triangle Roofing €8,600.00 - 68,600.00
70 |SIDING Boniiz 32.250.00 - 32.250.00
07E _|ROQFING Triangle Roofing Services Inc. 640,500.00 - 849,500.00
A [DOORS AND HARDWARE East Coast Access 214,322.25 - 21432225
088 |STOREFRONTS AND GLAZING Wenscom Glass §7,087.95 - 57,087.85
08C |OVERHEAD DQORS NC Overhead Door 358,806.00 - 358.896.00
080 |ALUMINUM CLAD WINDOWS Staph Milwork 76,797.00 - 76,787.00
%A [FRAMING AND DRYWALL - Grey Interiors, LLC $ 789,250.00 - 798,250.00
B8 |CEILINGS AB Dennif 60,285.00 - 60,285.00
¢ |HARD TILE Tile Setters of Raleigh 189.414.00 - 1% 189,414.00
030 |RESILIENT & CARPET FLOORING AB Denning 92,150.00 - 92,150.00
0E_|CONCRETE FINISHES Blair Duron 25,829.00 - 25,829.00
0sF  [PAINTING Chroma Coatings 104,878.38 - 104.878.38
10A [SPECIALTIES SGC G jon Spaciali 49,684.00 - 49.684.00
108 [LOCKERS Lockers Unfimitad 133,629.92 - 133,620.92 |
10C_ [SIGNAGE AOA Signs 36,149.76 - 36.149.78
10D |[CANOPIES Charlotte Tent and Awning 43,882.00 13,445.00 57,327.00
114 |APPLIANCES Phugs Appliance §1,087.00 - §1.087.00
124 [WINDOW TREATMENTS Ci alth Biinds 16,383.00 - 16,393.00
21A__|FIRE PROTECTION Alied Fire Protecti 166,945.00 - 166,945.00
24 [PLUMBING Earnhardt Plumbing §10,200.00 - 510,200.00
234 [MECHANICAL Comfort Mechanical G 1,075,000.00 - 1,075,000.00
26A |ELECTRICAL AND FIRE ALARM Triple-R Electric Incorporated 1,640,000.00 8,500.00 1,648,500.00
31A  |SITEWORK F&S Grading Company, LLC 1,409,469.00 - 18  1,400,480.00
RA  [LANDSCAPING Southemn Garden 356,653.00 - 358.653.00
2B [FENCING Seagars Fance 21,142.00 - 21,142.00
RC _|RETAINING WALLS Jenns Hardscaps 22,042.00 - 22.042.00
TOTAL DIRECT COST OF WORK $ 11,771,651.26 §1,800.00 | § 11,823,451.26

OWNER SELECTED ALTERNATES Included in above

ALLOWANCES

Tel Alk = - 18 70,000.00

Security & Access Control Allowance - - 13 85.000.00

BDA Alk - - |8 45,000.00

Cash Allowance - - Inc. in Sitework Bid

SUBTOTAL 1 11,771,851.26 51,800.00 12,023,451

Subguard {on Subtotal 1) 1.25% 147,148 648 150,203

General Conditions LS $ 108,048 108,048

e General Conditions Ls $ 962,991.00 962,091.00

Fee {on Subtotal 1) 3.50% $ 412,008 1813 § i 420,821

General Liability, Umbrella, Builder’s Risk Insurance, & P&P Bond (onG'l’::I 180% $ 250,567 1051 s 264,675

Construction Contingency (2% of cost of work hald in CM Sharad Reserve 2% s R s R
Fund)
TOTAL GMP[ $ 13,661,409 85312 ¢ 13,930,277
GMP
Consfruction Manager's Certification:
| certify this to ba & true and correct tabulation of all bids received for this project:
8/18/2025

Hardin

Date

24



ZEBULON

NORTH CAROLINA

AGREEMENT FOR CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT SERVICES FOR
ZEBULON FIRE & EMS STATION

ACCEPTANCE OF GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE NUMBER 1

For the AGREEMENT made and effective on August 12, 2024
BETWEEN The Owner: Town of Zebulon

And the Construction Manager (hereinafter referred to as the “CM”):
Monteith Construction Corp.
For services in connection with the Project known as:
Zebulon Fire & EMS Station.

RECITALS:

. The Agreement, and particularly Article 8 of the Agreement, provides that the CM shall be
required to give a Guaranteed Maximum Price (“GMP”) for major divisions of the Project,
as more fully described in the Agreement.

. Under the terms of the Agreement, the CM is further required to document each GMP with
a GMP Proposal, a Summary Report of the GMP, and other documentation sufficient to
describe the scope of Work covered by the GMP and to itemize the costs included in the
GMP Proposal (referred to here and in the Agreement as the “GMP Documentation”).

. The CM has submitted a GMP Proposal dated 07.02.2025, with the requisite related GMP
Documentation, for the division of the Work generally described as Site Work. This GMP
is referred to herein as “GMP Number 1.

. The Owner has reviewed the GMP Proposal and related GMP Documentation and has
reached agreement with the CM on the Guaranteed Maximum Price.

. The Owner, through its awarding authority, the Town of Zebulon Board of Commissioners,
has authorized approval and acceptance of GMP Number 1 as a formal contract.

Page 1 of 5

25



WHEREFORE, the Owner, in accordance with the Agreement, hereby approves and accepts
GMP Number 1 subject to the conditions set forth below:

1.

GMP Number 1 is incorporated into and made a part of the Agreement. Although the GMP
Documentation shall describe the scope of Work included in GMP Number 1, the
description of the Work in GMP Number 1 shall not be deemed to modify or amend the
Drawings and Specifications. The Drawings and Specifications may only be modified
through the submittal, substitution, field order, change order and related procedures as set
forth in the Agreement. The division of cost elements tabulated in the GMP
Documentation is provided to comply with and elaborate on Article 8 and Appendix D of
the Agreement, and the division of cost elements in the GMP Documentation shall govern
over any description of cost elements in the Agreement or in past budgets and cost reports
relating to the Work included in GMP Number 1. Otherwise, if any term, requirement, or
condition in the GMP Number 1 Proposal or Documentation shall be in conflict with the
Contract Documents as amended hereby, the terms, requirements, and conditions of the
Contract Documents shall control and the conflicting contents of the GMP Number
1Proposal and Documentation shall be disregarded.

The Guaranteed Maximum Price for GMP Number 1 shall be as follows:

a. Cost of the Work (C.0.W.) (including allowances) $ 12,023,451.26

b. CM Contingency $ 0

c. CM Fixed Fee $ 420,821.00
d. General Conditions Reimbursement $ 108,046.00
e. General Conditions, Insurance, Bonds $ 1,377,959.00
f. Total Guaranteed Maximum Price $ 13,930,277.26

. A condition of this Acceptance is that the CM timely notify its sureties of the acceptance

of GMP Number 1, and timely obtain and tender to the Owner all bonds or bond
amendments required by Article 11 of the Agreement.

The CM Contingency is listed as $0 under the GMP above. However, the Owner will
separately carry a CM shared reserve fund of $240,469 (2% of C.0.W) to fund the CM
Contingency as needed throughout the project duration. The CM Contingency amount as
described in the CM Agreement will therefore be considered equal to the amount in this
CM shared reserve fund, but the funds will be carried outside of the GMP Number.

Page 2 of 5

26



Section 10.4 of the CM Agreement shall be struck and replaced with the following:

“If the CM shared reserve fund of $240,469 (2% of C.0.W) is not exhausted during the
Project, fifty percent (50%) of any unspent portion of this CM shared reserve fund will be
paid to the CM over and above the Cost of the Work, General Conditions and Fixed Fee
otherwise due and payable the CM. The remaining fifty percent (50%) of any unspent
portion of the CM shared reserve fund will belong to and remain with the Owner.”

Section 21.5 of the CM Agreement shall be amended to read:

“The CM shall name the Owner, Wake County, the USDA, and the Town’s lender
Webster Bank, National Association as additional insured under all of its insurance
contracts with respect to and including without limitation liability arising out of activities
performed by or on behalf of the CM, products and completed operations of the CM, and
automobiles owned, hired, leased, or borrowed by the CM. The coverages shall contain
no special limitations on the scope of protection afforded to additional insureds.”

Section 21.15.4.4 of the CM Agreement shall be amended to read:

“The Owner, Wake County, the USDA, and the Town’s lender Webster Bank,
National Association must be named as Additional Insured, and a Non-Owned Disposal
Site Endorsement must be provided, scheduling the appropriate landfill.”

. Section 21.16 of the CM Agreement shall be amended to read:

“Policies: Commercial general liability insurance may be arranged under a single policy
for the full limits required or by a combination of underlying policies with the balance
provided by an excess or umbrella liability policy. The Owner, Wake County, the USDA,
and the Town’s lender Webster Bank, National Association shall be an additional
insured on all commercial general liability policies and automobile liability policies
submitted to comply with this Article. Commercial general liability and excess liability
policies shall be endorsed with a schedule of underlying liability policies required and
obtained from the Contractors. Coverage under the commercial general liability policies
shall not be limited by any language in the contracts with the Contractors making the
Contractors liable for losses in excess of the limits of coverage provided by the
Contractors.”

. Section 21.19.2 of the CM Agreement shall be amended to read:

“The builder’s risk insurance shall provide for the cost of replacement of the Work,
including materials stored off site, at the time of any loss. The insurance shall include as
additional insureds the Owner, Wake County, the USDA, and the Town’s lender
Webster Bank, National Association, the CM, the Contractors and their subcontractors

Page 3 of 5

27



and shall insure against the loss from the perils of fire and all risk coverage for physical
loss or damage due to theft, vandalism, collapse, malicious mischief, terrorism, transit,
flood, mold, earthquake, testing, or damages resulting from defective design, negligent
workmanship or defective material. The Owner shall not be responsible for any cost related
to an increase in builder’s risk coverage not approved by Owner.”

To ensure compliance with the E-Verify requirements of the General Statutes of North Carolina,
all contractors, including any subcontractors employed by the contractor(s), by submitting a bid,
proposal or any other response, or by providing any material, equipment, supplies, services, etc,
attest and affirm that they are aware and in full compliance with N.C.G.S. Chapter 64, Article 2
(N.C.G.S. 64-26(a)) relating to the E-Verify requirements.

By signing this agreement; accepting this contract/purchase order; or submitting any bid, proposal,
etc., vendors and contractors certify that as of the date of execution, receipt, or submission they
are not listed on the Final Divestment List created by the NC Office of State Treasurer pursuant to
NCGS 147 Article 6E, Iran Divestment Act, Iran Divestment Act Certification. Vendors and
contractors shall not utilize any subcontractor that is identified on the Final Divestment List.

Any organization defined under NCGS 147-86.80(2), Divestment from Companies Boycotting
Israel, shall not engage in business totaling more than $1,000 with any company/business, etc. that
boycotts Israel. A list of companies that boycott Israel is maintained by the NC Office of State
Treasurer, pursuant to NCGS 147-86.81(a)(1). Any company listed as boycotting Israel is not
eligible to do business with any State agency or political subdivision of the State.

Page 4 of 5

28



ACCEPTED this the 8 day of September 2025.

Owner: Town of Zebulon

By:
Glenn L. York - Mayor

Attest:
Dora K. Moore — Interim Town Clerk

This instrument has been pre-audited in the manner required by the Local Government Budget
and Fiscal Control Act.

Robert Fitts - Town of Zebulon Finance Director

This instrument is approved as to Form.

Town of Zebulon Attorney

ACKNOWLEDGED:

CM:
By:

Title:

Attested by:

Title:

Page 5 of 5

29



ZEBULON STAFF REPORT
ADOPTION OF WAKE COUNTY

EMERGENCY OPERATIONS PLAN AND MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT
SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

Topic: Adoption of Wake County Emergency Operations Plan and Mutual Aid

Agreement
Speaker: Chris Perry, Fire Chief
From: Chris Perry, Fire Chief
Prepared by: Chris Perry, Fire Chief
Approved by: Taiwo Jaiyeoba, Interim Town Manager

Executive Summary:

Adoption of the Wake County Emergency Operations Plan ensures plans and
procedures support the Town’s response framework and alignment with the Wake
County and State of North Carolina Emergency Operations Plan(s).

Adoption of the Mutual Aid Agreement enrolls the Town in both the Statewide and
Federal mutual aid systems, allowing for the deployment and receipt of assistance
during events if local resources are overwhelmed or exhausted.

Background:

In the mid-2000s, Wake County and each municipality adopted the National Incident
Management System as its framework for responding to and managing events. This
framework is expressed in the Emergency Operations Plan and outlines structure,
positions, roles, responsibilities and communications. Periodically, after events,
exercises, discovery of best practices, or changes in the physical environment
(infrastructure, population, etc.) adjustments are made to reflect changing complexity,
needs and growth in the community.

Mutual Aid is a long-standing practice among public safety agencies. In recent years,
many have recognized mutual aid is beneficial beyond traditional public safety agencies.
The proposed mutual aid agreement not only includes mutual aid for public safety
personnel but any employee or function within the organization from inspectors,
information technology staff to administrative staff, which were highly sought after
following Hurricane Helene. All personnel, equipment, supplies or other resources (under
the direction of the Town Manager) are covered under the Agreement. Although an
Agreement already exists with the County, there have been changes in the law providing
additional liability protections for responders, reimbursement qualifications and
procedures for providing or receiving assistance. Participation in the mutual aid system
also makes the Town a default participant in the national mutual aid system known as the
Emergency Management Assistance Compact (EMAC).

Discussion:
The discussion before the Board is the adoption of the two Wake County documents.

Fiscal Analysis:

No immediate fiscal impact; however, the documents are instrumental in response to
disasters.

30



ZEBULON STAFF REPORT
ADOPTION OF WAKE COUNTY

EMERGENCY OPERATIONS PLAN AND MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT
SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

Policy Analysis:
N.C.G.S. 160A-461 authorizes units of local government to enter into contracts or
agreements with each other in order to execute any undertaking.

Staff Recommendation:

Staff recommends that the Board adopt and authorize the Mayor to sign the Wake County
Emergency Operations Plan; and, accept and authorize the Town Manager to sign the
Mutual Aid Agreement

Attachments:

1. Wake County Emergency Operations Plan
2. Wake County Mutual Aid Agreement

31



NORTH CAROLINA

WAKE COUNTY

WAKE COUNTY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT
MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into between the County of Wake (the “County”) and the
City/Town of Zebulon, a North Carolina Municipality, and is effective upon the date of the last party to
execute this Agreement;

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Chapter 166A of the North Carolina General Statutes authorizes the development of
mutual aid agreements for reciprocal emergency management aid and assistance between political
subdivisions in North Carolina provided they are consistent with the State Emergency Management
Programs and Plans; and

WHEREAS, mutual aid agreements may include but are not limited to the furnishing or exchange
of supplies, equipment, facilities, personnel and services during emergencies as defined in Article 1 of
North Carolina General Statute 166A; and

WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statute 166A-19.15 states that the governing body of each
county is responsible for emergency management within the geographical limits of the county and all
emergency management efforts within the county will be coordinated by the county, including activities of
the municipalities within the County; and

WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statute 166A-19.72(c) authorizes the chief executive of each
political subdivisions to enter into mutual aid agreements with other political subdivisions, with the
concurrence of the subdivision’s governing body for reciprocal emergency management aid and assistance.
Such agreements shall be consistent with the State emergency management program and plans; and

WHEREAS, it is the intent of emergency management programs to reduce vulnerability of people
and property to damage, injury, and loss of life and property; prepare for prompt and efficient rescue, care,
and treatment of threatened or affected persons; provide for the rapid and orderly rehabilitation of persons
and restoration of property; and provide for cooperation and coordination of activities relating to emergency
and disaster mitigation, preparedness, response and recovery; and

WHEREAS, mutual aid agreements provide a mechanism to share public sector resources
throughout the nation; and

WHEREAS, this Agreement is intended to complement the mutual aid agreement signed between
the County of Wake and the State of North Carolina by setting forth the means of resource coordination
and open communication between the County and the Municipality during emergencies; and

WHEREAS the statewide agreement effectually contemplates requests for mutual aid and
assistance through county emergency management agencies; and

WHEREAS, the (Town or City) desires to render and receive assistance
during disasters or emergencies; and

32



WHEREAS, pursuant to North Carolina General Statute 166A-19.60 all functions and activities
performed under this Agreement are hereby declared to be governmental functions; and

WHEREAS, functions and activities performed under this Agreement are to be carried out for the
benefit of the general public and not for the benefit of any specific individual or individuals; and

WHEREAS, all immunities provided by law shall be fully applicable as stated in North Carolina
General Statute 166A-19.60 or otherwise as by law provided.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms, conditions, and covenants expressed herein,
the parties hereby enter into this mutual aid agreement and agree that the County of Wake and Town/City
of shall participate in coordinated sharing of resources for the purposes of providing
protection of the community under the terms as more particularly set forth herein below:

SECTION I.
DEFINITIONS

Agreement means this document, the Mutual Aid Agreement for Disasters and Other Emergencies.

Aid and Assistance include, but shall not be limited to, personnel, equipment, facilities, services, supplies,
and other resources.

Authorized Representative is an official of a party to this Agreement who has been authorized in writing
by that party pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, to request, offer, or provide aid and assistance under
the terms of this Agreement.

Disaster is any emergency which has been officially declared a “disaster” by gubernatorial or presidential
executive order.

Emergency means any incident or situation that has occurred, is occurring, or will occur in the immediate
future that poses a major threat to public safety and causes or threatens to cause loss of life, serious injury,
significant damage to property, or major harm to public health or the environment, as a result of an
occurrence or imminent threat of widespread or severe damage or loss of life or property, resulting from
natural, technological, or man-made emergency situations, and which a local entity has declared as being
beyond the capabilities of its local emergency response agencies.

Incident means an occurrence, natural or manmade, that necessitates a response to protect life or property.
In this Agreement, the word “incident” includes planned events as well as emergencies and/or disaster of

kinds and sizes.

Planned Event means an incident that is a scheduled nonemergency activity including but not limited to
elections, sporting events, concerts, parades, funeral coverage, or fairs.

Political Subdivision means Counties and incorporated cities, towns, and villages.

Provider is a party to this Agreement that has received a request to furnish aid and assistance to the party
in need (“Recipient”).

Recipient is a party to this Agreement receiving aid and assistance from another party.

33



SECTION IL.
OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES

A. Provision of Aid and Assistance — Pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement,
the parties hereto shall provide each other with aid and assistance in the event of a disaster, emergency,
planned event, or incident. It is mutually understood that each party’s foremost responsibility is to its own
citizens within its own respective jurisdiction. This Agreement shall not be construed to impose an absolute
obligation on any party to this Agreement to provide aid and assistance pursuant to a request from another
party and;

1. Upon notification or request for resources, the Municipality agrees to contact Wake County
Emergency Management or Wake County Emergency Operations Center, if activated, prior to
the deployment of said resources outside the geographical limits of the County;

2. If necessary, requests for additional resources will be jointly coordinated by Wake County
Emergency Management and the authorized representative of the Municipality to other
governmental entities, private sector agencies, and State Division of Emergency Management.

B. Procedures for Requesting Assistance — When recipient becomes affected by an emergency,
incident, planned/unplanned event and deems its resources inadequate, it may request mutual aid and
assistance by communicating the request to Provider, indicating the request is made pursuant to this
Agreement. Such request may be made verbally, to be followed as soon as practicable, by a written
confirmation of that request.

Required Information: Each request for assistance shall include the following information, in writing or by
any other available means, to the extent known:

1. Identification of the services function(s) for which assistance is needed and the type of
assistance needed;

2. The amount and type of personnel, equipment, materials, and supplies needed and a reasonable
estimate of the length of time they will be needed;

3. Specifics regarding time and date, location, and a point of contact.

C. Equipment, Supplies, and Material use Guidelines — The guidelines for equipment, supplies, and
material use ensure the safe and effective operation and use of the requested items.

1. Equipment Guidelines

a. Equipment must be used for its intended purpose and in accordance with the
manufacturer’s instructions.

b. Equipment must be maintained in good working condition and inspected regularly to
ensure that it is safe to use.

c. Equipment must be returned in the same condition in which it was received, with all
parts and accessories intact.

d. Any damage or malfunction of equipment must be reported immediately to the
Provider.

34



e. The Recipient is responsible for receiving any necessary training or instruction on the
proper use of the equipment.

f. The Recipient of the equipment is responsible for damages to the equipment and any
costs associated with the repair or replacement of the equipment due to damage or loss,
including loss of use and diminution in value.

g. The Provider of the equipment reserves the right to refuse to provide equipment to any
borrower who does not comply with this agreement.

2. Materials and Supplies Guidelines

a. Materials and/or supplies should be used for their intended purpose and in accordance
with any applicable laws and regulations.

b. Materials and/or supplies should be stored in a safe and secure manner to prevent
damage or loss.

¢. Materials and/or Supplies should be used in a manner that does not create a hazard to
people or the environment.

d. The recipient is responsible for receiving the necessary training or instruction on the
proper use of the materials and/or supplies.

e. The provider of the materials and/or supplies reserves the right to refuse to lend
materials and supplies to any borrower who does not comply with this agreement.

D. Designation of Authorized Representative — Each party to this Agreement shall designate an
Authorized Representative. Such designation shall be communicated, in writing, to the Chief Executive
Officer of the other party upon the execution of this Agreement. Such designation may be amended at any
time by the Chief Executive Officer of a party upon timely notice.

E. Traveling Employees — Unless otherwise specified by Recipient or agreed by the parties in writing,
it is mutually understood that Recipient will provide for the needs and necessary expenses of the Provider’s
traveling employees. Recipient shall pay for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses of Provider’s
personnel, including, without limitation, transportation expenses for travel to and from the disaster area,
food, and, if necessary, lodging. If Recipient cannot provide such food and/or lodging at or near the disaster
area, the Recipient shall so advise the Provider, and shall specify in its request for assistance that only
personnel who can provide for their own needs are requested.

F. Supervision and Control — The Provider shall designate supervisory personnel amongst its
employees sent to render aid and assistance to the Recipient. Recipient shall provide necessary credentials
to the Provider’s personnel authorizing them to operate on behalf of the Recipient. Recipient shall assign
work tasks to Provider’s supervisory personnel, and unless specifically instructed otherwise, Recipient shall
have the responsibility for coordination between Provider’s supervisory personnel and Recipient.

Based upon such assignments set forth by Recipient, Provider’s supervisory personnel shall:

1. Have the authority to assign work and establish work schedules for Provider’s personnel.
Further, supervisor shall retain direct supervision and control of Provider’s personnel,

4

35



equipment, and other resources. Provider should be prepared to furnish communications
equipment sufficient to maintain communications among its respective operating units, and if
this is not possible, Provider shall notify Recipient accordingly;

2. Maintain daily personnel time records, material records, and a log of equipment hours;
3. Report work progress to Recipient at mutually agreed upon intervals.

G. Period of Service, Renewability, Recall — Unless agreed otherwise, the duration of the Provider’s
assistance shall be for an initial period of twenty-four (24) hours, starting from the time of arrival.
Thereafter, assistance may be extended in increments agreed upon by the Authorized Representatives of
Provider and Recipient. Provider’s personnel, equipment, and other resources shall remain subject to recall
by Provider to provide for its own citizens if circumstances so warrant, in the sole discretion of the Provider.
Provider shall make a good faith effort to provide at least eight (8) hours advance notification to Recipient
of Provider’s intent to terminate such assistance, unless such notice is not practicable, in which case as
much notice as is reasonable under the circumstances shall be provided.

SECTION III.
REIMBURSEMENT

Except as otherwise provided below, it is understood that Recipient shall pay to Provider all documented
costs and expenses incurred by Provider as a result of extending assistance to Recipient. The terms and
conditions governing reimbursement for any assistance provided under this Agreement shall be in
accordance with FEMA Public Assistance Guidelines in addition to the following provisions, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by Recipient and Provider. Recipient shall be ultimately responsible for
reimbursement of all eligible expenses. The provider may waive some or all requirements for
reimbursement; however, such an agreement must be documented in the request and/or offer of assistance.

A. Personnel — During the period of assistance, Provider shall continue to pay its employees according
to its then prevailing ordinances, rules, regulations, and agreements. The Recipient shall reimburse Provider
for all direct and indirect payroll costs and expenses, including but not limited to travel and employee
retirement benefits as provided by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). However,
Recipient shall not be responsible for reimbursing any amounts paid or due as benefits to Provider’s
personnel under the terms of the North Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act (Chapter 97 of the North
Carolina General Statutes).

B. Equipment — Recipient shall reimburse the Providers for the use of equipment during the period of
assistance according to either a pre-established local or state hourly rate or according to the actual
replacement, operation, and maintenance expenses incurred. For those instances in which costs are
reimbursed by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), the FEMA-eligible direct costs shall
be determined in accordance with general policies for determining allowable costs which are established in
CFR 200, subpart E and 2 CFR 200.102 are explained in 44 C.F.R 206.228 or other applicable federal laws,
regulations, and policies as may be in effect at the time the expenses are incurred. Provider shall pay for all
repairs to its equipment as determined necessary by its on-site supervisor(s) to maintain such equipment in
safe and operational condition.

At the request of Provider, fuels, miscellaneous supplies, and minor repairs may be provided by Recipient,
if practical. The total equipment charges to Recipient shall be reduced by the total value of the fuels,
supplies, and repairs furnished by Recipient and by the amount of any insurance proceeds received by
Provider.

36



C. Material and Supplies — Provider shall be reimbursed for all materials and supplies furnished, used,
or damaged during the period of assistance. The Recipient shall not be responsible for reimbursing Provider
for the costs of any damage caused by gross negligence, willful and wanton misconduct, intentional misuse,
or recklessness of Provider’s personnel. Provider’s personnel shall use reasonable care always in the use
and control of all materials and supplies used by them during the period of assistance. The measure for
reimbursement for materials and supplies shall be determined in accordance with FEMA and North
Carolina reimbursement policies. In the alternative, the parties may agree in writing that Recipient will
replace the materials and supplies used or damaged, with materials and supplies of like kind and quality.

D. Record Keeping — Recipient shall provide information, directions, and assistance for record
keeping to Provider’s personnel. Provider shall maintain records and invoices for reimbursement and cost
which may be associated with the inspections of records.

E. Billing and Payment — Provider shall send an invoice for reimbursable costs and expenses, together
with appropriate documentation as required by Recipient, as soon as practicable after said costs and
expenses are incurred, but not later than forty-five (45) days following the end of the period of assistance.
Recipient shall pay the invoice, or advise of any disputed items, not later than forty-five (45) days following
the billing date.

SECTIONIV.
PROVIDER’S EMPLOYEES

A. Rights and Privileges — Pursuant to G.S. 166A-19.60 whenever Provider’s employees are rendering
aid and assistance pursuant to this Agreement, such employees shall remain the responsibility of the
Provider and retain the same powers, duties, immunities, and privileges they would ordinarily possess if
performing their duties within the geographic limits of the Provider.

B. Workers®” Compensation - Recipient shall not be responsible for reimbursing any amounts paid or
due as benefits to Provider’s employees under the terms of the North Carolina Workers” Compensation Act,
Chapter 97 of the North Carolina General Statutes, due to personal injury or death occurring during the
periods of time such employees are engaged in the rendering of aid and assistance under this Agreement. It
is mutually understood that Recipient and Provider shall be responsible for payment of such workers’
compensation benefits only to their own respective employees. Further, it is mutually understood that
Provider will be entirely responsible for the payment of workers’ compensation benefits to its own
respective employees pursuant to G.S. 97-51.

SECTION V.
PARTIES MUTUALLY AGREE TO HOLD EACH OTHER HARMLESS FROM LIABILITY

To the extent permitted by law, each party (as Indemnitor) agrees to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold
the other party (as Indemnitee), and its offices, employees, and agents, free and harmless from and against
any and all losses, penalties, damages, assessments, costs, charges, professional fees, and other expenses or
liabilities of every kind and nature arising out of or relating to any and all claims, liens, demands,
obligations, actions, proceedings, or causes of action of every kind in connection with or arising out of
Indemnitor’s negligence, acts, errors and/or omissions. Indemnitor further agrees to investigate, handle,
respond to, provide defense for, and defend any such claims, etc. at indemnitor’s sole expense and agrees
to bear all other costs and expenses related thereto. To the extent that immunity does not apply, each party
shall bear the risk of its own actions, as it does with its day-to-day operations, and determine for itself what
kinds of insurance, if any, and in what amounts, it should carry. Each party understands and agrees that any
insurance protection obtained shall in no way limit the responsibility to indemnify, keep, and save harmless
the other parties to this Agreement for any claims, whether insured or not.

6

37



Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that each party does not purchase insurance, it shall not be
deemed to have waived its governmental immunity by law.

SECTION VL
AMENDMENTS

This Agreement may be amended as necessary by written, joint agreement between the parties. Subsequent
mutual aid agreements may be entered into between the parties and, if so, the subsequent agreement shall
replace and supplement any prior agreements.

SECTION VII.
DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall continue in perpetuity, unless terminated upon at least ninety (90) days advance
written notice by one party to this Agreement to each executive officer of every other participating entity.

SECTION VIIL
HEADINGS

The headings of various sections and subsections of this Agreement have been inserted for convenient
reference only and shall not be construed as modifying, amending, or affecting in any way the express terms
and provisions of this Agreement.

SECTION IX.
SEVERABILITY

Should any clause, sentence, provision, paragraph, or other part of this Agreement be adjudged by any court
of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, such judgment shall not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder
of this Agreement. If parties to this Agreement have entered into other aid and assistance agreements, those
parties agree that, to the extent a request for aid and assistance is made pursuant to this Agreement, those
other aid and assistance agreements are superseded by this Agreement.

SECTION X.
EFFECTIVE DATE

This Agreement is effective upon the day and date of the last signature affied hereto.
This Agreement does not encompass the entire understanding of the Parties on the issue of mutual aid

activities. This Agreement does not invalidate other mutual aid agreements, either oral or written, that the
Parties have with third parties.

38



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Wake County and the Town of Zebulon (Town or City) execute this Agreement
in its name and behalf by its Chief Executive Officer, who has signed accordingly and with concurrences
of a majority of its governing board, on the date indicated below.

(Town or City) of Zebulon

Name: Taiwo Jaiyeoba
City/Town Interim Town Manager

Approved as to form:

, City Attorney
COUNTY OF WAKE
David Ellis Darrell Alford
County Manager Director
County of Wake Wake County Fire Services & Emergency

Management

Approved as to form:

Scott W. Warren, County Attorney

39



STAFF REPORT

ZEBULON ORDINANCE 2026-10
Ty 301 JONES ST AND 108 PEARCES RD

SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

Topic: Ordinance 2026-10- 301 Jones St and 108 Pearces Rd
Speaker: Matthew Lower, Planning Director

From: Matthew Lower, Planning Director

Prepared by: Catherine Farrell, Planner Il

Approved by: Taiwo Jayeoba, Interim Town Manager

Executive Summary:

The Board of Commissioners will consider a Zoning Map Amendment for 301 Jones St (PIN#
2706015099) and 108 Pearces Rd (PIN# 2706014224). Town Board’s approval of this Zoning Map
Amendment will change the designation of the subject parcels from Residential Suburban to
Zebulon General Commercial (GC).

Discussion:
O’kane and Associates on behalf of CG Enterprises of NC LLC are seeking to rezone two parcels,
totaling 1.915 acres, from Residential Suburban (R2) to General Commercial (GC) Zoning District.

The rezoning would allow all uses permitted within the GC General Commercial District, without
any additional conditions proposed by the applicant. If approved, the property will have to
adhere with the Town of Zebulon’s Unified Development Ordinance (UDO), ensuring that any
future development adheres to the town’s zoning regulations.

Policy Analysis:

Comprehensive Land Use Plan:

The future land use map calls for these lots to be Suburban Commercial. The General Commercial
Zoning District is consistent with the SC future land use. “This designation involves commercial
developments, whether at a neighborhood-focused or larger scale, that stand apart from most
auto-oriented contemporary development (Land Use and Development, Page 17).”

The rezoning is supported by the following CLUP goals:

1. Goals for Land Use and Development:

o Goal 1: A land use allocation and pattern that advances Zebulon’s objectives of
achieving greater housing variety, supporting its economic development and tax
base needs, and creating a complete community with convenient resident access
to schools, recreation, shopping and services (Land Use and Development, p.2).

o Goal 2: Consistent character of land use within areas intended for particular
character types, from rural and suburban through auto-oriented and urban along
the community character spectrum (Land Use and Development, p.2).

40



STAFF REPORT

ZEBULON ORDINANCE 2026-10

NORTH CAROLINA 301 JONES ST AND 108 PEARCES RD
SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

2. Goals for Growth Capacity

o Goal 1: A growth management philosophy and strategies that enable most of the
projected growth in the Zebulon area to be absorbed within and contiguous to the
existing developed town (Growth Capacity, p.2).

3. Economic Development Goals and Actions:

o Goal 1: An economically resilient community with a diverse yet stable economic
base, an environment that supports both entrepreneurs and established
businesses, and a local real estate market attractive to emerging investment, job
creation and development opportunities (Economic Development, p. 2).

o Goal 2: A town that remains the unquestioned hub community for eastern Wake
County as a multi-purpose destination and center of employment, commerce,
government services, education, culture and recreational and leisure activities for
residents and visitors (Economic Development, p. 2).

Outcomes:

The rezoning will have the following outcomes:

1. Allow for the Development of Commercial uses: The rezoning from a residential zoning
district R2 will allow for more commercial uses on this site.

Staff Recommendation from Planning Board:

The Planning Board voted 4-0 to recommend the approval of RZ 2025-02 to the Board of
Commissioners.

Staff Recommendation for Planning Board:

Staff recommend the approval of Ordinance 2026-10 finding that it is consistent with the Town
of Zebulon Comprehensive Plan.

Attachments:

Application

Neighborhood Meeting Packet
Future Land Use Map

Aerial Map

Zoning Map

Site Photos

Public Hearing Notification Affidavit
Principal Use Table Excerpt

. Statement of decision required by 2.2.25.H.4 of the UDO
10. Ordinance 2026-10

LNV kW RE

41



Attachment 1
RZ 2025-02<. _ APPLICATION FOR
ZEBULON ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

APPLICATION PROCEDURE: The applicant requesting a Zoning Map Amendment must submit an application through the
Town of Zebulon GeoCivix Web Portal. As noted below some materials must be brought in person to the Zebulon Planning
Department to complete the application process. Access to Geocivix can be found on the Town of Zebulon Website or
through this link (https://townofzebulon.geocivix.com/secure/)

» Materials to Submit through the Town of o Materials to Submit in Person with the Town of
Zebulon GeoCivix Web Portal: Zebulon Planning Department:

o Completed Application Form o Stamped envelopes addressed to Certified List

o One (1) Legal Description (metes and of Property Owners all the homeowners
bounds) of subject property associations of those properties within 750 feet

o Registered survey of subject property of the outer boundary subject property or

o Certified List of Property Owners within properties. Affixed with the following return
750 feet of subject property address:

o Owner's Consent Form Town of Zebulon

o Neighborhood Meeting Packet (If Planning Department
Required) 1003 N. Arendell Ave

Zebulon, NC 27597
o Petition Fee (Please See Fee Schedule) (Can
be paid online but applicants must let Planning
Staff know prior to paying)

PUBLIC HEARING PROCEDURE: Upon submittal of a complete application, the Planning Department will schedule the
application for a joint public hearing before the Planning Board and the Board of Commissioners. APPLICANTS ARE
STRONGLY ENCOURAGED TO CONTACT PLANNING STAFF AS SOON AS POSSIBLE TO ADDRESS ANY
QUESTIONS ABOUT THE PUBLIC HEARING. Notices of the public hearing will be mailed to all adjacent property owners
of the property being considered for a Zoning Map Amendment. At the public hearing, the applicant, proponents, and
opponents will be given the opportunity to offer evidence in favor of or against the proposal. After completion of the public
hearing, the Planning Board will deliberate and forward its recommendation to the Board of Commissioners for final
consideration. Deadline dates and Joint Public Hearing dates can be found on the Town of Zebulon’s website.

Page 20f 6

42



Attachment 1

RZ 2025-02
Town of Zebulon
[ 58 %ﬁ Planning Department
ZEBULON 1003 N. Arendell Avenue, Zebulon, NC 27597

Phone: (919) 823-1810  Fax: (919) 887-2824

Nortn Carovixa www.townofzebulon.org

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT PETITION

GENERAL INFORMATION:

In accordance with section 2.2.25 of the UDO, a Zoning Map Amendment provides a uniform means for reviewing and
deciding proposed amendments to the Official Zoning Map whenever the public necessity, general welfare, the Town’s
adopted policy guidance, or appropriate land use practices justify or require doing so. This procedure sets out the
requirements for amendments to the zoning district designation of land within the Town's planning jurisdiction as well as for
land coming into the Town's planning jurisdiction via annexation in accordance with the standards in the North Carolina
General Statutes.

INSTRUCTIONS:
PRE-APPLICATION MEETING: A pre-application meeting with staff in accordance with Section 2.3.2 of the UDO to verify
the application requirements, processes, and procedures regarding a proposed request. To schedule a meeting, applicants

must e-mail a pdf map, drawing, model, site or sketch plan to the Planning Department (Planning@townofzebulon.org) no
later than five (5) working days prior to the desired meeting day.

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING: Neighborhood meetings are required in accordance with Section 2.3.4 of the UDO prior to
application submission. The applicant is required to notify property owners and any neighborhood association that represents
citizens within that area within 300 feet of the subject property via first class mail a minimum of 10 days in advance of the
neighborhood meeting. The applicant shall use their own retumn address on the envelopes as the meeting is a private meeting
between the developer and the neighbors. The applicant shall submit the “Certified List of Property Owners” and
“Neighborhood Meeting Packet” forms included on the Town's website with their initial submittal.

ANNEXATION REQUIREMENTS: If a property or portion thereof subject to this rezoning is outside the corporate limits and
ETJ, an annexation petition is required to be submitted on the same day as this application in accordance with section 2.2.2
of the UDO.

Page 10f6

43



Attachment 1
Z 2025-0 g
h /4

= APPLICATION FOR
ZZBULON ZONING MAP AMENDMENT
PART 1. DESCRIPTION OF REQUEST/PROPERTY
Street Address of the Property: Acreage:
301 Jones Street and 108 Pearces Road 1.915 Acres
Parcel identification Number (NC PIN): Dead Book: Doed Page(s):
2706-01-5099 and 2706-01-4224 19356 637
Existing Zoning of the Property: Proposed Zoning of the Property:
Residential Suburban (R2) District General Commercial (GC) District
Existing Use of the Property: Proposed Use of the Property:
Vacant Commercial

Reason for Rezoning:

Zoning Map Amendment is requested to rezone the property to allow future commercial development

of the property consistent with the Town of Zebulon Comprehensive Plan and Town policy to

pramote and encourage non-residential development i

n the Town's Zoning Jurisdiction.

PART 2. APPLICANT/AGENT INFORMATION

Name of Applicant/Agent:

O'Kane and Associates, PLLC (Brian O'Kane)

Street Address of Applicant/Agent:
107 Union Drive, Suite 202

City: State: Zip Code:
Washington NC 27889
Emait of Applicant/Agent: Telephone Number of ApplicantiAgent: Fax Number of Applicant/Agent:
brian@okaneandassociates.com  |252-702-1910 N/A
Are you the owner of the property? Are you the owner's agent? Note: i you are not the owner of the property, you must obtain the
O Yes ® No M Yes 0 No | Owner's consent and signature giving you permission to submit this application.
PART 3. PROPERTY OWNER INFORMATION
Name of Property Owner:

CG Enterprises of NC LLC

Streat Address of Property Owner:
1609 Whispering Meadows Drive

City: State: Zip Code:
Zebulon NC 27597
Emait of Properly Owner: Telephone Number of Property Owner. Fax Number of Property Owner:
cur_gin@msn.com 470-309-4479 N/A

I hereby state that the facts related in this application and any documents submitted herewith are complete, frue, correct, and

accurafe to the best of my knowledge.

Signature of Applicant: Print Name: Date:
6 T 0 W Brian O'Kane s/9/25
Signature of Owner: Print Name: Dafe:
VR ) Curtis Gingles
Ldtes A = % 519125

Page 30f 6

44



Attachment 1

RZ 2025024\ APPLICATION FOR
ZEBULON ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

LEGISLATIVE CONSIDERATIONS ~ ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

The applicant shall propose site-specific standards and conditions that take into account the following considerations, which are
considerations that are relevant to the legislative determination of whether or not the proposed zoning district is in the public interest.
Therese considerations do not exclude the legislative consideration of any other factor that is relevant to the public interest. Failure to
adequately address the findings below may result in denial of the application. Please attach additional pages if necessary. The petition
is justified based on the facts as they relate to the Standards in Secfion 2.2.25 J of the UDO as follows:

1. Please explain how the proposed Zoning Map Amendment advances the public health. safely, or welfare
The proposed Zoning Map Amendment will allow the property to be developed as a commercial use instead

of limiting the property to the current residential zoning. This will allow future commercial development of the

property to support the growing residential base of the Town, enhancing the welfare of the public.

2. Please explain how the proposed Zoning Map Amendment is appropriate for its proposed location, and is consistent with
the purposes, goals, abjectives, and policies of the town's adopted policy guidance;

The proposed Zoning Map Amendment would aliow uses on the property that are consistent with the existing

surrounding uses. Commercial zoning is consistent with the Town's Comprehensive Land Use Plan by providing
commercial uses in close proximity to the Town Core to support the rapid residential growth in the area and to provide

a balance of land uses within the tax base as promoted in the Town's adopted Municipal Utility Allocation Policy.

3. Please explain how an approval of the Zoning Map Amendment is reasonable and in the public interest;

Approval of the Zoning Map Amendment will provide the public with the potential for a commercially
developed property in close proximity to their residences and will support the residential growth of

the surrounding area.

4. Please explain how the proposed Zoning Map Amendment addresses any other factors as the Board of Commissioners
may determine to be relevant. These include but are not limited to the proposed uses requested and any requested
deviations and proposed altemative means of compliance.

The Zoning Map Amendment will provide a commercially rezoned property in close proximity to the Town's
Urban Core and is consistent with the Town's Comprehensive Plan, Future Land Use and Charater Map as

well as all other adopted Town policies which promote non-residential and commerical land uses for

this property.

Page 4 of 8

45



Attachment 1

RZ 2025-02% APPLICATION FOR
ZEBULON ZONING MAP AMENDMENT
OWNER’S CONSENT FORM
Name of Project: 301 Jones Street Rezoning Submittal Date: 05/09/2025
OWNER'’S AUTHORIZATION
I hereby give CONSENT to__O'Kane and Associates, PLLC (Brian O'Kane) (type, stamp or print clearly full name of

agent) to act on my behalf, to submit or have submitted this application and all required material and documents, and to
attend and represent me at all mestings and public hearings pertaining to the application(s) indicated above. Furthermore,
| hereby give consent to the party designated above to agree to all terms and conditions which may arise as part of the
approval of this application.

| hereby certify | have full knowledge the property | have an ownership interest in is the subject of this application. |
acknowledge and agree that, pursuant to Section 2.2.25 of the Town of Zebulon Unified Development Ordinance, that lands
subject to a zoning map amendment shall be subject to all the standards, conditions, and plans approved as part of that
application. These standards, plans, and approved conditions are perpetually binding on the land as an amendment to this
Ordinance and the Official Zoning Map and may only be changed in accordance with the procedures established in this
Ordinance. Development located outside the Town of Zebulon's corporate limits shall comply with all Town policies related
to annexation and the extension of utilities. | understand that all other applicable standards and regulations of the UDO will
remain applicable to the subject lands unless specifically listed as conditions or deviations as part of this request. |
understand that any false, inaccurate or incomplete information provided by me or my agent will result in the denial,
revocation or administrative withdrawal of this application, request, approval or permits. | acknowledge that additional
information may be required to process this application. | further consent to the Town of Zebulon to publish, copy or
reproduce any copyrighted document submitted as a part of this application for any third party. [ further agree to all terms
and conditions, which may be imposed as part of the approval of this application.

Loerdss Zlonolis Curtis Gingles S/9/25
Signature of Owrfér Print Name Date

CERTIFICATION OF PROPERTY OWNER

I hereby certify the statements or information made in any paper or plans submitted herewith are true and correct fo the
best of my knowledge. | understand this application, related material and all attachments become official records of the
Planning Department of the Town of Zebulon, North Carolina, and will not be retumed.

K (oo ;j,,,,mg_, Curtis Gingles s/l 25
Signature of Owngf’ Print Name Date

*Owner of record as shown by the Wake County Revenue Department (www.wakegov.com). An option to purchase does not constitute ownership.
if ownership has been recently transferred, a copy of the deed must accompany this form,

Page 5 of 6

46



Attachment 1
RZ 2025-0 _{'

ZEBULON

ADJACENT OWNERS AND HOA CONTACTS:

Provide a certified list of property owners subject to this application and all

APPLICATION FOR
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

properties owners within 750-feet feet of the subject

property, and any HOA Contacts for developments which fall within 750-feet of the subject property.
Parcel Address Parcel ID Number Owner’s Name
HOA Contacts:
Development Name Contact Name Contact Address

Page 6 of 6



Attachment 1

RZ 2025-02

7
/

NOTE. AREA COMPUTED BY COORINATE METHOD
NOTE: NO HCGS MONUMENT WITHIN 2000

NOTE: TH'S PROPERTY IS SUBLECT 7O EASEMENIS
AND RESTRICTIONS OF RECORD

B

I g1l
2706-01 - 509
20N Pl

REFERENCET

800K OF MAPS 1960 — PAGE 77
DEED BOOK 727 ~ PAGE D162
DEED BOOK 016309 — PAGE Q1273
BOOK OF MAPS 2015 — PAGE 01948
BOOK OF MAPS 2011 ~ PAGE 00759

ale of Appraval for Recordng

y certily thal the subddiwman piat snown

hoy been lownd 10 comply widn the Bubgwaen
raguighana for 2ebuian, North Carotno, with ke exceoton
of such variances, if ary, os ore noted ana thal this Digt
hos been appraved by ihe Tomn of Zebulon for recording
in the oifice of Ihe Register of Deada of Wake County

dote

Subdimgon Aarmmatrotor

of precision g8 calwisios W .,Bsnt.ssivrtlszlm.r:..s..
wored s....hﬂ.d.d.-.!; G347~ e =tea \Nwl/%o.r
o U MARCH | Ab 2023 @.qu S

Se) o Stamp

Lic, # C—-0243

Certificate of Ownership. Z & .
| hereby certify that | gm tha owner of the e [N _M. b4
M.o_a of North Caralina property described hereon, which proparty s mw mbbnw. & R
ounty of  ___wAKE within the subdivision regulation jurisdicti L3N HERC mmo:
3. = A
I —_— . Rewew Qfficer 2, H_.ox: of Zebulgn, nq. the Town of N.u.u_.:o:. ond that | freely Odopt mM %0 8. W Wﬂ
cartify that the map or plat lo which thia cerlification s this plat of subdivision. 3% Q R W.M,Dm
affixed meets all slatutory requirements for recording. 2e Sy % 23ds
— sl lgrr
- —— S date Owner wy
Reviaw Olficer MW -
——— = 89
———— date Owner g3
Dote »o.v ;
=
o
. g
__ SEEINSERT
i 1
& i - ——
N 4 S, NSER 1wl
@ o FUC g, Oy
N SN %.‘»M§§§m£
W!?« O Es5 &, m.ch,wh.- uﬁut -
N .‘ln... ~1Z h&h »-.AF. F 4
a L. m@?é&#ﬁn M o
S lawd T~ T e S 8
S LE b fs, N @ S
) g5 5y, z z
Qo @, ad Tarads .8
5 2.8 S s S 3
£ = LoT 1 o ST 8N ¥
! 0.312 ACRES ’ < T}
ca.\\u BN - udtx \ 2 g
[$] i ~— s, .‘Th - m
& é.w\d..: £3 w
%,u. L& o ;«\ / /
' K, /
Fos -y /
bxh% 800, A ! \ !
01097 01255, & LoT 2 ' / s
&8 1.603 ACRES \ i
b
e /
. (]
B e, v N |
1675 016, e, P | z ©°3
\. .p & \ ,,_ mZ o WJW.
18 FA ] 3G o
/ e EAE-Y+ L)
. /o~ | BaoRdEm
T o | BRgERSy
I & / pryicNe] fco
Nl / / 228 4
2/ 7 / . ®oS Fak
/ & VoG 4 zo
: - | 3% A
/ ro | oG
) /
Str \
ey gy ~.. \
& ”
Uce Sooy %Sw@ W vge .
Do, 01895, Py, 9 R /
L] ) e “
- »
e \
\ &./LA\ F\O\v /
Q N Aw, N\
- S N
e /OL: / 9\.
PROPERTY SURVEY FOR /yo& ANCS
DORIS HICKS «%C 1Y
ROGER HICKS \\
BONNIE GLOVER I
LITTLE RIVER TOWNSHIP o frsitmg Wk
WAKE COUNTY Cunbks @ REm un
NORTH CAROLINA o T
8a 0 a0 120 180

" "n" n" »” em—" e—

GRAPHIC SCALE — FEET
FILE: MIKE WRENN\PEARCES RD % JONES ST\PROPERTY sumpvey 2 LOTS.DWG

SCALE 17 = 80"
CATE, 03-14-2023

Williams—Pearce and Assoc., Professional Land Surveyors, P.A. P.0. Box 892, Zebulon, N.C. 27597 Tel.(919) 269-9605

48



Attachment 2
RZ 2025-02

®'KANE

& ASSOCIATES, PLLC

Zoning Map Amendment for 301 Jones Street and 108 Pearces Road
Neighborhood Meeting Report

Meeting Held May 22", 2025

A neighborhood meeting was held as required by the Town of Zebulon Unified
Development Ordinance to discuss the proposed zoning map amendment of two
properties located at 301 Jones Street and 108 Pearces Road. The property considered for
rezoning consists of two parcel and 1.915 acres. The meeting was held at the existing 24/7
fitness center located a 538 West Gannon Avenue in Zebulon, NC 27597. The meeting was
held from 5:00 PM to 7:00 PM. All property owners within 300 feet of the subject
properties were invited to attend.

No one from the community attended the meeting or contacted the applicant or owner’s
representative prior to the meeting.

Attached to this report are the following:

Exhibit A - A copy of the neighborhood meeting notice.

Exhibit B - A copy of the required mailing list for the meeting invitations.
Exhibit C - The sign in sheet showing the meeting attendance.

Exhibit D — A summary of items discussed.

Exhibit E — Affidavit of Conducting the Neighborhood Meeting.

O’Kane & Associates, PLLC
107 Union Drive, Suite 202 Washington, North Carolina 27889 / (252) 702-1910

49



Attachment «
RZ 2025 _ ‘ INFORMATION PACKET FOR

ZERCLON NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

Ry

NOTICE OF NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING

This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the
Town’s website or disclosed to third parties.

Dear Neighbor:

You are invited to a neighborhood meeting to review and discuss the development proposal at:
301 Jones Street and 108 Pearces Road 2706-01-5099 and 2706-01-4224

(Address) (Pin Numbers)

in accordance with the Town of Zebulon Neighborhood Meeting procedures. This meeting is intended to be a
way for the applicant to discuss the project and review the proposed plans with adjacent neighbors and
neighborhood organizations before the submittal of an application to the Town. This provides neighbors an
opportunity to raise questions and discuss any concerns about the impacts of the project before it is officially
submitted. Once an application has been submitted to the Town, it may be tracked using the Interactive
Development Map located on the Town of Zebulon website at:
https://www.townofzebulon.org/planning/interactive-development-map

A Neighborhood Meeting is requested because this project will include:

Conditional Rezoning

Planned Unit Development

Site Plan within the Downtown Core or Downtown Periphery Zoning Districts

Zoning Map Amendment (results in more intensive uses or increased density)

Special Use Permit (Quasi-Judicial Hearing)

*Quasi-Judicial Hearing: The Board of Commissioners cannot discuss the project prior to the public hearing.

o000

The following is a description of the proposed (also see attached map(s) and/or plan sheet(s)):
Zoning Map Amendment from Residential Suburban (R2) District to General Commercial (GC) District

Estimated Submittal Date: June 2025

MEETING INFORMATION:
Property Owner(s) Name(s) CG Enterprises of NC LLC

Applicant(s) O'Kane and Associates - Contact - Brian O'Kane representing CG Enterprises of NC LLC

Contact Information (e-mail/phone) brian@okaneandassociates.com /252-702-1910

Meeting Address: 538 W. Gannon Avenue, Zebuion NC 275697

Date of Meeting: Thursday, May 22nd, 2025

Time of Meeting: 5:00 PM-7:00 PM

**Meetings shall occur between 5:00 p.m.-9:00 p.m. on a Monday through Thursday (excluding Town recognized holidays). If you have questions
about the general process for this application, please contact the Planning Department at 919-823-1809. You may also find information about the
Zebulon Planning Department and on-going planning efforts at https://www.townofzebulon.org/services/planning

Page 3 of 8
50



Attachment 2
Rz 2025-02

VICINITY MAP

SCALE: 1"=500'



52

€200-0STP8 LN ALID ;AT LIVS| SZ2Z WY I1dWIL HLYON 3 0§ §2G9-125 Ald WAV XVL AVQ-43L1Y1 JO LSIHHO SNSAM 40 HOYNHO 1S SINOTr 00€

S2T1e-££28¢ ON J1LLOTHVHD 431S 1S NOAHLS L016 ONITSLI| ¥ SHIIYANIH 0001

0£89-£654¢ ON NO1NG3Z N7 VIOTVLSON 901 7 AIH3A38 ‘TT13dVHYD NTVIOTVISON 90T

¥£89-/65.Z ON NOTNE3Z NTVIOQTYLSON 80€ WYITIM ‘WYHONI YOT318 ‘WYHONI NTVIOTVISON 80€

80£8-£6S54C ON NO1NG3Z 1S SINOI vor 1SShd 1S SINOT vOr

00£8-£654¢ ON NOINEG3Z 1S JHOOW 009 NNV ATIW3 ‘ONO1 1S 3400 009

8505-7094¢ ON HOIITVY 1d 3IA0YD NOLNIH STLE N 309N ‘NIANON O HNYHA 31 4 S304dv3ad 901

00£8-£654¢ ON NOING3Z 1S JHOOW T09 1ANOIT 'YNYINYS 1S JHOOW 209

1£89-£654C ON NOING3Z N1VIOTVISON TTT 471Nvd ‘SIYNIHJNYA JINVHAALS *SIYNIHINYA NTVIOTVISON TTT

£060-28SLZ ON 0H04SA109 £0601 X049 Od OT1Xdvd3| 3AVTI3ANIYY N 09T

T/89-£65.¢ DN NOTNG3Z NTVI9TISON £0T N 30I43A0H HIANS N1 VIOTYISON €01

T182-709LZ ON HOIZVH GH NO0HATUW I T0LT 071183404 AOOMT139| 3IAV T13ANIUY N 00€T

£98L-£6SLCONNOTING3Z| YA SMOAVIW ONIHIJSIHM 6091 071N 40 S3SIdY3IINT 9O Qa4 S304v3id 801

£9€/-/65LCONNOTINGIZ| YA SMOQYIW ONIYIdSIHM 6091 071 ON 40 S3SIddd3LNT 9O 1S SANO(r T0E

¥£89-£6542 ON NOING3Z N1VIOTVLISON v0€ W NNVHL3E 'vHYAINO NTVIOTYISON v0E

T489-£65S£Z ON NOING3Z| N7 VIQTVLSON 60T YHANAN ‘ANITTIIO NVAY “ANIITIO N1VIOTVLSON 60T

1£89-£6542 ON NOING3Z N VIOTVLSON £0T TIONNOD VITIHS ‘NOSTIM N1VIOTVISON £0T

T.89-£654¢ ON NOING3AZ N1 VIOTVLSON SOT 1100S MIYANY “TIHWIH NTVIOTVISON SOT

§£89-£654¢ ON NOING3Z N1VIOTYISON T1E AL138 “INvd NTVIOTVISON T1E

0r00-£65£¢ ON NOING3Z 07 X049 Od O71S31YIJ0Yd JOVLIYIH 3AT10| AV TIIANIHY N 90vT

8¢08-£654¢ ON NOING3Z 6€ AVMHOIH ON LEOET ONINSSVY SHINMOIWOH STWOHNMOL NOTIIVM Y S$304v3d 102

629T1-T6SLZ ON T13ANIM 6291 X090d VH3IAIA ‘NNYWID9T H313d ‘NNVYWIDOI NTVIOTVISON 0T

§489-£654C ON NOINE3Z N1 VIOTYLSON 60€ LS3IWVT ‘sIy3aoy N1VIOTVISON 60€

9CPC-L6GLC ON NOTNG3IZ 1S 33913901 331SNYL SHIAY VANTHE “YIT13dS ITLSNYL SYWOHL NVIINM ‘Y3 T3S N1VIOTYISON 00T

99PL-SYSLT DN FTVALHOINA Ha YIN0IFZT2L8 dNHLYY avl ‘I8ny3g N1VIQTV1SON 00E

0£89-L6SLZ DN NOTNE3Z N1VIOTVISON 20T VHSIWY ‘FLIHM N1 VI9TY1SON 20T

6¥62-1,00€ VO SSOYOUON HATVIONVYNI 9865 ANIWLHYdIA XYL ONIISNOH 31d3vM QY S304dvad 20T

88¢5-L20.8 N1 GOOMINIHE TOT 31S YANDIMAYHO £00L NI-3AIYJ JINOS vad d1 SHINLHYd OONVSNYDSIA 41 11 SHINLYYd OGNYSNYOS3A OHNd| JAY T13ANIHY N 0¥ZT

1£89-L65.C DN NOTNG3Z N1VIOTVISON ETT NNV YH1HYIW ‘43ddvH N1VIOTYISON €TT

T/89-£654¢ DN NO1INB3Z N1VI9TYISON 10T M HIY “TYANVYIN N1VI9OTYLSON T0T

1209-L65.¢ ON NO1NQ3IzZ Q4 NMOLAT1INYHE €09 NITIVY Q4VHOIY ‘NIIHO N3FUO YNNOA ‘NNNg 4 S304v3d ¥02

£ ssaippy Buniew Z ssauppy Buniep T Ssa1ppy 8uiliep RuUmQ SSalppy
205202 24

Z JuawyoeRy



Attachment
RZ 2025~ INFORMATION PACKET FOR

ZEBULON NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING SIGN-IN SHEET:
This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third
parties.

Project Name: 301 Jones Street and 108 Pearces Road
Meeting Address: 938 W. Gannon Avenue , Zebulon, NC 27597

Date of Meeting: 5/22/2025 : Time of Meeting: 2~/ PM

Property Owner(s) Names: CG Enterprises of NC LLC
ts: O'Kane and Associates, PLLC

Applican

Please print your name below, state your address and/or affiliation with a neighborhood group, and provide your phone
number and email address. Providing your name below does not represent support or opposition to the project; it is for
documentation purposes only.

Name/ Organization Address Phone# E-mail

O (RN ||| N =

Wy
o)

-y
[y

[uy
[\

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Attach Additional Sheets If Necessary.

Page 6 of 8
53



Attachment 2
RZ 2025-02

54



Attachment 2
RZ 2025-F= INFORMATION PACKET FOR

ZEBULON NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION FROM THE NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING

This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third

%a::jzct Name: 301 Jones Street and 108 Pearces Road

Meeting Address: 938 V. Gannon Avenue , Zebulon, NC 27597

Date of Meeting: 5/22/2025 Time of Meeting: w
Property Owner(s) Names: CC Enterprises of NC LLC
Applicants: O'Kane and Associates, PLLC

Please summarize the questions/comments and your response from the Neighborhood Meeting in the spaces below (attach
additional sheets, if necessary). Please state if/how the project has been modified in response to any concerns. The response
should not be “Noted” or “No Response”. There has to be documentation of what consideration the neighbor’s concern was
given and justification for why no change was deemed warranted.

Question/ Concern #1 NO community members attended meeting.

Applicant Response: N/A

Question/ Concern #2

Applicant Response:

Question/ Concern #3

Applicant Response:

Question/ Concern #4

Applicant Response:

Page 70f 8
55



Attachment 2

RZ 2025-0Z; INFORMATION PACKET FOR

ZEETHEQN NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

AFFIDAVIT OF CONDUCTING A NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING, SIGN-IN
SHEET AND ISSUES/RESPONSES SUBMITTAL

This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third
parties.

I, BV“\G-.(\ O‘ Kane , do hereby declare as follows:
Print Name

1. I have conducted a Neighborhood Meeting for the proposed Rezoning, Major Site Plan, Master Subdivision
Plan, or Special Use Permit.

2. The meeting invitations were mailed to the Zebulon Planning Department, all property owners within 750
feet of the subject property and any neighborhood association that represents citizens in the area via first class
mail a minimum of 10 days in advance of the Neighborhood Meeting.

3. The meeting was conducted at 538 W. Gannon Avenue , Zebulon, NC 27597 (location/address) on
5(22]2025 (date) from 5:00PM (start time) to 7:00 PM (end time).

4. I have included the mailing list, meeting invitation, sign-in sheet, issue/response summary, and zoning
map/reduced plans with the application.

5. 1 have prepared these materials in good faith and to the best of my ability.

625 [2025 By: Brian D'Kane ﬁ@_ jzh/

Date

STATE OF NE

COUNTY OF _ ™ nulat
Sworn and subscribed before me, %«o\o? n %3( , , a Notary Public for the above State and
County, on thisthe 5™ day of "Seune ,20 3= .

\\\\“"""I”,
S\ LEG L,
Notary Publie
Beaufort

)

SEAL

Coumy
My Comm. Exp,
¢o 05-03-202¢

&‘ ) Notary Public

“Holonheagett

Print Name

AN
g

\\“\\u b, "I,,,

AW
&
S

§
” N
7 //H CAR \\:\\‘\\

i

My Commission Expires:

5-3-3¢

Page 8 of 8

56



(dd) uoneanay pue syued [N
(29) feppwwo) [eeusn [ JepeIeyD/asn puel
(35) (ejuawwo? uequngns |

(W) X1 [enuepisay [ 9SNPUETAIMING ™~ UoNGS7Z

(4D) [enuspisay [eieU9 $}00LS
(us) lepuepisey ueqingns sposed ]
(DY) uopenszsuo) ey | sseuyd /2

73] meé_.wmnv

[ T T T
SeliN 20

asM pue a1mn4

FNITOUYD HLYON

NO1NgdZ

20-G20¢ ZY
€ JuUsWIyoBNY

~
w




S]SALS cvmmm — T 1 T 1T 1 ] ¥NITO¥YD HIUON

ssaully / /b2

[o¢]
o]

depy [eLay ety




Bujuoz feuopipuo) ‘70 F4
feuogmsul pue 320 ‘10
[ernsnpur 1617 ‘1

ueqingns [enuspisay ‘zy
Paysialem [enuepissy ‘T

{epwwo) AeaH “OH [l spusiqg buiuoz
fepRwwo) eeues 30 Il SIOONS e | | ! ! | ! | ! | VYNITO¥YD HLUON 2
S|l ) - .
Alwed-piniy [epuspisay diwd 0 sposed [ o0 4 s 0 Z o 1H Dm m N
pooyIoqubieN |euspisay vy SSaUl /1T Fesaseyy

R

20-6202 Z¥ N
dejy buiuoz G JUBWUDERY



Attachment 6
RZ 2025-02

View of the site from Jones Street.

60



ZEBULON

NORTH CAROLINA

CASE # Zoning Map Amendment 2025-02 - 301 Jones 5t and 108 Pearces Rd

HEARING DATE: August 11, 2025

State of North Carolina

County of .Lh:&i

BEFORE ME, the undersigned Notary, & . mckmnt\;[ Wernes on
this "\‘-‘L day of Su r 2035, personally appeared Matthew Lower,

known to me to be a credible person and of lawful age, who being by me first duly sworn, on his oath,
deposes and says:

I Matthew Lower, Planning Director for the Town of Zebulon, affirm that the following Public Notice
Procedures have been completed in accordance with applicable North Carolina General Statute and
Town of Zebulon Unified Development Ordinance Section 2.3.6 have been satisfied for the above

referenced hearing.

e Advertisement in a Paper of General Circulation sent an July 28, 2025 (Wake weekly, publication
dates 8/1/2025 & 8/8/2025)

e Posted to Planning Department Website 7/28/2025

¢ Signs Posted on Site 8/1/2025

¢ Mailed Notices sent out 8/1/2025

%@%M Au, 7= 2035

Matthew Lower Date

Subscribedand sworn to before me, this ny day of ﬂ'u!u ' 20 28

SONNEY o
; 13

Nl
SO
.:4\

W 4. MKipnay Uoiner

[signature of Notary] [printed name of Notary]

NOTARY PUBLIC

My commission expires: m&'\'l 2 3 ] 202.’.

61



Notice of Public Hearing

Notice is hereby given pursuant to the provisions of Article 2.3.6 of the Town of Zebulon
Unified Development Ordinance that a public hearing will be held on August 11, 2025, at
6:00 PM at the Zebulon Municipal Complex, 1003 N. Arendell Avenue, and will be
conducted by the Board of Commissioners and the Planning Board for the purpose of
considering the following items:

IDT Project Number 1777124 — Zoning Map Amendment 2025-02 — 301
Jones St and 108 Pearces Rd

PIN # 2706015099, 2706014224. A request by O’kane and Associates on behalf
of property owner CP Enterprises of NC, for a rezoning from Residential
Suburban (R2) to General Commercial (GC)

Text Amendment 2025-03 — Amendment of the Mobile Food Vendors
ordinance
A request led by the Town of Zebulon, for a text amendment to section 4.5 of
the UDO amending the language around Mobile Food Vendors.

Public comments may be submitted to Town Clerk Ana Gomez at
agomez/@townofzebulon.org no later than 12:00 Noon on the day of the hearing to be
read into the record. Links will be provided along with the full application packet and
documentation on the Planning Department web page at

https -/;www.townofzebulon.org/departments/planning/ public-hearing-information For
questions or additional information, please contact us at (919) 823-1811.

62



Notificacion de Audiencia Publica

Por la presente se notifica, de conformidad con las disposiciones del Articulo 2.3.6 de la
Ordenanza de Desarrollo Unificado del Pueblo de Zebulon, que se celebrara una
audiencia ptiblica el 11 de agosto de 2025, a las 6:00 PM en ¢l Complejo Municipal de
Zebulon, 1003 N. Arendell Avenue, y seré llevada a cabo por la Board of
Commissioners y la Planning Board con el fin de considerar los siguientes puntos:

IDT Proyecto Numero 1777124 — Enmienda al Mapa de Zonificacion 2025-02 -
301 Jones Sty 108 Pearces Rd

PIN # 2706015099, 2706014224. Una solicitud de O'Kane y Asociados en
nombre del duefio de la propiedad CP Enterprises of NC, para una rezonificacion
de Residencial Suburbano (R2) a Comercial General (GC).

Enmienda de texto 2025-03 — Enmienda de la ordenanza de vendedores
ambulantes de alimentos

Una solicitud dirigida por la Ciudad de Zebulon, para una enmienda de texto a la
seccion 4.5 de la UDO que modifica el lenguaje en torno a los vendedores
ambulantes de alimentos.

Los comentarios del publico pueden ser presentadas a Town Clerk Ana Gémez en
agomez(@townofzebulon.org no més tarde de las 12:00 del mediodia del dia de la
audiencia para ser leido en el registro. Los enlaces se proporcionaran junto con el paquete
de solicitud completa y la documentacion en la pAgina web del Departamento de
Planificacion en https://www.townofzebulon.org/departments/planning/public-hearing-

information. Para preguntas o informacion adicional, péngase en contacto con nosotros
en (919) 823-1811

63



Attachment 8
RZ 2025-02

TABLE4.2.3: PRINCIPAL USE TABLE

A=Allowed |(if listed in a PD master plan); P=Permitted subject to applicable use-specific standards; S=Requires
approval of a special use permit and compliance with applicable use-specific standards; ~ "=Prohibited

RESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL Mixep UsE

USETYPE
] S1-3k A =2 ) EE

UsE-SPECIFIC
STANDARDS

RESIDENTIAL USE CLASSIFICATION

Assisted Living ; 3 y X [ ]
Facllity S S P P Pl A 4.33.A
Continuing Care .
Retirement Center P P S P P P i 433D
Duplex Dweliing P P S - P P |l A
Family Care Home P P P P : P Pl A 4.3.3.E
Live/Work Dwelling P BB P S E P Pl A 4.3.3.H
Multi-family Dwelling : . S P P . P P Pl A 4.33.M
Nursing Home N S P . P P | A
Single-family i
Attached Dwelling il & b i i il £330
Single-family
Detached Dwelling P P P d P 3 P : i A 433FP
Triplex/Quadplex : g S P P P P . 5 2 : =2 P 4.33.Q
Upper-story . ) . .
Residential P P P P P P P P P P 433.R

INSTITUTIONAL USE CLASSIFICATION
Adult Day Care S i P p . . . P . S A A3.4A
Center
AntennaCollocation, | ¢ | ¢ | s | s | p |p|p|pP|P|P|P|P|P|P|A]| 4348
Major
Antenna Collocation, p p P P p P P P e p p p P p A
Minor
Arboretum or Formal
Garden P P P P P P P P P P
Auditorium - : : : : : : P P S P é P P P 434.C
Broadcasting Studio A 434D
Cemetery,
Columbarium, or . S . + . . S S S . S S : : A 4.34.E
Mausoleum
ERLc ey COIe sls|slplerlr]|r Plep|p| Al 434F
Center
ICr:\hild Day Care, Drop p P P P P P
College or University : . : . : : S S . ’ . P ] P
COmMBALTRc/ plerlr|ep PP [P 434G
Senior Center
Cultural Facility,
Library, or Museum s 3 3 ; B P 5 h

64



Attachment 8
RZ 2025-02

TABLE4.2.3: PRINCIPAL USE TABLE

A=Allowed (if listed in a PD master plan); P=Permitted subject to applicable use-specific standards; S=Requires

approval of a special use permit and compliance with applicable use-specific standards: * "'=Prohibited
RESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL MIXED USE g @
)y o
USE TYPE 0%
1] O LV UV ==l 52
[ 2 = 2 = i IS o b | G 4 2
2 »
Drug/Alcohol N ey e (R R A N . .
Treatment Facility 2 3 P ) 4341
Fire/EMS/Police
station P P P P P P P P P P Pl A
Fraternal Club or S S P p S P P P s A 43.4.)
Lodge
Government Office . . . . P P P P 5| P P P
Indoor Private v P P P p P p P A
Recreation
Outdoor. Private s S P P p p P s A
Recreation
Rl O plelr|lPr|P]lr|P|Pr|[P]|P PlP|P]|A
private)
Passenger Terminal P P P P P P P P Pl A
Post Office P B P P P Pl A
Religious Institution S P S P P P S| A 4.3.4.M
School, Elementary S S P P P S| A
School, High/Middle S S P P P S| A 4.3.4.N
Small Wireless Facility | S S S S P P P P P P P P P P | A i%iz
Telecommunications 13.4.Q
Tower, Minor or : i S S S S S S E P P S A o
4.3.4.5
Concealed
Temporary Wireless 43.4.R;
Facillty N S S S S P P P P P P S S| A —“4‘3‘4.3
Urgent Care Facility : < - : : P P | P P Pl A
Utility, Major . . . . . : P P P P P P | A 4347
Utility, Minor P P P P P 2 [ P P P P P Pl P | A 4347
COMMERCIAL USE CLASSIFICATION
Animal rayicars/ plep|P|P| - -|pP Pl Al 4358
Grooming
Art Gallery P B P P P P | A 435.D
Arlisan Studio P P P P P P P | A 4.3.5.F
Auction House P P P P P A
Avutomotive Repair
and Servicing . . ) ) } . . . ) .
(without painting/ PIPLP P S 43.5F
bodywork)
Avtomotive Sales
and Rentals Bl 2P P P|A| 435G

65



Attachment 8
RZ 2025-02

TABLE4.2.3: PRINCIPAL USE TABLE

A=Allowed (if listed in a PD master plan); P=Permitted subject to applicable use-specific standards; S=Requires
approval of a special use permit and compliance with applicable use-specific standards: * "=Prohibited

RESIDENTIAL C OMMERCIAL Mixep UsE

USE TYPE

1 — = =
I =2 225 29Ls50E0

Use-SPECIFIC
STANDARDS

O
O

Avutomotive Parts and
Accessories Sales
Bar, Cocktail Lounge,
or Private Club

Bed and Breakfast S S S S P P P P . . . P P Pl A 4.3.5K
Boat and Marine
Rental, Sales, and 3 € 3 # : > P P P : P - : A
Service

Bottle Shop (with on
premise C . : . : S S P S . . . P Pl A 4.3.5.1
consumption)
Business Incubator - : £ . . P P I P P - P P = A 4.3.5.M
Campground . E . . P : P . P : ¥ : : A 4.3.5.N
Car Wash or . J : b . ;s . ) ) . A
Avutomobile Detailing S
Catering
Establishment
Check
Cashing/Payday
Lending
Establishment

Clothing Rental . - . . . . p P . . . . p P | A

Coffee Shop ; : : : S P AR : P SIF P
Commercial
Recreation, Indoor
Computer-Related
Services
Convenience Store . . ) . . P
(no gasoline sales)
Convenience Store
(with gasoline sales)
Co-Working Space . : . . . P
Event Venue S
Financial Services . ) ) ; ; P . ! )
Establishment Sl
Funeral-Related
Services
Games of Skill

Grocery Store . . . ] : P

Gymnasium/ Fitness
Center

18
o
o

I

© |TWv|D| ©
0
- |0 .
0
© |v|TT| »
> (> (>]| >
N
(o8]
o
el

v | D|T| T©

o |v|lwn| wv

o |T|w]| »
=

P o
i




Attachment 8
RZ 2025-02

TABLE4.2.3: PRINCIPAL USE TABLE

A=Allowed (if listed in a PD master plan); P=Permitted subject to applicable use-specific standards; S=Requires
approval of a special use permit and compliance with applicable use-specific standards; * "=Prohibited

RESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL MIXeD USE

Use TYPE

i AR A S S ) S

O o,
[rela
Uz
<
& a
72
© 5
o

Hair, Nails, and Skin-
Related Services

Hotel or Motel : ; : . : . P| P | P . . . P| P

Laundry or Cleaning
Service

Microbrewery,
Microwinery, or s : . . . 5 Pl P | P . p " ) P
Microdistillery

>
1o
o
9

Nightclub or Dance
Hall

Office, Medical . : - : : p

Office, Professional . ¢ . . P

Office, Sales or
Service

-v
v |T|T| ©
o |Tv|w| U
v
T |w|UO| ©
W |w|O| ©
> | >|>]| >

Package and
Printing Service

Park and Ride Facility

Parking Lot

w|lToT|™T™m| O

Parking Structure

Pawn Shop

Pharmacy T : : Z - S

Pool Hall

U|ww|v|v|Uw|OD|O| ©
V|| |wlo|lw|O|R| ©
o
V|l»w|lw|lo|w|O|VW| O
T|(w|Tw|DO|D|OV|W| T
P> |2|>|>| >
I
W
&)

—

—

Repair Shop

Restavurant
Indoor/Ovutdoor . : . . . plplp]| -|P]| -|P
Seating

-u
-
>
B~
o
o
z
z

Restaurant with
Drive-through/Drive- o . = . > : P P . P : P . : A 4.3.5.NN
up Service

Restavrant, Walk-up

Only 4.3.5.NN

Retail, Bulky ltem 4.3.5.00

Retail, Large Format 4.3.5.PP

Retail Use, Other 0 : : . . P

»n |v|lwn|wn| o
» |V|(T|OU| ©
T |O|TU|TW| T©
> |>|>|>| »

Self Service Storage,
Internal Access Only

Specialty Eating
Establishment

Tattoo and Piercing
Establishment

Theatre ; : g - : P B 1 . . . P | P

67



Attachment 8
RZ 2025-02

TABLE4.2.3: PRINCIPAL USE TABLE

A=Allowed [if listed in a PD master plan); P=Permitied subject to applicable use-specific standards; S=Requires
approval of a special use permit and compliance with applicable use-specific standards; * "=Prohibited

RESIDENTIAL COMMERCIAL MixeD Use

Use TYPE
[ o~ % 8 % S 0 o)

UsE-SPECIFIC
STANDARDS

Vape, Tobacco, and
CBD Shop P P P P | A 4.3.5.UU
Veterinary Clinic . . . s : P|P | P . ' . . P| P | A 4.3.5.VV

INDUSTRIAL USE CLASSIFICATION

Makerspace [ T -7 7T 17 -1 Trlelerlre]r] -Jrlrla] 43sc
AGRICULTURAL USE CLASSIFICATION

Agriculivral Support plp|ep o ; . A 4378

Services S

Farmer's Market : i : : P P|IP|[P : : . PR R R 4.3.7.0

Plant Nursery N : ; : | P[P ; ’ : : ' A

NOTES:
[1] Some use types may be further limited in allowable zoning districts or may require a different
procedure for establishment in accordance with Section 4.7, Prohipited Uses, or Section 3.8 Overlay

Zoning Districts.
[2] Uses are defined in Article 9, Measurement and Definitions.

[3] Manufactured housing is only permitted on lofs in the manufactured home overlay district.

68



ZEBULON

NORTH CAROLINA

WRITTEN STATEMENT OF ADOPTION
301 JONES ST AND 108 PEARCES RD
SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

Per Zebulon Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) 2.2.25.H, the Zebulon Board of
Commissioners shall adopt a written statement upon the approval of a Planned

Development (PD):

1. The Board Commissioners Approves Ordinance 2026-10
2. Ordinance 2026-10 is fully consistent with the Town’s adopted Policy Guidance in the
Comprehensive Plan
3. Ordinance 2026-10 is consistent with the comprehensive plan as it willimplement the
following goals and policies:
a. Goals for Land Use and Development:

Goal 1: A land use allocation and pattern that advances Zebulon’s
objectives of achieving greater housing variety, supporting its economic
development and tax base needs, and creating a complete community with
convenient resident access to schools, recreation, shopping and services
(Land Use and Development, p.2).

Goal 2: Consistent character of land use within areas intended for particular
character types, from rural and suburban through auto-oriented and urban
along the community character spectrum (Land Use and Development, p.2).

b. Goals for Growth Capacity

Goal 1: A growth management philosophy and strategies that enable most
of the projected growth in the Zebulon area to be absorbed within and
contiguous to the existing developed town (Growth Capacity, p.2).

c. Economic Development Goals and Actions:

Goal 1: An economically resilient community with a diverse yet stable
economic base, an environment that supports both entrepreneurs and
established businesses, and a local real estate market attractive to
emerging investment, job creation and development opportunities
(Economic Development, p. 2).

Goal 2: A town that remains the unquestioned hub community for eastern
Wake County as a multi-purpose destination and center of employment,
commerce, government services, education, culture and recreational and
leisure activities for residents and visitors (Economic Development, p. 2).

4. Ordinance 2026-10 does not amend the Town’s adopted policy guidance in the
Comprehensive Plan.
5. There are no requested deviations from the Town’s adopted policies

69



ZEBULON WRITTEN STATEMENT OF ADOPTION
301 JONES ST AND 108 PEARCES RD
NORTH GAROLINA SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

6. Ordinance 2026-10 is reasonable as it aligns with the town’s long-term planning goals,
provides marginal public benefit, and represents zoning consistent with the future land
use plan

7. Ordinance 2026-10 is in the public interest as it addresses Zebulon’s growing population
by providing the opportunity for commercial development.

Glenn L. York — Mayor

SEAL

Dora K. Moore — Interim Town Clerk

70



ORDINANCE 2026-10
AMENDMENT TO ZONING MAP FOR
301 Jones Street (Pin # 2706015099)
108 Pearces Road (Pin # 2706014224)

The proposed Amendment to the official Zoning Map as described in Section 2.2.25 of the Unified
Development Ordinance for two parcels totaling 1.915 acres located at 301 Jones Street and 108
Pearces Road is hereby rezoned from Residential Suburban (R2) to General Commercial (GC)
District in accordance with Section 2.2.25 of the Town of Zebulon Unified Development
Ordinance and the attached map.

Adopted this the 8™ day of September 2025

Glenn L. York — Mayor

SEAL

Dora K. Moore — Interim Town Clerk

71



STAFF REPORT

ZEBULON ORDINANCE 2026-09

NORTH CAROLINA ZEBULON SOUTH
SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

Topic: Zebulon South

Speaker: Matt Lower, Planning Director

From: Matt Lower, Planning Director
Prepared by: Matt Lower, Planning Director
Approved by: Taiwo Jaiyeoba, Interim Town Manager
Request

The applicant requests rezoning of three parcels located at 751 S. Wakefield Street (PIN
#2704492511), 700 S. Arendell Avenue (PIN #2705512202), and 0 Wakefield Street (PIN
#2705413075) from R-2 and R-4 to Planned Development (PD). The request is
accompanied by the Zebulon South Master Plan and Comprehensive Planned
Development Document, which establish the development's conditions and design
standards.

Background
« Ordinance 2026-09 is being submitted to the Board of Commissioners in
accordance with the settlement agreement in Deacon Development Group, LLC v.
Town of Zebulon.

Comprehensive Plan Consistency
The rezoning request has been evaluated against the Grow Zebulon: Comprehensive
Land Use Plan, Comprehensive Transportation Plan, and Comprehensive Parks and
Recreation Master Plan. Staff finds that the request is consistent with the Comprehensive
Plan by supporting the following goals and policies:
o Land Use & Development: Expands housing variety, supports the tax base, and
creates a complete community with access to schools, recreation, and services.
« Growth Capacity: Provides a sustainable development pattern and enhances
public safety considerations.
« Housing & Neighborhoods: Increases housing diversity and provides attractive
neighborhood options connected to downtown and recreational amenities.
No amendment to the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) is required.

Reasonableness & Public Interest
The rezoning request is reasonable because it:
« Provides high-quality residential development with restrictions on rental units.
« Expands affordable housing options while maintaining neighborhood character.
« Strengthens connections to downtown Zebulon and pedestrian networks.
The request is in the public interest because it:
« Delivers a high value per acre development.
« Enhances recreational and transportation facilities accessible to both new
residents and the broader community.
« |s consistent with the site’s location and the Town’s long-term growth strategy.

72



STAFF REPORT

ZEBULON ORDINANCE 2026-09

NORTH CAROLINA ZEBULON SOUTH
SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

Staff Recommendation

Staff recommends approval of Ordinance 2026-09, with adoption of the attached Zebulon
South Master Plan and Comprehensive Planned Development Document as conditions
of approval.

Attachments:

1. Application

2. Site Plan

3. Planned Development Narrative (Amended)
4. Utility Allocation Worksheet

5. TIA Review Letter from Town Engineer

6. TIA Applicant Response

7. TIA

8. Future Land Use and Character Map

9. Aerial Map

10. Zoning Map

11. Site Pictures

12. Public Hearing Notice Affidavit

13. UDO Section 3.5.5 Planned Development
14. Comprehensive Land Use Plan (Excerpts)
15. Comprehensive Transportation Plan (Excerpts)
16. Ordinance 20256-09

17. Consistency Statement

18. Statement of Reasonableness

73



ORDINANCE 2026-09

AMENDMENT TO CONDITIONAL ZONING MAP FOR 751 S. WAKEFIELD STREET (PIN
#2704492511), 700 S. ARENDELL AVENUE (PIN #2705512202), AND 0 WAKEFIELD
STREET (PIN #2705413075)

PD 2025-05 (former PD 2024-01)
FROM R-2 AND R-4 TO PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD)

WHEREAS, the Town of Zebulon Board of Commissioners reviewed and considered a
Planned Development Rezoning for 751 S. Wakefield Street, 700 S. Arendell Avenue, and 0
Wakefield Street (the “Property”) under the former proposed PD-2024 at its May 6, 2024
meeting and declined to adopt the proposed Planned Development Rezoning under the
conditions presented on May 6, 2024, as evaluated under standards of the Grow Zebulon:
Comprehensive Land Use Plan, the Grow Zebulon: Comprehensive Transportation Plan, and
the Town of Zebulon Comprehensive Parks and Recreation Master Plan (collectively, the
“Comprehensive Plan”);

WHEREAS, the Town of Zebulon Board of Commissioners has now reviewed and considered
new conditions for rezoning of the Property agreed to by the applicantin July 2025, and under
the standards of the Comprehensive Plan, the members of the Town of Zebulon Board of
Commissioners do believe that, with the new conditions considered, the proposed Planned
Development rezoning: (1) advances the public health, safety, and welfare; (2) is appropriate
for the proposed location; (3) is consistent with the purposes, objectives, goals, and the
Town’s policies, and (4) is reasonable and in the public interest.

THEREFORE, the Town of Zebulon Board of Commissioners hereby approves the rezoning
application identified as PD 2025-05 and rezones the Property from R-2 and R-4 to Planned
Development (PD), subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Zebulon South Master
Plan and Zebulon South Comprehensive Planned Development Document attached hereto.

SO ADOPTED thisthe ___ 8™ day of _September__, 2025.

SEAL S
Glenn L. York — Mayor

Attested by:

Dora K. Moore, MMC -_lnterim Town Clerk

74



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CONSISTENCY STATEMENT

AMENDMENT TO CONDITIONAL ZONING MAP FOR 751 S. WAKEFIELD STREET (PIN
#2704492511), 700 S. ARENDELL AVENUE (PIN #2705512202), AND 0 WAKEFIELD STREET
(PIN #2705413075)

PD 2025-05 (former PD 2024-01)
FROM R-2 AND R-4 TO PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD)
September 8, 2025

WHEREAS, pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 160D-605(a) and Section 2.2.15.G.3 of the Town of
Zebulon Unified Development Ordinance, the Town of Zebulon Board of Commissioners
shall adopt a written statement upon the approval of a Planned Development; and

WHEREAS, the Town of Zebulon Board of Commissioners approved PD 2025-05 (former PD
2024-01) in its meeting on September 8, 2025;

THEREFORE, the Town of Zebulon Board of Commissioners hereby makes the following
findings and adopts the following written statement:

1. Afterconsideringthe policies, maps, and other materials included as part of the Grow
Zebulon: Comprehensive Land Use Plan, the Grow Zebulon: Comprehensive
Transportation Plan, and the Town of Zebulon Comprehensive Parks and Recreation
Master Plan (collectively, the “Comprehensive Plan”), the Town of Zebulon Board of
Commissioners determines that the proposed zoning amendment described in PD
2025-05 is fully consistent with the Town’s adopted policy guidance in the
Comprehensive Plan and fully consistent with the Future Land Use Map, and the
rezoning request should be approved.

2. PD 2025-05 is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan as it will implement the
following goals and policies:

a. Goals for Land Use and Development

Goal 1: A land use allocation and pattern that advances Zebulon’s
objectives of achieving greater housing variety, supporting its
economic development and tax base needs, and creating a complete
community with convenient resident access to schools, recreation,
shopping and services. (Land Use and Development, p. 2)

Goal 3: Ongoing and effective collaboration between land use and
transportation planning to ensure a well-connected community with
adequate means and capacity to accommodate multiple forms of

75



3.

4.

circulation between local destinations. (Land Use and Development,
p.2)

b. Goals for Growth Capacity

Goal 2: A growth progression and pattern of development that
promotes the Town’s long-term financial sustainability and applies an
adequate public facilities approach to growth management. (Growth
Capacity, p. 2)

Goal 3: Sustained budget and community support for public safety
services to ensure superior levels of service, police and fire
responsiveness, and a safe and secure community as Zebulon grows.
(Growth Capacity, p. 2)

c. Goals for Housing and Neighborhoods

Goal 1: A quantity and diversity of housing options that makes living in
Zebulon attainable for a wide range of age groups and income levels.
(Housing and Neighborhoods, p. 2)

Goal 2: Appealing housing and neighborhood choices for families
drawn by Zebulon’s employment opportunities, small town charm,
recreational assets and other amenities. (Housing and Neighborhoods,

p. 2)

PD 2025-05 does not amend the Town’s adopted policy guidance in the
Comprehensive Plan and does not require amendment to the Town of Zebulon Future
Lane Use Map (FLUM).

To the extent that there are deviations in PD 2025-05 from the Town’s adopted
policies, those deviations are spelled out in the narrative provided in the attached
Comprehensive Planned Development Document that is approved along with the site
plan set forth in the attached Zebulon South Master Plan.

SO ADOPTED this the __8th__ day of _September_, 2025.

SEAL

Glenn L. York - Mayor

Attested by: - =
Dora K. Moore, MMC - Interim Town Clerk

76



STATEMENT OF REASONABLENESS

AMENDMENT TO CONDITIONAL ZONING MAP FOR 751 S. WAKEFIELD STREET (PIN
#2704492511), 700 S. ARENDELL AVENUE (PIN #2705512202), AND 0 WAKEFIELD STREET
(PIN #2705413075)

PD 2025-05 (former PD 2024-01)
FROM R-2 AND R-4 TO PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD)

WHEREAS, pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 160D-605(b) and Section 2.2.15.G.3 of the Town of
Zebulon Unified Development Ordinance, the Town of Zebulon Board of Commissioners
shall adopt a written statement upon the approval of a Planned Development that includes
an explanation of why the action taken by the Board of Commissioners is reasonable and an
explanation of why the action taken by the Board of Commissioners is in the public interest;
and

1. PD 2025-05 is reasonable as it aligns with the Town’s long-term planning goals by
providing additional high-quality residential development to Zebulon with options
for affordable housing, restrictions on residential rental units, and will support
integration into the existing downtown and pedestrian networks, which enhances
the Town’s goals for housing, transportation, and recreation.

2. PD 2025-05 is in the public interest as it providing a high value per acre residential
development together with recreation and transportation facilities that connect the
high-quality residential options in the development with downtown Zebulon and
enhances recreation options for residents of the new development and in the
surrounding area. The project is consistent with and appropriate for the location.

SO ADOPTED thisthe __8th_dayof September_, 2025.

SEAL

élenn L. York - Mayor

Attested by:

Dora K. Moore, MMC - Interim Town Clerk

77



Ordinance 2026-09

ZEBULON SOUTH

Comprehensive Planned
Development Document

715 S. Wakefield Street and S. Arendell Avenue
Zebulon, North Carolina

e® Seg
® e e 5410 Trinity Road b 919 866.4951
TIMMONS GROUP Suite 102 F 919.859.5663

Raleigh, NC 27607

YOUR VISION ACHIEVED THROUGH OURS. www. timmons.com

CIVIL ENGINEERING | ENVIRONMENTAL | SURVEYING | GIS | LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE [ CONSTRUCTION SERVICES

78



Zebulon South

Prepared For:

TOWN OF ZEBULON
November 2022
August 2023
November 2023
January 2024
February 2024
March 2024
April 2024

Prepared By:

TIMMONS GROUP PARKER POE

5410 Trinity Road, Suite 102 301 Fayetteville Street, Suite 1400
Raleigh, NC 27607 Raleigh, NC 27601

Developer:

DEACON DEVELOPMENT GROUP

PO Box 1080
Wake Forest, NC 27588

Timmons Group Project No. 49084

Copyright © 2024 by TIMMONS GROUP
All rights reserved. This document or any portion thereof may not be reproduced or used in any
manner whatsoever without the express written consent of TIMMONS GROUP.

P evg @
[ 3
¢ @ ¢ 5410 Trinity Road b 010.866.4951
TIMMONS GROUP S F 919.859.5663
YOUR VISION ACHIEVED THROUGH OURS. Ra|E|gh' NC 27607 www-ﬁmmonsmm

CIVIL ENGINEERING | ENVIRONMENTAL | SURVEYING I GIS | LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE I CONSTRUCTION SERVICES

79



Table of Contents

1.0 10T o s LR oy £ 1) 1 R U O O PO OO PP PRSPPI PTOP PP 2
AT T1 V1Y - « O O OO PP PP I PSSP EER RSP TISE 3
3.0 ParmMItEEO LSS coureieriiierererierteettisrasteeseraeeseeree et st s e sre s sanserbesanssrmrer b e e aesema e st et e e s e et e nae st s s e e e s e s s s b s s sh b s e u e e 4
4.0 DESIGN CONTTOIS...euverersiereestireeeere ettt b et s an e r e e s s s e e b e bbbt SRS SR e TSRt s s b e et e e : |
5.0 ArchiteCtural StANOATTS . .c.iivvevreriereetieirrct et cer et b et et ssr s s e s b e et es b e s s e s s b aab s e e st se e e s e n e s n e resanrsabbsbessannsn 7
6.0 Parking @nd LOAUING ....c..eovririerirrerirmiiities ettt e bR O e e e 11
20T =13 T O OO O P P PO PSPPI TSP P RSO 11
Ol L R0t LoL 1] (= T OO PSPPI PP PSSP ISP 11

8.1 PUBNC WaAET .. ceveiieeesmrecie et e et e s et es s ets e ame s e e see s san e sab e s abe s ea ke b e e s A as s an e R e e PR e s ms et e e R s st e e e sar e st bk e s s e e s E e eRE e ea 11

8.2 SAMILAIY SEBWEK ...ouvieieeieriesiitis ettt r e s e e e e r e s r e s b s b s e s e R e R LR E e s E e oL bbb s 11

8.3 SErEEES AN AIIBYS c.veeeeeeieeieeieiient et e st b b s s s b e b s b aR R b e e TR TR eSSt s 11

8.4 Pedestrian CONMNECTIVILY....c.ccririerieriererr e sttt c sttt e b san b ss s s r e e e nr e s e s e s e s s b aab e b st s b e b a b s b s 12
9.0 Stormwater MaNABEMENT......cccuvrirrcricrerr ettt b et e b s ce e s s res e e e e r s bbb bbb e 12
10.0 Natural Resources and Environmental Data ........cccccciiniiniiiiiiiiin i e 12
11.0 Pocket Parks and OPEN SPACE ...oouerercercrermenrerererisisie it st b s b et as sesaab st b e et 13
12.0 HOMEOWNEI'S ASSOCIBLION ..ceieiiiiieren ittt e e de e a e s e ens s s aab s s s ebasse s ns s e aabens 14
13.0 Residential Lot LandSCAPING «..c..ovverermeimiiiniisitiiniirierii sttt ss et e e r st s et et 14
14.0 Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Map..........ccinnneniiis, i4
15.0 Compliance With The UDO ...ttt sttt b e s a b 15
16.0 Preliminary Residential PIan REVIEW ...t it b 15
17.0 Additional ZOnIiNg COMAItIONS ....ccecvveereeiecciiiireiis it b st et 15
18.0 Land DediCation PArCEI........ccviieerriiniieerrssesisisse s es st bttt ne e et sk s bt e s s sr e e e e s 16
19.0 Transportation Impact Analysis SUMMAIY ..ot e 17

80



1.0 Introduction

Zebulon South is a proposed residential community utilizing the Town of Zebulon Planned
Development Zoning as outlined in the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO). The assemblage
is made up of three parcels with frontage on both S. Wakefield Street and S. Arendell Avenue.
The total existing tract area is about 118.6 acres.

The development is bordered to the north by an existing solar farm. To the east across S.
Arendell Avenue are existing single-family homes and a church. South and southeast of the
property are existing single-family homes and agricultural fields as well as wooded properties.
Existing single-family homes and agricultural fields are located west of the property.

Zebulon South PD will be a phased development of a high-quality master planned community
that will provide a variety of housing types and amenities. By utilizing the PD zoning, the
master plan containing site specific regulations will guide the development resulting in a well-
integrated mix of housing types, lot sizes and densities with open space and preservation of
environmentally sensitive areas. The flexibility offered by a PD zoning will result in a more
efficient use of the land and network of utilities and streets.

The proposed community will consist of single family detached and attached residential
development. The current zoning is R-2 and R-4. The Grow Zebulon Comprehensive Land Use
Plan (LUP) designations are General Residential (GR) and Suburban Residential (SR) for the
property. The LUP specifically identifies a PD as being a primary land use type in the SR and
GR LUP classifications. The development will have an integrated mix of housing types,
consistent with the LUP’s recommendations for providing a diverse stock of residential choices.
The diverse housing choices will promote varied price points, consistent with the LUP. The
proposed zoning is Planned Development (PD) which is consistent with the LUP designations.

With over 50% open space (five times the minimum requirement) and at least 15% tree save
(three times the minimum requirement), Zebulon South preserves a significant amount of
environmentally sensitive areas in the design of the Master Plan, consistent with Land Use and
Development Policy E, General Policies G1 and G6, Residential Policy R4, and Parks and Open
Space Policy P5. The preserved areas, to a large degree, are located on the perimeter of the
development, allowing for concentration of infrastructure improvements in the central area of
the development. The Master Plan utilizes existing wetlands, open space and larger lots as
buffer for the development, mitigating effects of the development on the surrounding
community. Open space, common amenities and an integrated system of walking trails,
including a publicly accessible greenway, support a high quality of life for the residents in and
around the development. Open space shall exceed the Town of Zebulon minimum requirement
for PD zoning.

The development includes the construction of a collector street connecting S. Wakefield Street
and S. Arendell Street as shown on the Grow Zebulon Comprehensive Transportation Plan, at a
location where it will clearly be a safe distance from the Perry Curtis/S. Arendell intersection,
improving connectivity for the community. This is consistent with Land Use and Development
Goal 3, Land Use and Development Policy G, General Policy G3, and Residential Policy R3. The
internal street network includes three access points to existing public roads promoting access
options for residents of the development.

81



Finally, the proposed project will provide an additional benefit for all current and future area
residents: dedication of land for a needed second fire station in the growing southern Zebulon,
or any other public-serving use, as decided by the Town. The location of the land dedication is
shown on the master plan, is centrally located for a public use to serve Southern Zebulon.

2.0 Vicinity Map

Zebulon South PD is located between S. Wakefield Street and S. Arendell Ave as shown on the

vicinity map in Figurg ‘l.
/ é<96\

L3

\_/ LE: /  SITE

FIGURE 1

82



3.0 Permitted Uses

Zebulon South PD proposes to allow the development of residential uses including Single Family
Detached and Single Family Attached along with accessory uses as permitted in the R6 zoning
district. Figure 2 below provides a listing of the proposed permitted uses. The uses are subject
to the regulations of the Town of Zebulon UDO.

Single Family Attached and permitted accessory uses P

FIGURE 2

In addition, on the portion of the Master Plan designated as the “Dedication of Land for Fire
Station,” all permitted and special uses in R6 shall be permitted, including the
“Fire/EMS/Police Station” use.

4.0 Design Controls

1. Residential Development Area - 116.1 acres
Density:
Maximum Density: 2.75 dwelling units per acre
Units: 320 dwelling units

(maximum 186 SF detached & 134 SF attached)
Building Height:
Maximum Building Height / # of stories: 50 feet / 3 stories
Building Setbacks:

Single Family Detached Front Loaded:

83



Front: 20°

Side: 5’
Corner Side: 10°
Rear: 15’

Single Family Detached Rear Loaded:

Front: 10’ max
Side: 5’
Corner Side: 10°
Rear: 20°

Single Family Attached Rear Loaded:

Front: 10’ max
Building Separation: 10°
Rear: 20°
Buffers:
Streetscape Buffers: 15’ Type C Streetscape Buffer (Wakefield St)
15’ Modified Type D* Streetscape Buffer (Arendell Ave)
*For additional opacity, this buffer shall be comprised
of 100% evergreen shrubs and 75% evergreen
understory trees
Perimeter Buffers: 20’ Type B Perimeter Buffer

Existing vegetation shall be utilized to the extent possible. All streetscape and
perimeter buffers shall be provided in accordance with the Town of Zebulon UDO.
Landscaped perimeter and street buffers shall include native and adaptive species
only.

Disturbance within the buffer is only allowed as follows:

a. Construction of driveways, public streets and walkways perpendicular to the
buffer strip shall be allowed where such construction is necessary for safe
ingress and egress to the site. The nature and limits of such construction

must be designated on the approved master subdivision plan.

b. Notwithstanding any other provision pertaining to buffers, City of Raleigh
public utilities and easements shall be allowed, parallel and otherwise, within

84



buffers, and the area within such easements shall still count towards buffer
and undisturbed buffer calculations.

Land Dedication Parcel Development Area - 2.48 Acres

Building Setbacks

Front: 20’
Side: 20°
Corner Side: 5’
Rear: 5’
Maximum Lot Coverage: 85%

Building Height:

Maximum Building Height / # of stories: 50 feet / 3 stories
Buffers
Streetscape Buffers: 15’ Type C Streetscape Buffer
Perimeter Buffers: 20’ Type B Perimeter Buffer adjacent to parcels with

residential or recreational uses; no perimeter buffer
required adjacent to PIN 2705410911

Existing vegetation shall be utilized to the extent possible. All streetscape and
perimeter buffers shall be provided in accordance with the Town of Zebulon UDO.
Landscaped perimeter and street buffers shall include native and adaptive species
only.

Disturbance within the buffer is allowed as follows:

a. Construction of driveways, public streets and walkways perpendicular to the
buffer strip shall be allowed where such construction is necessary for safe
ingress and egress to the site. The nature and limits of such construction

must be designated on the approved site plan.

b. Notwithstanding any other provision pertaining to buffers, City of Raleigh
public utilities and easements shall be allowed, parallel and otherwise, within

85



buffers, and the area within such easements shall still count towards buffer
and undisturbed buffer calculations.

c. Any other necessary disturbances shall be permitted, as approved by the
Technical Review Committee.

5.0 Architectural Standards

To encourage multiple architectural styles, buildings will be any variety of Craftsman,
Traditional, Colonial, etc. While each of the architectural offerings proposed will have its own
identity, a number of common threads will link the homes in the development, including color
palettes, materials, roofing, and decorative garage doors. Elevations have been included in an
effort to represent the bulk, massing, scale and architectural style of the development.

These standards do not apply to the Land Dedication Parcel.
Requirements for All Homes:

Roofs:

Roof lines shall vary to reduce the scale of the structure and add visual interest. Roof shapes
(flat, hip, mansard, gable, or shed for example) and material shall be architecturally compatible
with facade elements and the rest of the structure. Shed roofs may be used on porches and
dormers.

3-tab/235 shingles are not permitted.
Facades:

The principal structure’s front facade must incorporate recesses and projections along at least
50% of the length of the facade. Windows, awnings, and porch area shall total at least 50% of
the facade length abutting a public street.

Facades shall incorporate a repeating pattern of change in color, texture, and material modules.

No venting will be provided on any front facades except that when a bathroom is located on
the front of the unit, a vent of a similar color to either the siding or the trim may be provided
on the front of the unit.

Entryways:

Doors shall have built-in windows; alternatively, a solid door is allowed provided side lights
(side windows) are installed immediately adjacent to the solid door. Double front doors are
allowed as an option.

Front doors shall be illuminated.

Variations in color schemes and textures are encouraged in order to articulate entryways so as
to give greater recognition to these features.

86



An option to include an overhang on rear exterior doors shall be provided. When this option is
chosen by homeowner, the overhang shall extend at least 24 inches.

Windows:

All street-facing exterior windows shall have trim and screens. Trim shall be a minimum of 3
inches wide.

Materials and Color Palette:

Predominant exterior building materials shall be high quality materials including brick, wood,
stone, fiber cement, and/or wood composite.

Vinyl siding is not permitted; however, vinyl windows, decorative elements and trim are
permitted.

Trim color shall be distinct from facade color.

Front and side porches with open foundations shall have brick or stone piers and openings
shall be fully screened with evergreen plantings.

A varied color palette shall be utilized on homes throughout the subdivision and shall include
siding, trim, shutter, and accent colors complementing the siding colors.

Porch railings, if included on homes, shall be a complimentary color of the house and shall be
made of either aluminum, or composite material.

Accessory buildings, if constructed, shall be of similar materials and colors as the primary
single-family home.

All homes will have two or more of the following design features on the front facade (not
including foundation):

a. stone

b. brick

c. lap siding

d. shakes

e. board and batten
f. window pediments
g. recessed windows
h. side and/or front window box bays
i. roof gables

j. roof dormers

k. roofline cornices

I. metal roofing as accent

87



m. columns

n. shutters

o. other decorative features approved by the Planning Director

Screening:

All residential structures shall have screening by vinyl privacy fence installed on the sides or
rear of the structure to prevent visibility of roll out refuse carts from the public right-of-way or
adjacent properties.

Vegetative screening for HVAC units shall be provided.

Requirements for Single-family Detached Front Loaded Homes:

1.
2.

L5

"‘L°9°.\‘.°‘

Each home shall have a minimum of one story and a maximum of three stories.

Each home may have a raised slab foundation. Raised slab foundation shall contain stone
or brick.

Finished floor elevations shall comply with UDO Section 4.3.3.P.1.

UDO 4.3.3.P.2 - Single-family detached dwellings shall be configured so that each side
of the dwelling includes some form of ingress or egress capable of allowing emergency
exit from or entrance into the dwelling. Windows, doors, or other wall penetrations shall
be credited towards these standards. Skylights shall also be credited towards these
standards in cases where there is sufficient access to the ground from the room.

Front porches shall extend beyond the front plane of the garage by a minimum of 127
on 25% of the homes constructed. Front Porches shall be allowed to extend beyond the
minimum front setback a maximum of 10"

Garage doors must have windows, decorative details or carriage-style hardware.

Each garage will either have one light on each side or two lights above the garage door.
Eaves shall project at least 8 inches from the wall of the structure.

All gutter downspouts shall discharge to the side or rear of the structure.

O The front elevation and all sides that abut a public street shall contain a minimum of

10% masonry (brick or stone) and shall contain a minimum of two siding materials (i.e.
stone and hardiplank or brick and shake).

11.A minimum 18-inch masonry (brick or stone) water table on the front facade shall be

provided.

12.0n at least 30% of units, masonry (brick or stone) shall extend the full height of the

ground floor.

13.Each front porch shall contain a covered stoop.
14.No single family detached home shall be constructed with a front elevation or color

palette that is identical to the home on either side of it.

Requirements for Single-family Detached Rear Loaded Homes:

15.Each home shall have a minimum of one story and a maximum of three stories.
16.Each home may have a raised slab foundation or crawl space. Raised slab foundation

shall contain stone or brick.

17.Finished floor elevations shall comply with UDO Section 4.3.3.P.1.

88



18.UDO 4.3.3.P.2 - Single-family detached dwellings shall be configured so that each side
of the dwelling includes some form of ingress or egress capable of allowing emergency
exit from or entrance into the dwelling. Windows, doors, or other wall penetrations shall
be credited towards these standards. Skylights shall also be credited towards these
standards in cases where there is sufficient access to the ground from the room.

19.Eaves shall project at least 8 inches from the wall of the structure.

20.All gutter downspouts shall discharge to the side or rear of the structure.

21.The front elevation of each unit shall contain a minimum of 10% masonry (brick or stone)
and shall contain a minimum of two siding materials (i.e. stone and hardiplank or brick
and shake).

22.A minimum 24-inch masonry (brick or stone) water table on the front facade shall be
provided.

23.All sides of a principal structure that face an abutting public street shall have
architectural and decorative features as described above.

24.No single family detached home shall be constructed with a front elevation or color
palette that is identical to the home on either side of it.

Requirements for Single-family Attached Rear Loaded Homes:

25.Each home shall have a minimum of two stories and a maximum of three stories.

26.Each home may have a raised slab foundation.

27.The front elevation and all sides that abut a public street shall contain a minimum of
10% masonry (brick or stone) and shall contain a minimum of two siding materials (i.e.
stone and hardiplank or brick and shake).

28.No two consecutive units within a single building shall contain the exact same front
elevation regarding materials or color palette.

29.All sides of a principal structure that face an abutting public street shall have
architectural and decorative features as described above.

30.The building facade cannot be a single mass; it must be broken up by home articulations
of at least 12 inches, at minimum, between every two homes.

31.The roofline of each attached building cannot be a single mass; it must be broken up
either horizontally and/or vertically between, at a minimum every two homes.

Requirements for Amenities:

A mail kiosk shall be located adjacent to the clubhouse and pool. The kiosk shelter shall be
designed with similar architectural style, materials and color palette as the homes in the
neighborhood. Cluster mailboxes shall meet the requirements of Section 6.12.7 of the Town
of Zebulon UDO.

The clubhouse shall match residential buildings with regard to style, materials and color
palette.

Architectural Guidelines:

We commit to the architectural requirements in Section 5.2.4 of the UDO. We will work with
Town Planning and Building staff to provide additional architectural features with the exception
of Section 5.2.4.E.3.e. Garage doors will not be required to be located at least two or more feet
behind the front porch or the primary entrance to the dwelling.

89



6.0 Parking and Loading

All Residential Development Area parking and loading areas shall comply with applicable
requirements of the Town of Zebulon UDO Section 5.8. Guest parking shall be constructed for
each phase to meet the requirements of that phase, and the total number of guest parking
spaces shall exceed the minimum requirement by 76 spaces, which is almost double the
requirement.

Recognizing the unique parking needs of fire stations and other public-serving uses, and in
order to give additional site design flexibility for public-serving development, the Land
Dedication Parcel shall not be subject to the requirements of Zebulon UDO Section 5.8. Parking
configuration for this parcel shall be approved by the Technical Review Committee upon a
showing that the provided parking will adequately serve the fire station or other public-serving
development.

7.0 Signs

All signage shall comply with applicable standards and requirements of the Town of Zebulon
UDO Section 5.11.

8.0 Infrastructure
8.1 Public Water

Public water will be provided via extensions of the existing City of Raleigh water system.
Existing water is located in S. Arendell Avenue closer to the Town of Zebulon near Temple
Johnson Road. Water infrastructure will be extended from the current terminus and along the
site frontage of S. Arendell Avenue and S. Wakefield Street. Infrastructure shall be extended
throughout the site as required for development to provide public water to all lots.

8.2 Sanitary Sewer

Public sanitary sewer will be provided via extensions of the existing City of Raleigh sanitary
system. A pump station will be constructed on site. Existing gravity sanitary sewer is located
north of the site closer to the Town of Zebulon near Temple Johnson Road. The forcemain
connection will be made to this existing gravity sewer. The gravity sanitary sewer infrastructure
will be extended throughout the site as required.

8.3 Streets and Alleys

All streets shall be in conformance with the Town of Zebulon Transportation Plan and shall be
constructed to Town of Zebulon standards and specifications. The project proposes an 70’
- right-of-way two-lane collector street with on-street parking protected by bump-outs and 10’
multiuse paths on either side for additional pedestrian and cyclist safety, and has been shown
on the Master Plan connecting S. Wakefield Street and S. Arendell Avenue. This section will
create the connectivity envisioned in the CTP, with a cross section that will fit in the proposed
neighborhood. The collector street construction shall follow the phasing of the project. Each
section shall be constructed within the phase which it is located.

90



The ultimate cross section of S. Arendell Avenue is an 80’ right-of-way 2-lane median divided
roadway. The ultimate cross section of S. Wakefield Street starts as an 80’ right-of-way 2-lane
median divided roadway that transitions on the south side of the proposed collector street to
a 100’ right-of way 4-lane median divided roadway. This project shall construct half of the
cross-section along the property frontage. The Parks and Recreation Master Plan proposes a
greenway along each of these roads. These greenways shall be incorporated as a 10’ mixed
use path along the roadway in place of a traditional 5’ sidewalk.

Alleys shall be located within a 20’ right-of-way with 10’ of asphalt pavement width.

8.4 Pedestrian Connectivity

Zebulon South has over 6 miles of greenways, multiuse paths, trails, and sidewalks. Sidewalks
shall be provided on both sides of all streets throughout Zebulon South PD. Alleys shall not
have sidewalks. Multiuse paths will also be provided on Wakefield St and S Arendell Ave, and
will connect the greenway to Wakefield St. Multiuse paths are provided on both sides of Road
A. The neighborhood sections shall also be connected for pedestrians by several 6’ paved
private trails, which will include at least three (3) exercise stations along the trails.

The public greenway shown on the Town’s Comprehensive Transportation Plan shall be
constructed through the site along the north side of the development. A private trail shall
connect the sidewalk system to the public greenway approximately as shown on the Master
Plan.

9.0 Stormwater Management

The proposed development will meet all applicable requirements and standards as outlined in
the Town of Zebulon Street and Storm Drainage Standard and Specifications Manual. Zebulon
South PD will meet all stormwater quantity and quality reduction requirements. Proposed
stormwater control measures (SCMs) will typically consist of wet ponds and other approved
measures. SCMs will be located within open space areas and be maintained by the HOA. At
least one stormwater control pond shall contain a fountain. At least seventy-five percent (75%)
of any required plants in the Stormwater Control Measure ponds, excluding grasses, shall be
pollinator plants such as native milkweeds and other nectar-rich flowers.

10.0 Natural Resources and Environmental Data

The development site consists mostly of agricultural fields along with wooded areas
surrounding the streams, wetlands and existing pond.

Existing streams and wetlands have been delineated and buffered as required by Town, State
and Federal agencies. The site is located within the Neuse River Basin. Any impacts requiring
permits shall be obtained and permitted through the Town of Zebulon, NC Division of Water
Resources and US Army Corps of Engineers as applicable.

No special flood hazard areas are located onsite per FEMA FIRM Map 3720270500k &
3720270400L dated 7/19/2022.

91



11.0 Pocket Parks and Open Space

Active and passive open spaces and recreational features will provide the residents with
excellent on-site amenities. An integrated system of walking trails traverses open space and
environmentally sensitive areas providing a unique amenity for the development. The
development provides over eleven acres of open space, including over five acres of active open
space. An on-site swimming pool and clubhouse provide pedestrian accessible amenities for
the residents of the development.

Pool:

¢ Minimum 1,000 square foot water surface area
Clubhouse:

e No meeting space, bathrooms and changing rooms only
Tot Lot:

e Minimum 600 square feet including ASTM fall zones
e |IPEMA Certified Playground Equipment
o Targetage: 2-12 years

Yard Games:

e At least one amenity area shall provide a yard game, such as cornhole or outdoor ping
pong
e Targetage: 12+

Dog Park:

e Minimum 6,000 square feet of fenced area
e Fence shall be a minimum of 4’ tall galvanized or vinyl-coated chain link fence
¢ Shall include a minimum of two benches, one trash can and one dog waste station

Pocket Park:

Minimum of 8,000 square feet of area for multi-purpose play

May include benches, paths, trashcans and enhanced landscaping

Located adjacent to the greenway, along the Arendell/Wakefield St connector
Pollinator Garden

Private Trails:

e Minimum 6’ wide paved trail connecting from sidewalk system to Public Greenway as
illustrated on Master Plan. At least two (2) dog waste stations and three (3) exercise
stations will be provided along trails.

92



12.0 Homeowner’s Association

Prior to the issuance of the first certificate of occupancy for the development, a Homeowner’s
Association (HOA) shall be formed to govern the affairs of the development. The HOA shall be
responsible for maintaining the common areas of the development including any shared
stormwater facilities, landscaping, hardscape structures (such as signage, irrigation, lighting,
and fountains) and recreation amenities. The Homeowners Association shall appoint two
residents to the advisory board at 25% resident occupied, two residents at 50% occupied and
two residents at 75% occupied.

13.0 Residential Lot Landscaping

Individual residential lots shall be landscaped per Town of Zebulon UDO for foundation
plantings and site landscaping.

Foundation plantings consisting of evergreen shrubs or decorative grasses with a minimum
heigh of 18 inches shall be located within 10 feet of any foundation wall visible from a public
street excluding alleys. Shrubs shall maintain a maximum on-center placement of three feet.

Site landscaping consisting of one canopy tree for every 2,000 square feet of lot area is
required. Canopy trees may be located anywhere within the residential lot except where limited
by easements, sight distance triangles or buffer areas.

HVACs and ground-based mechanical equipment shall be screened utilizing evergreen shrubs
on sides visible from a public street.

14.0 Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Map

Zebulon South PD is consistent with the Town of Zebulon Comprehensive Plan and Land Use
Map goals and objectives. The development is located in SR and GR land use categories where
PD zoning is a recommended land use type particularly where a mix of housing types and
varying densities is proposed.

Proposing both single-family detached and attached product supports the Town’s desire for a
variety of housing types and price points. This draws new residents and provides additional
housing choices for existing residents.

The site design incorporates in a variety of lot sizes supporting the goal of increasing a diverse
housing stock for the Town. The variety ensures additional housing choices as well as a variety
of price points.

Providing more concentrated development while preserving environmentally sensitive areas
and perimeter buffers provides a transition to the existing single-family homes and agricultural
properties adjacent to the development.

The integrated system of streets, sidewalks, trails and greenways provide a cohesive pedestrian

and vehicular network adhering to the Town’s Comprehensive Transportation Plan and provided
a thoughtfully planned neighborhood.

93



15.0 Compliance with the UDO

This Master Plan shall be the primary governing document for the development of Zebulon
South PD. All standards and regulations in this Master Plan shall control over general standards
of the UDO. Provided, however, that if a specific regulation is not addressed in this Master
Plan, UDO regulations shall control. Zebulon South PD will comply with all other relevant
portions of the Town of Zebulon Unified Development Ordinance.

16.0 Preliminary Residential Plan Review

Pursuant to UDO Section 3.5.5.B.4, the applicant requests an exemption from subsequent
residential preliminary plan review. This PD includes a master plan that is detailed and meets
the requirements for a residential preliminary plan. Therefore, upon approval of this PD, the
applicant shall be exempt from subsequent residential preliminary plan review.

17.0 Additional Zoning Conditions (not applicable to Land

ication Parcel)

ion to conditions contained throughout the visual and written document,/ ditional
written votuntary conditions have been offered to ensure a quality development.

1. Single family ached rear load lots shall have a minimum lot sizé of 4,800 sf.

2. Single family detached front load lots shall have a minimuprlot size of 6,000 sf.

3. Single family attached lots $hall have a minimum lot size of 1,260 sf.

4. The minimum lot width for front lsaded lots shéll be 50’ reduced from 70°.
Replaced with
5. All single family detached rear lo revised | have a sidewalk connection from the

front door or porch to the public conditions list

6. The clubhouse and pool shall be/€ompleted beforéthe 150" Certificate of Occupancy for

any dwelling is issued.

8.. Zebulon South will apply’a maximum 35% impervious reqiirement for the development

as a whole (based ontotal acreage).

property acquisition and/or easements, are subject to NCDOT approval ring
ﬁbsequent phases of development. If any improvements are not approved by NCDET,
/alternative designs may be administratively approved by Town staff.

94



Revised Conditions List

17.0 Additional Zoning Conditions (not applicable to Land Dedication Parcel)

In addition to conditions contained throughout the visual and written document, additional
written voluntary conditions have been offered to ensure a quality development.

1. Single family detached rear load lots shall have a minimum lot size of 4,800 sf.
2. Single family detached front load lots shall have a minimum lot size of 6,000 sf.
3. Single family attached lots shall have a minimum lot size of 1,260 sf.

4, The minimum lot width for front loaded lots shall be 50’ reduced from 70°.

5. All single family detached rear loaded homes shall have a sidewalk connection from the front
door or porch to the public sidewalk.

6. The clubhouse and pool shall be completed before the 150th Certificate of Occupancy for any
dwelling is issued.

7. Zebulon South will apply a maximum 35% impervious requirement for the development as a
whole (based on total acreage).

8. The applicant commits to provide a minimum 15% Tree Save, three times the minimum
requirement.

9. All planned improvements to roadways and right-of-way owned and maintained by the NC
Department of Transportation (NCDOT), including improvements that require off-site property
acquisition and/or easements, are subject to NCDOT approval during subsequent phases of
development. If any improvements are not approved by NCDOT, alternative designs may be
administratively approved by Town staff.

10. If a bus pickup location is approved by Wake County Public Schools in the neighborhood,
one bust stop area, including a shelter, a bench, a trash can, and at least 5 bicycle spaces shall be
provided with the second phase of development.

11. To support community gatherings and active neighborhoods, the applicant commits to
providing one neighborhood congregation area, to include: a. a minimum of two (2) larger
parking spaces designed for food trucks or delivery vehicles (mobile vendors), with an electrical
outlet available; b. one (1) covered seating area with at least 10 designated public seating spaces
will be provided adjacent to the Mobile Vendor spaces. c. at least one (1) outdoor grill will be
provided adjacent to the covered seating area, This area may be classified as active open space
under UDO § 5.7.

12. The development shall include a minimum of eight (8) affordable units (the “Affordable
Units™), distributed throughout Zebulon South. The Developer shall vet qualified buyers for the
Affordable Units and shall ensure, in the first sale of the Affordable Units. that they are
affordable households earning no more than eighty percent (80%) of the Area Median Income

(AMI). Prior to Subdivision closeout, the Developer shall submit documentation and an
affidavit

173956284.1

95



Revised Conditions List

of compliance with this zoning condition. Following the first sale of each of the Affordable

Units. Developer shall have no further obligations under this condition.

13. Final alignment of the greenway will be reviewed and approved by TRC during construction
drawings.

14. Unless not approved by Wake County, the grave site(s) located at 0 N Arendell Ave (PIN
2705513114) shall be relocated prior to approval of construction drawings.

15. The Homeowners’ Association bvlaws or covenants shall include a 15% cap on residential
rental units. with the total number of rental units dispersed evenlv across all phases of the

development.

16. At or before the issuance of the first Zebulon South certificate of occupancy, the Town will

be paid a fee-in-lieu in the amount of $250.000 to be used to construct a multimodal path from
Zebulon South to the Town of Zebulon’s downtown pedestrian facilities. The It is anticipated
that the path will be approximately one-half mile in length and will be located on in the east
sideright of way of NC 96/Arendell Avenue. but the final design and location of the path will be
at the discretion of the Town and/or the North Carolina Department of Transportation.

173956284.1

96



1. If a bus pickup location is approved by Wake County Public Schools in the neighborhood,
ne bust stop area, including a shelter, a bench, a trash can, and at least 5 bicycle spaces

e Vendor spaces.
vided adjacent to the covered

spaces will be provided adjacent to the Mo
c. at least one (N, _outdoor grill will be
seating area,

This area may be classified as act Replaced with nder UDO § 5.7.

13. The development shall include a "evised (5) affordable single-family detached
ownership units (the “Affordable conditionslist 43)1 pe located on different streets in
the neighborhood. The Developer siiall vet qualified buyers for the Affordable Units and
shall ensure, in the first sale of th€ Affordable Unitsythat they are affordable households
earning no more than eigh ercent (80%) of the Area_Median Income (AMI). Prior to
Subdivision closeout, theDeveloper shall submit documentation and an affidavit of
compliance with this zoifing condition. Following the first sate of each of the Affordable
Units, Developer shatl have no further obligations under this condition.

14. Final alignm of the greenway will be reviewed and approved by TRC during

constructiop/drawings.

18.0 Land Dedication Parcel

The owner shall designate, for the benefit of the Town, a minimum of 2 acres of land (excluding
right-of-way dedication and easements required for frontage improvements) located on Hwy
96/Arendell Ave abutting the property lines of Wake County PINs 2705410911 (Deed book
16651/page 25) and 2705520074 (Deed book 9289/page 1838) for the future development of
a Town of Zebulon Fire Station or other public-serving use, as determined by the Town (the
“Land Dedication Parcel”). The location of the Land Dedication Parcel is identified on the Master
Plan, and the surveyed boundary line will be identified and approved by the Town prior to Final
Plat approval for the phase of development adjacent to the Land Dedication Parcel. After
approval of the boundary line, but no later than the approval of the Final Plat for the phase of
development adjacent to the Land Dedication Parcel, the developer shall dedicate to the Town
an easement (or superior title) by deed or other instrument, approved by the Town Attorney as
to form, for the Land Dedication Parcel. The Residential Development Area developer shall
construct all curb, gutter, road widening and pedestrian improvements on Arendell Ave for the
Land Dedication Parcel and stub potable water and sanitary sewer to the Land Dedication Parcel
prior to plat recordation, or provide a surety for completion thereof. The actual design,

97



construction, and installation of the fire station and associated amenities, or other permitted
public use as determined by the Town, shall be done by the Town, or another public entity and
are not commitments of this zoning case. This zoning condition may also be satisfied by the
Town Manager, or his/her designee, stating, in writing, that the Town does not wish to accept
the land for the development of a fire station or other public use.

19.0 Transportation Impact Analysis Summary

A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) was conducted by the Timmons Group in accordance with the
Zebulon (Town) Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) and the North Carolina Department of
Transportation (NCDOT) capacity analysis guidelines. A full copy of the TIA was submitted for
review and approval with the PD submittal, and a voluntary additional analysis incorporating
anticipated traffic from the nearby recently-approved Chamblee Lake PD was submitted for
review and approval with the applicant’s final master plan submittal. The listed recommended
improvements are subject to further review and final approval by NCDOT.

Study Area

The study area for the TIA was determined through coordination with the Town and NCDOT
and consists of the following existing intersections:

NC 96 and Site Access #1

NC 96 and Site Access #2

S Wakefield St and Site Access # 3
NC 97 and S Wakefield St

NC 97 and NC 96

NC 96 and W Barbee St

NC 96 and Perry Curtis Rd

Recommended Improvements

Based on the analysis of the TIA (including improvements to be installed by the Chamblee Lake
development), the following improvements have been recommended to be constructed by the
developer to both mitigate traffic impacts by the proposed development.

NC 96 and Site Access #1

e Site Access 1 to include a two-lane cross-section with one eastbound egress lane and
one westbound ingress lane.

e Provide stop control on the eastbound approach of the site drive.

s Construct a southbound right-turn lane on NC 96 with a minimum of 50 feet of full-width
storage and appropriate deceleration and taper.

¢ Construct a northbound left-turn lane on NC 96 with a minimum of 100 feet of full-width
storage and appropriate deceleration and taper.

NC 96 and Site Access #2

e Site Access 2 to include a two-lane cross-section with one eastbound egress lane and
one westbound ingress lane.

98



e Provide stop control on the eastbound approach of the site drive.

e Construct a southbound right-turn lane on NC 96 with a minimum of 50 feet of full-width
storage and appropriate deceleration and taper.

e Construct a northbound left-turn lane on NC 96 with a minimum of 100 feet of full-width
storage and appropriate deceleration and taper.

Wakefield St and Site Access #3

¢ Site Access 3 to include a two-lane cross-section with one westbound egress lane and
one eastbound ingress lane.

e Provide stop control on the westbound approach of the site drive.

e Construct a southbound left-turn lane on Wakefield Street with a minimum of 50 feet of
full-width storage and appropriate deceleration and taper.

19.1 Additional Transportation & Pedestrian Safety Enhancements

Safety Enhancements at Pulley Gordon Road/Morphus Bridge Road Intersection

During construction drawing review, Residential Development Area developer shall work with
NCDOT, Town staff, and Town transportation engineering reviewers to provide safety
enhancements to the Pulley Gordon Road/Morphus Bridge Road intersection in the existing
right-of-way and pavement and right-of-way and frontage improvements required to be
dedicated by the developer at this intersection. These safety enhancements are subject to
approval by the Technical Review Committee and NCDOT.

Safety Enhancements on NC 96 between Zebulon Community Park and Zebulon
Community Center

During construction drawing review, Residential Development Area developer shall work with
NCDOT, Town staff, and Town transportation engineering reviewers to provide safety
enhancements to the section of NC 96 between the entrance to the Zebulon Community Park
and entrance to the Zebulon Community Center, in the existing right-of-way and pavement.
These enhancements will include a crosswalk and/or appropriate warning signage. These
safety enhancements is subject to approval by the Technical Review Committee and NCDOT.

Adopted this the 8th day of September 2025

Glenn L. York - Mayor

SEAL

Dora K. Moore - Interim Town Clerk

99



STAFF REPORT

ZEBULON 191551917 OLD BUNN ROAD ANNEXATION
NORTH CAROLINA ORDINANCE 2026-06

SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

Topic: 1915 & 1917 Old Bunn Road Annexation — Ordinance 2026-06
Speaker: Catherine Farrell, Planner Il

Prepared by: Catherine Farrell, Planner I

Approved by: Taiwo Jaiyeoba, Interim Town Manager

Executive Summary:
The Board of Commissioners will consider an Annexation request for 1915 and 1917 Old Bunn Rd
(PIN# 2715290916, 2716215371). The proposed development includes 617 residential lots.

Discussion:

Eastwood Homes of Raleigh LLC is proposing rezoning to a Planned Development (PD) for two
parcels, totaling 159.72 acres, from the Wake County R-30 Zoning District. The applicant is looking
to develop 347 single family detached lots and 270 single family attached lots totaling 617
residential units. An amenity site, pool, pickle ball court, dog parks, playgrounds, pocket park,
walking fitness trails, and other amenities are being proposed as part of the development. The
annexation will be considered along with the rezoning.

Policy Analysis:
Comprehensive Land Use Plan (CLUP):
The annexation is supported by the following CLUP goals:

1. Land Use and Development:

o Goal 1: A land use allocation and pattern that advances Zebulon’s objectives of
achieving greater housing variety, supporting its economic development and tax
base needs, and creating a complete community with convenient resident access
to schools, recreation, shopping and services (Land Use and Development, P. 2)

o Goal 3: Ongoing and effective collaboration between land use and transportation
planning to ensure a well-connected community with adequate means and
capacity to accommodate multiple forms of circulation between local destinations
(Land Use and Development, P. 2).

2. Goals for Growth Capacity

o Goal 1: A growth management philosophy and strategies that enable most of the
projected growth in the Zebulon area to be absorbed within and contiguous to the
existing developed town (Growth Capacity, 2).

3. Goals for Housing and Neighborhoods:

o Goal 1: A quantity and diversity of housing options that makes living in Zebulon
attainable for a wide range of age groups and income levels (Housing and
Neighborhoods p. 2).

100



STAFF REPORT

ZEBULON 19154 1917 OLD BUNN ROAD ANNEXATION
NORTH CAROLINA ORDINANCE 2026-06

SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

o Goal 4: Preserved and enhanced integrity and value of existing neighborhoods,
and quality design of newer residential areas to ensure their livability and long-
term sustainability (Housing and Neighborhoods p. 2)
4. Goals For Recreation and Amenities:
o Goal 1: A “lifestyle” community, with a range of amenities and activities for all
ages and interests, to keep residents enjoying their hometown along with visitors
(Recreation and Amenities, pg 4).
o Goal 6: A more attractive community based on quality design and character of
both private development and the public realm (Recreation and Amenities, pg 4).
Comprehensive Transportation Plan
The Comprehensive Transportation Plan (CTP) requires Old Bunn Rd and HWY 97 in front of this

site to be a 4-Lane median road. A variation on the two-lane divided road will be provided
through the site as shown on the CTP.

Outcomes:

Approving the proposed Planned Development and Annexation will:

1. 617 New Residential Lots: at a calculated rate of 2.78 new residents per lot Zebulon
would have an approximate increase of 1,716 residents. Based on the Town of Zebulon
tax rate along with the median home price in Zebulon there will be an estimated tax
generation of $1.14 million a year.

2. Transportation Improvements: Transportation improvements will be made, and impact
fees will be collected. Using the rate in the 2024 Traffic Impact Fee Study Report this
project would generate approximately $1.1 million in improvements or fees.

3. Greenway Network Expansion: The Greenway network will be expanded running along
the northern property boundary.

Staff Recommendation for Planning Board:
Town staff recommend approval of Ordinance 2026-06 for the Annexation of Zebulon Mixed Use.

Attachments:

Certificate of Sufficiency
Application for Annexation

Aerial Map

Zoning Map

Corporate Limits Map

Public Hearing Notification Affidavit
Ordinance 2026-06

NoUynhswNpE

101



1003 N. Arendell Avenue

E B O N Zebulon. NC 27597
Z [] [.4 919.823.1800

www townofzebulon org

NORTH CAROLINA

Certificate of Sufficiency

Pin # 2715290916 — 1915 Old Bunn Road
Pin # 2716215371 — 1917 Old Bunn Road

To the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Zebulon, North Carolina;

1, Lisa M. Markland, Clerk to the Zebulon Board of Commissioners, do hereby certify that I have
investigated the petition attached hereto, and have found as a fact that said petition is signed by all
the owners or their legal representative of real property lying in the area described therein. in

accordance with G.S. 160A-31.

In witness whereof, I have here unto set my hand and affixed the seal of the Town of Zebulon, this
10" day of March, 2025.

N\ 7
R L LA T J d
RS waaP 0RO N /
SO0 Vs AN ANBEon

Lisa’M. Markland, CMC—Town Clerk

102



a Town of Zebulon

/ - \ Planning Department

;? E BU L O N 1003 N. Arcndell Avenue, Zebulon, NC 27597
. - Phone; (919) 823-1810  Fax: (919) 887-2824

www.townofzebulon.org

ANNEXATION PETITION

GENERAL INFORMATION:

In accordance with Section 2.2.2 of the UDO, upon receipt of a valid petition signed by all of the owners of real
property in the area described therein, the Town may annex an area either contiguous or not contiguous to its
primary corporate limits when the area meets the standards set out under North Carolina General Statutes 160A-
31 and 160A-58.1. The petition need not be signed by the owners of real property that is wholly exempt from
property taxation under the Constitution and laws of North Carolina, nor by railroad companies, public utilities
as defined in G.S. 62-3(23), or electric or telephone membership corporations.

INSTRUCTIONS:

PRE-APPLICATION MEETING: A pre-application meeting with staff in accordance with Section 2.3.2 of
the UDO to verify the application requirements, processes, and procedures regarding a proposed request. To
schedule a meeting, applicants must e-mail a pdf map, drawing, model, site or sketch plan to the Planning
Department (planning(a townofzebulon.org) no later than five (5) working days prior to the desired meeting day.

FILE PETITION: Submit hard copy application to the Planning Department with the applicable requirements
in accordance with Section 2.2.2 of the UDO.

CERTIFICATION OF SUFFICIENCY: The Town Clerk shall investigate and certify whether the petition
is legally sufficient. Only legally sufficient petitions shall be considered by the Town.

REVIEW BY STAFF: The Planning and Public Works Departments review the annexation submission.
Comments will be sent to the applicant via email.

LEGAL ADVERTISEMENT: A legal advertisement will be published on the Town of Zebulon’s website
and in a paper of general circulation once no more than 25 days and one within 10 days of the date of the public
hearing.

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING/PUBLIC HEARING:
The BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS Meeting is typically held the first Monday of each month. The Board of
Commissioners will either adopt or deny an ordinance to extend the corporate limits of the Town of Zebulon.

NOTICE OF DECISION: The formal notice of decision shall be provided to the applicant in accordance
with Section 2.3.9 of the UDO.

RECORDATION: If the annexation is approved by the Board of Commissioners, the Town Clerk will have
the Annexation Plats recorded at the Wake County Register of Deeds. Wake County will keep one of the

recorded plats, one copy will be returned to the Planning Department and the surveying company is given the
remaining recorded Annexation Plat.

Page 106

103



ZEBULON

Application Requirements -

APPLICATION FOR
ANNEXATION

The applicant requesting an annexation must submit an application through the Town of Zebulon GeoCivix Web
Portal. As noted below some materials must be brought in person to the Zebulon Planning Department to complete
the application process. Access to the GeoCivix portal can be found on the Town of Zebulon Website or through

this link (https://townofzebulon.geocivix.conysecure/)

e Materials to Submit through the Town of

Zebulon GeoCivix Web Portal:

o Completed Application Form

o One (1) Legal Description (metes and
bounds) of subject property

o Registered survey of subject property

o Certified List of Property Owners within
750 feet of subject property

o Agent Authorization Form

Materials to Submit in Person with the
Town of Zebulon Planning Department:
o Stamped envelopes addressed to Certified

List of Property Owners all the
homeowners associations of those
properties within 750 feet of the outer
boundary subject property or properties.
Affixed with the following return address:
Town of Zebulon
Planning Department
1003 N. Arendell Ave
Zebulon, NC 27597

Petition Fee (Please See Fee Schedule)
(Can be paid online but applicants must let
Planning Staff know prior to paying)

Page 2 of 6

104



{ﬁ\\ APPLICATION FOR
ZEBULON ANNEXATION
PART 1. DESCRIPTION OF REQUEST/PROPERTY )
Street Address of the Property: i Tolal Acreage:
1915 & 1917 Old Bunn Road 159.72 (Survey)
Parccl Identification Number (NC PIN): Please include all Doed Book: Deed Page(s): B
i ST 27—15-.29-(-)9—1—é ) T 009528 T -5“114-8 R
) 2716721-5571 B ?0322; 01148

Name of Project (if Applicable) Current Zoning of the Propenty;

Residential-30 District (R-30) (Wake County)

Proposcd Use of the Property:

Old Bunn Road Subdivision
Existing Use of the Property: o
Single-family Detached Dwelling & Equestrian Facilities

Refer io attached PD Statement of Terms and Condilions

Reason for Anncxation

Petitioner is seeking a Planned Developmént (PD) zoning district for the two properties.
Since both properties are outside of the Town's corporate limits and ETJ, an
annexation is required. Furthermore, appli|cant is requesting Town services.

!

PART 2, APPLICANT/AGENT INFORMATION
Name of Applicant/Agent: . !
Eastwood Homes of Raleigh LLC

T 2 401 Creedmoor Road, Suite 115

City: . State: | Zip Code:
Raleigh 27613
Emeil of Applicant/Agent: ) S Telephane Number of Applican/Agent: Fax Number of Applican/Agent:
bguillet@eastwoodhomes.com |919.758.8208 N/A
3
Are you the owner of the property? Are you the owner's agem? Note:: If you are not the owner of the property, you must obtain the
Ownei's consent and signature giving you permission to submit this
i__l I Yes No Yes D No oplication.

PART 3. SURVEYOR INFORMATION

"™ Newcomb Land Surveyors, PLLC

S 08 Harps Mill Road, Suite 105

State: {

City: .
Raleigh
Cmail of Surveyor:

justin@nls-nc.com

I hereby state that the facts relatf;fn is application and any documents submitted herewith are complete, true,
m

97615

Fax Number of Surveyor:

N/A

Telephona Nunsber of Surveyor:
919.847.1800

correct, and accurare-ta_the best nowledge.

S(l'gnature of Surveyor TR Pn’nE Name: Justin Luther D7e:
- £¥r7 | /2 / 2
J -
/

S

Page 3o0f 6

105



ﬁ APPLICATION FOR
ZEBULDS ANNEXATION

PART 4. PROPERTY OWNER INFORMATION ] ]
To the Board of Commissioners of the Town of Zebulon, North Carolina:

1. We, the undersigned owners of real properly, respectfully request that the area described in Part 4 be annexed to
the Town of Zebulon, Wake County. North Carolina.

2. The area to be annexed iscomiguous non-contiguous (safellite) to the Town of Zebulon. North Carolina and

the boundaries are as contained in the metes and bounds description attached hereto.

If contiguous, this annexation will include all intervening rights-of-way for streets. railroads and other areas as

stated in G.S. 160A-31(f). unless otherwise stated in the annexation amendment.

4, 1/We acknowledge that any zoning vested rights acquired pursuant to G.S. 160A385.1 or G.5. 153A-344.1 must be
declared and identified on this petition. I/We further acknowledge that failure to declare such rights on this petition
shall resuit in a termination of vested rights previously acquired for the property. (If zoning vested rights are
claimed. indicate below and attach proof.)

(%)

All individual owners must sign. (If additional signatures are necessary, please autach an additional sheet.)

1 hereby state that the facts related in this appiication and any documents submitted herewith are complete, true,
correct, and accurate to the best-ofmy knowledge.

Signatu, T Print Name: Date
7&: % e /V’/ . /212
7 L = v 4 ¢A&-'
— % : -
Signasyre of Owner: Print Name: Date:
lﬂ. JE—— J P, HC?\L\(IA(SM 1loglas
Signgture of Owner: Print Name: Date:
Signature of Owner: i Print Name: Date:
Slgnature of Owner: Print Name: Date: |
Signature of Owner: - Princ Name: Datce:
Signature of Owner: Print Name: Date:

STATE OF DNorbth Corgine
COUNTY OF

Sworn and subscribed before me. M\lb\\\la’m A . a Notary Public for the abo\e\State and County,
this the _ S davof. _ New .20 204,

Notary Public

SEAL
D-26-28
Cogin, ..h;?lm/],f My Commission Expires:
5 i

Page 4 of 6

106



APPLICATION FOR
ZEBULON ANNEXATION

COMPLETE IF A CORPORATION:
In witness whereof, said corporation has caused this instrument to be executed by its President and attested by its
Secretary by order of its Board of Directors, this the day of , 20

Corporate Name

SEAL

By: Attest: President (Signature) %
Secretary (Signature) V
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

COUNTY OF WAKE

Swom and subscribed before me, otary iglic for the above State and County,
this the day of, , 20 .

otary Public

SEAL Q
My Commission Expires:

B Y COMPANY

a limited liability company, caused this instrument to be
uant to authority duly given, this the day of

COMPLETE IF IN A LIMITE
In witness whereof,
executed in its name by a member/manage

20 . Name of Limited Ligifllity Comp&hy
By:
Signature of Melliger T
STATE OF OLINA
COUNTY OF
Sworn and subscribed before me, , a Notary Public for the above State and County,
this the day of, ,20
Notary Public
SEAL

My Commission Expires:

Page S of 6

107



ZEBULON

COMPLETE IF IN A PARTNERSHIP
In witness whereof,

APPLICATION FOR

20 .

Name of Partnership

By: Signature of General Partner

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA
COUNTY OF WAKE

Swom and subscribed before me,

this the day of, , 20

SEAL

ANNEXATION

, a partnership, caused this instrument to be executed in
its name by a member/manager pursuant to authority duly given, this the day of

, a Notary Pul bdve State and County,

Nota

\ ommission Expires:

Page 6 of 6

108



Beginning at a point, said point being an existing iron pipe at the southwest corner of the C, Thomas
Hendrickson and wife, Jill D. Hendrickson tract as recorded in Book 9528, Page 1148 in the Wake County
Registry and as shown on that certain plat recorded in Book of Maps 1992, Page 72 in said registry, said
paint also being on the northern 60 foot right of way margin of Old Bunn Road and having North
Carolina State Piane coordinates of N=759,010.09 and £=2,211,628.79; thence, leaving said right of way
along the western line of said Hendrickson tract NOO°08'12"W, 414.51 feet to an existing iron pipe on
the eastern line of Open Space 3 as shown on a plat recorded in Book of Maps 2023, Page 412 in said
registry; thence, NOO°05’08”E, 430.33 feet to an existing iron pipe in the eastern line of Open Space 7 as
shown on a plat recorded in Book of Maps 2023, Page 413 in said registry; thence, NOO®05’25"E, 412.26
feet to an existing iron pipe in the eastern line of Open Space 17 as shown on a plat recorded in Book of
Maps 2023, Page 825 in said registry; thence, NO0O°05'01"E, 374.93 feet to an existing iron pipe in the
eastern line of Open Space 18 as shown on a plat recorded in Book of Maps 2023, Page 824 in said
registry; thence, NOO°06'38"E, 257.42 feet to a point, said point being an existing iron pipe at the
northeast corner of said Open Space 18 and at the southeast corner of the DFC Barrington, LLC tract as
recorded in Book 18542, Page 1854 in said registry; thence, along the eastern line of said DFC
Barrington, LLC tract the following courses and distances: thence, N00°01'33"E, 119.22 feet to an
existing iron pipe; thence, N0O0°06°07”E, 366.32 feet to a point, said point being an existing iron pipe at
the northernmost corner of said Hendrickson tract shown on said Book of Maps 1992, Page 72; thence,
continuing along said DFC Barrington, LLC tract and the western line of said Hendrickson tract as
recorded in Book 9528, Page 1148 the following courses and distances: thence, NO0°21'43"E, 134.06
feet to an existing angle iron; thence, NO0°03’'31”E, 635.77 feet to an existing angle iron; thence,
N00°03"31"E, 108.06 feet to a point in the centerline of Beaverdam Creek and being the northwest
corner of said Hendrickson tract; thence, leaving said eastern line of DFC Barrington, LLC tract along said
centerline of Beaverdam Creek the following courses and distances: thence, $54°42'15"E, 2.52 feet to a
point; thence, $61°11°47”E, 9.99 feet to a point; thence, $57°27'18"E, 19.87 feet to a point; thence,
$55°39’48"E, 21.50 feet to a point; thence, $63°25’54"E, 7.83 feet to a point; thence, $67°15’03"E, 16.81
feet to a point; thence, $64°23'09"E, 23.57 feet to a point; thence, 561°27'17"E, 21.06 feet to a point;
thence, $58°28'02”E, 19.36 feet to a point; thence, $63°26'09"E, 16.21 feet to a point; thence,
$65°39'36”E, 11.52 feet to a point; thence, S70°05’18"E, 13.03 feet to a point; thence, $75°13'36"E, 9.31
feet to a point; thence, 577°56'26”E, 43.97 feet to a point; thence, 568°31'06"E, 5.64 feet to a point;
thence, $62°21'48"E, 5.93 feet to a point; thence, $56°58'43"E, 23.85 feet to a point; thence,
$61°43'46"E, 5.68 feet to a point; thence, $70°57'07”E, 5.55 feet to a point; thence, $81°28'13"E, 6.32
feet to a point; thence, N89°41°52”E, 11.75 feet to a point; thence, N84°37'56"E, 4.02 feet to a point;
thence, N78°22'00"E, 4.34 feet to a point; thence, N72°43"10"E, 11.78 feet to a point; thence,
N73°05’40”E, 13.33 feet to a point; thence, N77°26'40"E, 14.09 feet to a point; thence, N84°56'39”E,
16.31 feet to a point; thence, 589°25’48"E, 12.25 feet to a point; thence, $84°35’47"E, 13.31 feet to a
point; thence, $82°52’27”E, 18.14 feet to a point; thence, $86°46'56"E, 10.02 feet to a point; thence,
$89°33’26"E, 24.25 feet to a point; thence, N85°14°21”E, 4.52 feet to a point; thence, N77°54'37"E, 5.37
feet to a point; thence, N66°13'48"E, 5.74 feet to a point; thence, N56°16'25”E, 28.25 feet to a point;
thence, N49°46'12"E, 8.52 feet to a point; thence, N43°18’35”E, 39.00 feet to a point; thence,
N35°48’14”E, 9.40 feet to a point; thence, N29°44’56”E, 9.07 feet to a point; thence, N23°47'23"E, 25.41
feet to a point; thence, N13°42°16"E, 5.28 feet to a point; thence, N02°51°47”E, 10.01 feet to a point;
thence, N09°27'56"E, 6.08 feet to a point; thence, N19°58'56"E, 13.17 feet to a point; thence,
N13°22'10"E, 6.49 feet to a point; thence, NO7°41'46"E, 28.00 feet to a point; thence, N21°47°40"E, 4.71

109



feet to a point; thence, N29°33’05”E, 9.12 feet to a point; thence, N54°17°16"E, 2.46 feet to a point;
thence, N65°46’15"E, 4.11 feet to a point; thence, N73°45'11"E, 3.13 feet to a point; thence,
N88°20’40”E, 6.50 feet to a point; thence, 586°31°25”E, 10.27 feet to a point; thence, $88°11'59”E, 18.01
feet to a point; thence, N71°50’59”E, 3.42 feet to a point; thence, N49°26°05”E, 2.30 feet to a point;
thence, N40°36’42"E, 4.61 feet to a point; thence, N48°55'10"E, 12.27 feet to a point; thence,
N38°39’49”E, 2.40 feet to a point; thence, N48°31'01"E, 4.34 feet to a point; thence, N60°21'47"E, 3.17
feet to a point; thence, N69°25'25”E, 3.20 feet to a point; thence, N84°33'53"E, 3.26 feet to a point;
thence, $69°56’43"E, 3.46 feet to a point; thence, 546°34'32"E, 4.82 feet to a point; thence,
$30°57'21"E, 4.37 feet to a point; thence, $26°15'29”E, 5.09 feet to a point; thence, S30°44'42"E, 5.38
feet to a point; thence, $35°48'37”E, 4.70 feet to a point; thence, 541°38'24"E, 4.52 feet to a point;
thence, S46°40'S6”E, 4.46 feet to a point; thence, S53°07°48”E, 4.69 feet to a point; thence,
$62°48’17"E, 5.06 feet to a point; thence, S70°13'45”E, 4.25 feet to a point; thence, S78°22°07"E, 8.68
feet to a point; thence, $80°54’55"E, 21.77 feet to a point; thence, N87°36'58"E, 4.51 feet to a point;
thence, N78°10'32”E, 10.98 feet to a point; thence, N87°08’55"E, 6.26 feet to a point; thence,
588°38'13”E, 5.25 feet to a point; thence, $82°53’06"E, 5.04 feet to a point; thence, S77°52’41"E, 18.15
feet to a point; thence, $82°28'58”E, 9.08 feet to a point; thence, 589°02’44"E, 7.50 feet to a point;
thence, S81°20°00”E, 4.55 feet to a point; thence, $74°19’34”E, 10.65 feet to a point; thence,
565°26'35”E, 4.27 feet to a point; thence, S76°22'59”E, 8.23 feet to a point; thence, 581°18’52"E, 9.10
feet to a point; thence, 589°27"35”E, 13.25 feet to a point; thence, N87°08’13"E, 13.77 feet to a point;
thence, $86°43'42"E, 8.77 feet to a point; thence, $78°29'07"E, 9.70 feet to a point; thence,
N71°02’38”E, 139.99 feet to a point; thence, $33°31°41"E, 40.85 feet to a point; thence, 566°29'54"E,
29.59 feet to a point; thence, $31°16°21”E, 104.58 feet to a point; thence, $56°56’50”E, 26.02 feet to a
point; thence, N46°09°05”E, 56.74 feet to a point; thence, S70°48'15”E, 154.82 feet to a point; thence,
N60°44'37"E, 63.39 feet to a point; thence, N65°46'25"E, 55.65 feet to a point; thence, N74°49°04"E,
64.76 feet to a point; thence, $553°22'46"E, 44.37 feet to a point; thence, 568°50'13"E, 8.31 feetto a
point; thence, S71°49’58"E, 8.42 feet to a point; thence, 585°36'58”E, 9.78 feet to a point; thence,
N84°25'24”E, 11.55 feet to a point; thence, N77°25’51"E, 9.48 feet to a point; thence, N68°52'38"E, 8.85
feet to a point; thence, N61°02°36"E, 21.43 feet to a point; thence, N69°15'52"E, 9.36 feet to a point;
thence, N74°30'49"E, 7.26 feet to a point; thence, N82°00°42”E, 4.04 feet to a point; thence,
S00°00°00”E, 9.50 feet to a point; thence, $85°54'52"E, 10.53 feet to a point; thence, S00°00°00”E, 11.75
feet to a point; thence, N86°18'26"E, 7.77 feet to a point; thence, N83°04’'34"E, 8.81 feet to a point;
thence, N59°35’30"E, 6.67 feet to a point; thence, N55°29'31"E, 7.28 feet to a point; thence,
N49°34'43"E, 8.87 feet to a point; thence, N45°23'44"E, 12.64 feet to a point; thence, N39°24'37"E,
14,96 feet to a point; thence, N33°10°23”E, 11.42 feet to a point; thence, N23°44’'14"E, 6.21 feetto a
point; thence, N30°57°25”E, 2.92 feet to a point; thence, N48°24'01"E, 6.68 feet to a point; thence,
NS55°06'56”E, 5.79 feet to a point; thence, N65°32'30"E, 3.02 feet to a point; thence, N78°14°22"E, 3.06
feet to a point; thence, $85°32'06"E, 4.01 feet to a point; thence, $575°40'19"E, 11.87 feettoa point;
thence, $86°15’'57”E, 5.76 feet to a point; thence, N88°07°17”E, 15.26 feet to a point; thence,
N70°54’25”E, 3.44 feet to a point; thence, N54°46'14"E, 5.20 feet to a point; thence, N43°15’47"E, 8.76
feet to a point; thence, N50°18’44"E, 8.12 feet to a point; thence, N43°15’55"E, 4.38 feet to a point;
thence, N31°21'49”E, 7.69 feet to a point; thence, N46°12°29”E, 4.16 feet to a point; thence,
N58°24°31”E, 3.82 feet to a point; thence, N70°41’57"E, 6.62 feet to a point; thence, N80°58'11"E, 5.57
feet to a point; thence, N86°39°29”E, 26.80 feet to a point; thence, $86°37°34"E, 14.52 feet to a point;
thence, $80°54’37"E, 6.33 feet to a point; thence, S74°44’59”E, 8.55 feet to a point; thence,

110



572°41'11"E, 20.16 feet to a point; thence, $77°24°48"E, 19.21 feet to a point; thence, $69°5243"E,
11.45 feet to a point; thence, S68°07'18”E, 17.78 feet to a point; thence, $75°44’47"E, 15.74 feetto a
point; thence, $87°57'20"E, 3.50 feet to a point; thence, N79°52’18”E, 3.55 feet to a point; thence,
N71°15'41”E, 7.39 feet to a point; thence, N68°32°00”E, 10.09 feet to a point; thence, N64°45’42"E, 9.17
feet to a point; thence, N84°48'17"E, 10.08 feet to a point, said point being at the northeast corner of
said Hendrickson tract and the northwest corner of the Wilmington Materials, Inc. tract as recorded in
Book 11154, Page 293 in said registry; thence, leaving said centerline of Beaverdam Creek along the
eastern line of said Hendrickson tract and the western line of said Wilmington Materials, Inc. tract
501°03°25"E, 500.00 feet to an iron pipe set; thence, S01°03'25”E, 2,413.00 feet to an existing iron pipe
at a corner with said Wilmington Materials, Inc. tract and Lot 1 as shown on a plat recorded in Book of
Maps 1986, Page 318 in said registry; thence, continuing along said eastern line of Hendrickson
501°03’25"E, 851.87 feet to a point, said point being at the southeast corner of said Hendrickson tract
and on the northern 100 foot right of way margin of NC Highway 97; thence, S01°03’25"E, 50.11 feet to
a point in the centerline of said NC Highway 97; thence, along said centerline $77°33'36"W, 542.63 feet
to a point, said point being where said centerline of NC Highway 97 meets and intersects with the
centerline of said Old Bunn Road; thence, leaving said centerline of NC Highway 97 along said centerline
of Old Bunn Road the following courses and distances: thence, NS8°05'41”W, 234.83 feet to a point;
thence, N58°06'45"W, 131.88 feet to a point; thence, N59°16'38”W, 107.18 feet to a point; thence,
N63°05'36”W, 97.28 feet to a point; thence, N66°53'13"W, 102.14 feet to a point; thence,
N70°13'43"W, 95.37 feet to a point; thence, N72°51°06”W, 106.87 feet to a point; thence,
N73°40'34"W, 98.87 feet to a point; thence, N73°49°20"W, 163.99 feet to a point; thence,
N73°49'41"W, 163.95 feet to a point; thence, N73°58'44”W, 291.80 feet to a point; thence, leaving said
centerline of Old Bunn Road N00°08'12”W, 28.77 feet to the Place and Point of Beginning, containing an
area of 7,032,062 square feet or 161.44 acres, more or less.

111



zd01 L3ans | "L
s e i P m
R (VT 7/
HLEAN” ORI on z 9
> m S
4 ¥z
r O
] = 0
w @ 4 .M
owld £}
i _ FOZ I
shifi gt p 4t 0yl ril L
AN P ER P
| 1 wi of
i T Bedvezstaneeinicans f=al W m
~~ _.,. mRL 3
i guwIw
\ cas ¥
| > g
§°5 e
s 23 §
38 25 &
a O N
I~
-
swmn g
o m
S E
gl

of
OF
R
MATCH LINE - SHEET 2

Road, Ste. 105, Raleigh, NC 276185, (919) 84.

i
t £
it b :
i | g
E A HH |
ER— il 5t :
] il niE

w8 jiid h m_xwm | ;

) LA § R
BTy fiit o g fule |
S A TN il i, ek 8
L | i S _ it 1l e B8
S lmari o | Y . i m ._v“ i ik m

_ i ZrEs | EE ¢ EEmI | z g/ Hil i ;

S wﬁu"ml 1”44 .wl44.11144.1#.441.1444%“41.?41114411|1|1...1.I.1|!: MW“\ / mw“. LWM— mm~ mm n_ nm m_m&mmmﬁl ”

112




z40Z13mHs | " e

NORTH GAROLINA

WAKE COUNTY
[
SCALE: 1°=100

PROPERTIES OF
THOMAS C. & JILL D. HENDRICKSON

BOUNDARY & TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY
LITTLE RIVER TOWNSHIP

SHEET 1

MATCH LINE

Road, Ste. 105, Ralsigh, NC 27615, (619) 847-1800

o EL_E_»;:_E
m -m:u:uu.n.-.ux-:
i :_ H
:wm ::—rn»

.n..llnunnv-

NEWCOMB iand surveyors, Lic, 7008 Harps Mil

| VICINITY MAP
(It Y

FTT T TTTT77]
AR

113




£6SLZ DN 'NOINQ3zZ
£6SLZ ON ‘NOINE3z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S42 ON ‘NONg3z
£B6SLZ ON ‘NOING3z
L6SLZ ON 'NOING3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOTNE3Z
26542 ON ‘NOTNG3Z
£6SLZ IN ‘NOTNG3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
L6SLZ ON ‘NO1ING3Z
£BSLT ON ‘NO1INg3z
£6SLZT ON ‘NOTNgG3Z
£6SLT ON ‘NOTNg3az
46542 ON ‘NO1Ng3zZ
£6S4T DN ‘NOTNG3z
£6SLT ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOTNG3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOINE3Z
£65£Z DN ‘NOINQ3Z
L6SLTON ‘NOINg3z
£6S4T ON ‘NOTN83z
L65LT ON ‘NOTNQ3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£65£Z ON ‘NONg3Z
L6SLTON ‘NONgG3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NO1NgG3z
£6SLZ DN ‘NONG3Z
£6S£Z DN ‘NOTNG3z
L6542 ON ‘NO1ING3z
£6SLT ON 'NO1NQ3Z

aes ‘Ao

JAY MOY NOLONIYYVE vOy
AV MOU NOLONIHHYE 9
QY T1IH A3NLNd 824

AMH L6 ON 3 G2¢€1

HLvd 3001SAvH LEL

HLVd ¥001SavH 9€L

a4 NNN9 @10 ST61

QY THH AINLINd TEL

AV NONNV9 3 6221

Q4 NNNg Q10 8061

3AV NONNVO 36021

Hivd XJ01SQVH 9vL
GdNNNdd10 o

QY NNNg Q10 L16T

Qd NNNg 10 0z8t

QY 1IH AINLINd 6E£

Q4 TIH AININd 2L

JAV MOY NOLONIYHYE 8TV
HiVd X001SAVYH 6EL

HLVd XO0LSQVH S€L

ad NNNg Q10 vZLT

Q4 NNNg Q10 1202

JAVY MOY NOLONIHHVE 8EY
HlYd ¥O0LSAvH 0

HLVd ¥001SAvH 0

H1vd XO01SAvH 0

HLVd X00iSavH 0

Q4 THHAINLING £82

H1vd XO01SAvH 8¢

HLYd AD01SAVH 8¢L

AMH 92 SN Q10 6ETT

Ssalppy

0T ITNAILLIAVL 4O SHOLONYISNOD H R H
HIAAS ‘SHWOD I NV3S ‘STIVIS

WINVAIHD ‘VINDINWILLOO ¥ HLIINVY “VIINNIVIVA
ANAVd YIIONY “INVd IONIHMYT STWYT “INVd
VdNYIN ‘WYNVAYONS HSIWVY ‘NYIVHVONIY
VYNIIAVHd ‘IONVH

a T ‘NOSHOIHANTH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIHANIH
WINYAIYd ‘VIANNININEG VATIHS ‘VAVANVIN

Q710 ‘NOSHOIYANIH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIMANIH
QT ‘NOSHOIYANIH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIHANIH
QT ‘NOSHOIIANTH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHIIHANIH
IONVYH VWYY ‘NLLYO QVSYHd VHWISHYN ‘NLLYO
O S3LY3Ad0Ud ATlWY4 131vd

Q TNM ‘NOSHOIYANIH SYWOHL O ‘NOSAOIYANIH

7T VANIYS “XIOHOVT 4 STV XIOHOV

IH133dd ‘ATIVAVIVEWYI YAYHOVYH ‘YAVIWVTYN
HINVd ‘GUv1IM

ALV ‘NYWNIH NVIdav 01anv10 ‘vd3IHD

O11IN STWOH ZdW

NNY HYHO834 ‘NOWYYO

AVH H34INNIM “990H NYIHE ADVHL ‘O90H

O VAI ‘NIQ10H ¥ 143904 ‘NIQI0H

INIONI NVAYE ‘ONVTIOH

ONI NOLLVIOOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIHEYE
ONI NOLLVIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIHHYY
ONI NOLLVIOOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIdHYE
ONI NOLLYIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIHYYE
331SNY1 Y1INd INVAV ‘AGA3Y 331SNYL V1INd YYHAIYS ‘AQQ3Y
VAHSHV 11908 WIIHAYY ‘NYHLYNYMSIA

H YAYIWYYN THONId X TINY ‘YAYWTVYN

QOOH HLIAN( ‘NINA3nW

TA0HVd AVOH NNNE 010 STET WOH4 135440 .0SZ NIHLIM 34V M0139 S311H3d0Yd
12UMQ

114



£6S4C ON ‘NOING3Z
L6542 IN ‘NO1NG3Z
£6G4Z ON 'NOING3Z
£BSLZ ON ‘NO1Ng3zZ
LBSLZIN ‘NONg3Z
26542 ON ‘NOTNG3z
£6S4T IN ‘NOIN83Z
£6S4Z ON ‘NOING3Z

L654Z ON ‘NONG3zZ
£6S4Z ON ‘NONG3zZ
£654Z ON ‘NONA3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOING3Z
£654Z ON ‘NOING3IZ
£65/Z ON ‘NOING3Z
LBS/Z 3N ‘NO1Ng3z
L6522 ON ‘NOINg3zZ
£6S4T ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S4T ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NONE3Z
£65£2 ON ‘NOTNG3Z
46542 DN 'NOTNG3Z
LBSLTON ‘NOINGIZ
L6542 ON ‘NOING3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOINE3Z
£6SLTON ‘NOINE3Z
L6SLT ON ‘NOINE3Z
L6SLT ON ‘NOINEAZ
£6S4Z ON ‘NOINE3z
£65£T ON ‘NONG3Z
L6542 DN ‘NOIN83Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NONE3Z
L6SLT ON ‘NON83Z

JAV MOY NOLONIYHYE P1S
AV MOY NOLONIYHYE 0TV
QY TUHAINLNG £2£

JAV MO NOLONIYHVYE 05
JAY NADIOVHE PZL

JAV MOH NOLONIHHYE 21§
JAV MOY NOLONIYYVS 0SP
JAY NATIOVHE 804

JAV NATIOVHE €1L
HiVd X001SavH 0
HLVd3001S0vH 0
HLvd ¥O0L1SAvH 0

JAY NADIOVHE €T4

QY TIIH AINLNd SEL

JAV NONNYO 3 02T

Hivd X001SavH 0L

QY NNNG d10 TS84T

QY X004813dS veL

AAY MOY NOLONIHHVYE 80F
H1vd XO01SAVH ¢EL

JAY MOY NOLONIHYHVYE 0Zv
JAVY NATAOVYHE 0L

JAV NADIOVHE 602

H1Vd A301SAVH LTL

JAY NONNVO 3 T0ZT

JAV NATAOVYHE 914

AV NATAOVYE T0L

QY T1IH A3NLNd S22

HIVd XO0LSAvH L¥L
JAVNONNYO 30

ad NNN4 410 0002

JAY NONNVO 3 08¢T

VHIIHS “TVHONIHS NIVdYN HEVHOS “IYHONIHS

YIISSIM ‘SINHYE SNIHYVAVYS ‘SINHVE

NNATVYNNOHS ‘S3AYH

HIJINNIC ATTUINYYS

INAVM A10vHE *HIHDLITS

VININYIA “3LOM HSILYS ‘WyInd

AYI SNOYVH ‘SH3ANNYS

AVYHLYT ANY NIYd VGYUYA NIYY VAVIWYNYHQ

40 33LSNYL FILSNYL NIV VAVIWYNYHG ‘NIvY YAVHYA

¥ NILSNA “LS3M W HI39YZN3 ‘LSam

ONI NOILYIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH DN NOLONIFHYE

ONI NOLVIOOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLINIYYvYE
ONINOLLVIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH DN NOLONIHHYE
ANIOLNY ‘SINOM HYNIHVL ‘SINOT

NNMYY 'VINAIS HONIS AYNIA “YMIVHL

NHOTI HOAJYL ‘YvavS

HIANVHIWYY V1109 IMVIWNI YNYHOUY ‘YNIAOBYNYAYA
FA3HANY ‘SOOIM 8 HdISOr ‘SODIM

VIWIHLYYd ‘WYNOS YAANIOWN ‘DINVT

JHANOIA ‘NOSVDI 131V ‘NOSHOVI

OTT HLVd ¥00iSAVH ¢EL

S VHSIINTIO ‘dWVHD Ul ANOL ‘GHYMAIH

Q YAINNIZI ‘"NMNYANY 1 YHOIEO ‘NMNVANY

SIHI ‘HINYNL D MYVIA "YaINYNL

NAVEYS 'NFOYVIA H13INVHd ‘NLLYOVHION

NNAT ‘SWYQV LLOOS ‘SWyay

AH3ITIOH3 "ONVON W NIIHNYIW ‘HOIWIL

AONYN ‘ILLId NHOf ‘ILLId

M3HAYD ‘INYOHL

JT1ALY3d0dd H1vd XD01SAVH L2

1SNYL IT8OAIHYI HI1FIHM M HONVITI JLSNHL df SOTHYD SIWVI "HI1FIHM
1SNY1 3190A3HYI HITIZHM r HONVITI 33LSNYLHI SOTHVD SAWVI *HITITHM
1SNYL 318DAIHH HITIFHM F JONYITI J3LSNYL HS SOTHYD SIWVT "HI1IIHM

115



£BSLZ ON 'NOTN93z
£6SLT ON ‘'NONg3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOTNG3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOTNG3Z
£6S4Z ON ‘NOTNG3Z
£6S42 ON 'NOING3Z
£854Z ON ‘NOTN93Z
£BSLZ ON ‘NOTNA3Z
£BSLT DN ‘NOTNG3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOING3Z
46542 ON‘NO1ING3zZ
46542 DN ‘NOTNG3Z
LBSLZ ON ‘NOTNG3Z
£6SLZ DN 'NOTNG3Z
£BSLZ ON ‘NOTNG3Z
£B84T ON ‘NOINg3z
L6542 DN'NOINA3Z
£6G/T ON ‘NOINY3Z
£6SLZ ON 'NOING3z
£6S4T ON ‘'NOTNg3Z
£BSLZ ON ‘NOTNG3z
LBSLTON ‘NOTNg3z
£6SLZ DN ‘NOTNQ3Z
£6S4Z ON'NOTNG3Z
£6SLTON 'NOING3z
£6S/Z ON'NONG3Z
£6SLTON 'NONE3Z
£6SLZ ON 'NOTNG3z
£6S£Z DN ‘NOTNg3z
£B5/Z DN ‘NOING3Z
LBSLT ON ‘NOTNG3z
£65£2 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£65/2 ON ‘NON83z

Q4 T1IH AINLNd 9T
JAV MOY NOLONIYYYE 005
Ya N3ASHIAT 8¥S

¥a NIAsy3aA3 zss

Ha N3ASY3IAT 985

Qd T1IH AININd ST

Qd TIH AINLNG £T2
Q40048 113dS 022

3AV MOY NOLONIYYYE vEY
JAV MOY NOLONIYHYE vTv
IAV NATHOVHE S04

3AY MOY NOLONIYYYE 126
JAY MOY NOLONIYYYE 616
Qd TUH AINLNd PTL

Q¥ TIH AINLNd 2224

Q4 T1IH AINLNd €02

Q4 0049713dS 622
Q430048 113dS 214
Q¥>00dgT113dS T0L

IAY MOY NOLONIYYHVE 9pY
@4 TIIH AINLNd 984

ay T1IH AINLNd 884

4a NIASHIAI £¥S

QY %00Y8113dS 822

Q4 YOOHET13dS 912

a4 XO0H8113dS 002

@4 11IH AINLNd 2024

a4 T1IH AINLNd 022

@Y T1IH AINLNd 8TL

IAV NAIOVHE S22

IAV NATIOVYE €E2

a4 11IH AINLINd 104

@y TIH AINLNd S0Z

99NYO YHINVIWYS ‘AVQ 13INYA ISYHD ‘AVa

HIAINNH YNHSO! ‘SINOT

071 37AILLIAYS 4O SHOLDNHISNOO HB H

0713TNAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYLSNOO H B H

OT1ITNAILLIAVS 30 SHOLONYLSNOOH 2 H

VAWMOS ‘AQQIHIHLNIW NIJAVY ‘V10M

IHXVY "HONIS NIFAVYd ‘AVAVA

VHHUAVd ‘IINVONYHOW

IAVVHOVIW ‘YINWNNIA AGAQIYHSIHYN V10

AV( *NYITIN ¥OISSAT ‘NYITIN

VANOIVHD “1138dWYD

TYNOS “IWMJOd TYAVHG "HX34vd

HYHAITYHNIW ‘WYHAONYD

IHHLYAYO ‘NVAISNNVHL NYAISNNYHL IV 1TIdYIvdYavN

33LSNYL I1LINNY NITTHLYH ZNITHNIZ T F3LSNYLAUNTH dITIHd ‘ZNIFHNII ™
0711 1GNY

T1344VQA ‘NYIW3THd YNNYOT NAYHLY) ‘Avd

071 3TNAILIAYS 40 SHOLONHLSNOD HBH

OTTITUAILLIAYA 40 SHOLONYLSNOO H2 H

IAVY ‘'VT1IL YNITT 1TIVdYTIvY

Y1IHdNNY “ULYd HSIOVIN ‘NYHIYNVHINYA

NOYTT HAJSVI “SINOS

I SYIWOHL QUVHOIY ‘HILHVD IT0DIN INVYIWYHS ‘H31HYD

011934008

211734008

AVY QIAVQ ‘“T13MOd

ATD3D NI¥3 ‘GdvHONV4ANG

331SNYULAYNIH dITTIHd ‘ZNIFHNIF T 331SNYL FLIANNY NIFTHLY ZNIIHNE T
331SNYL ILLINNY NITTHLYA ‘ZNIFHNIZT I3LSNYUL AYNIH dITIHA ‘ZNIFHNIZ
331SNYL ILIANNY NITTHLY ZNIZHNIZTN 331SNYL AYNIH diTTIHd ‘ZNIEHNIT I
JNIQYN 1S3 "HITXTYL SIMITITVA ‘Y3 X3UL

OT1aNY

2T 1aNY

116



£6SLZ ON ‘NOIN83Z
£BSLT ON ‘NOTNG3Z
46542 ON 'NOINg3Z
£654Z DN ‘NOINgG3Z
£6SLZ ON‘NOING3z
£6S4Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
£BSLZ ON ‘NOINg3z
46542 ON ‘NOIN93Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NO1INE3z
£6SLC ON ‘NO1NE3Z
46542 IN ‘NOINd3Z
£6S£Z DN ‘NO1Ng3az
LBSLT ON 'NONg3Z
£BSLZ ON ‘NOINg3z
L6SLZ DN ‘NOTNg3z
£BSLT ON ‘NOINA3Z
£6G42 ON ‘NOINE3Z
£6SLC IN ‘NOTNG3zZ
£6S£Z ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S42 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6SLT ON ‘NONg3z
465£Z ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6S£Z IN ‘NOING3Z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOING3Z
£6542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NONG3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOTINE3z
£6SLZ ON 'NONG3Z
£6S4Z DN ‘'NOTNG3Z
£6G£Z ON 'NOING3Z
£6S£Z DN ‘NO1INgG3Z
£6S4C DN ‘NO1NA83z
£6S£Z DN ‘NO1ING3z

HO NIASHIAI £0S

HLVd XO001SAvH ITL

Hivd X001SAVH 804

HiVd XAO0I1SAvVH £0£

(4 X00H9T13AdS 804

AV MOY NOLONIHYYE vy
HLvd XO01SAVH o<

JAV NONNYS 3 9121

JAV MOH NOLONIdYvE 0
JAV MOY NOLONIYHVE 605
QY TNH AINLINd 614

JAY MOY NOLONIYHYE 00
ANV MOY NOLONIHHVE £EY
JAVY MOY NOLONIYYVE €T
HLlvd X001SAdvH 90

ad »o0oda113ds 1es

AV MOY NOLONIYYHYd 8t
AV MOY NOLONIYHYE vTr
JAV MOY NOLONIHHYE 90
HLVd XO01SAvH gvL

H1vd A001SAvH #0L

HIYd X201SAVH evL

HivYd X001SAVH 614

H1Vd X001SAvVH S0£

3AV NONNVO 3 802T

Q¥ X00UgT13dS L14

Q4 THH AINLNd 084

HLYd XJ01SavH Tre

QY 11IH A3INLNd 622

(4 NNN8 @10 €102

JAV MOY NOL1ONIYYVE 526
AV MO NOLINIYYVE 025
AV MOY NOLONIJYvYE £1§

OTINOLONIYYVYE 040

IHINVY “INVSYIVIA N8YE HLYYYS ‘V1TVdIINHA
VAWMOS ‘VONVA S MHLYWY INVHAYTVINIHO
VAINNOW ‘AQAIHIONYS YMHSIA *HOOANNX

NEY Y4Y1SNIW DIV NYIW3 ‘HIAYA QYINHY QHOW GHYIW WYSSYE ‘HI VS
NOQNYHd VNNV ‘LLINNIE STWV(I SYWOHL ‘LIINNIg
7 214A3L "HONIW

D17 LNIWIOVNYIN ALHIJOHd NOLNHOHL

OTI NOLONIYYYE 204G

OTINOLONIYYYL 240

OTTNOLONIYHvE D44

OTTNOLONIHYYd 340

OTINO1ONIYYYE 344

OTINOIONIHYHYE 244

IHLYMS ‘ATTIAVYHIIE VINVY HSIANY ‘WYAYHYS
IAIQ IWHSHY VAVA NEVE YHAYNITYS ‘VIVA
1SNYL ONIAIT HMIYHS NYHVI 80089HIW ANY IWHY HISYd 331SN4d1 YYHZV ‘HAIVHS
HYH083a ‘JLHM

[ NIAYYW ‘AT13ZZIW 1 YANYHO ‘3T13ZZIW
OT1S31143d04d 103138

MIHANY IAVIVIA

VYNOMI ‘ZVIWOT NV( ‘ZYWO1

YIvd VOVN V1TAAVH IHVIN

YIHVIN YSIT 331 NITTV QIAVA 331

(HL39VZi13 "4IHSId W NHOT "43HSId

INVHIQA3Y ‘F1TVANIIVE HYIVHIIW ‘VINNOILT

OT1 SINIWLISIANI ZWOOZ

J3YAL ‘SINYYE

HOSANIM NVHLVNOF ‘SWYaV NI43 NILIVO ‘NMOYE
QNOWAYH ANOHLNY ‘NMOHE

YNNI VIV ‘STHHOL ZIANYNYIH

VYNdVMS YaNONVYHIAIG

H138YZ(13 ATHSY ‘HIAIDW NVHYI IDNYEG "HIAIOW

117



£BSLZ ON ‘NONg3z
£6S4Z DN ‘NOINg3z
£6S£2 ON ‘NONG3z
£6S£TIN ‘NONG3Z
£L6GLZ ON ‘NOING37
£8G£Z DN ‘NOINg3zZ
£BS£Z DN ‘'NONG3Z
46542 ON ‘NO1INg3zZ
4652 ON ‘NO1Ng3zZ
£6S/42 3N ‘NOINg3z
46522 DN 'NOTNg3zZ
£65.Z ON ‘NOINE3Z
46542 ON 'NOTNG3Z
46542 ON 'NOTN83Z
£6S4Z DN ‘NO1INg3Z
LBSLT ON ‘NONE3z
L6542 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£65/2 ON ‘NOWNE3Iz
£654Z DN ‘NOING3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NONE3Z
£6S42 ON 'NONG3zZ
L6SLC DN ‘NOTNg3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOING3IZ
LBSLZT ON'NOINGIZ
£6SL2 DN 'NOING3zZ
£6S£2 ON ‘NO1Ng3Z
£85/2 ON ‘NOTNg3az
£6542 ON 'NOTNG3Z
£6G/T ON ‘NOTN83Z
L6542 DN 'NOTNE3Z
L6547 ON ‘NO1NG3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
L6SLZ ON 'NOTNg3z

JAV MOY NOLONIHHVYE 905
JAY MOY NOLONIHHYE 20S
QY 11IH AINLNd 804

JAV MOY NOLONIdYE Ovy
JAY MOY NOLONIdHVYa 82V
JAY MOH NOLONIYYve 9T
JAV MOY NOLONIFHYE 0
JAV MOY NOLONIHYHYE 219
AV MOY NOLONIdHvd 019
AV MOY NOLONIHHVYE 909
JAV MOY NOLONIYHYE 709
JAV MOY NOLONIYHYE 209
JAY MOY NOLONIHYYE 009
JAV MOY NOLONIYYVE 265
JAY MOY NOLONIHHvE 065
IAV MOY NOLONIHHVE 985
3AY MOY NOLONIYHVE ¢85
IAY MOH NOLONIHHVY 085
JAY MOY NOLONIYHYE 0
JAV MOY NOLONIHHYE 945
JAY MOY NOLONIHYYR vLS
JAY MOY NOLONIHYYE €45
JAY MOY NOLONIHYVE 045
JAY MOY NOLONIHYYE 995
AV MOY NOLONIYYVYE PSS
JAY MOY NOLONIMYYE 055
AV MO NOLONIYYYE 9VS
JAY MOY NOLONIYYYE PS5
JAV MOY NOLONIYYVYE 0VS
IAY MOY NOLONIHYYE 0
AV MOY NOLONIdHvd 625
40 N3dSH3A3 8CS

dd N3ASHIAT peF

1SNYL ONIAIT NVSSNVE INDINOW 3H1 33LSNHL INDINOK ‘NYSSNva

HYWMAINYLIHD ‘ILYdI TV

YNHSIIAHOO TTIVdVIVHINIHO

WYITIIM NHOT ‘43S3vi

1SNYL ONIAIT HAIVHS G0089HIIW ANY QIWHY HISYS JILSNYL YHZV ‘HAIVHS

NVSNS ‘SHILYM
OTINOLONIdYvE 240
OTINOLIONIdYYE 044
OTINOLONIYYYE D44
OTINOLONIYdvE 040
OTINOLONIHdvYd 344
JTTNOLONIYYYE 230
071 NOLONIYHvd 044
OTINOLONIHYYE 340
OTINOLONIgHYE D44
JTINOLONIdYYE 044
OTINOLONIYYYE 040
OTINOLONIHAYE 244
OTINOLONIgYYE 344
1T NOLONIYYYS 2430
OTINOIONIHYYE 240
OTTNQLONIddvE 244
OT1NOLONIYHvd 240
OTINOLONIYYvE 244
OTINOLONIdYvE 244
0711 NOLON!ddvE 040
OT1 NOLONIdHYE D4d
OTINOLONIdYYE 044
OT1NOLONIYYvE 044
D71 NOLONIdYvE 044
OTINOLONIdHYE 344
OTINOLONIMYYE 240
OTINOLONIYYYE D44

118



£6G/2 ON 'NOTNg3z
£8SLTON ‘NOING3z
£6SLZIN'NOING3Z
{6542 ON ‘NONg3Z
£6S£Z DN ‘NO1Ng3Z
L8842 DN ‘NOINg3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOING3Z
46822 ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S42 ON ‘NO1INE3z
£6SLT DN ‘NONE3zZ
46542 ON ‘NO1N93Z
£6S42 ON ‘NONg3z
£6GLZ 3N ‘NOING3Z
26542 DN ‘NOING3Z
£6S4Z DN ‘NOING3Z
£65/Z ON ‘NO1IN83Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOING3Z
£65/2 DN 'NOTNG3Z
£654Z ON ‘NO1NQ3Z
£6S4Z ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NONG3Z
£6SLTON'NOING3z
£6S/Z DN ‘NONG3zZ
£BSLZ ON ‘NONg3zZ
L6SLTON ‘NOINg3az
£6S4Z ON ‘NONg3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NO1N83Z
£6S/Z ON ‘NOTNg3zZ
£6542 ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S/Z ON 'NONG3Z
4B8SZTON ‘NOINg3z
LBSLZ ON ‘NOING3Z
L6SLZ DN 'NOINBIZ

AV MOY NOLONIYHYA ZES
Q4 X00Yg113dS ST9

3AV MOY NOLONIYYvYd 6ES
JAY MOd NOLONIYY Ve EvS
3AY MOY NOLONIYHYE TS
Q4 1TH AINLINd ETL

4d N3IASH3IA3 8TS

d0 N3QsSH3AT 02s

da NIASHIAT 228

HAJ N3ASd3IAI veS

YA N30SHIAI SSS

4Q N3ASHIAI €SS

HA NIASHIAI TSS

40 N3dsd3aAg Spvs

YO NIASHIAT E¥S

HQ NIASH3IAI 6ES

B0 NIASYIAT LES

4O NIASHIAI se8

Ha NIAsY3IAI €29

HA N3IASYIAT 629

YA N3ASHIAT L2s

40 N3dSH3A3 sTs

Hd NIASHIAI €28

3AY MOd NOLONIYYYd 92¥
ad X00Ha713dS ¥0L

JAY NADIOVHE 624

JAY MOY NOLONIHYYE 9€S
AAY NATIOVHE 022

AV MOY NOLONIYYYE 9TS
Qd A00Y97113d4S S0L

AV MOY NOLONIHYYE 0TS
3IAV MOY NOLONIYdvd ¢S
JAY MO NOLINIYUVE 925

YOSIHONVYS ‘SONVINIWHY TINWYS ‘ZIANI 1IN

0T IMIAILLIAYS 40 SHOLINHISNOD HBH
OT13TUAILIIAYS 40 SHOLONYLSNOOH® H
O ATIAILLIAYS 40 SHOLINHLSNOD H B H
OTT13TTAILLIAVL 4O SHOLONYLISNODH ® H

SSOY N3T13 AHLOHOA ‘NHONVA S3TYVHO 13VHOIIW ‘NHONVA

OTT3ITUAILLIAVS 40 SHOLONYLSNOD H R H
OT13TTAILLIAVL 50 SHOLONYLSNOD H B H
OT13MIAILIIAYS JO SHOLONYLISNOOH R H
OT1 ATNAILLIAVYS 40 SHOLINYLSNOO H® H
OT1ITUAILLIAVA 30 SHOLONYISNOD H B H
0T ITUAILLIAVYL 40 SHOLINYLSNOD HR H
OT13TUAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONHISNOO H B H
T INNAILLITFAYL 40 SHOLONULISNOOH B H
OT1ITNAILFAVS 4O SYOLINYLSNOO H B H
OM ATHAILLIAVL 40 SHOLINHISNOD H R H
OTTITNAILIAVL 40 SHOLONYLSNOD H B H
OTTITNAILLIAYL O SHOLONYISNODH® H
OT ITUAILIIAVL 40 SHOLONYLISNOD H R H
ITTITUATLLITAVS 40 SHOLONYLSNOD H R H
OT13NAILLIIAYA 40 SHOLONYLSNODH S H
011 ATTAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONYLSNOOH R H
OT1ITHAILLIAYS 40 SHOLINYISNOO H'B H
13VHOIN AHVHOVZ ‘133IMS

YNVANVJS ‘IVMIVd Y TYdIYS ‘IVAVIVd
AOLLSAT ‘MYATWY

IHNHAYW ‘VTNANYN LIHOY ‘NON3W

JALSNHL YINVANNY ‘HONIS IZLSNUL LIWY "BYINX

Va3 ‘NOLSIM-SINOT

Z SINNATO ‘NISNILSIIHO WYITIIM AHOO ‘NISNILSIHHO

VAVIA 3TINYT ‘NYWLYYd

OVYd YNNIHYYHIITIVIA TNTIVA IHLNWY! ‘IaNdVanN3g

VANYIWY V14 ‘9900H

119



£6S/Z ON ‘NONG3Z
£6S42 DN ‘NOTNG37
£6S42 DN ‘NONd3Z
£65/2 DN ‘NONG3Z
/6542 ON ‘NONg3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOING3Z
£65LZ ON 'NOTING3Z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOTNg3Iz
£BSLT DN 'NOING3Z
£6S/2 ON 'NO1Na3z
LBSLT ON ‘NOTNG3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOINQ3zZ
LBSLT ON ‘NOINF3z
£65/2 3N 'NOTN93z
£6S4Z ON ‘NOTNg3Z
L6SLZ ON ‘NOTNG3Z
£6S42 ON ‘NONg3Z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOWNE3Z
£65£T ON ‘NOTNQ3Z
£6S£2 ON ‘NONG3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOINg3z
L6542 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6SLZ DN ‘NON83Z
£6SLZ DN ‘NOTNG3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NO1Ng3z
L6522 DN 'NOTNG3IZ
£Z6SLCON 'NONG3AZ
£6S£Z ON ‘NOING3Z
£6SLZ IN 'NOINE3z
L6S4Z ON ‘NONg3z
£6SLZON ‘NOING3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOTN93Z

AV MOY NOLONIHYYE 0y
ad NNN9 Q10 9181

Ay TH AINLNd 0T£

HA0 N3QSH3IAI vSS
NT1314400 0

JAY MOY NOLONIYYYE 85
40 N3IJSY3IAT 0SS

YA N3IASY3IAT 8ES

AV MOY NOLONIYYvE 2rs
HIVd XJ01SAVH 60L

HLVd 1001SAVH SvL

(d NNMN4 410 600¢

Ha NIASHIA3 9€5

AV MOY NOLONIHYVE £L2S
Q4 TH A3IN1Nd 924

JAV MOY NOLONIYYvE vES
HLYd X00JSAVH 1L

AAV MOY NOLONIYYYd 285
Q4 NNNEdT100

AV MOY NOLONIYYYE 0ES
ANV MOY NOLONIHHVE O
JAV NONNVO 3 0S2T

4 NIASHIAT OvS

40 N3QSH3AT 855

IAV MOY NOLONIYYVE €25
QY 10049 113dS 522

Q4 40048 113dS 604

JAVY NADIOVHE 2eL

JAV NATAOVHE 824

JAV NATADVYE TCL

Qa4 1IH AININd ¥0L

ad THH ASNLNd T4

AV MOY NOLONIYHYE LES

3SIN3A IAHAVD ‘SINOS

$a7314 YNVIQ TTYHOSYd

3dOH H139vZIN3 ‘AT13NNOD

OT13TNAILLIAVS JO SHOLONYISNOO H B H

ONI NOLLYIOOSSY SHINMOIWOH DN NOLONIYYvE
JTTNOLONIYYYE 340

OT1ITHAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONUISNOO H B H
OTTINIAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYLISNOO H B H
OTINCLONIYYVE 044

VOINOY3A VANVL ‘SNVAT Q NOSVI ‘SNVAT
[HNHAVYIW ‘ATIVAYTIIONVL UYWAY IYS THNANY
IT0DIN ANV44LL ‘NMOYE Tv3IN.0 INIQIVHIO ‘NMOYd
011 3TUAILLIAVS 40 SHOLONHISNODH R H

Q YANOS ‘NOSNHOf H HLAY ‘NOSNHOT

HSIYVH ‘10034 1A3A1YS ‘ISHYd

IHNHAYIX ‘VINANYN LIHOY ‘NON3W

YAAYN VIVAVIR IAVY ‘IINLNddNA
OTTNOLONIYYYE D44

OTINOLONIdHYE 244

VIHSVYIVN TALSIY ‘NVYINIHOA

OTINOLONIYYYE 24d

1SNH1 378DA3HH ¥ITITHM I HONYITT IILSNHL Hr SOTHYD STWVF ‘HITITHM
YNINONH "SMIHLLYW HdISOl 'SMIHLLYIW

ANNV NILSIHY ‘AHdYNIN

YHSVL ‘INAV

011534008

011€340IS

TNOLYE ‘Q0AZY WIHYX 1308V ‘ATIVMLIW

AT130ID ‘SNIOSIM NIWVINGS ‘SNIDDIM

INIVIE VIHITYA ‘SYHOHL

[ENOIANK INYTVE "NTNAVYSIN IHLYAUVAYAIS “WYANYIWYHENS
YANIHE ‘HONIS TNHSNY ‘HONIS
VANVAVTIWHSHV ‘VdYYN

120



v194C ON ‘HOIT VY

£65£Z DN ‘NO1NE3Z
£6SLT DN ‘NO1ING3Z
L65£T ON ‘NO1NG3Z
£6S£Z IN ‘NOING3Z
£6SLZ DN 'NOING3z
L6SLZ ON 'NOING3zZ
£6SLZ ON ‘NOTNE3Z
£BSLZ IN ‘NONG3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NO1ING3z
L6SLZ DN ‘NO1NG3Z
£6SLE DN ‘NOINFAZ
£6G£Z QN ‘NONG3Z
£6SLT ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOING3Z
£654Z ON ‘NOINY3z
£6S/Z DN ‘NOINg3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOINY3Z
£6SLT ON ‘NOTNG3Z
L6SLT ON ‘'NOING3Z
26542 DN 'NOINA3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOTING3Z
L6SLZ ON ‘NOTINE3Z
£6SLT ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOTNG3zZ

Q4 39014 NI3AVH OTOTT

ONINOHVIOOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIYHYE

S3SS3YAAV ALHId0Ud A0V IHL NVHL SSTHAQY ONITIVIA INIHIIIIG V HUM SHINMO ALYId0Y¥d 34V MO138 S3ssuaay

4A LNIOd ANNNS 62£0T
4 LNIOd ANNNS LTL0T
HA LNIOd ANNNS 02201
T4 NNNG 10 6012

HA LNIOd ANNNS 82401
dd NNNg Q10 1012

Ha WdvYd IMOTSNIM POTZ
Ha LNIOd ANNNS S2L0T
Qd NNN8 Q10 LT12
AMH 6 ON3TCVT

TdL ANNOHOVLS €G40T
THL ANNOHOVLS 6V£0T
AMH £6 ON 3 SOPT

HQ INIOd ANNNS ¥2L0T
QY 39VTTIASHHYd O
TYL ANNOHOVLS vP20T
HA INIOd ANNNS TC20T
Tdl ANNOHOVLS 9€£0T
T4t ANNOHOVLS SP£0T
AMH 46 ON 36091

T4l GNNOHOVIS 62401
AMAHGE ON O

THL ANNOHOVIS LELOT
a4 NNNd alo o0te

331SNYL d INNIH ‘NIMAOOD JILSNHL Wl L WVITTIM ‘NIMA009

a V1AV ‘AT1LNYHE S YNHSOr ‘JLLINYNG
VNNV ‘SIMITNHO( ‘SIMIT

H AHO93Y9 *HOIH

VYNVIA NIY3 NO1HL3H MIYANY NUYIW NOIHLIH
HIHINNI SNIIN NILSOC ‘INTIN

7 VANIYE ‘NYIWYH f GYYMAT ‘NYWYH
AVANOL ‘SIAVA O AdVYD ‘SIAVA

HLIQNT ‘NNYIW NIATY ‘NNVIA

“S ANNT “SWIS "W HIANNI ‘SWIS

FIUVIN NYSNS ‘HONAT LLOIS MIYANY ‘HONAT
LY EETR) ate]

OT1S3114340Ud 8NTD IYLIdVYD

NV ‘LLoM13

TI0HHYYD 3 ‘Y3INAOSI

ANNIIHAY ‘SWYINTIM L INOYAL ‘SWYINTIM

d H3JINNI( ‘NILLva D VNHSOr ‘N3LLva

{ YGNIT " 7108HYD THIHDOLSIHHD “TTOHHYD

NNV3IT YHWIWYL ‘NOSIHHOW 13INVQ AHYH3d ‘NOSIHHOW

ONI STVIHALVIAN NOLONIWTIM
4 ATII HUVID W NIADY HEVT10

331SNYL L NVSNS ‘LINOOH 331SNYL d SIWVI ‘LINDOH

WVYNNOQ '30Vd ¥ NIHHVM ‘JOVd
WYIINS ‘INOS04 O NNAT ‘88YNOW

(avod NNNE 010 STET WOY4 A3LYOI1dNA LON) 1304Vd QYO NNNE Q10 LT6T WOY4 135440 ,08Z NIHLIM 34V MO138 $3114340ud

£6S/Z ON ‘NOINg3zZ
46842 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOING3Z
£6SLT DN ‘NOTNY3Z
46842 ON ‘NOINg3z

QY TUH AINLNd 904

HLYd XD01SAvH 6vL

JAV MOY NOLONIHYVYE Skt
HLYd XO0LSAVH riL

AV MOY NOLONIYYvE ves

X NYINYS ‘VIVAVAYO YHSWYHANS ‘V13AITVd
YHSV "WYSYTIIAVNHSIENIILS
OTINOLONIYHvE 04a

H YHHYIN VIGNYIVINNO AQQ3d HINVMSYS ‘YIANYIVINND

HWISVHE ‘YNHYMS

121



87T0Z VA NO1319WvYe
£8SLZ ON 1S3404 AVYM
09542 DN ITHASIHHOW
€254¢ ON X3dVY

9694¢ ON ITHASONNOA
£TSLZ INAYYD

61S22 ON AHVD

ZP158 Z¥ 3340 N3N0
TTSLT DN AYYD

P194Z ON HOIFTvY
BTS2 ON AYYD

L6S/Z ON NOINg3Z
81542 DN AHYD
BLYLLXLANYTHYONS
87102 YA NOLI1dWvYHd
09516 VO MUYMIN
TISLZ ONAYYD

SPSLZ ON JTYALHOINY
BIS4Z ON AHYD

EF0TT AW ALID LONT13
£8SLZ ONNOTNG3Z
99516 YO NOLNYSYI1d
TL10Z YA NOQNY3IH
9064% NI ALLIAVSVTLISIM
£65£Z ON NO1Ng3z
8ZY8e

05956 VO SIWOOT
L6542 DN ‘NOING3z
ST94Z ON ‘HOPR vy

¢80ce
T4 'HOV3AE 3QH3A INOd

HA STIvd I1UINIO SoTEy

1D ONIZvO HY1S veee
NTNMQOL Siidv €101

ANd FHIdS LvS

Q4 HDYNHO W3IH3THL38 198
1d VAILVYK 628

JAVIVO AZOD 8YTT

AYM FOVIdYVD 3 16112

602 31S QY WHYH IHIVATIA 0P TT
10 ALLIMANIM SCETT

13 113XHNH 8048
LpSX080d

4 YILVMNIT9 €2t

10 LSHA NVOYOW 0T8T

OS 3A00 SNVAITINS 6£0€T
JAV 33H41HOV3d 9658

Ya SITUVSHIN BOE

064X04 0d

Td1 O93INVd vZST

TdL INOLSdVOS 5186

AV NONNVO M T0ST
ONYIVS I VIA 961
NT30N34 INOIS LvEZ

1D WINOTI0D 91T

AMH Y92 SN Q10 8ETT

¥0S# S QATE Mdvd AT E0TL
10 SAOOM DlisSnY ssCe
9911 X08 Od

[ANA=I

QY 3SN3IN IHL 40 ST1v4 0022
2 IS

F10HIO IDVTIA SSYHOMVS D00ET

HYHAITVHNW ‘WYHANYD

IHHLYAVO ‘NYAISNNYHL NYAISNNYHL IV TidVIVHYQYN

IAVYH ‘VT131 VN3 TTIVdY1IvY

VYLYINNY “T1LVd HSIOVIN ‘NVHLYNYHONYJ

0T7193400S

OT1aNY

AVHLIVTANY N(VY YAVHYA NIVH VAYTWYNYHA 40 331S04L
331SNYL NIYH YAVIWYNYHQ ‘NIvY YOVHVA

YWIHIVYd ‘WYNOE VHAN3IOUN ‘DINVT

JTIHLYd X001SAvH 2eL

VHSY ‘WYSYIIAYNHSIENITYS

WINVAIYD VINNWILLOD M HLINNYY ‘VTINMNY IV

INAVd VIIONV “INVd IONIUMVYT STWYT “INVd

YdNHIN ‘WYNVAVOINS HSIWVY ‘NYIvIYONIY

YNIJAYHd T1ONVY

YANVAHd VIANNONINE VA IIHS ‘VAVONYIW

IONVY VINVY ‘NLLYO QVSvdd VHIWISHYN ‘NLLYD

071 S31LH340Ud ANWV4 131vd

SA1314 YNYIQ “TIVHOSVYd

IH1334d ‘ATIVAVIVEWY YAYHOVY 'YOVIWY YN

OTTON SIWNOH ZdiW

AVY YIJINNIT "OD0H NVIHE ADVdL "“990H

331SNYL VTN INVAY 'A0G3d 331SNHL V1TNd YYHAIYS ‘AQQ3H
VAHSIVT ‘11808 VAIHAYY ‘NYHLYNVYMSIA

4 VIHMIN ‘VIGNYIVINNAD AGGIH HINVMSYS ‘VIANYIVINND
QOOH HUAN( ‘NITAIW

LSNYL ITEOATHY W3 TITHM [ HONVITI IILSAYL HI SOTHVD SAWVYS ‘HI1ITHM
331SNUL AINIH dITTIHd ‘ZNIFHNIFTA 331SNYL ALEINNY NITTHIVN ZNIFHNIT
QTN ‘NOSNOIYANIH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIMANIH

I ITUAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONYLSNOD H B H

OTINO1IONIYYYE 240

122



09622 ON TIASIYHOW
20542 ON X3dV
6TSLZ ON AYVD
£2S4¢ ON X3dv

£L6SLZ ONNOING3IZ
61942 ON AHVD

96522 ON FTUASONNOA
9654¢ ON ITHNASONNOA
96G4¢ IN ITNASONNOCA
€164¢ ON AdVD

09542 ON ITNASIHHOW
SOT0Z VA QY

S¥SLC ON IIVALHOINA
0¥SLE ON SAONIYAS ATIOH
6TSLZ ON AUVD

6152 ON AYVD
8710971 QUvaiNO7
€884Z2 ON 3dOH ONIddS
8FT0Z VA NHNGHSY
82054 X1 H3dS0Yd
SSE6T Vd NBIATYIW
6TG4Z ON AdvD

E€TLLZ DN WYHYNA
6TSLE ON AYVYD

61542 ON AYVD

€5880

£¢Z62 OSVIGWN10D
{6542 ONNOING3Z
L6542 DN NOTNG3IZ
09542 ON ITASIBHOW
£046C 2S ANV NYIAGNI
12156 VO 3501 NVS
09Sv6 VO NdVMIN

10 A11S3ldd ¢TT

YA ANVYISI QvIHAVE TE€8T
13 MOTTIM AVE 8TE
N113n0N08 AvE 898

88 X049 Od

(0d NOILVLS 3HI4 H3ENIJHYO T2EL
Q4 HOYNHO WAHATH138 198
Q4 HOYNHO W3IHITH139 198
4 HOYNHO W3HATH13d 198
141 di14 80IT

a4 1IN YOINIdS 608

1d 1ISNNS d34 660€2
NT3TUAI2AITLNY POYS

YA ANVIZvdL T0C

LD MOTTIM AVE 8TE

JAVIVO AZOD LEET

1O NHOOV 9151

LISHONvY4 3512

d31 WYV4 ONYTAONG E6VET
N1 AYNEGHSY 009

Q4 INIOd AHYVYNO L22

AVM IACHO NOLdWYHO 8¥0C
4O S1IHOIBH AL4071 87T

H4Q 3A0HO NOLSONI 8007
TdLAO0H HAdSIHM LT0T

QY MIN 8S¢

103AvOo3qlm e

1S FHOWVIAS M TOS
0reX04d Od

(4 LNIOd 30VY9 6002
4AVS3W SINNH £189

AVM 30V1d ATIYM T89€
AVM AT 3TINL S029

1HXvd ‘HONIS NIJAVYHd ‘AVAVA

HSIYVH ‘1003d IA3QIYS ‘ISYvYd

IHAHAYIW VINANYN LIHOY ‘NON3W

IHNHAYIW ‘ATIVAYTIIONYL HYIWN VS ‘THNANY
J102IN ANV4HIL ‘NMOYE TvIN.O 3NIGTVHIO ‘NMOHS
VYNINOTIHd ‘SMIHLVIA Hd3SOf 'SMIHLLYIW
J11£34008

JT1¥ 34008

011934008

X NVYINYS ‘YAVAYAVYO VHSWYHANS ‘Y13AITYd
YAN3YE ‘HONIS TNHSNY ‘HONIS

VANVAVTIWHSIVT 'VHHYN

YOSTHONYHS ‘SONVINIWHY TINWYS ‘ZIANT TN
YNVANVAS ‘IYM1Vd 4 IVdIHS IVAVTVd

IHNHAYW ‘YINANYN LIHOY ‘NON3W

JALSNYL YWYDNNY ‘HONIS ITLSNYL LIWY “HYWNH
OVH YNNHYHAITIVIA I4NTIVA IHLNYA ‘Iandvan3g
1SNYL ONIAIT NVYSSNVE INDINOW IHL ILSNHL ANDINOW ‘NYSSNVE
YNHSIHNHOD NIVAYIVHINIHO

YAWMOS ‘VONVA S HIHLEV ‘INVHAYIVANIHO
WAINNOW ‘AQAIHIONYD YMHSIA ‘HOOANNY
IHLVMS ‘AT13AVHIIE VIWVH HSIANY ‘WYAVHYS
IA3A IAHSHYT ‘WIVA NAYE YHAYNITYS ‘VIVA
1SNYL ONIAIT HMIVHS NYHYI 8008HIIW ANV QIWHY HISYL 33LSNYL YHZY ‘HAIVHS
D71 83114340Hd 103138

INVHIGA3Y ‘ITIVANIYYE HYIVYIIW ‘VINNDILI

OT1 SLNIWLSIANI ZWOOZ

HOSANIM NYHIYNOT ‘SWYQV Nid3 NITLIVO ‘NMOYg
ANOWAVYY ANOHLNY ‘NAMOUE

VYNdVMS 'YONOXYHIAIQ

YAWMOS ‘AQQI-IHLNW NI3AVY 'VLON

VHHUAVd 1INVONVHOW

TYNOS “IYMHYOd TYAYHA ‘HY3dvd

123



‘k PAIST D-SICN (ROU, PA

107 Fayetteville St #200
Raleigh, NC 27601
Office: 919.848.4399

Engineering | Consulting Fax:  919.848.4395

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

To: Town of Zebulon Date: 12/02/2024
Planning Department
1003 N. Arendell Avenue
Zebulon, NC 27597
(Digital Submittal)
Re: Old Bunn Road Subdivision Job No.: 673-23
Voluntary Annexation (1% submittal)
DIGITAL (D)
| am digitally submitting the following item(s):
COPIES DATE NO. DESCRIPTION
1 (D) 12/2/24 1 Completed Annexation Application w/ Agent Authorization Form
1 (D} 12/2/24 2 Legal Description
1(D) 12/2/24 3 Property Survey
1 (D) 12/2/24 4 Certified List of Property Owners

These are transmitted as checked below:

(0 As Requested

B4 For Approval

[0 For Your Use

[J For Signatures

X  For Review and Comment X For submittal
Remarks:
Copy to: File Signed: \— N l \

P. Dan Pabst, PE

124



Real Estate ID 0014305

p
WAKE

COUNTY

Location Address
1915 OLD BUNN RD

Wake County Real Estate Data

Account Summary

PIN # 2715290916

Praperty Description

PROP SURV GARY & JOANIE KILKELLY BM1992-72

PinlParcel History, New Search

Home iMaps
COMPER Tax Bills
Account
Search

NORTH CARDIINA wit | Buuwonse, | Lasig Doy ars tpiee hites Photos Toa But fuap
|Property Owner E Owner's Mailing Address IProperty Location Address
{HENDRICKSON, C THOMAS & JILL D iiPO BOX 1166 {1915 OLD BUNN RD
{Use the Deeds link to view any additional owners) J ZEBULON NC 27597-1166 ’ ZEBULON NC 27597-9598
|
/|[Administrative Data Transfer information /|Assessed Value
|Old Map # 423.00000-0004 ;
Map/Scale 271501 ||Deed Date B/5/2002 !|Land Value Assessed $1,861,938
VCS 03WC900 |Book & Page 09528 1148 ||Bldg. Value Assessed 3514.269I
City Revenue Stamps
Fire District 23 ||Pkg Sale Date |
| Township LITTLE RIVER |Pkg Sale Price Tax Relisf |
{Land Class AGR-FARM |[Land Sale Date |
ETJ WC ||Land Sale Price Land Use Value $57,980
Spec Dist(s) Use Value Deferment $695,489
llzoning R-30 |improvement Summary Historic Deferment $1,188,104
{|History ID 1 Total Deferred Value $2,083,593
History 1D 2 Total Units 1
Acreage 54.93 |Recycle Units 1
Permft Date 3/15/2018  ||apysC sqft Use/Hist/Tax Relief Assessed $202,614
{Permit # o 0000183044 |Heated Area o 4,929 | To_ta_l Value Assessed” 32.376,2(_17I

*Wake County assessed building and land values reflect the market value as of January 1, 2024, which is the date of the last county-wide revaluation. Any inflation, deflation
or other economic changes occurring after this date does not affect the assessed value of the property and cannot be lawfully considered when reviewing the value for

adjustment.

The January 1, 2024 values will remain in effect until the next county-wide revaluation. Until that time, any rea! estate accounts created or new construction built is assessed

according 1o the 2024 Schedule of Values.

For questions regarding the information displayed on this site, please contact the Department of Tax Administration at Taxhelp@wake.gov or call 919-856-5400.

125



.co:&gssut\o.om.:mt.EEnEaﬁueS;&nbn.;EQEe. 1?01 g..
pandun jo pessaidxs ‘seyuesem oy sAenns JON we pue NP
‘sasodind uonrucyw 108 peonpoud aie sdeus 8y) JANEMOK

"SIQISS0U UOHRULIGILI B)RINIIE PUB JUBLIND JSOLI i
ysiand pue 80paid 0 Loye Aiene sexew Sdep!
JouyRiasia

198} Q0% Sienba you |

00

10 :3SM ANV 3dAL

16612 :diZ

008EES :anjea Buipiing Joyi0

b SHun (ejoL

Z 'seinpngs (ejaL

L :suun

#000-00000-€2¢ :JOQUINN [8018d PIO
Q¥ NNNE 10 :ewen 1eass

Q¥ NNN8 Q10 G161 :Sse1ppy a | :

L4~ Z66LNE ATIIXI SINVOS TR & _ 1

? AHVO AMNS dO¥d :uondussaq Auedosg IS i 3 oy L 1
lenpiaipu} :sseio Buying A S R % _ ‘

10 G122 :awen depy

aimnouby ssejn pueq

Z00Z/s/8 ‘81eq paag

8v110 :abed psaq

825600 Moog pesg

9914-26642 ON NOING3Z -z ssaippy Bujiepn
9911 XO8 Od ‘I ssa1ppy Buiepy
a 77 ‘'NOSMIIIANIH
SVYWOHL O ‘NOSHIIMANIH J8umQ
Janry api) (diysumo|

OM :uoRaipsuny Buiuue)y
|BUCSHUBAUCD nw_b.w :m_wﬂD
WVJIONIS @8 pue adf)

626V ‘ealy pajesy

££81 ing Jeap

£6'pg S219y peag

L0Z9LEZS :passessy anjep |BjoL
692¥15$ :anjen Buiping
8€61981$ @njeA puen

000 :uoisuaix3 Nid

9160825142 Nid

S0EPL00 :AI3H




LIS E ¥ -

26-80-10 P az Han 0TS KM YIS HOAIANNE A L] p—— IS ANYION
. - [ b
13190 | 104 i¥H Q1314 {AB QANDIHD 1LwLS — = Topel LT O 5“_...8:.
=6 W4 1988 (0310 MUD PuDy i
i) 22 002 « 4 L avva .ﬁ_s...w.E: Swnsaul BUIDBAID, S 40 uOimpEEe
1HSIa vivd ERLEH] ‘A6 _NMVED 1 ALNNOD INMOL 2 A113 ‘dIHENMOL Wi PeBpuacHRds Bus USH N W RN DRISIISE  AjDusiise
— PUO]  POISIBION B SvixMON PIAOD M 1ewl dgrased ‘movsscss 10N NE 4N
w00 10 4= k4 o ¥ YOI BUB AIVASD 84 IO SIqRg AIDKN 8 SRV T NNAT ' AN HEN)
L 'ON__139Hvd SdYN XL :a3NOZ Gurey " eeomd wioN suswauon w03 mND

8088-692 (6:8) ANOMI

TN 'NOINE3Z 'QVoY 3XYT SIMNG Bics
YOAIAUNS ANV JIYTLS1D36

SNIDIMVYH TQIAYG M

XT135713 "X 3INVOT

SJIM B ATIINTIN "1 AYYD

P03 AZAHS AL4308I

TTTERERY TSR G are1 s
"TT28 SL YT Tmmmp 40 590 TETAWa j0es pup pumy A ssevng
‘PRPUSLD 30 OF-I3CH WA WUDPIOID Ui paiodasd soa
dow wvE NG ! QORI ) 8 TRINLSISR pep 48RANIOI AG Paresnaed 4
484409 B4 JO GIAEDID D JOLIS Mgf ByE dBains Pidy [0 ve WOY} wADIp
PR 02w M HOUAAMAT PUR UGKIRIP AW JSEUn JOY) Ap13 ‘TusDH PiADd M I

PG Yot AAND

{0ULNDD) 1oN "% d WINE3 Y
(TOULNGD ) MdwRuay w0 Bu
{108LN0D} M43 uri) B

aNa931

ORI PWOE

it DeORHID

127

14334 NI 3Teds

SHIM

“10A .N@G* AHO08 - ALNNOD 0308003y

39vd
U [OAIO3 BRI O .NP
& BRIZ 400G P00 [0 (0

3IN3Y3IH

o] po spsdy dineg
. g S i
cq"dxﬂg. ..“- T
(-Lmd.no.v.-s..nv: A lden 1ping
O L) ¥ PRI e my 204 pstiand
A WemAs Mg FRUA B G Palss (] (s) () sjen

T SURIONOH ) U T
T ” o5y Ruoluey syt

ALMROD INYA - ¥RITQEYD HLUON

0ANanG Pe0Y PhBITHeY »og
RO T W TS L

VOMAPIRS |0 UDRILD

o} ua(dRdEe a0 1o 'ERAE PRINpI0.|MaD

2 lo93md Bojji1b |0 LOKDINGUOID. DY 18 4SS
1K0Buby Jegoun (0 W LSt dp) My Kpieed Lgam |

“awoygngadey weylyag Iauney ayen wedd
Jéweny 2UUTPIUTed 10y paacaddw 318 ejul
971021132320 dwaed eyen

Ly
‘v SSDHD 698°SS

TSAN) dVA ALINIDIA

g
L =
K &
oY e
v o _




Wake County Real Estate Data Home  iMaps
—’_« Account Summary COMPER TaxBills
' ) Real Estate ID 0193916 PIN # 2716215371 Account
Search

WA_KE Location Address Property Description

COU NTY 1917 OLD BUNN RD A E KEMP FARM

PPaceltistory NewSearch WD

{|Property Owner Owner's Mailing Address Property Location Address ]
|HENDRICKSON, C THOMAS & JILL D PO BOX 1166 1917 OLD BUNN RD

{Use the Deeds link lo view any additional owners) |ZEBULON NC 27597-1166 ZEBULON NC 27597-9598

J

Administrative Data {[Transfer information i|Assessed Value

Old Map # 423-- |

Map/Scale 2716 03 i|Deed Date 8/5/2002 :|Land Value Assessed $2,247,200;
{VCS 03WC900 ;Book & Page 08528 1148  ||Bldg. Value Assessed $147,271
City Revenue Stamps

Fire District 23 ||Pkg Sale Date

Township LITTLE R\VER |[|Pkg Sale Price

Land Class AGR-FARM [Land Sale Date !

|ETY WC |[Land Sale Price Land Use Value $65,290;
‘|Spec Dist(s) | Use Value Deferment $1,080,810
Zoning R-30 improvement Summary [Historic Deferment $1,197,236
History ID 1 |Total Deferred Value $2,278,046
[History 1D 2 | Totat Uniits 1
I/Acreage 107.39 |Recycle Units 1
iiPermit Date ApUSC Sqft Use/Hist/Tax Relief Assessed 5116,425;
|Permit # Heated Area 1,237 [[Total Value Assessad® $2,394,471

*Wake County assessed building and land values refiect the market value as of January 1, 2024, which is the date of the last county-wide revaluation. Any inflation, deflation
or other economic changes occurring after this date does not affect the assessed value of the property and cannot be lawfully considered when reviewing the value for

adjustment.

The January 1, 2024 values will remain in effect until the next county-wide revaluation. Until that time, any real estate accounts created or new construction built is assessed

according to the 2024 Schedule of Values.

For questions regarding the information displayed on this site, please contact the Department of Tax Administration at Taxhelp@wake.goy or call 919-856-5400.

128



uonBIudISI S 10'aSN SY ‘UjaUaL) BIED 8L} 40} Papiaosd euB’
PRKAUN JO PRSSAIUXI ‘SRHUBLIBM ON SAMINE JON @B pue
*sesodind uoyewa 10) peanpasd aie S0BW Ul JBAMOH
"BHSSOT UOYBULIOJL) S]RINIDE PUR JURUINI JSOU oY)

ysignd pue aanpoud o) Jioye L1eaad sexew Sdepy)
40181051

193} 008 sienba youi |

1 009°} 008 00t

60 ‘dIHSNMOL

D TTALSNDISIA

10 138N ONV 3dAL

1661Z dIZ

1 :S)un je0L

| :SainpPNAs |eloy,

1 sUuN

—£Z '1oquny [eased pio

Gd NNNE Q10 SWeN 19948
QY NNN Q10 2161 :8S2IpPY
W vd dW3M 3 v -uondioseq Auadoid
|enpinpu) ssejd Bujng

€0 9122 awen deyy

ain)nouby :ssejo) puen

Z00Z/5/8 'ejeq pesq

8t110 :ebed pesg

825600 Hioog pesg

9914-£6G22 ON NONE3Z T sse.ppy Bulepw
9911 XOg Od ' ssesppy Buiepy
a THI 'NOSHDINANIH
SYWOHL D ‘NOSHIIMANIH 18ump
1oAY oY dysumo).

DM :uopdipsunp Suuejd
jeuouaAuo) ailis ubisag

WY TONIS :esn) pue adA)

1£2)| ‘ealy pejeay

0861 ing JEBA

6£°£0}) s8I0y paaQ

L LPPBETS 1POSSASSY ONjEA jBj0L
LLZLp1$ saniep Bupung
00Z.L12Z$ ‘enjea pue

000 “uojsualx3 Nid

LIEGLZOLLZ ‘Nid

9162610 :Q13Y




speosed [ ]

uun
PY g PIO D . O L L | ¥NITONVD HALNON

f—

i

UoleX3UUY peoy
uung piO L161 B ST161

dep |eudy




feisnpul AresH ‘T4 [

feppwwod AsesH ‘OH [ veqingns spoted [}
Sp1asia [enuepIssy ‘T T g—

SN |ePads - €1
[ERUSPISSY ‘aNS £T-Y SIS OC_CON py uung pio [ T 1T 1T 1 1 1T 711 ¥YNITOUYD HLNON
SOlIN €0 S0 100 ZO\HDMMN

.

1
[52]
—

/

-

UOTIEX3UUy peoy

de|y buiuoz wung pio £161 8 ST61




sjaoied [ )
e D S}ISONS ==
sywir ajesodio) [ uopexauuy py uung p|o
_ T T T _ T T T _ YNITOHMYD HLIHMON

pusbs wmee w0 e o NOTNGAZ

o
g
=
=3

70
D Q
=

uoljexauuy peoy

sywi xelodio)d uung pio £L61 B 161




ZEBULON

NORTH CAROLINA

CASE # ORDINANCE 2026-06: 1915 & 1917 Old Bunn Road Annexation

HEARING DATE: September 8, 2025

State of North Carolina

County of \Jckc
BEFORE ME, the undersigned Notary, ﬁ mc'kamf-\i Womne on
day of n-ugu&\' 202, personally appeared Matthew Lower,

this 2 ﬁ*
known to me to be a credible person and of lawful age, who being by me first duly sworn, on his oath,

deposes and says:
| Matthew Lower, Planning Director for the Town of Zebulon, affirm that the following Public Notice

Procedures have been completed in accordance with applicable North Carolina General Statute and
Town of Zebulon Unified Development Ordinance Section 2.3.6 have been satisfied for the above

referenced hearing.
Advertisement in a Paper of General Circulation sent on August 25, 2025 (Wake weekly,

publication dates 8/29/2025 & 9/5/2025)
Posted to Planning Department Website 8/26/2025

Signs Posted on Site 8/25/2025
Mailed Notices sent out 8/26/2025

8/2)/> 5%

7, ,'}?Q /jp/ - s - '_;dZ

Matthew Lower Date
Sul sﬁbﬂdﬁhﬁwpm to before me, this 29& day of ﬂ-u\ms‘\- 202S .

S i, Y0 s, 3 —
S Noify A P, %
& Jﬁa;sa‘l'y Seal’}~ 2%
FWiy LM
i WOTAR, &ipi
£ S
14 e g

kRS

‘,,’q" CO u N‘f*‘“'““'?
. JIr ._l‘
. 9. Wk.qr\u! Wornes
[printed name of Notary]

[signature of Notary]

NOTARY PUBLIC

My commission expires: ﬂl&}{ 23 ,20-9![.

133



Notice of Public Hearing

Notice is hereby given pursuant to the provisions of Article 2.3.6 of the Town of Zebulon
Unified Development Ordinance that a public hearing will be held on September 8%, 2025,
at 6:00 PM at the Zebulon Municipal Complex, 1003 N. Arendell Avenue, and will be
conducted by the Board of Commissioners for the purpose of considering the following
items:

IDT Project Number 1556568— Annexation 2025-04 — Old Bunn Road
Annexation

PIN #2716215371 & 2715290916. A request by Eastwood Homes, for the
annexation of two lots on Old Bunn Rd into the Town of Zebulon’s Corporate
Limits.

Public comments may be submitted to publiccomments(@townofzebulon.org no later than
12:00 Noon on the day of the hearing to be read into the record. Links will be provided
along with the full application packet and documentation on the Planning Department
web page at https://www.townofzebulon.org/departments/planning/public-hearing-
information. For questions or additional information, please contact us at (919) 823-1811.

134



Notificacion de Audiencia Publica

Por la presente se notifica, de conformidad con las disposiciones del Articulo 2.3.6 de la
Ordenanza de Desarrollo Unificado del Pueblo de Zebuldn, que se celebrard una
audiencia publica el 8 de septiembre de 2025 a las 6:00 PM en el Complejo Municipal
de Zebulon, 1003 N. Arendell Avenue, y serd llevada a cabo por la Junta de
Comisionados con el proposito de considerar los siguientes puntos:

Numero de Proyecto IDT 1556568 — Anexion 2025-04 — Anexion de Old Bunn Road
PIN #2716215371 y 2715290916. Una solicitud de Eastwood Homes, para la anexion de
dos lotes en Old Bunn Rd a los limites corporativos de la ciudad de Zebulon.

Los comentarios del publico pueden presentarse en publiccomments(@townofzebulon.org
no mas tarde de las 12:00 del mediodia del dia de la audiencia para ser leido en el
expediente. Los enlaces se proporcionaran junto con el paquete de solicitud completa y la
documentacion en la pagina web del Planning Department en
https://www.townofzebulon.org/departments/planning/public-hearing-information. Para
preguntas o informacion adicional, pongase en contacto con nosotros en (919) 823-1811.

135



"TTBL-EZ8 (616) 18 SN PIAIUOO 3593{0 ‘UOBULIOJ) |RUOTIFRS 10 Ssuopisanb 1o VOIRUICH]
TRAOZJOUMOT MM ST 18 38w Gav JuaLILRdAQ BUjUURL 3Y) LD UCIIEIUBWINIOP PUE JR{ed UoROlddR 1173 3U) Yym Buoje
Ecsea 3Q LA SHUE] PIOGR I3 03U} PR3 2 0F BULIESY 3] 10 AZD 34) UO LOON OO | UR 499) ou BRGTDTNGSZJoUMOIBEIHALTICISTIANG 0) PRIHWGNS 30 ARW SUSWILD JIGNd

) 93000307 SUOINGIZ JO UMO] U3 01U} PY LUNG PO UO 510 OM} JO UOBXAE SU3 J0) ‘SAUUCH POOMISeI AG I59ND3. V DTIE06ZSTLE § ELESTZOTLTANID

UOJIEXBULTY pROY NG PSO - FO-SZ0C v -G9SSST Soquin 1oefoud 101

“swa)| Sujmoioy
‘NE£00E = U1 1T N 00°9 12 'SZOZ
10 UMOL U3 IO 'S PPNV 1O SUOISA0I A3 03 JRNGNd UIAB AGRIRY 1 300N

) SupSPISUCD 40 350dund 343 10} SIAUGISSILLIOT JO PIROF 244} AQ PIIINPUCD 34 1M pus
318 J8quINdIS U0 PIIY 3G I Supeay 3| ind @ eyl JUTHPIO Ju G PN

Buples J1qhd 40 9AION

NOLLYWYHOHNI ONIYV3H OIand

Fupuwlg / Nt / SWoH

1)
L ]

23130 Buuuey

AT 5]

L8 A U Swua04

PTHGDI0jUY OPUD

ONINNY1d

136



i
. »
5202 ' +quiaydas sz 1snbny
Apyaa agopm 2yt
“11B1-€28 (616)
1€ SN 1DeWIod dseajd 'uo: § Ippe Jo suonsanb 104 TTFTDGHAE
k1 - S 7OUR Fpatl 1LY ORI T AR T

18 afied qam Juawyedaq
Burueld a3 uo ual pue ymped uol g B
i Buoge papaud aq [ STU PIOS 3y} Olus pER) 39 03 Buneay 3y 30
Aep 34} U UCON QO°ZI U 12| oU B0 i
0} PRGNS 3q AR SIRLLUOY Mang

s Mesodiod
§ UoiNGaZ 10 UMOL 3} O1U Py Lung PO U0 5101 OM) 0 LONEXSULE
B} 104 'SMULOK POCIAISES AQ 15nDBI ¥ YLE06ZS1LZ 7B LLESIZHLTH Nid
uonRIXIUUY
pooy Lung PI0 PO+ $Z02 LORBKALLY PISISSL SOquUInN Pafald 1G]

sway Buimoyoy s Buuapsuod Jo asodind 3yl JO) SIBUCIERWLWO) JO
PIROG B4 4q PEIINPUOD B4 (14 PUR 'INUBAY HOPUBIY N £001 Yaidwe)
(ediB{unjy UoINGsZ A} I¥ Yid 009 1 ‘SZ0Z WIS sequaidss uo Piay 83
It Bunieay and € 1 33usUIpIQ WatidoRaK] PAYILN UOIGIZ JO LMD

P JO G'ET Y J0 suoisacud 31 o} Juensind usaib Agassy s eonoN

Gupseo 34and 40 BION
oy e300y

uljOI) YLON A0 axEM
voneo

$202 '62 ¥5nBimy uo (AUNOD 3xEM) - AH3EM SXEM UL U1 PRYSHANG
Buueapy jo 300N

»

sz VNFIOHYD HLECN AINNOD Tx9M @)

€ SIUOKSILIIOD JO PIEOG SU A PIRNPUOD 3G it PUB I
o §3pUBIY "N £001 @duio rAUNW UOINGIZ 31 12 Wd 009
32 '5Z0Z *L} 1nbmy uo Py 3q 1w Buueay apqnd ¥ 1wy soueu
1PI0 WBLIKIORARQ PaLINT LONGEZ 4O UMO) B} JO FET SPIY
10 sudisiacud BYI O) WARsNG udAS Ageioy B 300N SuutaH™
Brnsdtt 10 401N

] (ALNNOD TAVM) - ATIZIM DIVA 3HL

we-aeszer VYNIICHYD HISON AINNCS v (@)

57022

2 '51 ‘g "L by ApRas 3T SUL L6547 ON UOHGEZ 30 19Q

J3H L0LL OIMDR " NOHH MINT *5202 Tnbny o Aep st ay

3 3wy wawdkedn3 NHO! 3O 31V1S53 SHOLGIND O1 IJIION
slhory § fveqaig) synsy

@ I INOCY DiVA) - ADIFIN YA FHL

se-so-sesz YNNOYYD HESON WINACD 3viA @)

YHON VoINqaZ “uE Wi

UBDICH) 175 3T PREI0) Aadiud [res 2u) 20} suswssatse Ked 0

WRUBA0> 3YL O3 Y3JNS IDULSON 40 LINOD TVHIND IHL NI
WS OPMIOY

@ (ALNICD FAVAY - ATIT2A DIVM 3HL

si-s0-sz02 G YNIICHYI HIION AINADZ v @)

52022

T°51 g ‘L 1BV Apeopy e BUL L6522 IN UGINGIZ I 18q

I0H 1011 JOWDE * 03 MIYIEYY '5702 SndnY Jo Aep 15t By

1 511 JwswAed-—n3 NHOY 30 31153 SYOLORID OL IDILON
oy (219002) wm )

5] CALNROD 3XVAMD - KTA3IM VM 381

zz-ars20e (D ¥NICEYS HION ALNTOZ v @)

S20Z 5 AqWIIBS ‘52 22 ‘5118

nBnY ApRas, A L L6522 DN HOMGIZ prcy BNY 951 VIO

IHWIPY GSHE UIMO L55LZ IN WBPUIM PROY U

WASUS §CTL VIO YONIT 3O 31VASI SHOLIGIYD QL 30N
Asoupmr) of sy

3] (AINMOD AWM - ATXIIM IV 3HL

ez-gorsece (3 YNIOUYS HIEON ALNNOZ Divia (O
OHSIMILID] JO PUECG M AG PATINPUGS B JiM PUE DNUBAY YOP
udry ‘N 001 xydwie] ediungy LOMIZ YL 1 N8 00°9 12 S
202 ‘W AGUHIIS UO PR 3G [am Suusesy Sugnd € 181} J0UEU
P20 WACORAIQ PAYILY LOINGIZ JO LUMEL 34 0 9'ET Y
jo sucrsiord @ wensand vanb Ageuay 5y 300y Gurseap—
Buisey o sumay
i (ALNNOZ IXVM) - ATIIM 30 JHL

TR ORR o 1o

¥ AUCLIWIOD Yim sy 304 BIN0U 15t IN0A LGNS PUR YR OF PIINTS 18D, X1LD *Aused pue Apn paysiand anou amgnd 1ok 139 i

sLsY WD tasay
3dKy aditou IS
adfy 2poN Q
5202/62/80 §202/62/20
aeg B
uojngaz
Q@ prevs O
uwnind fa DasMOg

SEEETTEET

O~ INPUWBLIGLNXLIHHY

137



A Pubtic Hearing has been o
scheduled for this property. For
more lnlorrnshon, please contac
ihe Town ot Zehu(on P

Old Bunn Road

! Annaxa:ion Pdnion
oy "1915 & 19170[11




Return to: Town of Zebulon
Town Clerk
1003 N. Arendell Avenue
Zebulon, NC 27597
Attention: Town Clerk

Ordinance 2026-06

AN ORDINANCE TO EXTEND THE CORPORATE LIMIT OF THE
TOWN OF ZEBULON. NORTH CAROLINA

1915 Old Bunn Road — Pin # 2715290916
1917 Old Bunn Road — Pin # 2716215371

WHEREAS, the Town of Zebulon has been petitioned under G.S. 160A-31 to annex the area as
described below; and

WHEREAS, the Town of Zebulon has by resolution directed the Town Clerk to investigate the
sufficiency of the petition; and

WHEREAS, the Town Clerk has certified the sufficiency of the petition and a public hearing on
the question of this annexation was held at 1003 N. Arendell Avenue at 6:00 PM September 8,
2025 after due notice by publication in the Wake Weekly on August 29, 2025, and September 5,
2025;

WHEREAS, the Town of Zebulon finds that the petition meets the requirements of G.S. 160A-
31;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, the Board of Commissioners of the Town of
Zebulon, North Carolina that:

Section 1. By virtue of the authority granted by G.S. 160A-31, the attached following
described territory (see attachment) to include the adjoining public right of way (see also

139



attached map) is hereby annexed and made part of the Town of Zebulon as of September
8, 2025;

Section 2. Upon and after September 8, 2025, the described territory (see attachment)
and its citizens and property shall be subject to all laws, ordinances and regulations in force
in the Town of Zebulon and shall be entitled to the same privileges and benefits as other
parts of the Town of Zebulon. Said territory shall be subject to municipal taxes according
to G.S. 160A-31

Section 3. The Mayor or Mayor Pro Tem of the Town of Zebulon shall cause to be
recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds of Wake County, and in the office of the
Secretary of State at Raleigh, North Carolina, an accurate map of the annexed territory
described in Section 1 above, together with a duly certified copy of this ordinance. Such
a map shall also be delivered to the County Board of Elections, as required by G.S. 163-
288.1

Adopted this the 8" day of September 2025.

Glenn L. York —Mayor
(SEAL)

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Dora K. Moore — Interim Town Clerk Eric A. Vernon —Town Attorney

140



STAFF REPORT
ZEBULON ORDINANCE 2026-07

1915 & 1917 OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION
AUGUST 4, 2025

Topic: 1915 & 1917 Old Bunn Road Planned Development - Ordinance 2026-07
Speaker: Matt Lower, Planning Director

Prepared by: Matt Lower, Planning Director

Approved by: Taiwo Jaiyeoba, Interim Town Manager

Executive Summary:

The Board of Commissioners will consider a Planned Development request for 1915 and 1917 Old
Bunn Rd. The proposed development includes 610 residential lots, neighborhood amenities, the
preservation of historic sites, the expansion of the greenway system, and significant road
improvements/impact fees.

Discussion:

Eastwood Homes of Raleigh LLC is proposing rezoning to a Planned Development (PD) for two
parcels, totaling 159.72 acres, from the Wake County R-30 Zoning District. The applicant is looking
to develop 347 single family detached lots and 263 single family attached lots totaling 610
residential units. An amenity site, pool, pickle ball court, dog parks, playgrounds, pocket park,
walking fitness trails, and other amenities are being proposed as part of the development.

The creation of a Planned Development district requires the applicant to provide dimensional
standards, development standards, list of permitted uses, and additional district characteristics
in a Planned Development narrative. This narrative has been provided as an attachment to this
staff report, the narrative must be considered and approved in order to establish the proposed
Planned Development district.

Policy Analysis:

Future Land Use Map

The future land use map supports this development. The future land use map designates the
parcels as Suburban Residential, which requires the Town to plan for the following use types
(Comprehensive Plan, Land Use Development Page 13):

1. Detached residential Dwellings

2. Planned developments that integrate other housing types (e.g., attached residential such
as patio homes or townhomes), with increased open space to preserve an overall
suburban character.

3. Golf course subdivisions

This Planned Development aligns closely with use type number 2.

Comprehensive Land Use Plan (CLUP):
The rezoning is supported by the following CLUP goals:

1. Land Use and Development:
o Goal 1: A land use allocation and pattern that advances Zebulon’s objectives of
achieving greater housing variety, supporting its economic development and tax

141



STAFF REPORT

ZEBULON ORDINANCE 2026-07

NORTH CAROLINA 1915 & 1917 OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION
AUGUST 4, 2025

base needs, and creating a complete community with convenient resident access
to schools, recreation, shopping and services (Land Use and Development, P. 2)

o Goal 3: Ongoing and effective collaboration between land use and transportation
planning to ensure a well-connected community with adequate means and
capacity to accommodate multiple forms of circulation between local destinations
(Land Use and Development, P. 2).

2. Goals for Housing and Neighborhoods:

o Goal 1: A quantity and diversity of housing options that makes living in Zebulon
attainable for a wide range of age groups and income levels (Housing and
Neighborhoods p. 2).

o Goal 4: Preserved and enhanced integrity and value of existing neighborhoods,
and quality design of newer residential areas to ensure their livability and long-
term sustainability (Housing and Neighborhoods p. 2)

3. Goals For Recreation and Amenities:

o Goal 1: A “lifestyle” community, with a range of amenities and activities for all
ages and interests, to keep residents enjoying their hometown along with visitors
(Recreation and Amenities, pg 4).

o Goal 6: A more attractive community based on quality design and character of
both private development and the public realm (Recreation and Amenities, pg 4).

Comprehensive Transportation Plan

The Comprehensive Transportation Plan (CTP) identifies Old Bunn Road and NC Highway 97
adjacent to this site as a future 4-lane median-divided roadway. The improvements proposed in
the Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) support the Town’s long-range vision for this corridor. These
improvements include widening Old Bunn Road at the development entrance and at the
intersection with NC 97, as well as installing a traffic signal at the Old Bunn Road/NC 97
intersection.

Because this corridor is not currently eligible for impact fee credits, the developer will be
responsible for both the full cost of the TIA-recommended improvements and the required
impact fees. Additionally, some of the TIA-recommended improvements expand upon the
required improvements of the Barrington Subdivision, so additional coordination will occur
during the construction drawing phase of the Old Bunn Rd PD

Within the site, a modified two-lane divided roadway- consistent with the CTP- will be
constructed.

142



STAFF REPORT

ZEBULON ORDINANCE 2026-07

NORTH CAROLINA 1915 & 1917 OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION
AUGUST 4, 2025

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends approving Ordinance 2026-07, finding that the project is consistent with the
Grow Zebulon Comprehensive Land Use Plan, in which upon approval, the community can expect
the following outcomes:

1. 610 New Residential Lots: at a calculated rate of 2.78 new residents per lot Zebulon
would have an approximate increase of 1,696 residents. Based on the Town of Zebulon
tax rate along with the median home price in Zebulon there will be an estimated tax
generation of $1.14 million a year.

2. Transportation Improvements: Transportation improvements will be made, and impact
fees will be collected. Using the rate in the 2024 Traffic Impact Fee Study Report this
project would generate approximately $1.1 million in improvements or fees.

3. Greenway Network Expansion: The Greenway network will be expanded running along
the northern property boundary.

Planning Board Recommendation:

The Planning Board recommended denial of the Old Bunn Road Subdivision unanimously (6-0),
citing strain on the transportation system and the proximity of new houses to the Old Bunn Road
right-of-way.

Since the Planning Board
Please see the Summary of Changes Made After the JPH attachment for more information on
what changes have been made since the Planning Board made a recommendation.

Attachments:

1. Application

2. Site Plan

3. Planned Development Narrative

4. Summary of Changes Made After the JPH
5. Utility Allocation Worksheet

6. TIA

7. DOT TIA Recommendations

8. Neighborhood Meeting Packet

9. Rezoning Legal Description

[N
o

. Property Survey

. Public Hearing Notice Affidavit
. Prepared Statement 2.2.15.G.3
. Ordinance 2026-07

=
W N R

143



Town of Zebulon

! 1 HH :
= Planning Department
p 1003 N. Arendell Avenue, Zebulon, NC 27597
Z E BU L ON Phone: (919) 823-1810  Fax: (919) 887-2824
Norti CaroviNa www.townofzebulon.org

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION

GENERAL INFORMATION:

A Planned Development in accordance with Section 2.2.15 and 3.5.5 of the UDO is intended to provide flexibility
by establishing site specific regulations including permitted uses, dimensional standards, phasing schedules and
additional details to allow for a development that is better than what would otherwise be permitted under the strict
interpretation of the UDO. All site-specific standards and conditions must be consistent with the objectives of
these regulations, the adopted Comprehensive Land Use Plan, Transportation Plan, and Vision 2030 Strategic
Plan. The review process established in this part provides for the accommodation of such uses by a reclassification
of property into a Planned Development, subject to site-specific standards and conditions.

INSTRUCTIONS:

PRE-APPLICATION MEETING: A pre-application meeting with staff in accordance with Section 2.3.2 of
the UDO to verify the application requirements, processes, and procedures regarding a proposed request. To
schedule a meeting, applicants must e-mail a pdf map, drawing, model, site or sketch plan to the Planning
Department (Planning(@townofzebulon.org) no later than five (5) working days prior to the desired meeting day.

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING: Neighborhood meetings are required in accordance with Section 2.3.4 of
the UDO prior to application submission. The applicant is required to notify property owners and any
neighborhood association that represents citizens within that area within 750 feet of the subject property via first
class mail a minimum of 10 days in advance of the neighborhood meeting. The applicant shall use their own
return address on the envelopes as the meeting is a private meeting between the developer and the neighbors. The
applicant shall submit the “Certified List of Property Owners” and “Neighborhood Meeting Packet” forms
included in this application packet with their initial submittal.

ANNEXATION REQUIREMENTS: If a property or portion thereof subject to this rezoning is outside the
corporate limits and ETJ, an annexation petition is required to be submitted on the same day as this application
in accordance with section 2.2.2 of the UDO.

Page 1010
144



d

APPLICATION FOR
ZEBULON PLANNED DEVELOPMENT

APPLICATION PROCEDURE - The applicant requesting a Planned Development must submit an
application through the Town of Zebulon GeoCivix Web Portal. As noted below some materials must be brought
in person to the Zebulon Planning Department to complete the application process. Access to GeoCivix can be
found on the Town of Zebulon Website or through this link (h{lns://townofzebulon.geocivix.com/secure/)

e Materials to Submit through the Town of Materials to Submit in Person with the Town
Zebulon GeoCivix Web Portal: of Zebulon Planning Department:
o Completed Application Form o Stamped envelopes addressed to Certified
o PDF Plan Set (See site plan checklist List of Property Owners all the
o Comprehensive Planned Development homeowners associations of those
Document properties within 750 feet of the outer
o One (1) Legal Description (metes and boundary subject property or properties.
bounds) of subject property Affixed with the following return address:
o Registered survey of subject property Town of Zebulon
o Certified List of Property Owners within Planning Department
750 feet of subject property 1003 N. Arendell Ave
o Owner’s Consent Form Zebulon, NC 27597
o Neighborhood Meeting Packet o Petition Fee (Please See Fee Schedule)
o Utility Allocation Checklist (Can be paid online but applicants must let

Planning Staff know prior to paying)

PUBLIC HEARING PROCEDURE - Upon submittal of a complete application, the Planning Department
will schedule the application for a joint public hearing before the Planning Board and the Board of
Commissioners. APPLICANTS ARE STRONGLY ENCOURAGED TO CONTACT PLANNING STAFF AS
SOON AS POSSIBLE TO ADDRESS ANY QUESTIONS ABOUT THE PUBLIC HEARING. Notices of the
public hearing will be mailed to all adjacent property owners of the property being considered for a Planned
Development Amendment. At the public hearing, the applicant, proponents, and opponents will be given the
opportunity to offer evidence in favor of or against the proposal. After completion of the public hearing, the
Planning Board will deliberate and forward its recommendation to the Board of Commissioners for final
consideration. Deadline dates and Joint Public Hearing dates can be found on the Town of Zebulon’s website.

Page 2 of 10
145



-

APPLICATION FOR

ZEBULON PLANNED DEVELOPMENT
PART 1. DESCRIPTION OF REQUEST/PROPERTY
Street Address of the Property: Acredpe:
1915 & 1917 Old Bunn Road 159.72 (Survey)
Parce! Identification Number (NC PINI; Tieed Book: Deed Page(s):
2715-29-0916; 2716-21-56371 009528 01148

Existing Zoning of the Property:

Residential-30 District (R-30) (Wake County)

Proposed Zoning of the Property:

Planned Development (PD)

Existing Uge of the Property:
Single-family Detached Dwelling & Equestrian Facilities

Proposed Use of the Property:

Refer to attached PD Statement of Terms and Conditions

Reason for reoning 10 a Planned Unit Developitient;

The proposed Planned Development (PD) district is requested to facilitate innovative land planning
and site design concepts that prioritize both high quality of life for residents and environmental
sensitivity. This approach will ensure that the development not only meets the needs of the
residents but also creates a sustainable, aesthetically pleasing, and functional community.

PART 2. APPLICANT/AGENT INFORMATION

Name of Applicanl‘Agent:

Eastwood Homes of Raleigh LLC

Street Address of ApplicantApent;

7101 Creedmoor Road, Suite 115

Cinv: State: Zip Code:

Raleigh NC 27613

Email of Applicant’Agent: Telephane Number of Applicant’Agent: Fax Number of Applicant’Agem:
bguillet@eastwoodhomes.com 919.758.8208 N/A

Are vou the pwner's agent?

m Yes

Are you the owner of the prapeny?

|:I Yes No

[

Note: If you arc not the owner of the property, you must obtain the
Owner's consent and signature giving you permission to submit this

application.

PART 3. PROPERTY OWNER INFORMATION

Name of Property Owner:

C. Thomas Hendrickson & Jill D Hendrickson

Street Address of Properly Owner:

PO Box 1166

City: State: Zip Code:

Zebulon NC 27597

Email of Propeny Owner: Telephone Number of Propeny Owner; Fax Number of Property Owner:
N/A N/A N/A

I hereby state that the facts related In this application and any documents submitted herewith are complete, true,
correct, and accurate to the best of my knowledge.

| Signature of Owner: Print Name: Date:
/4//-]’/ | prehanl, Ufferte

. %J;gn ture of Owner: Print Name: Date:

./sz 7 /é»/—'-* T D). Hecleizta b L fa
7~ Page 3 of 10

Refer to attached sheet for applican ignature

146




Application for Planned Development
Applicant /Agent Information
Name of Applicant:

Eastwood Homes of Raleigh, LLC
William M. Guillet, Il

7101 Creedmoor Road, Suite 115
Raleigh, NC 27613

Email: bguillet@eastwoodhomes.com
Telephone Number: 919-675-8769

| hereby state that the facts related in this application and any documents submitted herewith are complete, true, zorrect, and
accurate to the best of my knowledge.

Signature of Applicant:
Print Name:
Mm,qﬂ M. FerleLT 7T

Date:
S RT- 2

147



APPLICATION FOR
ZEBULON PLANNED DEVELOPMENT

LEGISLATIVE CONSIDERATIONS - PLANNED DEVELOPMENT

The applicant shall propose site-specific standards and conditions that take into account the following considerations, which
are considerations that are relevant to the legislative determination of whether or not the proposed planned development is
in the public interest. Therese considerations do not exclude the legislative consideration of any other factor that is relevant
to the public interest. Failure to adequately address the findings below may result in denial of the application. Please provide
responses to the following standards as outlined in Section 2.2.15 of the Unified Development Ordinance.

1. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Development advances the public health, safety, or welfare

Refer to attached legislative considerations.

2. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Development is appropriate for its proposed location, and is consistent with
the purposes, goals, objectives, and policies of the Town’s adopted policy guidance.

Refer to attached legislative considerations.

3. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Development is reasonable and in the public interest.

Refer to attached legislative considerations.

4. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development provides for innovative land planning and site design
concepts that support a high quality of life and achieve a high quality of development, environmental sensitivity, energy
efficiency, and other Town goals and objectives.

Refer to attached legislative considerations.

5. Please provide details on how the proposed planned unit development provides improved means of access, open space, and
design amenities;

Refer to attached legislative considerations.

Page 4 of 10
148



APPLICATION FOR
ZEBULON PLANNED DEVELOPMENT

6. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development provides a well-integrated mix of residential and
nonresidential land uses in the same development, including a mix of housing types, lot sizes, and densities;

Refer to attached legislative considerations.

7. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development creates a system of incentives for redevelopment and
infill in order to revitalize established areas;

N/A

8. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development promotes a vibrant public realm by placing increased
emphasis on active ground floor uses, pedestrian-oriented building fagade design, intensive use of sidewalks, and establishment
of public gathering areas;

Refer to attached legislative considerations.

9. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development provides for efficient use of land resulting in smaller
networks of utilities and streets and thereby lowering development and housing costs; and

Refer to attached legislative considerations.

10. Please provide details on how the proposed Planned Unit Development provides quality design and environmentally sensitive
development that respects surrounding established land use character and respects and takes advantage of a site’s natural and
man-made features, such as trees, estuaries, shorelines, special flood hazard area, and historic features.

Refer to attached legislative considerations.

11. Other factors as the Board of Commissioners may determine to be relevant.

Please refer to the attached Master Plan and Planned Development Statement of Terms and
Conditions.

Page 5 of 10
149



ﬁﬁl APPLICATION FOR

ZEBULON PLANNED DEVELOPMENT

OWNER’S CONSENT FORM
Old Bunn Hoa_ld_SubdiWSIon Submittal Date: | PECeT0e 2 2024

Naine of Project:

OWNER’S AUTHORIZATION

I hereby give CONSENT to Bastwood Homes of Raleigh LLC (type, stamp or print clearly
full name of agent) to act on my behalf, to submit or have submitted this application and all required material and
documents, and to attend and represent me at all meetings and public hearings pertaining to the application(s)
indicated above. Furthermore, [ hereby give consent to the party designated above to agree to all terms and
conditions which may arise as part of the approval of this application.

 hereby certify | have full knowledge the property [ have an ownership interest in is the subject of this application.
| acknowledge and agree that, pursuant to Section 2.2.15. of the Town of Zebulon Unified Development
Ordinance, that lands subject to a Planned Development shall be subject to all the standards, conditions, and plans
approved as part of that application. These standards, plans, and approved conditions are perpetually binding on
the land as an amendment to this Ordinance and the Official Zoning Map and may only be changed in accordance
with the procedures established in this Ordinance. Development located outside the Town of Zebulon’s corporate
limits shall comply with all Town policies related to annexation and the extension of utilities. 1 understand that
all other applicable standards and regulations of the UDO will remain applicable to the subject lands unless
specifically listed as conditions or deviations as part of this request. | understand that any false, inaccurate, or
incomplete information provided by me, or my agent will result in the denial. revocation or administrative
withdrawal of this application, request, approval or permits. | acknowledge that additional information may be
required to process this application. 1 further consent to the Town of Zebulon to publish. copy or reproduce any
copyrighted document submitted as a part of this application for any third party. [ further agree to all terms and

conditjos s,‘WhICh may be imposed as part of the approval of this application. i /0 /L? <~ / /7 /(
' AL D. /éé/?o/ e S
Z , v/2s5/>y
ignature of Owner Print Name Date

CERTIFICATION OF PROPERTY OWNER

I hereby certify the statements or information made in any paper or plans subm itted herewith are true and
correct to the best of my knowledge. | understand this application. related material and all attachments become
official r s,of the Plapnjrg Department of the Town of Zebulon, North Carplina. and willy»t be returned.

Tyl D Ao ,r,:;ﬁsm 7

2
Enatife of O Print Name Dat

*Owner of record as shown by the Wake County Revenue Department (www.wakegov.com). An option to purchase does not constitute
ownership. 1f ownership has been recently transferred. a copy of the deed must accompany this form,

Page G o} 10

150




APPLICATION FOR
ZEBULON PLANNED DEVELOPMENT

CONCEPT PLAN REQUIREMENTS

Every applicant requesting Planned Development approval shall submit 8 copies and 1 pdf (e- CHECK IF
mail or USB Drive) of a concept plan drawing with the application for a Planned Development. = SUBMITTED
The concept plan shall contain sufficient information to adequately determine the type of

development being proposed. The concept plan drawing shall include, at a minimum, the following

features unless otherwise specified by the Planning Department:

ITEM

1. Plot plan showing all existing and planned structures, building setback lines, perimeter X
boundaries, and easements.

2. Elevation drawings of all buildings indicating the proposed exterior finish materials. Arch. Guidelines

3. Landscaping plan, lighting, fencing, screening, and walls, indicating all heights and 2
locations.

4. Location of all ingress and egress.

5. Off-street parking and loading facilities, with calculations showing how the quantities
were obtained.

6. All pedestrian walks and open areas for use by residents, tenants, or the public. X

7. Proposed land uses indicating areas in square feet.

8 The location and types of all signs, including lighting and heights, with elevation
drawings.

9. Existing and/or proposed street names. N

10. Proposed potable or reuse water, wastewater connections, and storm sewer line;
proposed grading and drainage patterns; proposed water and sewer allocations.

11. Such additional items and conditions, including design standards as the Planning Board X
and Board of Commissioners deems necessary.

12. Trip generation data and TIA if applicable in accordance with Section 6.13 of the X
UDO.

Page 7 of 10
151



APPLICATION FOR

ZEBULON PLANNED DEVELOPMENT
PROPOSED USES
An application has been duly filed requesting that the property described in this application be rezoned from
Residential-30 District (R-30) (Wake County) to Planned Development (PD) . It is understood and acknowledged that if the property

is rezoned as requested, the property described in this request will be perpetually bound to the use(s) authorized and subject
to such conditions as imposed, unless subsequently changed or amended as provided for in the Unified Development
Ordinance. It is further understood and acknowledged that final plans for any specific development to be made pursuant to
any such Planned Development shall be submitted for site or subdivision plan approval. Use additional pages as needed.

The Rezoned Lands may be used for, and only for, the uses listed immediately below. The permitted uses are subject to
the limitations and regulations stated in the Use Table and any additional limitations or regulations stated below. For
convenience, some relevant sections of the Unified Development Ordinance may be referenced; such references do not
imply that other sections of the Unified Development Ordinance do not apply.

1 . Refer to attached PD Statement of Terms and Conditions 2 5 .
2. 26.
3. 27.
4. 28.
5. 29.
6. 30.
7. 31.
8. 32.
9. 33.
10. 34.
11. 35.
12. 36.
13. 37.
14. 38.
15. 39.
16 40.
17. 41.
18. 42.
19. 43.
20. 44.
21. 43.
22. 46.
23. 47.
24. 48.

Page 8 of 10
152 °



APPLICATION FOR
ZEBULON PLANNED DEVELOPMENT

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS

The applicant hereby requests that the Zebulon Board of Commissioners, pursuant to Section 3.3.5 of the Unified
Development Ordinance, approve the Proposed Planned Development with above listed use(s), subject to the following
condition(s), requested deviations, and proposed alternative means of compliance. (Attach additional pages as needed)

Refer to attached PD Statement of Terms and Conditions

Page 9 of 10
153



ZEBULON

ADJACENT OWNERS
Provide a certified list of property owners subject to this application and all properties owners within 750-feet feet of the
subject property, and any HOA Contacts for developments which fall within 750-feet of the subject property.

APPLICATION FOR

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT

Parcel Address Parcel ID Number Owner’s Name
Refer to attached list.
HOA CONTACTS
Development Name Contact Person Address

Refer to attached list.

Page 10 of 10
154



PA3ST DSIGN GROLUP, PA

‘ j Engineering | Consulting
"l

December 2, 2024 PDG Project: 673-24

Legislative Considerations

Leqislative Consideration (LC) 1:

The proposed Planned Development (the "PD") advances public health, safety, and
welfare in several key ways. By providing a variety of single-family detached and
attached housing options in different styles, cost points, and scales, the development
helps address the housing demand in Zebulon. This variety ensures that a broad
spectrum of residents, including families, first-time homebuyers, seniors, and those
looking for more affordable options, will have access to svuitable housing.
Additionally, the development is likely to contribute to the local economy by
increasing the housing stock, attracting new residents, and supporting local
businesses. It also provides access to community amenities, green spaces, a public
greenway trail with multiple trail heads, bike lanes and pedestrian-friendly areas,
promoting an overall higher quality of life. Furthermore, by carefully planning the
development, safety is enhanced through well-designed infrastructure, such as roads,
sidewalks, lighting, and drainage systems while ensuring that essential services are
easily accessible for all residents. The proposed PD not only addresses immediate
housing needs but also improves the long-term livability of Zebulon through
thoughtful planning and design.

LC 2:

The proposed PD aligns with the Town's long range plans and supports the goals of
the Grow Zebulon Comprehensive Land Use Plan {the "Comp Plan") by promoting
greater housing variety, economic development, a stronger tax base, and a complete
community with easy access to schools, recreation, shopping, and services.
Additionally, it is consistent with the intended character of the land use in the area,
Suburban Residential, and the development aligns with specific policies from the
Comp Plan's Land Use and Development Chapter, including policies G1, G2, G3, G5,
G6, R1, R4, and P5. Please refer to pages five (5) through seven (7) of the attached
Planned Development Statement of Terms and Conditions for additional information
addressing legislative considerations.

LC 3:

The proposed PD is reasonable and in the public interest because it aligns with the
Comp Plan and directly conforms to the Future Land Use and Character Map's
Suburban Residential designation. This designation reflects the community's vision
for areas that are primarily residential in nature, designed to accommodate

107 Fayetteville Street, Svite 200, Raleigh, North Carolina, 27601 | o: 919 848 4399 | f: 919 848 4395

155



moderate-density housing in 3 suburban setting. By adhering to the Suburban
Residential designation, the development supports the long-term goals outlined in
the Comp Plan, ensuring that it fits within the broader framework for growth and
land use in the region. The Comp Plan emphasizes the need for balanced
development that provides diverse housing options, encourages sustainable growth,
and maintains the character of existing neighborhoods — goals that are clearly
reflected in the proposed housing mix of single-family detached and attached units.
By providing a variety of single-family detached and attached housing options in
different styles, cost points, and scales, the PD helps address the housing demand in
Zebulon. This variety ensures that a broad spectrum of residents, including families,
first-time homebuyers, seniors, and those looking for more affordable options, will
have access to suitable housing.

LC 4:

The proposed PD introduces several innovative land planning and site design
concepts, reflecting a thoughtful approach to integrating diverse housing types,
community connectivity, and historical preservation. These strategies are designed
not only to meet current housing needs but also to enhance the overall character
and livability of the area. (1) Strategic Housing Placement: As shown in the attached
Master Plan, the development locates a mix of housing types in key areas to create
a harmonious and functional community layout. The proposal for rear-loaded single-
family attached homes along the frontage of Old Bunn Road and NC Highway 97
East, as well as the main entrance to the development, helps establish an attractive
urban form. By positioning these homes closer to the road with rear-access garages,
the development prioritizes the streetscape and reduces the visual dominance of
garages, contributing to @ more pedestrian-friendly and aesthetically pleasing
environment. (2) Urban Design Elements: The inclusion of parallel parking
throughout the single-family attached home section continues the urban form,
enhancing walkability and reducing the need for off-street parking, which improves
safety and neighborhood appeal. The proposed east-west minor thoroughfare, lined
with single-family detached homes, features bike lanes and parallel parking, further
emphasizing an urban design that prioritizes alternative transportation options,
connectivity, and a well-organized street layout. (3) Public Greenway and
Amenities: The development includes an activated public greenway that runs along
the northern property line and through the heart of the community, linking the
various housing types, public spaces, and amenities. This greenway, with its
trailheads, will provide residents with easy access to outdoor recreation, promote an
active lifestyle, and foster a sense of community. This connectivity is crucial for
encouraging interaction among residents and enhancing the overall livability of the
development. (4) Historical Preservation: A feature of the proposal is the
preservation of a federal style nationally registered historic home, along with a family
and enslaved persons’ cemetery, both of which are significant cultural and historical
resources. By maintaining these elements, the development honors the rich history
of the area, creating a meaningful connection between the past and future. This

107 Fayetteville Street, Suite 200, Raleigh, North Carolina, 27601 | o: 919 848 4399 | f: 919 848 4395

156



preservation not only adds historical value to the development but also offers
opportunities for educational and cultural engagement for residents and their gquests.

LC5:

The proposed PD is designed to enhance connectivity, promote active and passive
recreation, and preserve important natural resources, contributing to both the
livability and sustainability of the community. (1) Improved Connectivity: The
introduction of @ new east-west minor thoroughfare with bike lanes will provide
connectivity in the area, linking key parts of the development and improving access
to neighboring areas. This thoroughfare will not only serve as a transportation route
for vehicles but also encourage alternative, environmentally friendly modes of travel
like biking and walking. By integrating sidewalks alongside the bike lanes, the design
prioritizes pedestrian safety and mobility, making it easier for residents to walk or
bike to key destinations within and outside the community. (2) Active Public
Greenway and Open Space: A feature of the PD is the active public greenway, which
will connect various housing types, community amenities, and other public spaces.
This greenway will serve as a key focal point for outdoor recreation and social
interaction, with strategically placed trailheads throughout the development. The
design emphasizes active open spaces that promote physical activity and community
engagement, enhancing the overall quality of life for residents. (3) Recreational
Amenities: The development will offer a variety of recreational amenities to suvit
different interests and lifestyles, including pocket parks, dog parks, pollinator
gardens, and community gardens. These amenities will encourage outdoor activity,
socialization, and environmental stewardship. Additionally, pickleball courts, a
community pool, and a clubhouse will provide spaces for sports, relaxation, and
community events, fostering a strong sense of community and offering a variety of
ways for residents to stay active and connected. (4) Preservation of Natural
Resources: In addition to active spaces, the PD places a strong emphasis on the
preservation of passive open space, which will protect important natural features
such as riparian buffers, wetlands, tree canopy, and floodplains. This commitment to
environmental sustainability helps maintain the area's ecological balance, improve
stormwater management, and provides residents with natural spaces to enjoy. By
preserving these areas, the development places value on the local environment and
contributes to the long-term health of the community and its natural resources.

LC 6:

The proposed PD offers a well-integrated mix of housing types, lot sizes, and
densities, designed to accommodate a range of resident needs while fostering a
cohesive community environment. The combination of different housing options
ensures diversity in both living spaces and affordability, contributing to a more
inclusive neighborhood. A breakdown of the key elements are as follows: (1) Single-
Family Attached Homes: The PD proposes a mix of single-family attached products,
including: (i) Rear-loaded units: These homes are designed with garages located at

PDG Project: 673-24 30f8

157



the rear, which improves the streetscape by reducing the prominence of driveways
and creating 3 more pedestrian-friendly environment. This design promotes better
curb appeal and increases the aesthetic value of the development. (ii) Front-loaded
units: These homes will have garages located at the front of the property, offering
more traditional single-family home designs. This configuration may appeal to buyers
who prefer the convenience of driveway parking and a more classic suburban layout.
(iii) Units without garages: Some units will be designed without garages, further
diversifying the housing stock and accommodating residents who may not need or
prefer a garage. This option can be attractive for buyers seeking lower-cost homes
or those who prefer on-street parking or alternative solutions like shared parking
areas. (2) Single-Family Detached Homes: The development will offer three different
lot sizes to accommodate a variety of single-family detached products. This range of
lot sizes allows for flexibility in home design and caters to various buyer preferences,
from those looking for more compact, low-maintenance homes to those desiring
larger lots for more space and privacy. Each lot size will reflect its own distinct
product type, ensuring that residents can select homes that best meet their lifestyle
needs. (3) Cemetery: As part of the proposed PD, two existing cemeteries on-site
will be preserved and integrated into the development to honor their historical
significance. These cemeteries will serve as sites of remembrance and cultural
heritage, ensuring that the history of the land and the individuals interred there is
respected and maintained. The cemeteries will be preserved in their current
locations, with efforts made to protect and respect the integrity of the burial sites.
The development will work in cooperation with historical preservation experts and
local authorities to ensure that these sites are treated with the care and dignity they
deserve. The areas surrounding the cemeteries will be landscaped in @ manner that
enhances their historical value, incorporating appropriate signage, paths, and seating
for visitors. These spaces will be accessible to residents and their guests who wish
to pay their respects, learn more about the site’s history, or simply appreciate the
peaceful, reflective environment. (4) Community Gardens: The proposed PD will
provide both private and public garden spaces designed for the cultivation of a variety
of plants, including fruits, vegetables, flowers, and ornamental plants. These garden
areas will be open to all residents and their guests, fostering an inclusive and
collaborative environment. (5) Parks (Public or Private): The PD proposes several
amenities including the following: (i) Public Greenway: A dedicated trail for
walking, jogging, biking, or simply enjoying nature. The greenway will encourage
active living while preserving and showcasing the surrounding natural features. (ii)
Pocket Parks: Small, neighborhood-focused parks distributed throughout the
development, offering green spaces for relaxation, play, and social gatherings. These
parks will be designed to blend seamlessly into the community, providing residents
with accessible spots to unwind. (iii) Dog Parks: Fenced-in areas where residents
can bring their pets to socialize and play safely. The dog parks will be equipped with
amenities like waste stations and seating for pet owners, encouraging responsible
pet care and outdoor engagement. (iv) Pickleball Courts: Dedicated courts for the
increasingly popular sport of pickleball. These courts will provide opportunities for
friendly competition, fitness, and community interaction, supporting both social and

PDG Project: 673-24 4 of 8

158



physical well-being. (v) Community Pool: A centrally located pool designed for
relaxation, swimming, and social gatherings. It will serve as a gathering space for
residents to cool off in the summer months, host community events, and offer
swimming lessons or exercise classes. (vi) Clubhouse: A community hub for social
activities, meetings, and events. The clubhouse will include gathering spaces, event
rooms, and possibly amenities like kitchen or lounge areas, creating a welcoming
place for residents to come together for celebrations, classes, or community-building
activities. (6) Restaurant, Walk-up only: The proposed PD will include a designated
area for food truck hookups, providing spaces where food trucks can set up and offer
a variety of meals, beverages, and prepared food for residents and their guests. These
food truck areas will enhance the community’s vibrancy by offering convenient and
diverse dining options that support both on-site and off-site consumption. While
food will be prepared in the food trucks, on-site consumption of meals will be limited
to outdoor spaces. Dining will take place in open-air areas or in accessory structures,
such as covered patios or pavilions, which are separate and detached from the food
preparation areas. Customers will place orders and receive their food through a
window or other opening that separates the food truck employees from the
customers. (7) Accessory Uses: The proposed PD will include several accessory uses
that support the needs of residents, enhance community living, and contribute to a
sustainable and flexible environment. These accessory uses are intended to
complement the primary residential and community spaces while promoting
convenience, efficiency, and quality of life for residents. The PD proposes several
accessory uses including the following: (i) Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs): The
development will allow for the inclusion of ADUs, which are small, secondary
residential units located on the same lot as a primary dwelling. ADUs provide
additional housing options, ideal for extended families, guests, or as rental units,
helping to increase housing density in a flexible and sustainable way. (ii) Cluster
Box Units (CBUs): CBUs will be installed throughout the development to centralize
and streamline mail delivery. These secure, centralized mailboxes will reduce clutter
and improve accessibility for residents while maintaining the aesthetic integrity of
the community. (iii) Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging Stations: The PD will provide
designated areas with EV charging stations to support the growing use of electric
vehicles. These charging stations will encourage sustainable transportation options
and ensure that residents and their guests can easily charge their EVs. (iv) Home
Occupation: The development will permit home occupations, allowing residents to
run small businesses from their homes, provided they comply with established
guidelines. This flexibility supports entrepreneurship and fosters a live-work
community, where residents can balance their professional and personal lives in a
convenient, home-based setting. (v) Outdoor Dining: In addition to the food truck
hookups, the PD will allow for outdoor dining areas associated with residential
properties. These outdoor spaces will provide opportunities for casval dining and
socializing, promoting an active, outdoor lifestyle and encouraging community
engagement. (vi) Play Equipment: To ensure that families with children have access
to recreational spaces, the PD will include play equipment in designated areas such
as pocket parks or community playgrounds as well as individual homes. These play

PDG Project: 673-24 5of8

159



spaces will be safe and accessible, offering opportunities for children to play, explore,
and socialize. (vii) Tool/Storage Sheds: Residential properties within the PD will be
permitted to include tool and storage sheds for personal use. These structures will
provide space for residents to store tools, outdoor equipment, and other personal
items. (8) Mix of Densities Across Residential Subdistricts: The proposed PD is
designed with a mix of densities across various residential subdistricts, meaning that
different areas of the development will feature varying levels of housing density.
This design approach: (i) Ensures that higher-density areas, such as those with single-
family attached homes, are strategically located near key infrastructure (roads,
amenities, etc.), promoting efficient use of land. {ii) Allows for lower-density, larger
lot single-family detached homes in areas that can accommodate more spacious,
suburban-style living. (iii} Supports a diversity of housing options that can appeal to
a broad range of demographics, from young professionals and families to retirees,
fostering a balanced and vibrant community. [historic site open to the public?]

LC 7:

Not applicable.

LC 8:

The proposed PD places a strong emphasis on creating a vibrant public realm that
promotes public gathering and pedestrian-oriented development, which significantly
enhances both the character and livability of the area. The careful design of public
spaces, coupled with housing that integrates with the surrounding environment,
helps foster a sense of community and encourages active, social engagement among
residents. (1) Pedestrian-Oriented Design: As shown in the Master Plan, the layout
of the development is intended to be pedestrian-friendly, with an emphasis on
walkable streets, public spaces, and easy access to amenities. The proposed rear-
loaded single-family attached homes along Old Bunn Road, NC Highway 97 East,
and the main entrance help create a more inviting streetscape by positioning the
homes closer to the street, reducing the visual dominance of garages. This design
strategy ensures that the streetscape is more visually appealing and pedestrian-
oriented, where the human-scale elements—such as front doors, windows, and
landscaping—become the primary focus rather than garages and driveways. (2)
Enhancing Urban Form: By placing rear-loaded garages behind a section of the
single-family detached homes, the development moves away from the traditional
suburban design that often prioritizes car access and front-facing garages. This
promotes a3 more urban character for the neighborhood, improving the aesthetic
quality of the development while also enhancing pedestrian experience. Residents
and their guests will encounter a streetscape with active frontages—where homes,
walkways, and public spaces engage the public realm rather than being
overshadowed by garages and vehicles. Furthermore, the rear loaded unites provide
for active residential uses on the ground floor facing the street, further emphasizing
the urban form of the development. (3) Parallel Parking for Walkability: The

PDG Project: 673-24 6 of 8

160



inclusion of parallel parking throughout the single-family attached home section is
a key feature that enhances the urban form and contributes to a more walkable
environment. By providing parking on the street rather than in front of homes, the
development further prioritizes the pedestrian experience and improves safety by
reducing the need for cars to park on sidewalks or take up space in front of residential
units. This approach also allows for clearer pedestrian pathways, contributing to a
more pleasant and accessible neighborhood for walkers, bikers, and residents using
alternative modes of transportation. (4) Creating Public Gathering Areas: In addition
to the urban design elements, the proposal focuses on creating public gathering areas
that will serve as focal points for community interaction and social engagement.
These areas are essential for building a strong sense of community and enhancing
the overall livability of the development. By strategically placing these spaces
throughout the neighborhood—along with amenities like pocket parks, community
gardens, and recreational facilities—the development encourages residents to
interact, and participate in community life.

LC 9:

The proposed PD demonstrates a commitment to efficient land use by increasing
density in a well-planned manner while ensuring that essential public infrastructure
such as roads and utilities are effectively integrated. (1) Efficient Land Use and
Increased Density: The PD proposes a strategic increase in density that maximizes
the use of available land while still maintaining a high quality of life for residents.
By integrating @ mix of housing types—ranging from single-family attached homes
to larger detached units — the development accommodates a broad spectrum of
residents without overwhelming the surrounding area. The density is carefully
distributed across the site to create a balanced community layout, promoting a more
compact, walkable design that efficiently uses the land. (2) Efficient Public
Infrastructure: The development incorporates a well-thought-out public
infrastructure system that includes an interconnected road network, utilities, and
stormwater management systems that are aligned with the increased density,
ensuring that the infrastructure can handle the demands of the community. These
two approaches will thereby lower development and housing costs.

LC 10:

The proposed PD demonstrates a strong commitment to quality design and
environmentally sensitive development while respecting and complementing the
surrounding established land use character. The development makes thoughtful use
of the site’s natural and man-made features, preserving its unique environmental
and cultural assets while also providing amenities and housing options. The
development is designed to integrate with the existing character of the surrounding
area. The mix of housing types and the strateqic placement of higher-density areas
in appropriate locations helps to ensure compatibility with neighboring properties.
By considering the surrounding land use patterns, the PD will contribute to the

PDG Project: 673-24 7 of 8

161



Town's long-term development goals. The PD is carefully designed to minimize
impacts on environmentally sensitive features such as riparian buffers, streams,
wetlands, and flood hazard areas. The development layout reflects an efficient use
of land while preserving these critical environmental resources. Natural features are
preserved as passive open space that offer recreational opportunities. This approach
ensures that the development is sustainable and contributes positively to the
watershed’s health. One of the features of the proposed development is the
preservation of a federal-style, nationally registered historic home and a family and
enslaved persons’ cemetery, both of which hold significant cultural and historical
value. By maintaining these important cultural landmarks, the development
acknowledges and honors the area’s history. Preserving these elements not only adds
depth and character to the development but also helps bridge the past and the future,
creating an enduring connection to the community's heritage. [I'll insert 2
comparison of the development immediately adjacent to the west extending the
‘land use character’]

LC 11:

Please refer to the attached Master Plan and Planned Development Statement of
Terms and Conditions.

PDG Project: 673-24 8 of 8

162



L6SLT IN ‘NOINg3z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S42 ON ‘NOINg3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
L6SLZ ON ‘NOTNg3Iz
46542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S4T ON ‘NOTNG3zZ
L6S42 ON ‘'NO1Ng3z
£BSLT ON ‘NO1NgG3z
L6SLZ ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S/Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S/T ON ‘NOTNgG3z
L6542 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S£Z DN ‘NOTNG3z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
L6SL4Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
26542 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6SLCION ‘NOTNG3IZ
£6S£2 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S42 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S£2 DN ‘NOINg3z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3z
L6542 ON ‘NO1INg3z
L6S4Z ON ‘NOINg3z
£6SLTON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
46542 ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S42 ON ‘NOINg3zZ

aiels ‘A

AAY MOY NOLONIYHYE vO¥
AV MOY NOLONIYHVYE 9Ev
a4 THH ASNLNd 8¢L

AMH £6 ON 3 G¢ET

HLVd A001SdVH LEL

HLVd A001SAVH 9¢L

a4 NNN4d Q10 5161

Q4 1IH AINLNd TEL

JAV NONNVO 3 G¢et

a4 NNN9 Q10 806T

JAY NONNVO 3 60CT

H1Vd %O01SAvH 9vL

Q4 NNN9 Q100

a4 NNNg a10 Z16T

a4 NNNS 410 0281

Q4 THH AINLNd 6EL

Q4 TUHAINLNd CEL

AV MOY NOLONIYYvYd 81
Hlvd X001SAVYH 6€4

H1Vd XOO01SAVH Se.

dd NNNg Q10 veLt

d4d NNNg Q10 T¢oC

AV MOY NOLONIYYYE 8EY
HLYd XO0.1SAVH 0

HLvVd %O0.1SAvVH 0

HLYd XO0L1SAVH 0

HLYd X001SavH 0

QY TTIIH AININd LEL

HLVd A001SAVH 8€L

HLVd HO01SAVH 8¢

AMH 9Z SN AT0 6€TT

ssalppy

J717 ITNAILLIAVS 4O SHOLONHISNOO H B H
HITAAS “SAWOD I NV3S ‘STIVIWS

WINVAIR “VTNINWILLOD X HLIMNYY ‘VILNNXV IV
INAVd YIIONY “1NVd FONIHMYT STWVT “INVd
VdNYIN ‘WYNVAVONS HSIWVY ‘NYIVHVYONIY
VYNI3AYYH ‘IONVY

A 7f ‘NOSHOIYANIH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIMANIH
WINVAIHd ‘V1ANNONING VdIHS ‘VAVANVYIN

AT ‘NOSHOIHANTH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIYANIH
a7 ‘NOSHOIYANIH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIHANIH
AT ‘NOSHOIYANIH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIHANIH
IONVY YIWVY ‘NLLYO AVYSYdd VHWISHYN ‘NLLYSO
0711 S31L43d0Ud AWV 131vd

@ TIr ‘NOSHOIMANIH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIYANIH

1 VAN3H4E XI04IV1 4 STWVT XIOHOV

[H1334d ‘ATTVAVIVEWY) VAYHOVY ‘VAYWYTYN
47Nvd ‘Quv 1M

31V ‘NVIWNIH NVIHaY 0IaNY10 ‘Vd3IHO

OTT1ON SIWOH TdW

NNV HvH083d ‘NOWYHYD

AVH H34INNI( ‘OD0H NVIHE AOVYHL ‘DOD0H

O VAI ‘NIQTOH ¥ 143804 ‘NIQTOH

INIONI NVAYE ‘ANVTIOH

ONINOILVIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIYYvE
ONINOILVIOOSSY SHAINMOIWOH ON NOLONIYYvd
ONINOILVIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIYYvE
ONINOILVIOOSSY SHANMOIWOH 3N NOLONIYdvd

331SNYLVTINd INVAVd ‘AQQ3Y 33LSNHL VTINd HYHAIYS ‘AQd3y

VAHSIV ‘1190S WIIHAVY ‘NYHLYNVMSIA
H VAVIWHVYN TIONI X 1INV ‘YAYIWIYN
QOOH HLIANf ‘NNAa3n

1304vd AVOHd NNNS Q10 ST6T WOYd 135440 0S4 NIHLIM 34V MO139 S31LHId0Ud

JBUMO

163



£6S£4T ON ‘NOINg3AZ
£6S£T DN ‘NO1Ng3z
£BSLTON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S/2 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
/6S42 DN ‘NONg3z
£654T ON ‘NO1Ngd3z
£6G/C ON ‘NO1Nd3zZ
£6S42 N ‘NOINg3Z

L6SLZ ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S4Z ON ‘NOINg3z
L6SLT ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S4T ON ‘NO1N93z
£6G/Z N ‘NO1Ng3z
/652 DN ‘NO1Nd3z
£BS£Z ION‘NO1N93z
£6S/2 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6G/£Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S4Z ON ‘NO1Ng3Iz
£6S£Z ON ‘NONg3z
L6S£2 ON ‘NOTNg3az
L6542 ON ‘NOTNg3az
£6G£Z DN ‘NO1Nd3z
£6G£Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S42 DN ‘NOINg3z
L6542 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6G£Z ON ‘NO1Nd3z
L6SLZ ON ‘NONg3z
£6S22 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S42 ON ‘NOINg3z

JAV MO NOLONIHYVYE V1S
JAV MOY NOLONIHYVE 0T
Q4 TTIH AINLNd £2L

3IAV MOY NOLONIY4YvE 05
JAVY NATADVHE ¥EL

JAV MOY NOLONIJHVE ¢1S
AV MOY NOL1ONIdHY4 0SY
JAY NATAIOVHE 804

JAY NATIOVHE €TL
Hivd XJ0L1SAVH 0
HLVd XD01SAvH 0
HLYdXD01SdvH 0

AAV NADIOVHE CTL

ad 11IH AINLNd S€4

3AV NONNVO 3 ¥0CT

HLVd X00LSAVH 0gL

Q4 NNNQ 10 1841
ad0049113dS ¥2L

ANV MOY NOLONIdHYgE 807
HLYd 1D01SAVH ¢eL

JAVY MOY NOLONIHHVY O0cy
JAVY NATAOVHE 0L

AV NATAOVHE 604

H1Vd XOO0LSAvH L1£

JAV NONNVO 3 T0CT

JAV NATAOVHE OTL

JAV NATAOVHA T0L

Q4 THH AINLINd S¢L

H1Vd XO001SAvVH LvL
JAVNONNVO 3 0

Qd NNNd d10 000C

JAV NONNVO 3 0821

YHMIHS “TYHONIHS NIVHYN HEVHOS “TYHONIHS

YOISSAr ‘SINYYE SNIYHYAVYS ‘SINYYE

NNATVNNOHS ‘S3AVH

HIJINNIM ‘AT1LNVHE

ANAVM AT1avHd ‘43HO13 T

VININYIA ‘ILON HSILYS ‘WYINa

AVI SNOHYIA ‘SHIANNVYS

AVHLYT ANV NIYYd VAVHVA NIVH VAVIWYNYHO

40 331SNY1 33LSNYL NIVY VAVIWYNYHA ‘NIvY YAVHYA

¥ NILSN( ‘1SIM W HL3EVZIT3 “1SIM

ONINOILYID0SSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIHHYE
ONINOILYIQOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIHdvd
ONINOLLYIOOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIHYYE
INIOLNY ‘SINOr HYNIHVL ‘SINOT

NNYY ‘VINAalS HONIS AVNIA “dMivHL

NHOI HOAZHL ‘dVOVS

YIANVHOWVY V1109 1dVIWNY YNYHOUY ‘VNIACEYNVAVA
3 A34ANY ‘SOOIM 9 HdISOr ‘SO9IM

VIWIHLYHd ‘WYNOE YHANIOVN DIV

JHANOAA ‘NOSYO 13IHY ‘NOSHOVI

JTTHLVd XO0LSAVH ¢EL

S VHSIANTIO ‘dIWYHO Yl ANOL ‘Qd¥MAIH

@ Y)3INNIZ3 ‘NMNVANY | YHOIEO NIMNVANY

STdl “dINYNL O HHVIW “Y3INHNL

NAYHYS ‘NFOYYIN H1FINVYd ‘NLLYOYHLOM

NNAT ‘SWYAV LLOJS ‘SWvav

AHITI0d3 ‘ONVON W NIIHNVIA ‘HOIWIL

AONVN ‘|LLId NHOf ‘|LLId

773148V ‘INYOHL

0TI Ald3d0dd HIVd XD01SAVH L¥L

1SNd1 3790A3HYI ¥ITIIHM  HONVI 1T JALSNYL HI SOTHYD STWVI ‘HI1IIHM
1SNd1 3190ATHHI HITIIHM  HONYITI FILSNYL U SOTHVI STWVYI ‘HITITHM
1SNyl 3790A3HHI YATITHM r HONYI T 3ALSNYL U SOTHYD SAWYI ‘UI1IIHM

164



£6S22 ON ‘NOTING3z
£6S£Z 0N ‘NOTNg3z
£6S/Z DN ‘NOTNG3Z
£6S/2 DN ‘NOTNg3z
£6G/Z DN ‘NOTNG3Z
£6§/2 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6S42Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
L6522 ON ‘NOTN93z
L6S4Z ON ‘NO1NG3z
/6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
/652 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S/Z DN ‘NOTNg3z
£65/T ON ‘NO1INg3Z
/6542 DN ‘NOINd3z
£6S/2¢ ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S/¢ ON ‘NOTNd3z
£6S£T ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOINg3z
£68/2 ON ‘NO1Ng3Z
£6S/Z ON ‘NOINg3z
L6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6542 DN ‘NOTNg3z
£6S/2 DN ‘NOTINg3z
£6S42 ON ‘NOINQ3Z
L6522 ON ‘NOINE3Z
/6542 ON ‘NO1Nd3z
/65T ON ‘NOINd3z
/6542 ON ‘NOTNd3z
L6842 ON ‘NOINd3z
£65£4Z ON ‘NOTng3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOTNg3Z

ad TTIH AINLNd 9T£

IAV MOY NOLONIJddvd 005
Hd NIASYINT 8PS

Hd NIASHIAT 2SS

Hd NIASHIAT 955

ad 1TIH AINiNd STL

dd TIIHAININd LTL
QydX0048113dS 024

JAV MOY NOLONIYUYYE PEY
JAV MO NOLONIHHYE VTV
AV NATADVYHE SO0L

JAVY MOY NO1ONIddvE 125
JAV MOd NOLONIHdVE 614
Qd THH AINLNd 1L

Q4 11IH AIN1Nd ¢¢L

ad T1IH AIN1Nd €04
ay0048113ds 624
QyX0049113dS ¢TL

a4y 004497113dS 104

JAV MOY NOLONIYHYY Sy
a4 T1IH AaN1nd 9€£

Q4 T1IH AIN1Nd 8EL

HA NIASHIAI L¥S

ay >00d49113ds 8¢L

ad 00448113dS 91

ad J004dd113dS 00L

Q4 TTIH ANLNd €04

Qa4 T1IH AaNLNd 02L

Qa4d 71IH AIN1Nd 8TL

JAY NADIOVHE SCL

IAV NADIOVHE €EL

a4 11IH AINLNd T0L

Q4 71IH A3NLNd S0L

g9N49 YHINVYWYS ‘Avad 13INVA ISYHO ‘Avd

HALNNH YNHSOr ‘SINOr

OT13TIATLLIAYL 40 SHOLONYLISNOD H B H

O1T1dTIATLLIIAVE 40 SHOLONYLSNOO H® H

O1TITUAILLAAVE 40 SHOLOMHISNOO H® H

VAWMOS ‘AGQIHIHINW NIIAVYEd VIO

IHIVY ‘HONIS N33AVHd ‘AVAVA

VHHLIAVd ‘IINVONVHOW

INVHAVIAN “VINWNN3A AQQ3YHSIHYN V10

AVI ‘NVITIN YOISSAM ‘NVITIN

YANOTVYHO “1739dWVYD

TYNOS “TYMYOd TYAVHA ‘H)3dvd

dYHAINVINIW ‘WYHANYD

[HHLVAVO ‘NYAISANYHL NVAISINYHL ‘IvT1IdVIvdYavyN

331SNYL ILLINNY NIFTHLYN ‘ZNIFHNIZ DI 33LSNHL AUNIH dITHIH ZNIFHNIATY
OT1171ANY

T11344VA ‘NYWIIH] YNNVOI NAYHLY ‘AvY

I ANIATLLIAVL O SHOLONHISNOO HR H

071 3TIIAILLIAVL 40 SHOLONYISNOD H® H

IAVY ‘VT13LYNIIT TTIIVdYTTvY

VLIHdNNY “TILVd HSIOVIN ‘NYHLYNYHONVd

NOY3T Y3dSVI ‘SINOSf

1 SYWOHL Q4VHOIY ‘Y314vD I10DIN INVIWVYHS Y31HVO

0119340308

3117 3403S

Avd dIAVA “T1IIMOd

AT1032 NIY3 ‘advHONY4Na

331SNYL AYNIH dITIIHd ZNIFHNIZT 331SNYL ALLANNY NIFTHLY ZNIFHNIT
331SNYL FLLINNY NIFTHLYN ‘ZNIFHNIT T 33LSNYL AYNTH dITTIHd ZNIFHNIE
33LSNYL ILLIINNY NIFTHLYY ‘ZNIFHNIF T 33LSNHL AYNTH dITIIHd ZNIFHNIZ T
ANIAYN 311S3T Y3 TXIHL SIMITITVA W3 XIHL

OT1ANY

OT1171ANY

165



£6S/2 DN ‘NOTNG3Z
£6S.TON ‘NONg3Z
£65/2 ON ‘NOTNG3Z
£6S/CON ‘NO1N93Z
£6S£T 0N ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S/T ON‘NO1NG3IZ
£6S4TON ‘NONg3Z
£6G£Z ON ‘NONG3Z
/BSLTON ‘NO1Ng3Z
/6S/2 ON ‘NO1Nd3az
£6G/2 ON ‘NO1Nd3z
£6G4T ON ‘NO1Ng3az
£6S/2 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOINgG3Z
£6G/Z DN ‘NO1N93z
£6S/2 IN ‘NO1Ng3z
£65/2 ON ‘NO1Nd3z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S£T ON ‘NO1Ng3aZ
L6522 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S4T ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£65/2 ON ‘NONg3z
/65T ON ‘NO1Ng93z
/6542 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NO1Nd3z
£6G4Z ON'NO1NG3Z
£BSLZ ON ‘NOINg3zZ
£654Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
L6542 ON ‘NONg3z
£6G4T ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S/Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6SLZ IN ‘NO1INg3z
L6542 ON ‘NONg3az

HA NIASHIAT £L0S

HLVYd XO0LSAVH 1T

H1vd #001SAvH 80

H1vd J001SAvH £0L

Q4 X00Yd113dS 80L

AV MOY NOLONIYHYE vii
Hlvd XO01SAvH 0¥L

IAV NONNVO 3 91¢T

JAV MOY NOLONIddvd 0
3AV MOY NOLONIdHvd 605
Qd T1IH AININd 614

AV MOd NOLONIddvd 00t
AV MOY NOLONIddvd EEY
JAY MOY NOLONIdHvYd €11
H1vd X00L1SAVvH 90L

Q4 004da113dS 1¢L

JAVY MOY NOLONIYHVYY 81
JAY MOY NOLONIYYvVa vy
IAV MOY NOLONIYHYdE SOF
HLlvd XD01SAVH 2vL

HLYd ¥D0.1SAvH 0L

H1Vd XO01SAVH evL

H1Yd XO01SAvH 614

H1Vd XJ01SAvH S0L

JAY NONNV9 380CT
ayio0ddm3ads LT14

ad 11IH AINLNd 0€L

HLYd XO01SAvH TvL

a4 T1IH AIN1INd 624

ad NNNd 10 €10¢

3AY MOY NOLONIYYHVd S¢S
3JAY MOY NOLONIddvd 025
JAY MOY NOLONIYHVE LTS

OT1 NOLONIYYvd 24d

IHINVY) ‘INVSYTVIW NAVE HLYYYS ‘V11vdiTNHA
YAWMOS ‘VONVA S AIHLEY ‘INVHAVIVINIHO
WAINNOW ‘ACQAIHIONYD YMHSIA “YOOANNM

NAY Y4VL1SNIW DIvd NYIW3 ‘HIAVA AYWHY QHOW AHVYIW WYSSYE ‘HITVS
NOQNVYd VNNV ‘LLIINNIE STWVI SYWOHL ‘L1INNIE
7014a3L “dONIW

OTT INTWIDOVYNYIW ALd3dOHd NOLNHOHL
OT1NOLONIYdvd 344

OTINOLONIdYvd 344

OTTNOLONIHYYE 044

OTTNOLONIddvYd 044

OT1 NOL1ONIddvd 04d

OT1 NOLONIYYYd 244

IHLYMS ‘AT13AVYI3E VWYY HSIANY ‘WYAVHYS
IA3Q IWHSIYT ‘YVIVA NGYE YHAVYNITLS ‘WHVA
1SNYL ONIAI HAIVHS NVHYI d0089HIW ANV AIWHY HISYL 331SNYL VHZY ‘HAIVHS
HYd0830d JLHM

[ NINJYW ‘TT13ZZIW 1VANVYHO IT13ZZIW

071 S31143d0dd 19317138

MIHANY ‘FAVIVIN

YNOMI ‘ZVIWOT NY( ‘ZYIWOT

YIvH VOVUN ‘VTTIAVY IHVINM

YI4VYIW VSIT 331 NITTV AIAVA 337

( HL139VZI13 “43HSId W NHOf “43HSI4

INVYIAG3Y ‘FTIVANIEYE HYIVHIAW ‘VINNDILT

OT1 SINTWISIANIZWOOZ

JIYAL ‘SINYVE

HOSANIM NYHLYNOT ‘SIWYAY NIY3 NINLIVO ‘'NMOYE
ONOWAVY ANOHLNY ‘NMOUYd

VN33 VIHVIN ‘STHHOL ZIANVYNYIH

VYNdVMS ‘VAONONVHIAIA

H139VZI13 AJTHSY ‘UIAIDIW NYHYI 30NHE “dIAIOW

166



46842 ON ‘NO1INgG3z
L6542 ON ‘NONG3z
£6S/T ON ‘NO1N93z
£6S4Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
L6542 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S4T ON ‘NO1NG3z
L6542 DN ‘NOTNg3z
L6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S/2 ON ‘NO1INg3z
/6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
/6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S2Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£65/2 ON ‘NO1ING3z
/652 DN ‘NOINd3z
£6S/Z ON ‘NO1Ng3zZ
£6522 ON ‘NO1INg3z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S.Z ON ‘NOINg3zZ
£BS.Z ON ‘NO1INA3z
£BS.Z ON ‘NO1INg3zZ
/6542 DN ‘NOT1Nd3z
L6842 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
/652 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOINg3Z
/6542 DN ‘NO1Ng3z
/6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
L6522 ON ‘NOTN93Z
/6542 DN ‘NOTNd3z
/6542 ON ‘NOINg3z

JAVY MOY NOLONIYHYd 905
AV MO NOLONIYYVYd 2¢0S
Q4 TH AINLNd 80L

JAV MOY NOLONIdHYd OvY
JAV MOY NOLONIdHVd 8¢y
JAV MOY NOLONIJYYd 91r
JAV MOY NOLONIdYVE 0
AV MOY NOLONIYHYE TS
JAV MOY NOLONIYHYE 019
JAV MO NOLONIHYYE 909
JAV MOH NOLONIHYYE 09
JAV MO NOLONIHdvd 209
JAY MOd NOLONIHdvd 009
JAV MO NOLONIdHYd €65
JAV MO NOLONIYdVYE 065
JAV MOY NOLONIHYVYd 986
JAV MOY NOLONIJHYE 285
JAV MOY NOLONIHHYd 085
JAV MOY NOLONIHHVYE 0
JAV MOY NOLONIJYYE 84S
JAV MOY NOLONIdUvdE vLS
JAV MOY NOLONIYYYE LS
JAV MOY NOLONIdYvd 04LS
JAV MOY NOLONIddvd 995
JAV MOY NOLONIdHVd vSs
JAV MOY NOLONIHHYd 0SS
3IAV MOY NOLONIYYVYd 97S
JAY MOY NOLONIYYVd 1S
JAV MOY NOLONIHYYd O¥S
JAVY MOY NOLONIHHVE O
JAV MOH NOLONIdHvd 625
HAa N3IASH3AT 8¢S

HAa N3AsH3IAI vy

1SNYL ONIAIT NVSSNYE INDINOW FHL 33LSNHL INDINOW ‘NvSSNve

HYWMINVLIHO ILYdITYIN

YNHSIENIAOD ‘ITIVdYIVHINIHO

WYITIIM NHOS “d3S3avi

1SNYL ONIAITHXIVHS S009HIW ANV AIWHY HISY4 331SNYL YHZV ‘HAIVHS

NVSNS ‘SH3LVM
OTINOLONIddve 04d
OT1 NOLONIddvd 04d
OTTINOLONIHHYd O4d
OT1NO1ONIddvE O4d
OTINOLONIddve 04d
071 NOLONIddvE O4d
JTINOLONIddvE 0d4d
OTINOLONIddve 044
OTINOLONIddvE 044
OT1NOLONIdYvE 044
OTINOLONIHdVd 044
OTTNOLONIYdvd 04d
OTTNOLONIYYVYE 244
OTTNOLONIYdva 044
OTINOLONIYHYE O4d
OT1NOLONIHHYE D44
OTTNOLONIYYYEa 044
OTINOLONIYYHVE O4d
OTINOLONIHYYE O4d
OTINOLONIdHYg O4d
OTINOLONIddvd 04d
OTINOLONIYYYE 044
OTINOLONIdYvE 244
JTINOLONIHYVE 244
OTINOLONIYdVYd O4d
OTINOLONIddvd D44
OT1NOLONIHYvYd O4d

167



L6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
(6542 9N ‘NOINg3z
£6G/2 DN ‘NO1Nd3az
£6G/£Z 3N ‘NO1Ng3Z
£6G/Z ON ‘NO1NG3Z
£65/2 ON ‘NO1Ng3az
£BSLZT ON ‘NOINg3z
L6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£BS£T ON ‘NO1N93z
/652 ON ‘NO1N43z
£6SLZ DN ‘NO1Ng3z
£65/T DN ‘NO1Ng3z
£L6S/C ON ‘NOINg3IZ
L6522 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£65/2 IN ‘NOING3Z
£65/2 IN ‘NOING3IZ
£65/2 ON ‘NOING3IZ
£6S£Z ON ‘NO1INg3aZ
L6SLZ ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S/Z DN ‘NOTNg3z
£6S£2 ON ‘NO1INg3z
/6542 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£66/Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
LBSZTON ‘NO1Ng3az
£66/Z DN ‘NONG3z
£6G£Z DN ‘NO1Ng3z
£65/2 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOTNG3zZ
/6S4Z DN ‘'NONG3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NONg3z
L6542 ON ‘NO1Ng3az
£6SLT ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S.Z ON ‘NO1INg3z

JAY MOY NOLONIYYVE ¢es
a4 0049113ds 529

AV MOY NOLONIJdVE 6€5
JAY MOY NOLONIddvd VS
JAY MOY NOLONIddvdE TrS
ad TIH AANINd €T4

4a N3dSHINT 8TS

HA NIASH3IAT 02S

4a N3ASH3AT ¢cs

HA NIASHIAI vES

HAa NIASH3IAT GSS

Ha N3ASHIAT €96

HA N3IASH3IAT 1SS

HAa N3dSH3AT SvS

HA N3ASHIAT E¥S

HA N3AsH3IAT 6ES

HQ N3IASY3INT LES

HA NIASHIAT GES

4a N3dsH3AI ees

HA N3IASH3IAT 6¢S

HA N3IAsH3IAT Les

dd NJIASHINT 62§

HQ N3ASH3AT €25

JAY MOY NOLONIYHYd St
Q4 X%00dd113dS ¥0L

JAV NATAOVHE 624

JAV MOY NOLONIdHVE 9€S
AV NADIOVYdE 0¢L

JAV MOY NOLONIHHYYE 9TS
ad X004d4971134S S0

JAV MOY NOLONIYdVE 0TS
AAY MOY NOLONIHHVYE ¢C9
JAY MOH NOLONIHHYE 9¢G

YOSTHONVHS ‘SONVINIWHY TINWYS ZIANITIW

OT1 ITTUAILLIAYL O SHOLONYLISNOD HBH
OT1 3ITNAILLIAYL 4O SHOLONYLISNOOH B H
OT1 ITNAILIAVE 40 SHOLONYLSNOOH® H
OT13TIAILLIAVS 40 SHOLONYISNOO H B H

$SOY NIT13 AHLOYOA ‘NHINVA STTHVHO 13VHOIW ‘NHONVA

OT1 ITNAILLIAVL 30 SHOLONILSNOD H® H
OT113TNATLLIAVYS 40 SHOLONYLSNOO H® H
OT1 ITIAILLIAVL 30 SHOLONHISNOO H® H
0T ATUAILLIAVL 40 SHOLONYISNOO H B H
011 INTAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONYISNOO H B H
0711 3ATIAILLIAVS 40 SHOLONYLISNOO H B H
071 3TTAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONYLSNOO H R H
011 3THAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYISNOO H B H
27171 3TNAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYLISNOOH B H
0171 3TNAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONHISNOO H B H
OT1 ITNAILLIAVL 3O SHOLONYISNOOH® H
011 INNAILLIAVS 4O SHOLONYLSNOO H® H
017 ITNAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYLSNOO HR H
OTT1INMIAILLIAVL 40 SHOLONYISNOOH® H
011 3TTAILLIAYA 4O SHOLONHISNOO HR H
OT1 ITAILLIAYL 4O SHOLONYLSNOD H® H
OT1 ITAILLIAYL 4O SHOLONYLISNOD H® H
TAVHOIW AYVHOVZ '133IMS

VYNVANVYdS ‘IVMTVd 4 TVdI4S ‘IVAVIVd
J0ULSNT ‘MYATWY

[YNHAYIA ‘VINANVYN LIHOY ‘NON3W

331SNYL YWYANNY ‘HONIS 331SNYL LIWY “dYINNX

vYQa3(44 ‘NOLSIM-SINO!

Z SINNATO ‘NISNILSIHHO WYITIIM AHOD ‘NISNIALSIHHO

VYAVIN 3TINVI ‘NYIWLYYd

OVH YNNIYYHAITIVIA ‘TINTTVA IHLNW ‘1aNdvaN3g

YANVWY VTHY ‘I9A0H

168



£65/2 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£65/2 ON ‘NOTNg3z
/6542 ON ‘NOINd3z
£6S/2Z ON ‘NOINd3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOTNd3z
L6522 ON ‘NOINg3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3zZ
£6S£Z ON ‘NOING3Z
L6542 DN ‘NOING3Z
L6522 ON ‘NOINg3z
L6522 ON ‘NOINQ3z
£65/Z DN ‘NO1Ng3zZ
£65/Z DN ‘NO1Ng3Z
£65/2 ON ‘NOIN83zZ
/6542 ON ‘NO1Nd3z
£6G4Z ON ‘NONd3z
£6SLT ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOTINg3Z
£65/2 ON ‘NOTING3zZ
L6542 ON ‘NOTNG3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOTINg3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOING3Z
/6542 ON ‘NOTNG3Z
£6S42 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
LBSLZ IN ‘NOINg3IZ
L6S4Z ON ‘NOINg3IZ
/65T ON ‘NOTNg3zZ
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3AZ
£6S4Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S4Z DN ‘NO1Ng3z
L6542 IN ‘NOINg3Z

JAV MOY NOLONIHYVYE OEY
a4 NNNd Q10 918T

a4 T1IIH AINLNd 0TL

HAa N3IASH3AT pSS
NT1314400 0

IAY MOY NOLONIHHYd 1785
HQa N3dSH3A3 0SS

HQa NIdSH3AI 8€ES

JAV MOY NOLONIdYvd C¥S
H1Vd XO0LSAVH 60L

HLVd AD0L1SAVH StL

Qd NNN4g 410 600¢

40 N3dSd3Ad 9€S

JAV MOY NOLONIdUvd L2S
Q4 71IH AIN1Nd 8¢

AV MOH NOLONIHdVE vES
HiVd XO01SAvH €14

JAV MOY NOLONIHYVYE 255
ddNNNgd100

AV MO NOLONIdYvd 0ES
JAV MOY NOLONIHYYE 0
3IAY NONNY9 3 05¢T

40 N3ASYIAT OFS

HQ N3dSY3AT 888

AV MO NOLONIdYvE €28
gy X004g113dS S¢L

Q4 004d49113dS 604

IAV NADIOVHE €L

IAV NADIOVYE 8¢L

IAY NATADVHE TCL

Qa4 T1IH ASNLNd #0L

Q4 TIHAININd TTL

AV MOY NOIONIYHVE LES

3SIN3Q 3717314EVD “‘SANOT

SAa7314 YNYIQ “TTYHOSYd

JdOH H138vZI13 ‘ATIANNOD

OT13TNATLLIAVL 40 SHOLONYISNOO H B H
ONINOILYIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIHEvE
OTINOLONIddve 944

OT13TIAILLIAVL 40 SHOLONHISNOO H® H

0771 3TIIAILLIAVL 40 SHOLONYISNOD H B H
JTINOLONIddvE 044

VIINOYIA VANYL ‘SNVAI Q NOSVI ‘SNVA3
[HNHAYIW ‘ATTVdVTTIONYL HYIWNN VS THNANY
FT0DIN ANVHSIL ‘NMOYE T¥aN.O INIATVHID ‘NMOYHE
311 ATIAILLIAVE 40 SHOLONHISNOO H B H

d VANOS ‘NOSNHOfM 4 HLAY ‘NOSNHOf

HSIYVH ‘1ad3d IA3AIYS ‘ISHYd

[INHAYIW ‘VINANVN LIHOY ‘NON3IW

VAAVN ‘VIVIVIA IAVY ‘TINLNddNA
OTINOLONIYYvE 044

OTINOLONIYHYE D44

VIHSVLVN T3LSIH ‘NYIWIHOS

OTTNOLONIHdYYd O4a

1SNYL 3790ATHHI HI1FTHM  HONVITI FLSNYL Uf SOTHYD STAWY ‘HIT1IIHM
YNIWOTIHd ‘SMIHLLYW Hd3SOr ‘SMIHLLYIW

3NNV NALSIEN ‘AHdYNIW

VHSVL ‘ANAYT

011§340OS

011€3400S

1N01VE ‘0azZV WYY 1308V ‘ATIVMLIW

A13Di10 ‘SNIDOIM NIWVINIE ‘SNIOOIM

ANIVI3 VIHTTVA ‘SYWOHL

1HN21ANKW IVIVE ‘NTNAYSIN IHLYAHVAYAIS ‘WYANYINVHENS
VANIYE ‘HONIS TNHSNY ‘HONIS

VANVAYT INHSIVT ‘YHYYN

169



?194Z ON ‘HOI3 VY

£6SLZ ON ‘NOTNG3z
£6S4T ON ‘NOINg3z
£6G/Z ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOING3Z
L6S4C ON ‘NOINg3Z
£65£Z ON ‘NOTNQ3z
L6SLZ ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6SLT ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S£T ON ‘NOINg3z
£6SLT ON ‘NOINg3zZ
£6SLT ON ‘NONg3Z
£65/2 ON ‘NOINg3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOINE3Z
L6SLTON ‘NOTNG3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3z
46542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOINgG3Z
£6SLT ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S£T DN ‘NOINg3Z
L6SLZ ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOINEg3z
£6S4T ON ‘NOINgaz
£6S/Z ON ‘NO1NQ3z

Q4 390id NIJAVH 0T0TT

40 LNIOd ANNNS 6240T
4d INIOd ANNNS L1401
4ad INIOd ANNNS 02401
a4 NNNd 10 6012

Ha LNIOd ANNNS 8207
Q4 NNNd d10101¢

40 WYV4 IMOTISNIM 0TS
Ha LINIOd ANNNS S2401
Jd NNN8 410 £L11¢
AMH L6 ON 3 TerT

T4L ANNOHOVLS €SL0T
T41 ANNOHOVLS 67201
AMH £6 DN 3 SO¥T

Ha INIOd ANNNS 72201
Q4 3OVITIASHEVd 0
T41L ANNOHOVIS 7¥L01
4a INIOd ANNNS TCL0T
T4LANNOHOVIS 98401
TdLANNOHOVIS S¥L0T
AMH £6 ON 36091

TdL ANNOHOVLS 6201
AMAHGEONO
TdLANNOHOVLS LELOT
d4 NNNd 410 00T<

ONINOLLYIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH DN NOLONIHHVE

$3SS3YAAV ALHIdOYd JA0AY IHL NVHL SSTHAAY ONITIVIA LNIHI441a V HLIM SHINMO ALHIdOYd 4V MO39 S3SS3HAAY
331SNYL d INNIY ‘NIMA0O0S F3LSNUL UM L WYITHIM ‘NIMAO09

AVIAVT ‘AT1LNVYHE S VNHSOS “ALIINYNG
VNNV ‘SIM3TNHOf ‘SIMI1

“H AHO93IYD ‘HOIH

VNVIQ NIY3 ‘NOI4L1IH MIHANY HHYIW HOIHLIH
HIJINNA( ‘INIIN NILSOI “INID

71VANIHE ‘NVWYH ( QHYMA3 ‘NVIWYH
AVANOL ‘SIAVA D AV ‘SIAVA

HLIGN ‘NNVIN NIATY ‘NNYIN

"SANNC ‘SWIS "W HLINNI ‘SWIS

31V NVSNS ‘HONAT LLOOS MIYANY ‘HONAT
9 AYYHIL MYVIO

071 S3i143d0Hd 9N10 TVYLIdYD

Nvaiga ‘LLoiT13a

T1044VO 3 ‘W3ANAOS

INNIIHAY ‘SWYITTIM LINOHAL ‘SWVITIM

d Y3JINN3( ‘N3LLYvd O YNHSOr ‘NILLvd

[ YANIT “T1044VO T43IHJOLSIHHO “T104YYO
NNV3TVHWIWYL ‘NOSIHHOW 13INVA AdY3d ‘NOSIHHOW
ONI STYIHALYIN NOLONIWTIM

4 AT1E HHVIO W NIATN HYV1D

331SNYL L NVSNS ‘LLNOOH 33LSNYL d STWV( ‘LINOOH
W YNNOQ ‘30Vd V NIHHVM ‘I0Vd

W YITNT INOS04 O NNAT ‘a8YNIOI

(avou NNNg @10 ST6T WO a3LvII1dNad LON) 1304Vd QvOH NNNE 10 LT6T WOY4 135440 .05 NIHLIM 34V MO39 $31143d0Yd

£6S£Z ON ‘NOINg3z
£6SLTON ‘NOINg3zZ
£6G£Z ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6G£Z ON ‘NOINg3Z

Q4 T1IH AINLNd 904

HLVd 1001SAVH 6¥.L

AV MOY NOLONIddvd SvP
H1vd XO01SAVH v¥L

AV MOY NOLONIHUVYE v2S

A NVINYS ‘WIVAYAYD YHSWYHANS ‘V13ANYd
VHSY ‘WYSYHAVNHSIENIIUS
OTTNOLONIdYvd 944

4 VTIHMIN ‘VIANYIVINND AQd3d HINVMSYT ‘VIANYIVINND

HYISYHE ‘VNHYMS

170



8¥T0C VANOL3TdINvHg
£8S/2 DN 153404 PIVM
0952¢ ON ITTIASIHHOW
€¢54¢ DN X3dv

96S4¢ ON ITNASONNOA
€1G4¢ ON AdVYO

61S.C ON AUVD

ZP1582V 33O NIIND
TTS4C ON AYVD

71942 ON HOITFvd
61542 DN AdVO

/6542 ON NOTN83z
61S4¢ ON AHVYD

6/¥/L XL ANVTHVYONS
8¥T0C VANOLITdWYHE
09576 VO JHVYMIN
T168/2 ON AYVD

S¥S4¢ ON FTVALHOINA
61542 ON AdVD

EVOTZ AW ALID LOITTT
£654C ON NOTNg3z
99576 YO NOLNVSYIid
T£10Z YANOQNYIH
906/% NI JLLIAVAVTLSIM
£654¢ DN NONg3z
8¢yse

05956 VI SIWOO1
L6S/Z ON ‘NO1INg3Z
GI9ZZ ON ‘HOIF VY

¢80¢E
T4 ‘HOV3E 3QH3IA IINOd

HAa STIv4 31INIO 991 ¢
LOONIZVO YvISv¥ece
NTNMOL SILYV €T0T

AaN4 3YIdS LPS

Q4 HOYNHD WIHITHLI39 198
1d VALY 62€

JAVIAVO AZOD 8Y1T

AVM AOVIHYVO I TSTTC

60C 1S Q4 WHv4 3HIVAI OvTT
1O ALLIMANIM SOETT

13 L13AYNH 804G
LrSX0d0d

HA H3LVMNITO €CrT

10 1SIW NVOHOW 0181

0S IA0D SNYAITINS 6E0EC
3AV 3341HOVId 9558

Ha SITNVSHIA 80€E

064X04 Cd

TdL 091NV 7291

Td1 INOLSdVOS S186

JAV NONNVO M TOST
ONYHITVS 1A VIA 96T
NT3ION34 INOILS Lvee
137VINOTOO 91T

AMAH¥9C SN A0 8ETT

0S# S QAT HVd DIV EOVT
12 SAOOM JILSNY §5¢¢
8911 X04d Od

€0cdls

gy 3ISN3IN JHL 40 ST1v4 0024
vz3ls

AT0UID FOVTTIA SSYHOMYS 000€T

YYHAINMYYNIW ‘WYHANYD

IHHLYAVO ‘NVAISNINYHL NVAISNINVHL ‘IVT1IdVIVdYAYN

IAVY ‘Y1131 VN3 TIVdVTIvY

VLHdNNY “11LYd HSAOYIW ‘NYHLYNYHONVd

071934008

OT1ANY

AVHLYT ANV NIvd YAVYVA NIV VAVIWYNYHA 40 331SNdL
J3LSNYL NIYH YAVINYNYHA ‘NIVY YAVHVA

VINIHLYdd ‘WYNOSE YHANIOVYN DV

OTTH1Vd X001SAVH 2eL

VHSY ‘WYSYTIAYNHSIEIIIYS

WINVAIRd ‘VTNNNWILLOD N HLINYY “VILNAAY IV

ANAVd V1IONY “INVd IONIUMVYT STWYT “INvd

VdNHIN ‘WYNVAVONS HSIWVH ‘NYIVHYONIY

VYNIIAVYHd ‘IONVY

WINVAIY ‘V1ANNONING VA TIHS VAVANYIW

IONVH VWYY ‘NLLYO AYSYHd VHWISYYN ‘NLLYD

OT1S31L43d0Hd ATIWVd4 131vd

S@13I4 YNVIQ “TIVHOSVd

IH1334d ‘ATTVAVIVEWYI YAYHOVYH ‘VAVIWYIYN

OT1ON SIWOH 2dW

AV HIJINNI( ‘“O90H NVIE ADVHL ‘O90H

331SNYL VTINd INVAYd ‘AQd3d 331SNYL V1INd HVHAIYS ‘Add3d
YAHSAVT ‘|L80S WAIHAYY ‘NYHLYNYMSIA

H VIIHIN ‘VIANWIVINAD AQd3H HINVMSY! VIANWIVINND
QOOH HLIANr ‘NNaaw

1SNYL 3790AIHHI HI1FIHM M HONVI T3 331SNYL HI SOTIVO STWVT ‘YITITHM
331SNYL AUNIH dITIHd ZNIFHNIZ T 33LSNYL TLIINNY NIFTHLYN ZNIFHNIZ
aTr ‘NOSHOIYANIH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIHANIH

O ITUAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONYLISNOO H B H

OT1 NOL1ONIdYveE 044

171



09542 ON ATASIHHONW
€0G/Z ON X3dv

61642 ON AdVD

£2G4¢ ON X3dV

L6542 ON NOTN493Z
61642 ON A"VO

9654 DN ITTASONNOA
9654 ON ITNASONNOA
9654¢ ON ITUASONNOA
€164¢ ON AdVYO

0954¢ ON ATTUASIHHOW
SOTOC VA ATV

S¥SL€ ON ITVALHOINM
07542 ON SONIYdS ATI0H
6154C ON AdVD

61SZC ON AHVD

8109 1l QdvaAWO
¢88.4¢ ON 3dOH 9NIYdS
8VT0C VA NUNGHSY
8£054 X1 ¥3dS0Hd
GGE6T Vd NHIATVI
61S/2 ON AdVO
€TLLTON WYHYNA
61S4¢ ON AdVYO

61G4¢ ON AdVO

¢5880

£226¢ DS VIWNT0D
£LBSLT ONNOTINA3Z
£6S4¢ DN NO1NG3zZ
09G£2 ON ITIASIHHOW
£0£6¢ OS ANV NVIANI
TCT1596 YO 3S0f NVS
09516 VO AdVMIN

1O AUS3IHd 2TT

YA ANYISIavIHATva TE8T
1O MOTIIM AVE 8TE
N113ndDNOY Avd 898
8€8X04 Od

a4 NOILV1S 34Id HILINIdUVD TCeL
ad HOYNHO W3HITHI3E 188
Q4d HOYNHO W3IH3TH139 198
Q4 HOYNHO WIHTTH139 198
TdLdIM480TT

a4 TN HOON3dS 60€

T1d 13SNNS 34 660€€
N7T311AI9AILNY ¥O¥S

HA ANVIZVALTOC

13 MOTIM AV 8TE

JAYIIVO AZOD LEET

1O NHOOV 9151

1SHONVHG 3 61¢

431 WHVY4 ANVTADNG €6¥EC
NTAYNEHSY 009

QY INIOd AYHVNO £2¢

AVM JA0HO NO1dWVHD 870¢
40 SIHOIFH ALJOT 81T

40 IA0HO NOLSOND 800T
THLIO0Y Y3dSIHM LT0T

a4 M3IN 85¢
103vVOo3qIMTE

1S JHOWVOAS M TOS
0¥€X04 0d

4 IN10Od 30Vd9 6002

dA VSIW SINNH 189

AVM 3DV Id ATIVM T85E
AVMAT3 ITINL S0L9

IHIVH ‘HONIS NIJAVHd ‘AVAVA

HSIYVH ‘1aa3d IA3QIYS ‘ISHvd

MNHAY ‘VINANYN LIHOY ‘NON3IW

[HNHAYIA ‘ATIVAYTIFONVL HYWNX IVS THNANY
J10DIN ANVAHIL ‘NMOYE TVIN.O INITVHIO ‘NMOYE
YNIWOTIHd ‘SMIHLLYIW Hd3SOT ‘SMIHLLYIW
011€3400S

O11¥3403S

071534008

N NVINYS ‘VIVAYAYO YHSWYHANS ‘V13AINVd
VYAN3YE ‘HONIS TNHSNY ‘HONIS

VANVAYTINHSHV ‘VHHYN

YOSTHONVHS ‘SONVINIWHY T3INWYS ZIANITIW
VYNVANVYdS ‘IYMTVd H TVdIYS ‘IVAVIVd

[INHAYW ‘VINANVN LIHOY ‘NONIW

JALSNYL YWYANNY ‘HONIS 331SNYL LINY "HYIWN
Ovd YNNIHIYHIITIVIA ‘TINTIVA IHLNY ‘IdNdvanN3g
1SNYL ONIAITNYSSNVE INDINOW 3HL 331SNYL INDINOW ‘NVSSNve
YNHSIHXIdO9 ‘TVdVIVHINIHO

YAWMOS ‘VONVA S HIHLYYN ‘INVHAVIVINIHO
WIINNOW ‘AQQIHIONYD YVMHSIA ‘HOOANM
IHLIYMS ‘AT13AVH3IE YWVE HSIANY ‘WYAVHYS
IAIQ IWHSHYT ‘WIVA NEvE YHAYNIIHS ‘WIVA
1SNYLONIAIT HAIVHS NVHYI 9009HIW ANV AIWHY HISY4 33LSNYL VHZY ‘HIIVHS
OT153114340dd 10317138

INVHIAA3Y ‘I1TVdNIHYE HYIVIIIW ‘VINNDILT

OT1 SINIWISIANI ZWOOZ

HOSANIM NVHLVYNO( ‘SWYAV NI43 NINLIVO ‘NMOHE
QNOWAYYH ANOHLINY ‘NMOYd

VNdVMS ‘VANOXNVY3IAIQ

VAWMOS ‘AQQIHIHLNW NIFAVHd V10N

VHH1IAVd ‘ILNVONVYHOW

TYNOS “IYMHOd TYAVHA ‘HN3HVd

172



€2-€.19

133HS Y3A00
NVY1d 431SVW

NOISIAIGENS avod NNNE @10

QOLNW e A

*LOGIN 'NOINaIZ

40 NMOLTI¥ HLIM NIANOQ 38 T

TV (3108

NOILONYLSNOD HOd LON
ATNO M3IA3Y "Od

e .

YV

" S | s
Vd ‘IO NOISE 156V

{0 MALEVI O L) v
TR IR

L4 0
7O TOTIIEONTE|

L4 09
TEISIBHIE:

14 0 JAUTTY WO

L4 OZ 3N AMVIINNOR 48 WV WA

L4 TN AUVONNOE 1.U9 501 WO
40132110 219 MO

L30Z .28 AMH DH'F G NG G0 WOk

{IOVHYE QYO INOHA M |4 E_EE"EE:EIDJ
T RO

Lioe;
U ININRES.

wiimw|

T AIROW
RLIL

T HISRLSRRNS;

28 00b'D]
U IDM LRSS

48 T2 (NN SN
T ISRISRG VaKy 101

42 0oD'S}
4#) 1333 34006 008°Z|
TV H YORITRIST |

SGHYANVLS TYNOISNIWIQ ]

o,

101

384 36¥7¥OR 00R% JVIL M - GLrva30] DY z
e T VT —

Lin 3331 4B4) E30348 F9ML 30VH 3ALLYH 40 HOUVTIVASM

ot o 28 55T NOOMVE WOLYNITIO DMLV VE

—UE S L T

B ol oLan TS o o
el ANIOW 1) BHDRIV DNk LIALE-NG IO MOBAGHEA
HOMRAJIBNS HOF
selts nowOY T WoLIGES | ENeY
TIAVL 8ANIOd DI04 TV NILVMA
NVd 3dVOSONVT Ve
NY1d 3dVOSONVT 011

e

5

\

]

133IHB VL3O NOLLDIE 133HLS o |
NYid JDYNIVEO WHOLE ' DNIQVHD [ o]
NVd 3DVNIVHT WHOLS ? ONIQVHD [ ]
NVId ALOILN FED
N¥d ALILN 0E-D
133H8 ALV IdWIL HONYL 3 920 |
NVd ONILHOIN g0
NV1d 3DYNDIS 20
NVd 101d18108ns £e¢0
NVd ORISYHd T0
N¥1d LNOAVT NOISIAIQENS vza
NV1d LNOAY NOISIAIOBNS 020
NY1d NOLLITONIA 'F SNOLLIONOD DRLLEIX oo
133HS 8310N 7 8ON3D3T oo
A3AUNS DIHIVUDOJOL 7 AUVONNOH

133HS HIAOD 000

SNVd OL X30NI

005 =, ¢
d¥YN ALINIOIA
| L igsgsassi

—

_
S

.\. -t E\\.\.lu\ f../.f\lls /

e T

_,7,/,
=

!
i

— aus

By

8965SS| # ISVO NOTING3IZ 40 NMOL
16522 YNINOYVO HLYON ‘NOTNg3z

NOISIAIdEGNS avod NNNg alo

‘04 NVId ¥3LSVIN

£ MEBWIAON NOOUNY.LS AB QaHY3Nd
¥.1¥ NO!

e
123VHL WOU (& VL Y 1iVHENIO dIbL
15 —wa |
1| st | epost | 61z | Aunnon pemy A sfig
L TOPISE | 012 | Buanoy ppanaq Apirg mdirs
: om
a| = | enpon
ANAVL NOLLVHANID didl
T LLo AMH DN ONY Ou NNNG 010 NONOUYDIC0  OVEROY(
LY
FIovaStn
aLvie
D2 SATT ROV N0
202 3101aWOHNMOL  ONFN RLONH0 N TV.IOL
LV8:8LOTAMOH ABNYTIONIS

(OVZL8D M 100 IS TVIOL  Adnung)
(v a'v0L) 49 CLLYRS'Y W (OV 1690} S0 LYTHT  vauy 1ROMWd

= oooRed)  adeva
LORLLBIA{G4) INIMIOHIARD CINNY IS

(o) 0C-TVILNG QIS I
_2LOdTMLNE VU
011004 K000 YA ‘0330
HESIRBHE
nemaz
186IT SN NOTERZ 1
QYOu NG QIO Ji6 hgy PRIIOTY MG |
L60LT ON NONEEZ 1
SSHENOBOd  HERENMO

a1 way

R T o
oo sewoupcomsesfiemnts “TVIED

NIty

IAYLVIVA LS




2401 133Hs | "V |

S Bt

9000LYZ_ON 8O
aif
I . 2
— Iy o H ! \ ¢}
HIGH a8 N T N i > 4 w :
= T 7 ,... A . S = S L (N N > O
_./ /., .\\ /// ™ W QKU m
R S A NN 3 &8
2 A aNG Sul * 4
. ! J . Q N
\\ / jp— - A * a O m &
S L FSEAN n AR w BT E 1y
.\_\ P P \\ o ._,./ \ m. m::—:...:.:: [G] n nU. W M
e 4 e .. 4 o o
/ “ \ Mt &4 g
{ Y _ i1 O =X
B, R &S £
......... \ I i« Qu S
. ! uacaEnch (e(BOGHS + 4 mmc
: o
Q [
P-4
5 m g 3
[} = =
@ O3% &
e 3
= m mp..
o F 9
§7u I
W Wil ~N m m
g3gan @ 3 K
u| &l ] Q
B8 s a
Bees ki s
Bae H| i m g
o = | i 3
w3 )\ - i il s
g Y \ it il S
M y 4 4 1 2 m ESESENEEE -
\u ..\./ / A %.
S ; :m
x
=
b3
§
g
s

/ ,._
P T
i Vo m
i [
i Lo i _
! R & i
= | \ 3
“ ,, B :
, 1 \
/ - . - ||,, 1 mm ww M
o ! i : 3
i 3
gl i .
#al o o =
- 1: .—. H mu m o
W e Ty Gammon £) m n: 4 113 mu. o
g [T T 77 B . ! i s "m
m. 1§ mm mu m
_ m._ sthl e a0 3
S > ,_|:.un_.._J|+|_.._.._||_rJ.4..!._||_.4,1|1|_.._114.4.1.1|T|_J.. A —




o7 ‘Siokenns pue; GWOIMIN

ooy W Sdier 8002

‘ybeey 6oL 8IS

G192 ON

0081-4¥8 (616)

.00L=_1 AWIS

FILE NAME: m\a

dIHSNMOL ¥3AIE I1LLN

ALNNOD IUVM

VNITOYYD HLUON

POT DATE: 7,/18/24

b Gugonl
.2 il

e
i

r—— ©)

|
i

L e S LAt 1]

m__:::_m.:m“

NOSMOIYANIH 'Q 17Ir 8 "0 SYWOHL
40 S3t1H3d0¥d
AJAYNS DIHAVHSOJOL 8 AHVAONNOE

} 133HS - INFAT HOLVW

VW ALINIDIA

1 N
/ e A _\/\
" .\u e ; “ nl NC_GRID NOFTR
! H \.\ - ,_w h J,l/ MAD B3/2011 ¥
A i A
/ \ \ \
.,‘,\ /l\)...lffl/ - . ..__ M n, N ﬂ
. B S ~ 4 Ly e
e S ¢W S -
S Owoll  SOTHT 1.5z 5T ﬁ 11 \
um . /
i
o b
aE ¢ Bt (L SR
| SHEET 2OF 2 / [y




i

LEGEND

C_J
mﬂaﬂqo‘m

o W EUBTNQWATER P

———— U= EUBTING WATER FORCEMAIN

e — s —  EOMTMOWATERFRELNE

OITING BATARY SEWER PIPE.

s COSTING BAMTARY BEWER FORCEMAN

EasTING BTORMPIFE

14

EUSTINO CONCRETE

EUBTH ABPHALT

EXISTH STRUCTUAE TOBE REMOVED

L]

R RN

RO

ﬁ e .r.,\_

\{J\vg\/ EaTING TREELINE

EBT0 UTL
PROPOSED WATER PIPE

PROPOSED WATER FRE LINE

PROPOSED BANITARY BEWER FORGE MAIN
PROPOSED 610RM PIPE
PROPOSED aAB PIPE

—¥—a——x—— rROPOSEDFENCE

e

PROPOSED TREE PROTECTION FENCE

= — — —WT — PROPOSED S ITREE PROTECTIDNFENCE
B BN PROPOSED GREEWAY

—o

© —— PROPOSED OUARDAAL

Y™ morosenmesue

— ¥ FENGE

—>

FPRHED FLOOR ELEVATION
FLowLmE
Taporcurs

Tor oF aROIND
EDGEOF PAvEMENT
Tor oF PAVERENT
ToroFwAL
BOTTOM OF WALL
oo ramT

Low POk

FLow OmEcTION

GENERAL NOTES:

1. ALL CONSTRUCTION 3HALL BE DONE ® ACCORIANGE WiTH THE TOWN OF ZEBULDN, NCOOT, NODEG, ANG MUTCD:

‘STANDARDS AND BPECIICATIONS.

3. COCUPATIONAL BAFETY AND NEALTH

(e

1

e
&
»®
=
=
@
u
>
o
1

el

BXTIG RIPARIAN BUFF B

PROPOSED GONGRETE

PROPOSED ABPHALY

PROPOBED LIGHT DUTY ASPHALT

PROPOBED PAVEN BN TREFAR

PROPOSED GRAVEL

PROPOSED OPEN BPACE

PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANGE

T-DAY STABLZATION

14DAY STADLIZAVON

PROPOSED 68 MAKHOLE

PROPORED 88 CLEANAUT

DEMOLITION NOTES:

4. THE CONTRAGTOR 18 RESPONSIGLE FOR OBTAMING ALL LOCAL AND STATE PERMITS REQURED FOR DEMOLOION
WORK.

2 -y HMOR ENGIS R FOR AHY AHD.

ALL WURIED ANDYOR DAMAGES TO PERBONNEL, EQUIPMENT, ANCYOR, EXI1TING FACILITIES IN THE DEMOLITION AND
‘CONBTRUGTION DEBCRIBED B THE FLANS AND SFS5EICATIONS,

3. WKSTING CONDITIONS AS DEPICTED ON THEBE PLANS ANE GENERAL AND RLUSTRATNVE IN WATLIEE AND DO NOT

10. ALL OPEH STORM DRAIN PIPES BHALL B PROTECTED WITH STORE FRYER PROTEETION AFTER STOPPAGE OF WORK
BAGHOAY.

1. CONTRACTON SHALL ADHERE TO ALL TERMS AHD CONDITIONS A8 OUTLIVED IN THE GENERAL NPOES PERUIT FOR
ET0RMWATER DIGHAROE ASSOCATED WITH CONATRLICTION ACTWITIER.

12, ¥ AN OFFBITE SOL SPOR OR DORROW GITE 19 UTILZED, THEN THE DMTLMBED AREA FOR THE SPOLBORROW SITE
MUST BE INOLUDED I THE LAND-DISTURANGE 1 ssi AND PETAMIT UNL E23 THE SPOLAGRROW SITE ALREADIY HAS A
LAND-DTURBANGE PERMIT.

13, COWMUACTON BJALL FISLD VERKY DXTING TOPGGRATHY I RELATION TO THE Fecesiite GRADES T0 EMBURE

'DFFERENT THAM THOBE BHOWN, THE CONTRAGTOR BHALL NOTIFY THE EHOINEER DMEDIATELY.

4 ALL BGSTING ABOVE AND BELOW ORGUND STRUCTURES WITHIN THE LIIITS OF NEW CONBTRLCTION BHALL BE RAZED
LNLESS HOTED GTHERWISE WITHIN THib CONSTRUCTION ST, ANDIOR PROJECT BPEGFICATIONS. THIS INGLUDES
FOUMDATION SLARS, WALL 5, AND FODTANGS.

5. ALL GEMOLITION WASTE AMD GO TRUGTION DERA18 SHALL B REMQVED BY THE CONTRACTON AND DISPOSED OF 81 A
STATE APPRGVED WASTE SHTE AND 1N ACCON DANCEWITH ALL LOGAL ARD STATE CODES AND P SAUIT REQURSMENTS.

§. AL UTLIY REMOVAL, RELOC. oG Avor snaL e

APPROPRIATE UTRLITY OOMPANT,

7. THE DURING OF CLEARED MATERIAL AND DERRIS HALL HOT AE ALLOWED UNLESS CONTRAGTOR GETS WRIITEN
AUTHORIZATION FROM THELOGAL AUTHORYT(E5.

5. MUNICIPAL AND UTRITY CONTAGYS ARE LITED O COVER BHEET £0.0.

[ o
IFATIN OF DENOLITIIN AQTVITIES.

10, ATHEDVOS OR HAZARDOUS MATERIALS, ¥ FOUND ON SITE, BHALL BE REMDVED BY A LICENSED MAZARDOUS
MAVENIALE GONTRACTOR. CONTRAGTOR SMALL MQTIFY OWNER MMEOIATELY F HAZARDOU2 MATENIALE ARE
ENCOUNTERED,

1. CONTRAGTOR SHALL FROTECY AL CORNER FE¢S, ONUMENTS, PROPERTY CORINERS, AND BEMCHUARKS DURENG
"CEUDLITION ACTNITIES, F DESTURRIED, GORTRAGTOR SHALL HAVE DISTUREED ITEMA RESET NlY ALICENAED SLAVEYOR
ATHD ADDITIOHAL CORT T TheE GNER.

12. CONTRAGTOR SHALL ADHERE TO ALL LOCAL, BTATE, FEDERAL, ANO OSA REGILATIONS WHEN OPERATING
'DEMOLITION EQUIPENT ARGUND UTLITIED.

13, CONTAACTOR SHALL PROTECT AT ALL mon
AcTWITES.

44, AL DEMOLITION WGRNK SHALL BE PERFOUED WITH "DUE GARE AND DRLIGENCE™ 5O AS TD PREVENT

14, CONTRACTOR $HALL INITIATE GONSTRICTION WEQUENGE BEFORE BEGINNNG GLEARNG AND GRADING ORAMITE
OPERATIONS.

18 FTRIF TOPROR TOFULL

17, AREAS TQ BE GRADED MHALL BE CLEARED OF ALL BXSTING VEGETATION. CONTRACTOR 10 PROTECT VEGETATION
LOGATED BEYONO QRADIG LETE.

15, COMPAOT AL FUL.

..

20, ALL 21 S1.0PEA, WHERE SPECFIED, TO GE BTABLLIEN WITH TURF RERSORCEMENT MAT PER WANUFACTLRERS
REGOMMENDATICNS.

21, THE FLAGEMENT OF AMY Filt, MATERIAL MUST B CONDUGTED UNDER THE ORSERVATICN OF A GEOTECHNICAL
'ENGINEER, AND UPOH COMPLETION OF THE EARTHIWORK ACTVITIES, THE TOWN OF 268ULON MLST BE PROVIDED WITH
ARNAL THAT iNGLUDES TesT REBULTE, AND CERTFIES THE
TYPEOF FILL MATERIAL AND IT8 FROPER PLACEMENT,

RETAINING WALL NOTES:

12. EXTING UTIITIES. AND TRUCTUNER aHOVAL, BOTH LNDENGROUND AND ABQYE GROUND, ARS RASED ON FIELD

‘REPREBENTATIVE MMEDIATELY.

13, THE COMTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSSLE FOR THE LOGATION ANIVOR RELOCATION OF ALL BOWTING UTLITIES I
COGRDMATICN WTTH THE APPROPRIATE LITLITY, AGENGY, OR COMPANY. CONTAAGTDA TO GODRDRIATE ACTVITIER
WITH UTIL TV GOMPANIES INVOLVIED DY ANY RF8ATED RELGGATION (LE POWER POLES, TEL EPHONE FEDEBTALS, WATER
METER®, €TC).

14, ELETRIC, VELEMAONE, QAS, AND CASLE TV SSTYIOE3 ROUTING ART HOT APART OF THIS PLAN.

18, 17 1 THE GONTRAGTORR RESFONSMILITY TQ MSTALL ALL METERS, APPURTERANOES, AND SERVICH LIHES AR SHOWN

WATER AND BEWER STANDARD HOTES:

.o
D A i3 SPE G ATONE.

2. UTAITY BEPARATION REQUREMENTR:
21, AOISTANGE OF 100" SHALL BE MAITAINED SETWEEN BANITARY SEWER AND ANY PRIVATE O PUBLIO WATER

PRIVATE IELL O 84" FROMA PUBLIC WELL.

2:2, WHEN WHATALLING WATER L/OR LEWER MARS, THE HORZZONTAL SEPARATION BETWEEN UTILITIED BHALL BE 10'. F

‘SEER 3 MUST REAPPROVEDSY THE FUALIC UTKITIES DNECTOR. ALL DISTANOES ARE MEASLIRED FROM DUT$DE
CMAMETER 1O GUTIDE DIAMETEN.

WAL AT THEWALL,
LOCATED W9 ANY $TAEAM GUFFERS, AND THER CONMTRUCTION DOES NOT ENCEOACH INTO ANY ADIAGENT
THEWALLL

2. RETARIN WALLS ARE 7O BE DEMGI-BULD FROVEGTS BY THE CONTRAGTOR. 1T BHALL BE THE QONTRAGTORS
RESPONMBILITY TD COTAM FINAL GOMSTRUCTION DRAWNOS FFioM A REGISTERED ENGNEER AND OAM ALL

UMIDENTFED, BHALL &E REPORTED TO THE GHNER / ORVELOPER, AND ENGNERR AND REFORE REOVAL FON FIAL
DarouTION,

15, ALL UTALITIER OR BYRUGTLIES KQT DESKINATED FOR REKOVAL ORl MODFICATION ARE TO REMAIN AND 8 E PROTECTED.
FROM OAMAQE, ANY DAMAGE TO LTI ITIES OR STRUCTURES BHALL £ REPARED OR REFLACED 10 MATCH ORIGHAL
CoNpmon.

T8, EXSBTING PAVEMENT, GURS AD QUTTER, IDEWALK, ETC. NOT INOICATED FOR REMOVAL, WHICH (8 DAMAGED OURHG.
S TRUGTION, SHALL BE REPAR ED O RERLACED TQ MATCH ORKGINAL CONDITION.

PROPOSED BLOW 0FF ASGEMALY

PROPOSED VALVE

PROFOSED METER VAL T

PROPOSED HOTBOX

PROPOUED W MANHOLE

PROFOSED WY BALET

. FaL Tome

AN WDEPENDENT 00L3.

16, ANY NOTE, O REFERENOE TO ANY ELEMENT, WSCH DOES NQT APECKY ACTION BY THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE
‘CONTTRUED A8 INFORMATION ONLY.

19, ALL PIPE PISTALLATION, WHEN REQUIRED AL
TRENCH BCKES, ALL EXCAVATIONS, UTL
AND FEDERAL RilL EB AND REGULATIONS.

20, THE GEMERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE ALL
REGUNED TO COMPLETE

21, UMNLEAS QTHERWISE NOTED, ALL EXGSTING VGOTATION 10 REMAM AND 70 BE UNOISTLRED FOR THE DURATION OF
CONSTRUCTION, IF DAMAGES GGGUR 7O EXTING VEGETATION, PLANTA EHALL B EREPLACED B4 KIND.

reouMED Py

3. RETABING WALLS BRALL BE ASSUMED orr.aE
LIRS T CORTRAGTOR G| PRCVIDE 10 THE OWMER EVEL PR WIT GONPWATIGH PXOM THE OZOTESHAORL.
G SRR AND THE RETAINING WALL DEBIGNET TRAT READILY AVAILABLE ON SITE BORS GAN B LR 6T

4 THE TOP ANO BOTTOM OF WALL BLIVATIONS SHOWN ON THEBE PLAKS I0ENTIFY FINBHED GRADE ELEVATIONT ONLY.
THE EXTENT THAT THE ASTANING WALL WILL B EXTENDED BELOW GRADE TG THE FOQTING OR ABQYE GRADE TO THE
TOP OF THECAP BLOCK GOURSE SHALL GE IDIXTISBD ON THE RTASNG WALL GOBTRUCTION DRAWNGS.

B, ALLAETANING WALLS OVIR 30" HIGH SHALL HAVE A BASETY FINGE (DEBIONED BY GTHERY). ALL SAFETY RALS BHALL

MEET CURRENT NC BUILDING COOE. SAFETY RALS SHALL §€ 47 I HEGHT WITH OPENING MO MORE THAN 4~ WITH THE
‘SOTTOM AL HO MORE THE 2~ ABOVE GAGUND.

’

#44Y TIERACK svaTEMA FOR
TowN.OF ZEBULON EASEMENTS.

WALLS BHALL MOT BE THE PUBLIC

7. BIORMWATER RUPLOFF 8HALL BE DIRECTED AWAY FROM AETANING WALLE. ANY RUN-OFF FLOWING

23,
WATERMARY| ENGASEMENT |
SFECFIED & NSTALLED 10 WATERL(HE S7ECIIOATIONS,

24.0.0° MININUM HORIZONTAL
UNLESS DIP MATER AL I BPEGFIED FOR SANITARY SEWER,
2.8, MAINTAW A8 ML VERTICAL SEPARATION AT ALL .

VERTICAL SEPARATION AT ALL SANITARY SEWER & RCP 3TORM DRAIN GROBSINGS. WHERE ADEQUATE
SEPARATIONS GAHNOT B E ACHIEVED, SPECIFY OM MATEVIALS & A GONGRETE GRADLE HAVING 8~ M, GLEARANGE.

2.4, ALL OTHER UNDERGROU
SERARATIONREQUIRRD.

L VERTIGAL
3. ANV NECTRAARY FIELO NEVIMOKS ARE BUEJECT TO REVIEW & APPROVAL OF AN ANENOED PLAN /OR PROFLE BY THE
TOWN OF ZEBLL OH PUBLIG WORKS DEPAR TUENT FRICR 1O CONBTRUCTIGH,

4 DEVELOPER ZMALL FRDVIDE 30 DAYS ADVANCE WRITTEN HOTICE 7O OWHIZL FOR ANY WORK REQUIRED WITHN AR
EXTING TOWN OF ZERULOW UTAITY EASEMENT TRAVEREING PRIVATE FROPERTY.

5. CONTRAGTOR SMALL MANTAIN CONTINUGUS WATER & BEWER SERVICE TO ECETING RESIDENGES & BUSHERSEE
THROUGHOUT CONBTRUOTION DF PROJEGT. ANY NECEMARY SERVICE NTERRUFTAOMS BHALL 8 PRECEDED BY A 24

REFANKG WALL SHALL BE KEPT 10 AN AROUUTE MINAUAI AND BROUGHT TO THE ATTENTION OF THE WALL
"DEBIGHER PRIOR 10 THER DEMGN.

4. RETABING WALLS AD BHCWN REPRESENT TGP OF WALLS, THE WALL DESIGNSN (3 RESPORMILE FOR DETERMKING
‘CONBTRAINTS FOR ANY TISGAGKS, WALL TAPERS, ETC. DUE TO THE FREHENGE OF EASEMENTS, UTILITIES, BULDING
FOUNDATIONS, 8 UFFERS, ETG.

5 FROM THE TOWNOF

6 AT ALL AREAS WHERE THE RCTAIING WALLS ARE RESG COWSTRUGTED, THE REDIFQRCING NEEOED FOR THE
TIEBACKS CANNOTBELOCATED WITHEN & OF PROPGSED UTRLITY LINES.

.
ALLREUSE MAR.

7. 7 THe OEVELGY 10 ABANDON OR REMOVE o« sower
080 e REEYBL e 55 SIS, INLERS OTHERWAE DVESTED 47 . YOWN O FEMUARFY FUBLIO WO

OEPARTMENT, 75188 INCLUDES ABANDOKING TAP AT MAIN & REMOVAL OF SEVICE FROM ROW OR EABENENT PR
ZERAON PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTLLENT PROCEDURE.

8. WSTALL 1* WATER SERVICES WITH METERS LOCATED AT ROW OR WITHI A 232" WATERLIE EASEMENT BRIEDIATELY
ADJACENT. NOTE: IT 13 THE APPLICANT'S ARSPOHBBILITY TO PROPERLY SZE THE WATER SERVICE FOR EAGH
COHNECTION T0 PROVIOS ADSQUATE FLOW & PREBSURE.

BLOGK A GRAVEL RaLET PROTEGTION

BLTFENGEOUTLET

CONCRETE WASHOUT

TRALBIOE EXERGRE STATION,
LOGATED EVERY 4308400 LF
ALONG GREEWAY TRALS

(oSNA) BTANDARDS FOR
PARY {320, SUBPART “P~ ARPL(ER TO ALL EXCAVATION EXGEEDING FIVE (3} FEET N DEPTH. EXCAVATION EXGEEDNG
TWENTY (20) FEET W DEPTH REQUIRES THE OEWOMH OF A TRENCH BAFETY SYSTEM B A REQRTERED FROF ESSIONAL

3. EQUIFMENT AND PRODUCTS OTHER THAN THOSE $PECKIED MAY RE LSED PROVIDED APPROVAL HAS BEEN ORTAMED
FAOM THE OWNER / DEVELOPER IN WRITING PRIOR T0 OROGNING OR INATALLATION. THE CONTRAGTOR SHALL WANVE
ANY CLAB FOR ADDITKIHAL COST RELATED TO THE SLNSTITUTION OF ALTERRATE EOWPMENT. FIELD SURVEY

PERFORMED JLY 18, 2024,

6. THE CONTRACTDR BHALL KQTE THAT THE DAAWIHAS MAY NOT SHOW EVERY CFFSET, TRAKSITION, FITTING, ETG. THAT
MAY HE NZQURED, THE CONTHACTOR BHALL SRSTALL SUCH STAMDARD APPURTENANGES AB REGUMIED TO GLOSELY

ToR RESPOMSIL

FOLLOV THE GRADES AND ALKIHM ENTS DBPICTED ON THE PLAKS,

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTEY NCRI1 (TELEPHONE 811 OR 1.$00-433-404%) AT LEAST THAIE {3) FULL BUSMERS BAYS
FRIOR T0 BEGINING CONSTRUCTION OR EXCAVATION T0 HAVE £USTING UTILITIER LOCATED, CONTRACTOR 1O
‘GONTACT ANYLOCAL UTLITIES THAT PROVIDE THER OWN LOCATOR SERVICES INDEPERTIENT OF NCA 1. REAORT ANY

ORBCAEPANCIER 10 THE ENGINEER MMEDIATELY,

CONTRACTOR I3 REGPOWSILE FOR COGRDNATING CONSTRUCTION ACTMITIES WITH THE APPROSRIATE UTLITY

‘GOMP ANIES FOR ANY REQURED RELOCATION {LE. POWER POLES, T2l EPHONE PADEATALE, WATER METERS, U1C.)

XSTING UTRLITIES SHOWN ARE BABED ON FIELD SURVEYS ANO THE GENT AVALABLE REODRD CRAWINGD, THE
CONTRACTOR BHALL VERIFY CONDITIONS PRIOR TO REGINNING CONSTRUCTION. ANY DISCREPANGIES BETWESH

AGTUAL FIELD GONDITIONS AND THE PLANS SHALL BE AEPORTED 10 THE GNOINESN NMEDIATRLY.

@, ALL DMENSIONS AND GRADES SHOWN ON THE PLANG BHALL BE FIELD VERFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR FIVOR 10
CONSTRUCTION. CONTRACTOR RHALL NQTEY THE GWNER I ANY DISCREPANGIEB EXIST PRIOR T0 PRO
CONSTRUGTIGN FOR NECEMMARY PLAN O ORADE CHANGED. NO EXTRA COMPENBATION SHALL B5 PAD 10
‘CONTRACTOR FOR ANY WORK DONE DUE TO DIMENSONS ON ORADG SHOWN INCORNEGTLY ON THESE PLANG (f SUCH

HOTIICATION HAR NOT BEEN GIVEN,

10, THE GWNER. DEVELOPER SHALL BE REAPONRIIBLE FOR ALL WITALLATION COBTA ABSOCIATED WITH STREST LIGHTING

nE zorR

0. waTAL avicEs @ tnEa
=
7. Retarsa IGHED TO NBURE MO UL o i
. THEWALLE, T
PerER 10, PrERBUE WATER BERwICES PAI; BAGKWATER VALVER ARE
= - THETOR OF ALC RETANSID HALLS B EXCESE OF 3 HIGH AHD WHIRE PRIORS REGUMED ON ALL SAMTARY BRWER SERVICES HAVEW BLLDRKI DRAINS LOWER THAN 14" ASOVE THE MEXT

PRELIMINARY PLAT NOTES:

ARE DEEMED REQLIRED O NECEBAARY Y THE TOWN OF 2R LLON. FENCEB LOGATED E YARDS BrASL

62 BLACH ViYL EPGXY COATED CHARAINK.

STORM E NOTES:

1 m WAL, ceien

RADU DMENBI44 ARE TO BACK OF CURS.

2 ALLRAURTOBE Y4000 UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED,

s oA
MUTOD BTANDARDS AND SPEOFICATIONS .

GO TO THE J HCDOT, AHD

4 A

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE ALL LASOR AND MATEAUALS FOR THE WNSTALLATION OF TRAFFIC SKIMAGE AND
PAVEMENT MARKINGS A3 EHOWN ON THE CONSTAUCTION FLANE.

4, AL TRAFFIC BYMS BHALL UzE PRI
THE LATEBY EDITION OF THE HUTCO.

. AL BTREEY BIGNS SHALL ADHERE 70 THE 2000 MUTGD REQUIREMENTS RELATED TO COLOR, LETTER CASE, AND
LETTER HEWOHTS.

’.
.
* veEvau

1. ALL AGCERSEL sanse,

12, MEW CURS RAMPE NUST MEEY THE CURRENT NG BULDING DODE AND IOGIANS! A117.1:2068 FOR 8LOPE [(MAX 112,

4. AL STORM DRARAGE PIPES SHOWN ARE TO B CLASS 1l REMFORGED CONCRETH PIPE (VCP) UNLESS OTHERVISE
notED,

THE LATERT AN NCOOT
‘BTANOARDS Aif SPECEICATIONS.

S oA TP b FLEXBILE PLALIG GASKETa L E54 QTHERVIE HATED.

. THE INTERIOR SURFAGES OF ALL STORM DRANIAGE STRUCTURES SHALL BE PONTEI UP AND BMOCITHED 10 AN

2
3.
4, MLerE onTE SHALL
e
.

. ALL BACKFILL BALL BE TE CONSTRUCTION
MATERAL, OR OTHER DBJECTIONASLE MATERIAL. SAID MATERIAL SHALL BE OAPABLE OF BERG COMPAGTED 6Y
MECHANIGAL e TAMPRG
BLOW2 OR PROCF ROLLING,

7. MATERALBDEEMEDAY THE
'AND REPLAGED WITH BUITAB L E MATERIAL

4. BACKFLLING OF TRENGHES G/ALL BE ACCOMP THED MMEDIATEL Y AFTER FIPE 18 LAJD. THE FILL AROUKD THE PI#E.
SHALL AE THOROUGHLY CONPACTED TO S0% OF THE MAXMUM DRY DENBITY GATARABLE WITH THE STANDARD
PROCTOR TEST, THE TOP & SHALL BE COMPAGTED 10 100 FERCENT BTAMDARD FROGTCR.

12. HCDOT 1 RANROAD ENCROAGHMENT AQREEMENTS ARE REQUERED FOR ANY UTLLITY WORR [BOLUDMQ KAM
'EXTENBIONS & SERVIOE TAPS) WITHB STATE O RALRGAD ROW FROOR 10 CONSTRUCTION,

CONNECTION COORDINATOR FOR ACH DVIGE PRIGR T ISSUANCE OF A BLOQ PERMIT.

14, NOIGEFON PRGIEOTS WITH BEPSAGED O CYERBZED WA THE TS 0EMDLISELEST FOR A0UERSTED KA
PRCARIOT 4UST i FABLIOLY B0

GENERAL PLANTING NOTES:

1. ALL LANDAGAMNG SMALL 85 NSTALLED ACCOADNG TO BOUND NURSENY PRACTIORS AND BHALL MEET ALL
4TANOARDS AN BTATED I THE LATEST EDNTION OF 'AMBRIGAN BTAHUARD FOR NURSERY BTOCK',

PLANT LIST QUATITIES ARE PROVIDED FOR
"DRAWRNOS BHALL TAKE PRECEDIMCE,

W THE EVBT OF e

WIOTH 48", AND A =4’ LANDING HOT EXCEEDING 7% SLOPE AT THE TOF OF THE RAMP.
AND BPOT BLEVATIONS PROVIOED.

13, CURN RAMF LOGATIONS ARE APPROKMATE ONLY, WHEELCHAR RAMPS BHOULD BE LOGATED AND COMITRUCYED N

14, OETECTABLE WARKINGS ARE REQUIRED AT AHY CROSOWALK, OR ISLARD CUT THRU, WHERE THERE 1 HOT CHAKGE I
ELEVATION (LE.RAMS HOT PROVIDED).

18, WITHIN THE B(GHT OITANGE TRLANOLES BHOWH, HO CBBTRUGTIONS B ETWEEN 7 AND 19° IN HEIGHT ABOVE THE LIS
LINE ELEVATION $HALL AE LOCATED IN WHOLE OR M AR, OBSTRUCTIONS INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LBIITED TO, ANY
BERU, FOLIAGE, PEMCE, WALL, 8XaN, OR PARKEO VEHIOLE.

. icame.

17, DRIVEWAYS SHALL BE COMPLUNT WITH THE TYPICAL PARKING DIMENSIOND N THE TOWM OF ZEBLLON, AND NCDOT
TAHDARDS ANT BPECFICATIONS.

. u ..s;.?
GRADING NOTES:
. e _—
et o

g
.

b
o

P

)

‘ORDER TO OEVELOP A STREETLIGHTING PLAN FOR THE PRELININARY PLAT.

11, BEPARATE BULDMG PERMITS ARE REQURED FOR RETANWWG WALLS, EOARDWALKS, BRIDGED, CUMPITER
IBICLOSURER, MONUMENTS, 6K, OR OTHER ACCESSORY STRUCTURES GR ELEMENTS. CONTACT THE TOWN OF

ZERULO INSPECTIONS DEPARTMENT,

2, PAVEMENT SEOTIONS SHALL BE CONFIRMED BY GEQTECHNICAL ENOMEER PRIOR TO BEQINNING ROADWAYE

CONBIRUGTION.

MEET THE MOBT CERRENT NC BTATE BULDING CODE SECTION FOR SITE

ERCENT AWAY FROM THE BULDING,

7. ALL XSTIG TREES, VEGETATION. PAVEENTS, COMGRETE FOUNDATIONS, STRUCTURES AND ORGANIC TOPIOR
BHALL BE STRIFPED AND REMOVED FROM NEW CONITRLICTION ANEAR UNLESE OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. AL AREABNOT PAVED SHALL BE

€0, seenen, ™

0. CONTRAGTOR SHALL BE FIANCIALLY RESPONSILE FOR DISPOSAL DF AL WASTE MATERIALS OFF SITE. Thas
RESFONSIBILITY BHALL INCIUDE ALL REQUIED APFROVALS AND GONDI TGN 54 TATED RY THE TOVIM OF ZEBILON.

o noem
PLACED.

40, MIPE FOR RODF DRAIND BHALL BE PVG BDR-28 AND PLACET I ACCORDANGE WITH TOWN DF ZEBULON SANITARY
‘3RWER STANDARDS AND BPECIFIGATIONS.

».
u
pB!:E.B-.Er:;ﬁ:::zoo{,z:otaz.ps.r.:ﬂ!a:oesipnoz;z...l!s.:m
REBRORABLE FOR ALL DANAGER NCURRED BY HISHER WORK.
[

METHODS OF TREE STAKNG INOICATED ON THS DRAWIGS ARE BUGOENTIONS DMLY, THE LANDICARE CONTRACTOR
snaLL METHGO HE DEEMA FIT, HOWEVER NE WLL BE HELD LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGES CAUBED TO

" e Anm WAL
AGCROMG TO TOWN OF ZEBULON'S STAHOARDS,

by

GENERAL UTILITY NOTES:

1. AL UTIITY WORK SHALL NE DONE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PLANS PREPARSD BY PASST DEBIGN GROUP. PA, THE
CURRENT REQUIREMENTS OF THE TOWN OF ZESULON. THE CURRENT REQURMENTE OF CITY OF RALBIGH, THE

APPUCARLE SECTIONE OF THE NCDOT STANDAND BPECFICATIONS FOR ROADWAY CONSTRUCTION A%D ALL OTHIRY
PERTIENT FEDENAL AND STATELAWS.

2. THE CONTRAGTOR SHALL COMPLY AT ALL TIMES WITH APFLICARLE FEDERAL, RTATE AND LOCAL LAWY, PROVISIONR,
AT POLICIES GOVERNING SAFETY AND HEAL TH, M4GLUDING THE FEDILAL CONBTRLIGTION BAFETY ACT (PLELIC LAW
94-54). FEDERAL REQITER, CHAPTER XViL, PART 1528 OF FITLE 20 REGULATIONS, OOGUPATIONAL BAFETY AND HEALTH
REGULATION UPDATRIG THERE REGULATIONS,

VRSES Y MPROPER ATAKING METHODS (GR ABSENOE OF STAIHG) AND 18 AEBPONNIELE PO UPRIGHTING AND
"REFLANTENG TREES WwHICH ARE BLOWH OVER.

. AL AREAS NOT
‘S0DOED AB GRATE LAWN

ALANTBED,

. AL

.
7.

o eTRUCTURES.
*.

10, ALL PLANTS BHALL GE 8¢ ACOOROAHGE WITH THE LATEST EDITION OF THE AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF HURSERYMEN
AMD SHALL BEVIGOROUS, HEALTHY MATERIAL FREE OF FESTS AND DISEASE.

11, VERFICATION OF TOTAL 00/
CONTHAOTOR, AMD THE TOTAL

S, THE CONTRACTOR BHALL BE REDPONDBLE THE PROJEGT
2 TO BE CONSTRLICTED PRIOR 70 THE SUBMIESON OF A 81D, SUBNISBION OF A BID SHALL BEE CONSTRUED TO MEAN
THE CONTRACTOR HAS REVIBNEO THE SITE AND 1§ FAMLEAN WITH CONDITIONS AND CONSTRAMTS OF THE HTE,

4. EEFORE EXCAVATION, ALL UNDBRGROLND UTILITIES S1WALL BE LOCATED IN THE FIELD 6Y THE PROPER AUTHORIIES.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY HC, 811 AT 611 OR 1800432848, THE LOCATION OF ALL UTLITEER AMD
UNDERGROUND STRUCTURES ARE APPROXMIATE AND MAY NOT ALL BE 8HOWN. 7 (8 THE RESFONSIBILITY OF THE
CONTRAGTG T ONTERMINE THE DISTRNGE AND EXACT LOCATION OF AL UTLITIER ANO UROERGROUNO
BTRUCTURES.

. I 5 THE RESPONGISLITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO BID AND PERFORM ALL UTALITY WORK IN COMPLIANCE T0 ALL
APPLICABLELOCAL AND BTATE CONES AND REQLE ATIONS.

. THE CONTRAGTOR SHALL BERERRONAISLEFO ALL FEES ASSOCIATED WITH THE INSTALLATION, INBPECTING, TESTING
440 FIRAL ACCEFTANCE OF ALL PADAGS ED UTL ITIES CONSTRUICTION.

. e OMPANY ON THE ADGITION, RIMDVAL ANDIOR

PROPOSEDUTILITIES.

5. ALLUTILITIES 5MALL OE WSTALLED i ACCORDANGE WITH THE SPECFICATIONS OF THE RESPECTIVE UTILITY COMPANY.
1T 18 THE REAPONSTLITY OF THE CONTRACTOR 10 ENSLAE ALL UTILITIEN ARE WISTALLED CORRECTLY 1O MEET
FROJEOT REQUREMENTS WHETHER PERFORMED BY THE CONTRACTON O NGT.

10. CONTRAGTOR SHALL VERKY ALL LLUSTRATED UTLTY CROSINGE PRIOR TG CORMTAUCTION AMD NOTEY THE
ENGINEER F GOMFLIOTS ARE ENCOUNTERED.

1. ALL TONN OF ZEBULON UTLITY CONSTRUCTION BHALL BE PERFORMED IN ACOORDANGE WITH CITY OF RALEIGH AND
TOWN OF ZEBULON STANDARD P ECFICATIONS AND DETALS IN EFFECT AT TBAE OF UTILITY PERMITTMG.

2 MABITAIN AL PLANT BEOY AND PLANT MATERUAL IN G00D HEALTH, ANIY ANY DEAD, UHHEALTHY OR
USSR FLANTS BHALL BE REPLAGED WITH THE SAME FLANT MATERIAL GRKINALLY SAECIFIED ON THIS PLA.

13, PLANT MATERIAL ON THIB BITE MUST B INSTALLED @) OONFORMANGE WITH THE GENERAL PLANTIG NOTED AND
'OETALLS OV THIS PLAN OR T0 THE STANDAR DY GF THE TOWN OF ZESULO,

14, LANDS AL
ok,

15, ALLLANDOCAPING WILL HEMAINTANED B: FERFETUITY.

IoENEES 10 PERFORM

16, HO PLANTING, UTRUGTURE, FENGE, WAL, BLOPE, EMOANKMENT, PARKED VEHIGLE, OR GTHER GASTRUCTIN Ta

VISION BETWERN K FEET aniD “IME CENTEMLINE GRADES OF
WTERBEGTING WTREETS! B LOGATED Wt AREQUIRED SHT OFaT: N
ACCORDANCE WITH THI ORDINANGE AND NCDOTS 2T/

17

PA3ST DESIGN (RO, PA
Enginesring | Consulting

A

Fon ;.
EASIIOOD houes,

RGN, NORTH CARTLSA 21873
Lo 1 s 11

7101 CRITAON R0, STE 115
Pop.

T ;872003

OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION
TOVASTERPLAN
LEGENDS & NOTES

FOR REVIEW ONLY
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

'NOTE(s): ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE DONE IN ACCORDANGE WITH ALL TOWN OF

2EBULON, NCDOT, WAKE COLINTY, X MUTCD STANDARDS AND BPECIFICATIONS.

C-0.1

PROJECT NUMBER

673-23




NVd §31SVIN

NOISIAIQENS @vOd NNNd @10

wwores an

YV

T o | S
Vd ‘10D NOISE( 156V

NOILONHULSNOD ¥0Od LON
ATTNO M3IAZY dOd

Uoazmiwu )
(13350

ITVOS DIHAVHD

1‘ = T / BE * wwouyoota = ol
— el H Bt 2y
|\/.q|\ _ - ,x./ \1 e 3 3 . grepmmas <
[ NN 5 T
5\ A o B =
\ A o = e :
Yy

LD G N

3

\
g g

1
1

X
i
b

e
== 4k

=
] Im

tof s T
205 O e &

\

VAN

Ry

L




178

NATOULINE o st
e [ MUTCD “8TOP* 1+
CONVENTIONAL ROAD:
SINGLE LANE: 307X 30"
MULTI-LANE: 38" X 36"

SINGLE LANE: 307 X 20

] MUTCD “GROSS ROAD INTERSECTION" W2-1
CONVENTIONAL ROAD;
MULTILANE: 387 X 3™

[T MUTCO "PEDESTRIAN" W11-2
Q CONVENTIONAL ROAD:

| BE=SE @om MuTCD AHEAD" WisoP
(SUPPLEMENTAL WARNING PLAQUE)

Englnearing | Consulting
07 opearte et 1 200, R, Merth Caeng 2901

" DESCRIPTION _|WIDTH
@ PAINT WHITE 8TOP BAR 2w

PA3ST DESIGN (ROWP, PA

@I PaNT | wHITE cROSSWALKLINE | 24
€9 PAINT | wHITE8TOP aAR [ k
'LEGEND

4

% TRAILSIDE EXERCISE STATION, LOCATED EVERY
+1-300-350 LF ALONG QREENWAY TRAILS THAT
ARE IOENTIFIED AS PRIVATE (OWNED AND

THE

710t CRETWOOR ROWG, SUTE 15
RALEH, NORTH C/ROUN 27613
PROIETT CAOG LR

WOV LN SRVCTORS_ U

NTE ;872025
oecT

153

PRORELT SURETOR:

53

W ron
chSTR0D s, v

4
3
]

T

! ; i :
i FRONT SETRACK | [FroNT seTRACK

- RONT SETBACK _ | H

= 4

v L

i b ! % ] M
N o TYPICAL TYPICAL TYPICAL EASTWOQD
i L] ESTATE LOT AGE-TARGETED LOT CORE PRODUCT LOT

MASTER PLAN
SITE LAYOUT PLAN

ZEBULON, WAKE COUNTY, NORTH GAROLINA

OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION

- ——STREETN _Elnr
P——— == -
= . §
\ TYPICAL REAR LOADED T TYPICAL REAR LOADED
TOWNHOUBELOT TOWNHOUSE LOT
(ADJACENT TO NEW (ADJACENT TO HWY 97
SUBDIVISION RW) & OLD BUNN RD RW)
a7 e -
_ .tlﬂ.]ﬂ-ﬂ-ﬂ.ﬂ\/.::/ -3 w_r -—
_ | REARMTRACK |
e o
BT 3 3
GRAPHIC SCALE ! | g . mm
[ I — | 4 8|
o o mm — » P P
wreeT) ot 1
wwewon L e Pe ORI PO @@d@ P N e— o —— ||l s |
o | _ A
TYPICAL TRADITIONAL f
FOR REVIEW ONLY TOWNHGUSE LoT

NOTE(s]: ALL L BE DONE IN WATH ALL TOWN OF
2EBULGN, NCDOT, WAKE GOUNTY, & MUTCD STANDARDS AND SPECIFICATIONS.

|
{
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION “
I




D R S e e S 072:0 13315 OL INTHOLYM
- —— - ——
P e—
[rese
C J—
L. < e, 3
ITVOS DHAYHD
m E
A. frons Koo 2 81
|
I o B
o “ '
m ! 4
)
m
(=]
m 10110NA0H4 0D 1070ILIDHYL-TDY 10731v183
QOOMLEVE TVIIAL WAL WOIdAL = __3IAVANI
= I — e NOLONIHAVE
7] Ll 3 i e/
@ i d | VR — L = 1o
mE | i -
> m i !
[7:} It H
m a8 B8 !l s
o ﬂ w i HIU I E
c 53 i : ol s
a2 b = “far '
H
o> !
cz: &S| | a . © TN
i o % !
b3 m = ]
w = =
oty
S xR
Z "
R
A
H Cil R
-5 & 2
K i
3 E e
I m L5 A
o o e e 7 > == < T
WOH St S~ R ~ A ey N [ 72
NV 03NMO) 1LYAING £V G311INTOI 34 G VA\ VA\.\\\/\ oy Rt ] gy -
LYHLSTIVHL AYMNIIED ONOTY 47090007+ -~ o i \, P ] T -
Y AUIAT GILVO0TNOILVLS ISI0UIXI JAISTVAL ¥ ~ —— = et A\ 3 ! possdonia == n/ﬂzs_. AAAAAA
ON3D3T | ~ Ead / s / A
~ — e e
ERR vBdOLs ILHM | NIV § S /H\ n
vz | annsavmssonaauem | nive €9 ! - PP [p—
=30 | Il oo ot + R S P .
= / £33 st -
i A M| NOILAINO83Q | Wali A3x i / 5 AT ) g, _ \
4 et SOV o - N
m (300V14 DNINAVA VLN INZdans) [N M ——— | -
a proypreeR et o o § =< P
N u M T <98 X898 SINVTILINN e | N T T “a, ” [ =
S 02 X .02 3NV 3TONIS .A.v { I e W ‘l\ln
= - ayoH TYNCLNIANDD - -
W_w w ZLLM -NYIHLE303d- AOLNW BN | i _/ \ N
B e 56 ANV TIONN [ ~
m m_ <02 X.0¢ TANY1 390K | | ~ \
gYON TYNOUNIANOD !
z W 1-2 .NOILO3513 NI OYOH §8083. 02N [ J | ~ 2 . -
e | ~
u ] O <88 .92 INYTILINK | _ ~N _ ™~ —
nm 0F X .0€ 3NV 31016 | ~ | ~
i “0¥0Y TYNOLLNIANCD / |
#4018, 0OLNN [EED | ~ -~
~ ‘ / ' rN
> SNOIS




;

VS IIHIYHD

=
o
2
2
m
<
m
2
o
<
<

OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION i \ PA3ST DESIGN GROLP, PA

ZEBULON, WAKE DOUMTY, NORTH GANGLINA — Englnaaring | Consulting 180
MASTER PLAN bl e
PHASING PLAN




Nv1d LORILSIaans
NY'1d 43LSYN

WNNIONYD HLION ‘ALNNOO v NOWERZ

NOISIAIQ4NS QVOY NNNd @10

el & 1
Vd IO NOISEQ ISEWd V

DRAWING
SHEET

Cc-2.3

67323

WAl

(mFEET)
Aneh=2000

GRAPHIC SCALE

FOR REVIEW ONLY
NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

SUBDISTRICT H-

f

1’”\!]”“"”“'WT!U'”I”IHHII{I({H[”IIUJM
i )

sdau bead a bd o e Vo tant b d st U D




[l LS MUTCD "AHEAD" W1B-9P
(BUPPLEMENTAL WARNING PLAQUE)

KEY ITEM DESCRIFTION _[WIDTH
@D PAINT | wHITESTOP BAR 24
63 PAINT | WHITE CROSSWALK LINE | 24"

€3 PAINT | wHITE 3TOP 8AR &

ol
O
“a Vo Tt e —— e
| X L oy = S / N SIGNS m
‘D Teea ", i . 5, wor 3 [ MUTCD "8TOP" R1-1
S AN Ao, . " g CONVENTIONAL ROAD: by w
NN ~ : o K SINGLE LANE: 307X 30~
~ u;f o~ € Smoa oam " X s e g2 \\ MULTILANE: 367 X 36 O e m
e ettt X -

\ RN , 1 o . o~ S 5 MUTCD “GROSS ROAD INTERBECTION" W21 w H

~ o A : g , CONVENTIONAL ROAD: £

. . St R s SINGLE LANE: 30X 50" 51t

s o3 5 s s g i : ~ MULTILANE: 26° X 38° e
- = Sipt A e e X S % 0 MUTCD “PEDESTRIAN® W11-2 o §
_ et o 5 W e . et O gy
Y . ™ & 75 oy o s, . SINGLE LANE; 30° X 30" [ Vo081 n

| > oo s MULTI-LANE: 96° X 39" E £
£ m
73

&

!
=
H
J

-

. > r\r: RS S

|
g | |
e / |
TS - i
e — il
- e ) | 3
— N [ GRAPHIC SCALE
N e s e e -
\ | A - - -
v o reer :
a | | Tmchazoon
I
% | L

ok FOR REVIEW ONLY
: 4 a | NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

I
i

&

RALEXH, NORTY CAROLNS 27813

PROLT A0 DESTHER:

7101 CIEEDVOON RO, SUTE 313
o5

PROKELT SAVETOR

W ke
ChswIoD s, me

8 U SumTroms, 1t

MASTER PLAN
SIGNAGE PLAN

OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION

e
T




ORDINANCE 2026-07

Planned Development Statement of Terms and Conditions
for

Old Bunn Road Subdivision

Zebulon, North Carolina

- Submitted to:
Town of Zebulon
1003 N. Arendell Avenue
Zebulon, North Carolina 27597

Submittal Dates:

First Submittal: December 2, 2024
Second Submittal: February 14, 2025
Third Submittal: March 17, 2025
Fourth Submittal: May 21, 2025
Fifth Submittal: July 18, 2025

Prepared for:
Eastwood Homes of Raleigh LLC

EASTWOOD

built with care.

7101 Creedmoor Road, Suite 115
Raleigh, North Carolina 27613

Prepared by:

A PAsT DSION (ROLD, PA MORNINGSTAR
AA Engineering | Consviting 4 .
107 Fayetteville Street, Suite 200 434 Fayetteville Street, Suite 2200

Raleigh, North Carolina 27601 Raleigh, North Carolina 27601

183



VI
VIIl.

Xl.
Xll.
Xl
XIV.
XV.
XVI.

XVII.
XVIIL.

XIX.

Table of Contents

T foTa ¥ a4 o] PP 3
Site Location and Area ConteXt ... e 3
Statement of Planning Objectives (PD Standard 2.a.} .......cooivviiiviiiiiiiiiiinnnns Siereee ok 3
Consistence with Adopted Policy Guidance (PD Standard 8) ............ooveeveeiieninnnnen. 5
Compatibility with Surrounding Areas (PD Standard 9) .......c.ooviiviiiiiiiciiiiiieinen, 7
Compliance with Subdivision Standards (PD Standard 3)........ccoovviiiiiiiiiiiiincennne 8
Site Plan Review (PD Standard 4) ... e 8
Permitted Uses (PD Standard 13) ... ... e e 8
Densities (PD Stan0ard B) .. e 9
Development Standards (PD Standard 7) ... 1"
Development Phasing Plan {PD Standard 10) .......coooiiiiiiiiii e, 12
On-Site Public Facilities (PD Standard 12) ......cooiiiiiii e e e 12
Open Space and AMenities ... 13
15 =T = S 14
Potable Water and Wastewater ... ... e, 14
S OrMWatEr MaNagEM BN L. e e e, 14
Natural Resources and Environmental Protection ..o 15
SOl WSO . 15
Architectural CoNditioNS .. ..o e E e 15
ZONING CONGITIONS L.ttt et e et et e e s s e e et e e ettt a s 18
2

184



l. Introduction

The intent of the proposed Planned Development (the "Development”) is to create a diverse
residential community in the Town of Zebulon (the *Town”), featuring @ mix of front-loaded
single-family detached homes, front-loaded and rear-loaded single-family attached homes,
and traditional single-family attached homes without garages. This variety is provided to meet
the housing needs of the Town while fostering economic growth, expanding the tax base, and
establishing @ well-rounded community. By offering a range of housing types, including
options for families, first-time homebuyers, seniors, and those seeking more affordable
homes, the Development will serve @ broad demographic, providing suitable housing options
for various needs and budgets.

This Statement of Terms and Conditions, the attached Master Plan (the “Residential
Preliminary Plan”), and accompanying exhibits (collectively the “Zoning Document”) are
provided pursuant to the Town’s Unified Development Ordinance (the “UDO"), Planned
Development provisions. Specifically, the Zoning Document identifies how the Development
meets or exceeds the standards listed in UDO Section 3.5.5., Planned Development (the “PD")
District.

1. Site Location and Area Context

The Development spans two parcels (the “Property”) totaling 159.72 acres, situated to the
north of the intersection of Old Bunn Road and NC 97 Highway East in Wake County, North
Carolina. The Property is bordered to the north by Beaverdam Creek and its associated flood
hazard ares, to the east by a vacant, 285-acre forested property and a 5.39-acre property
with a detached single-family home, and to the west by the Barrington Subdivision, which
features both detached and attached single-family homes.

This area is part of a rapidly expanding region within the Town and County, offering
convenient connectivity to U.S. Highway 64 and Interstate 264. These major roadways provide
convenient access to downtown Zebulon, Five County Stadium, and surrounding cities such
as Raleigh, Wendell, and Knightdale. The location combines the advantages of suburban living
with proximity to urban amenities, making it an appealing choice for residents seeking an
ideal living environment and easy access to work, schools, recreational activities, amenities,
shopping, and services, located within a five-minute drive from downtown Zebulon.

1. Statement of Planning Objectives (PD Standard 2.3.)

The proposed Development incorporates innovative land planning and site design principles
that prioritize both high-quality living standards and the achievement of the Town'’s broader
goals. These concepts are designed to create a community that not only fosters a superior
quality of life for its residents but also aligns with the Town’s commitment to environmental
sensitivity, sustainable growth, and responsible development.

The proposed Development introduces several innovative land planning and site design
concepts, reflecting a thoughtful approach to integrating diverse housing types, community
connectivity, and historical preservation. These strategies are designed not only to meet
current housing needs but also to enhance the overall character and livability of the area.

185



Key planning objectives include:

1.

Strategic Housing Placement: As shown in the attached Master Plan, the Development
locates @ mix of housing types in key areas to create a harmonious and functional
community layout. The proposal for rear-loaded single-family attached homes along
the frontage of Old Bunn Road and NC Highway 97 East, as well as the main entrance
to the development, helps establish an attractive urban form. By positioning these
homes closer to the road with rear-access garages, the development prioritizes the
streetscape and reduces the visual dominance of garages, contributing to @ more
pedestrian-friendly and aesthetically pleasing environment.

Urban Design Elements: The inclusion of parallel parking throughout the single-family
attached home section continues the urban form, enhancing walkability and reducing
the need for off-street parking, which improves safety and neighborhood appeal. The
proposed east-west minor thoroughfare, lined with single-family detached homes,
features bike lanes and parallel parking, further emphasizing an urban design that
prioritizes alternative transportation options, connectivity, and a well-organized street
layout.

Public Greenway and Amenities: The Development includes a public greenway that
runs along the northern property line and activated trails that run through the heart of
the community, linking the various housing types, public spaces, and amenities. This
greenway, with its trailheads, will provide residents with easy access to outdoor
recreation, promote an active lifestyle, and foster a sense of community. This
connectivity is crucial for encouraging interaction among residents and enhancing the
overall livability of the Development.

Historic Preservation: A feature of the proposal is the preservation of a federal-style,
nationally registered historic home, along with a family and enslaved persons’
cemetery, both of which are significant cultural and historical resources. By maintaining
these elements, the Development honors the rich history of the area, creating a
meaningful connection between the past and future. This preservation not only adds
historical value to the Development but also offers opportunities for educational and
cultural engagement for residents and their guests.

Environmental Sensitivity and Preservation of Natural Resources: The Development
will incorporate environmentally responsible practices, such as stormwater
management systems, and the preservation of natural landscapes while protecting
important natural features such as riparian buffers, wetlands, tree canopy, and
floodplains. This commitment to environmental sustainability will help maintain the
area's ecological balance, improve stormwater management, and provide residents
with natural spaces to enjoy. By preserving these areas, the development places value
on the local environment and contributes to the long-term health of the community
and its natural resources. This will reduce the ecological footprint and contribute to a
greener community.

186



IV. Consistence with Adopted Policy Guidance (PD Standard 8)

The Zoning Document aligns with the Comprehensive Plan (the "Comp Plan") as well as all
relevant Town functional and small area plans (collectively "Policy Guidance Documents”).
The Development supports the Town's goals of "achieving greater housing variety, supporting
its economic development and tax base needs, and creating a complete community with
convenient resident access to schools, recreation, shopping and services" and is consistent
with the "character of land use within areas intended for particular character types.” (Comp
Plan p.2, Goals for Land Use and Development)

Specifically, the Development is consistent with the following policies from the Comp Plan’s
Land Use and Development Chapter {pp.3-4):

1. G1: “Land uses should not detract from the enjoyment or value of neighboring
properties.”

The Development offers a variety of single-family detached and attached homes in
different styles, price points, and sizes, along with open space, amenities, and greenway
trails. This approach ensures the Development is congruent with the surrounding area,
which features both detached and attached single-family homes, open space, and planned
greenway trails.

2. G2: “Potential negative land use effects (noise, odor, dust, excessive light, traffic, etc.)
should be considered in development review/approval and mitigated.”

The Development will comply with all UDO provisions regarding noise, dust, excessive
light, and traffic. A traffic impact analysis (the “TIA") has been provided, and mitigation
measures will be implemented, including dedicated turn lanes, road widening, and the
installation of a traffic signal at the intersection of Old Bunn Road and NC Highway 97
East. The Master Plan, along with the subsequent construction documents (the "CDs"), will
be reviewed by both the Town and the North Carolina Department of Transportation (the
*NCDOT").

3. G3: “Adequate transportation access and circulation should be provided for uses that
generate large numbers of trips. Pedestrian and bicycle access should be addressed
where appropriate.”

The Development’s addition of a new east-west minor thoroughfare with bike lanes will
significantly enhance connectivity within the area, linking important parts of the
development while improving access to nearby neighborhoods. This thoroughfare will
serve not only as a crucial route for vehicle traffic but also promote sustainable
transportation options, such as biking and walking. By incorporating sidewalks alongside
the bike lanes, the design prioritizes pedestrian safety and mobility, ensuring residents
have safe, convenient access to key destinations both within the community and in
surrounding areas. This approach fosters @ more integrated, eco-friendly transportation
network that supports active lifestyles and reduces reliance on cars.

4. G4: "Well-planned mixed-use projects are encouraged where compatible with nearby
development.”

187



The Development will provide a well-integrated mix of housing types, lot sizes, and
densities, designed to accommodate a range of resident needs while fostering a cohesive
community environment. The combination of different housing options ensures diversity
in both living spaces and affordability, contributing to 3 more inclusive neighborhood.

In addition to the residential use, the Development will incorporate additional use types
including community gardens, two preserved cemeteries, private parks -such as pocket
parks and dog parks- and a public greenway trail.

5. G5: "Floodplain areas should not be encroached upon by development unless there is
compliance with stringent floodplain management practices. These areas should be
used for parks, recreation or related purposes, or for agricultural uses.”

The Development will preserve the flood hazard areas and will only encroach where
necessary for the construction of sanitary sewer infrastructure, public greenway trails, or
stormwater control measures (the "SCMs”).

6. G6: “Environmentally sensitive areas should be protected, including wildlife habitat
areas.”

The Development is carefully designed to minimize impacts on environmentally sensitive
features such as riparian buffers, streams, wetlands, and flood hazard areas. The
development layout reflects an efficient use of land while preserving these critical
environmental resources. Natural features are preserved as passive open space that offer
recreational opportunities. This approach ensures that the development is sustainable and
contributes positively to the watershed’s health.

7. R1: "Residential areas should not be located next to heavy industrial areas.”

The Development is not located adjacent to heavy industrial areas.

8. R3: “Schools, parks and community facilities should be located close to or within
residential neighborhoods.”

The Development is within @ mile and a half of public schools, parks, and community
facilities.

9. R4: "Houses should have direct access to local residential streets but not to collector
streets or thoroughfares.”

The Development’s detached and attached single-family homes will have access to local
residential streets only.

10. R7: “New residential developments should include an adequate area for parks and
recreation facilities, schools and places of worship.”

The Development will provide community gardens, and private pocket and dog parks for
its residents. Additionally, a public greenway trail will be provided.

188



11. P5: “Natural features should be used as buffers or preserved open space between or
around developed areas.”

The Development will preserve the flood hazard area along the northern property line as
a buffer and designated open space, providing a separation from the adjacent development
to the north. In addition, a substantial portion of the jurisdictional wetlands, streams, and
their associated riparian buffers will be preserved.

The Development aligns with the vision set forth in the Town'’s Future Land Use and Character
Map (the “Map”) for the Property. The Map designates the Property as Suburban Residential,
which envisions a blend of housing types, with an emphasis on increased open space and
smaller lot sizes. By adhering to the Suburban Residential designation, the development
supports the long-term goals outlined in the Comp Plan, ensuring that it fits within the broader
framework for growth and land use in the region. The Comp Plan emphasizes the need for
balanced development that provides diverse housing options, encourages sustainable growth,
and maintains the character of existing neighborhoods — goals that are clearly reflected in
the proposed housing mix of single-family detached and attached units. By providing a variety
of single-family detached and attached housing options in different styles, cost points, and
scales, the PD helps address the housing demand in Zebulon. This variety ensures that a broad
spectrum of residents, including families, first-time homebuyers, seniors, and those looking
for more affordable options, will have access to suitable housing.

The Development aligns with the Town’s Comprehensive Transportation Plan {the
"Transportation Plan"), which includes plans for @ widened 4-lane divided road along both Old
Bunn Road and NC Highway 97 East, as well as a new 2-lane divided roadway running east
to west through the Property. The Development will accommodate the north-side widening
of Old Bunn Road and NC Highway 97 East, along with the dedication of right-of-way and the
construction of the new minor thoroughfare. As previously discussed with the Town, instead
of the planned 2-lane divided section, the Development will feature a 2-lane road with bike
lanes and parallel parking spaces.

V. Compatibility with Surrounding Areas (PD Standard 9)

As mentioned in Section Il above, the Development is bordered to the south by Old Bunn
Road and NC 97 Highway East, to the north by Beaverdam Creek and its associated flood
hazard area, to the east by a vacant, forested property totaling 285-acres and & 5.39-acre
property with a detached single-family home—both located outside the Town's extraterritorial
jurisdiction (*ETJ")—and to the west by the Barrington Subdivision, which is currently under
construction and includes both detached and attached single-family homes.

It is reasonably expected that the vacant property to the east will be annexed into the Town
in the future and developed as a Planned Development. Meanwhile, the 5.39-acre parcel will
remain, with a portion of it buffered by a preserved jurisdictional wetland and a proposed 20-
foot-wide type ‘D’ (opaque) perimeter buffer.

The parcels to the north of Beaverdam Creek, which include a vacant, partially wooded 53.87-
acre tract and the Brookefield of Zebulon subdivision, are separated by the creek's flood
hazard area, which extends approximately 500 feet in width, covering both the floodway and
floodplain. This preserved buffer will provide both vertical and horizontal separation between
the Development and these parcels.

189



Adjoining to the west of the Development is the Barrington Subdivision which is under
construction. According to the approved Master Plan dated 12/1/16, this project is entitled for
837 dwelling units with a mix of single-family detached and attached homes, recreational
amenities, and open space. The approved density for the project based on sections is as
follows:

1. Single-Family Detached Homes - 274 du(s) / 66 acres = 4.15 du(s)/acre

2. Single-Family Attached (Duplex) Homes - 92 du(s) / 18 acres = 5.11 du(s)/acre

3. Single-Family Attached (Townhouse) Homes - 471 du(s)/54 acres = 8.72 du(s)/acre
4. Overall - 837 du(s) / 210 acres = 3.98 du(s)/acre

The minimum lot size for single-family detached homes is 5,400 square feet with a minimum
lot width of 45 feet. The single-family attached homes provide for @ minimum lot width of
16 feet and 22 feet for the townhomes and duplexes respectively. The single-family attached
homes include a mix of units, some with front-loaded garages and others without. All single-
family detached homes feature front-loaded garages.

Development along the perimeter of the proposed PD district is designed to be compatible
with the surrounding existing and proposed developments. In areas where compatibility
concerns arise, buffers are incorporated to create a natural transition. The Development is
complementary to the Barrington Subdivision to the west, featuring similar densities,
dimensional standards, building heights, character and form. Refer to the attached Master
Plan.

VI. Compliance with Subdivision Standards (PD Standard 3)

Unless explicitly amended within the Zoning Document, the Development shall fully adhere
to the requirements set forth in Article 6, ‘Subdivision,” and Sections 2.2.17 'Residential
Preliminary Plan,” and 2.2.11 ‘Final Plat’ of the UDO.

Vil. Site Plan Review {PD Standard 4)

This Zoning Document incorporates a comprehensive master plan that meets the requirements
for a2 residential preliminary plan, as specified in the Town’s preliminary subdivision plan
checklist. As & result, upon approval of this Zoning Document, submission of a separate
residential preliminary plan shall be exempted.

VIIl. Permitted Uses (PD Standard 13)

Principal Uses

The following principal uses shall be allowed:

Single-family Attached Dwelling
Single~-family Detached Dwelling
Cemetery

Community Garden

QOutdoor Private Recreation

nhwNn =

190



6. Park {public or private)
7. Restaurant, Walk-up Only
8. Open Space

Accessory Uses

The following accessory uses shall be allowed:

1. All accessory uses allowed in the R6 District
2. Outdoor Dining

IX. Densities (PD Standard 5)
The following maximum densities shall be allowed per subdistrict:

R-1: 263 du{s) / 38.39 acres = 6.85 du(s) / acre

R-2: 194 du(s) / 41.81 acres = 4.64 du(s) / acre

R-3: 61 du(s) / 25.18 acres = 2.42 du(s) / acre

R-4: 92 du(s) / 50.80 acres = 1.81 du(s) / acre

Overall (all subdistricts): 610 du(s) / 158.88 acres = 3.84 du(s) / acre

g R Ry =

DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS

SUBDISTRICT R-1:
2,200 SQUARE FEET (SF)

SUBDISTRICT R-2:
6,000 SF

LOT AREA|SUBDISTRICT R-3:
MINIMUM (MIN):| 7,200 SF

SUBDISTRICT R-4:
8,400 SF

SUBDISTRICT H-1:
117,454 SF

SUBDISTRICT R-1:
22 FEET (FT)

SUBDISTRICT R-2:
SOFT

LOT WIDTH|SUBDISTRICT R-3:
(MIN): (60 FT

SUEDISTRICT R-4:
70FT

SUBDISTRICT H-1:
N/A (REFER TO MASTER PLAN)

191



BUILDING SETBACKS
(MIN):

SUBDISTRICT R-1:

FROM PRIMARY STREET: 10 FT (20 FT w/ FRONT LOAD GARAGE)
FROM OLD BUNN RD & NC HWY 97 E: 20 FT

FROM SIDE STREET: 10 FT

FROM SIDE SITE BOUNDARY LINE: 6 FT

FROM REAR SITE BOUNDARY LINE: 20 FT

FROM ALLEY: 20 FT

BD -2:
FROM PRIMARY STREET: 20 FT
FROM SIDE STREET: 10 FT
FROM SIDE LOTLINE: 5 FT
FROM REAR LOTLINE: 20 FT

SUBDISTRICT R-3:

FROM PRIMARY STREET: 20 FT
FROM SIDE STREET: 10 FT
FROM SIDE LOTLINE: 5 FT
FROM REAR LOT LINE: 20 FT

SUBDISTRICT R-4:

FROM PRIMARY STREET: 20 FT
FROM SIDE STREET: 15 FT
FROM SIDE LOTLINE: 10 FT
FROM REAR LOT LINE: 20 FT

SUBDISTRICT H-1:

FROM PRIMARY STREET: 20 FT
FROM SIDE STREET: 20 FT
FROM SIDE LOTLINE: 15 FT
FROM REAR LOTLINE: 15FT

LOT COVERAGE
MAXIMUM (MAX):

BD -1
65%

SUBDISTRICT R-2:
65%

SUBDISTRICT R-3:
60%

SUBDISTRICT R-4:
55%

BD ICT H-1:
35%

BUILDING HEIGHT
(MAX):

SUBDISTRICT R-1:
45/3 (FT/ STORIES)

SUBDISTRICT R-2:
45/3 (FT/ STORIES)

BD -3:
45/3 (FT/STORIES)

BD TR-4:
45/3 (FT/ STORIES)
BD -1

45/3 (FT/ STORIES)

10

192



X.

Development Standards (PD Standard 7)

The Development shall adhere to the development standards outlined in Article 5,
'Development Standards,’ the subdivision and infrastructure design requirements specified in
Article 6, 'Subdivision,' and Section 4.3 ‘Use-Specific Standards’ unless explicitly modified as
stated below.

1.

2.

UDO Reaquirement: UDO Section 4.3.3.0.7. VEHICULAR ACCESS TO INDIVIDUAL
DWELLINGS - “Vehicular access points to individual dwellings or individual lots within
a single-family attached development shall only be from the side or rear of the lot.”

Modification: Up to one hundred and fifteen (109) single-family attached dwellings
within the Development shall have vehicular access from the front.

UDO Requirement: UDO Section 4.3.3.P.1. FINISHED FLOOR HEIGHT - “Except for
single-family detached dwellings subject to a deed restricting limiting the age of
residents to 55 years of age or older, the finished floor elevation shall be at least 18
inches above the finished grade adjacent to the home’s primary entrance.”

Modification: All single-family detached homes within Subdistricts R-2 and R-3 shall
be constructed with a slab-on-grade foundation and will not include a finished floor
elevation that is raised 18 inches above the finished grade adjacent to the primary
entrance.

UDO Reguirement: UDO Section 4.3.3.P.3. SITE ACCESS - "Site access to single-family
detached dwellings shall only be in accordance with the standards in Table 4.3.3.P.3:
Sinale Family Site Access Standards.” Specifically, "Lots with a Lot Width of Less than
70 Linear Feet” shall have vehicular access from the rear at all interior lots and side or
rear at all corner lots.

Modification: All single-family detached homes within the Development shall have
vehicular access from the front.

UDO Reguirement: UDO Section 5.1.6.E. MINIMUM DRIVEWAY WIDTH AND DEPTH -
“Driveways shall be configured to extend into the lot they serve for @ minimum distance
in accordance with Table 5.1.6.E: Minimum Driveway Width and Depth.” Specifically,
minimum driveway depth as measured from the edge of the right-of-way serving the
driveway shall be twenty-five (25) feet in depth.

Modification: Twenty-five (25) single-family attached homes within the Development
shall have @ minimum driveway depth of twenty (20} feet.

UDO Requirement: UDO Section 5.6.12.B APPLICABILITY - “The standards in this
section shall apply to all lot lines bounded by the following features, whether existing
or identified in the Town’s adopted policy guidance. A. Collector streets; and b. Arterial
streets.

Modification: A streetscape buffer shall not be provided along Longstanton Avenue.

1

193



6. UDO Requirement: UDO Section 5.7.4.A Amount - "The minimum required amount

of open-space set-aside, as @ percentage of a development’s size, shall be provided in
accordance with the Table 5.7.4.3: Minimum Open Space Set-Aside Required.”

Modification: An Open Space Set-Aside Composition minimum of twenty-nine (29)
percent Active (4.63 acres) of the required total Open Space and seven and seven
tenths (7.7) percent Urban (1.22 acres) of the required total Open Space shall be
provided.

Xl. Development Phasing Plan (PD Standard 10)

The Development will be implemented in two phases, as outlined in the phasing plan included
within the Master Plan.

Xll. On-Site Public Facilities (PD Standard 12)

Design and Construction

The developer shall be responsible for the design and construction of all required
on-site and off-site public infrastructure, ensuring full compliance with applicable
Town, State, and Federal regulations. This includes infrastructure necessary to
support the Development and its integration into the broader community.

Dedication

The developer shall dedicate to the public all necessary right-of-way and easements
required for the construction of on-site and off-site public infrastructure, ensuring
full compliance with applicable Town, State, and Federal regulations.

Modifications to Street Standards

The Development shall adhere to the Town’s Street and Storm Drainage Standards
and Specifications Manual, and the Town's Standard Details unless explicitly
modified as stated below.

1. The Development shall incorporate 4 townhome street sections referred to as
Townhome Street Section ‘A’, Townhome Street Section 'B’, Townhome Street
Section ‘C’, and Townhome Street Section 'D.” Refer to Master Plan for section
details.

2. The Development shall incorporate NCDOT Typical Section No. 2E - 2 Lane
Undivided with Curb & Gutter, Bike Lanes, and Sidewalks, 25-45 mph, as
provided within NCDOT's “Typical” Highway Cross Sections For Use in SPOT
Online Document. Refer to Master Plan for section details. This typical section
will be used for the Longstanton Avenue extension.

3. The Development shall incorporate NCDOT Typical Section No. 4F - 4 Lane
Divided (17'-6" Raised Median) with Curb & Gutter, and Sidewalks, 35-45 mph,
as provided within NCDQOT's "Typical” Highway Cross Sections For Use in SPOT

12

194



Online Document. Refer to Master Plan for section details. This typical section
will be used for the required road widening along Old Bunn Road and NC 97
Highway East.

Xill. Open Space and Amenities

The Development is designed with careful consideration of the Property’s natural and historical
character and its proximity to the Beaverdam Creek. It will provide approximately eight and
seven hundredths (8.07) acres, and twenty-three and thirty-nine hundredths (23.39) acres of
open space set aside for the single-family attached and detached sections respectively. The
provided open space yields twenty-one (21) percent and nineteen (19) percent of the total
area of the single-family attached and detached sections which exceed the required ten (10)
percent per UDO. Of these totals approximately two and forty hundredths (2.65) acres of
active and nine hundredths (0.09) acres of urban open space set-aside shall be provided for
the single-family attached section and one and ninety-eight (1.98) acres of active and one
and thirteen hundredths (1.13) acres of urban open space shall be provided for the single-
family detached section. The combined active and urban open space yields seventy-one (71)
percent and twenty-six (26) percent of the total required open space set-aside for each section
respectively. These open space areas, as depicted in the Master Plan, are integral to
preserving the natural landscape and promoting environmental sustainability.

The Development is designed with a variety of amenities strategically located throughout the
community, enhancing both recreation and quality of life for all residents. Key features include
a centralized large active open space, which will feature a pool and clubhouse for social and
recreational use as well as pickle ball courts, and a playground. Additionally, a public
greenway trail will be integrated along the northern boundary, and private greenway trails
internal to the Development, offering a shared outdoor resource for the entire community.
The private greenway trails will be activated with obstacles and exercise stations. Other
planned amenities may include a pocket park with a playground, pollinator gardens, dog
parks, community gardens, and food truck hookups with outdoor dining. These amenities are
designed to support active lifestyles, environmental sustainability, and a sense of community.

All features as allowed within the UDO for Passive, Active, and Urban Open Space set-aside
shall be allowed within the PD. Specifically, the following features may be selected:

i. Passive Open Space

walking and/or bicycle trails;

tables, shelters, gazebos, grills, picnic facilities, and sitting areas;
lawn areas and/or community greens;

outdoor public art;

hammock garden;

fishing dock;

bird boxes;

environmental features such as lakes, ponds, wetlands, or streams.

ONoO U AWM=

ii. Active Open Space

1. clubhouse;
2. swimming pool;

13

195



3. playground;

4. sports fields or courts such as pickleball, tennis, soccer, bocce ball, putting green,
cornhole, and horseshoe pit;

5. greenway trail activated with obstacles and exercise stations.

fii. Urban Open Space

dog parks;

community gardens and/or pollinator gardens;
pocket parks

plaza and/or courtyard;

food truck hookups and/or outdoor dining area.

S AV N

Active open space requirements may be fulfilled by including urban space features and
amenities.

To claim four (4) bonus points within the utility allocation worksheet, the Development SHALL
provide inside the clubhouse “meeting space without kitchen less than 1500 square feet.”

XIV. Streets

The locations of all public streets and private alleys are outlined on the Master Plan. While
the final names of the public streets have not been determined, all streets will be officially
dedicated and identified as public streets on the final plat for each phase of development. To
ensure consistency and quality, all curb and gutter, sidewalk, and pavement installation for
public streets throughout the development will adhere to the Town's Street and Storm
Drainage Standards and Specifications Manual and Standard Details.

XV. Potable Water and Wastewater

The Development will extend both public water and public sanitary sewer main to the
property, ensuring essential infrastructure is in place to support the community. Additionally,
3 regional pump station will be constructed on-site to serve the broader sewer basin,
enhancing the overall capacity and efficiency of the area's wastewater management system.
The locations of these utilities are depicted on the Master Plan, ensuring integration with the
surrounding infrastructure and compliance with necessary utility standards for long-term
sustainability and service reliability.

XVI. Stormwater Management

The Development will fully comply with all applicable stormwater management requirements
as outlined in the Town’'s Street and Storm Drainage Standards and Specifications Manual,
UDO, and Woake County's Stormwater Performance Standards and Specifications.
Comprehensive SCMs will be implemented throughout the development to effectively manage
stormwater runoff through attenuation while providing water quality treatment. Additionally,
the existing drainage patterns will be preserved to the greatest extent possible, ensuring that
natural hydrologic patterns are maintained. This approach is designed to enhance
sustainability, reduce flood risks, and protect water quality in the surrounding area.

14

196



XVIl. Natural Resources and Environmental Protection

The Property contains jurisdictional streams, ponds, wetlands, protected riparian buffers, and
flood hazard areas. To protect these sensitive environmental features, any impacts from the
installation of streets and infrastructure will be minimized. Where unavoidable, such impacts
will be mitigated and permitted in accordance with the appropriate regulatory agencies to
ensure compliance with environmental protection standards.

Furthermore, only essential structures, including sanitary sewer infrastructure, the public
greenway trail, and stormwater control measures (SCMs), will be permitted to encroach within
the flood hazard area. This approach prioritizes the preservation of natural resources while
allowing for necessary infrastructure to be developed responsibly and in alignment with
environmental regulations,

In addition, one of the features of the Development is the preservation of a federal-style,
nationally registered historic home and a family and enslaved persons’ cemetery, both of
which hold significant cultural and historical velue. By maintaining these important cultural
landmarks, the Development acknowledges and honors the area’s history. Preserving these
elements not only adds depth and character to the Development but also helps bridge the
past and the future, creating an enduring connection to the community's heritage

XVIII. Solid Waste

All homes, except for the single-family attached dwelling units, will be serviced by the Town’s
Solid Waste Department, which will provide roll-out trash and recycling bins. The single-family
attached units will be served by a private waste management provider, with waste collection
occurring at two designated dumpster locations within the attached dwelling section of the
development.

XIX. Architectural Conditions

The Development will implement architectural controls to maintain a cohesive character
throughout the community, while also providing enough variety to foster visual interest and
prevent monatony.

The Development will feature high-quality single-family detached and attached homes. To
enhance the streetscape and introduce architectural diversity, the project will incorporate 3
range of distinctive residential elevations.
Although each architectural design will have its own distinct identity, several unifying
elements will tie the homes together, such as consistent color palettes, materials, roofing
styles, and decorative garage doors.
These Architectural Standards apply to all product types.

i. The Applicant commits to exceeding the architectural requirements in

Section 5.2.4 of the UDO. We will work with Town Planning and Building
staff to provide additional architectural features except for Section

15

197



vi.

Vil.

viii.

Xi.

Xii.

xiii.

Xiv.

XV.

XVvi.

XVii.

5.2.4.E.3.e. Garage doors will not be required to be located at least two or
more feet behind a front porch or the primary entrance to the dwelling.

Front porches shall extend beyond the front plane of the garage by a
minimum of twelve (12) inches on twenty-five (25) percent of the homes
constructed. Front Porches shall be allowed to extend beyond the minimum
front setback to 2 maximum of ten (10} inches.

Front doors shall be illuminated with a front porch ceiling light.

Shutters, when provided, shall have @ minimum width of eighteen (18)
inches.

Trim, when provided, shall be a minimum of three (3) inches wide.
Trim color shall be distinct from fagcade color.

Porch railings, if included on homes, shall be complimentary color of the
house and shall be made of wrought iron.

No venting will be provided on any front facades except that when a
bathroom is located on the front of the unit, a vent of a similar color to
either the siding or the trim may be provided on the front of the unit.

The use of corrugated metal siding, unpainted plywood, or smooth-face
concrete block is prohibited.

Vegetative screening for HVAC units shall be provided.

All street-facing garage doors shall contain window inserts and carriage-
style adornments.

Street-facing garage doors shall not exceed a3 maximum width of eighteen
(18) feet per garage door.

Each garage will either have one light on each side or two (2) lights above
the garage door.

No single family detached home shall be constructed with a front elevation
or color palette that is identical to the home on either side of it.

Accessory buildings, if constructed, shall be of similar materials and colors
to the primary single-family home.

Each front porch shall contain @ covered stoop.

All homes will have two or more of the following design features on the
front facade (not including foundation):

a. Stone

16

198



b. Brick

c. Lap siding

d. Shakes

e. Board and batten

f. Roof gables

9. Roof dormers

h. Metal roofing as accent
i. Columns

j.  Shutters

xviii. When two materials are used, the material shall be different but
complementary colors.

xix. All homes with crawlspaces, stem wall or poured concrete foundations shall
have the front of the foundation wrapped in brick or stone,

xx. Every home will have either a back deck, porch, or patio.
xxi. Cluster box units (CBUs) location shall be subject to USPS approval.
xxii. CBUs shall be covered.

xxiii. Single-family detached dwellings shall comply with the standards in UDO
Section 4.3.3.P, except for Section 4.3.3.P.3.

xxiv. At least one window shall be provided on the front of the home.

xxv. Roof pitches (excluding porches) shall be at least 6:12.

xxvi. Front and rear eaves shall project @ minimum of twelve (12) inches. Side
eaves shall be a minimum of four (4) inches. Eaves will be allowed to

encroach into required setbacks.

xxvii. All single-family detached homes will have @ minimum of two-car garage.

17

199



XX.

Zoning Conditions

The following zoning conditions are being proffered for consideration:

1.

10.

1.

12.

Principal uses shall be limited to Single-family Attached Dwelling, Single-family
Detached Dwelling, Cemetery, Community Garden, Outdoor Private Recreation, Park
{public or private), Restaurant, Walk-up Only, and Open Space.

. Accessory uses shall be limited to all accessory uses allowed in the R6 District and

Outdoor Dining.

The only residential building types allowed are Detached and Attached House
(Townhouse),

No building height shall be greater than forty-five (45) feet or three (3) stories.

Native tree species for required street tree plantings shall be provided where native
species are allowed under the Town’s UDO.

At least twelve (12) distinct open space lots shall be provided.

A public greenway trail and associated easement shall be provided along the northern
property boundary adjacent to Beaverdam Creek.

All TIA recommendations for traffic improvement shall be provided.

The following amenities shall be provided: dog park, community garden, pollinator
garden, pocket park, pickle ball court, swimming pool, greenway trailhead, and
playground.

No more than seventy (70) percent of the property may be covered by impervious
surfaces.

Except for a greenway trail, sanitary sewer infrastructure, and stormwater control
measures, no other structures shall be permitted within designated flood hazard areas.

A minimum of 5% of the townhouse units shall be designated as affordable townhouse
units for home ownership and are subject to the following conditions:

3. Affordable townhouse units shall be sold at a price affordable for households
earning 80% of the area median income (AMI) as established by the United States
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for the Raleigh-Cary
Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA).

b. An offordability restriction to preserve the affordability of each affordable
townhouse unit for a period of ten (10) years, in a form approved by the Town of
Zebulon, shall be filed and recorded in the property’s chain of title in the Wake
County Register of Deeds office prior to receiving a certificate of compliance for the
first affordable townhouse unit.

18

200



13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

c. The affordable townhouse units will be comparable in external appearance to the
market rate units of the same unit type.

The principal structure on the Bunn Residence Site shall not be demolished in whole
or in part except for purposes of maintenance or restoration, and no new building may
be constructed on the Bunn Residence Site.

The developer shall construct and install the parking lot, sidewalk, and landscape
buffers as illustrated within the H-1 subdistrict on the Master Plan.

A dual-purpose pool shall be provided that will include a minimum four-lane Junior
Olympic lap pool and two attached sections: one for toddlers and kids, and the other
as a wading area.

Each playground shall provide a minimum of one (1) shade structure.

At 2 minimum the developer should provide security cameras and no trespassing signs
during construction.

19

201



In e . . 107 Fayetteville St. Svite 200
B PA3ST DSICN (ROUP, PA Raleigh, NC 27601
i Engineering | Consulting Office: 919.848.4399
. Fax: 919.848.4395
MEMORANDUM
TO: Town of Zebulon

FROM:

Planning Department
1003 N. Arendell Ave.
Zebulon, NC 27597

Dan Pabst, PE

Pabst Design Group, PA

107 Fayetteville St., Suite 200
Raleigh, NC 27601

SUBJECT: Qld Bunn Road Subdivision

DATE:

#1555968
PD - 3" Submittal
Summary of Changes

May 21, 2025

Ms. Cate Farrell,

In response to feedback from the Town of Zebulon’s Board of Commissioners and Planning

Board,

neighbors, stakeholders, and staff, the following changes were incorporated into the

Statement of Terms and Conditions document and/or Master Plan:

1.

The front setback for single-family attached townhouse lots along Old Bunn Road and
NC Highway 97 E was increased from 10 to 20 feet, with a 10-foot-wide landscape
easement planted with pollinator shrubs and pollinator trees required where a 15-foot
modified type ‘C’ buffer is not provided.

A 10-foot-wide landscape easement planted with pollinator shrubs, pollinator trees,
and holly bushes / trees has been provided along the west and east property lines
adjacent to the single-family detached lots where a 20-foot typed 'D’ buffer or
Barrington Subdivision conservation easement is not located.

A condition has been added to the Statement of Terms and Conditions document to
provide a dual-purpose pool that will include a minimum four-lane Junior Olympic lap
pool and two attached sections: one for toddlers and kids, and the other as a wading
area.

A condition has been added to the Statement of Terms and Conditions document to
provide a minimum of one shade structure at each playground.

202



10.

1.

Modification number 4 on page 11 of the Statement of Terms and Conditions document
has been revised to only allow 25 single-family attached homes to have a2 minimum
20-foot-deep driveway. All others will meet the UDO standard of 25 feet.

A sidewalk has been extended from Street E and Street C to connect to sidewalk
located in Old Bunn Road and NC Highway 97 E respectively.

A condition has been added to the Statement of Terms and Conditions document to
donate the historic home site to the Town of Zebulon.

A condition has been added to the Statement of Terms and Conditions document for
the developer to construct and install a second entrance with parking, sidewalk, and
ADA accessibility and a 15° wide modified type 'B’ perimeter buffer and 15’ wide
modified type ‘C’ streetscape buffer within the H-1 subdistrict, historic homesite.

A condition has been added to the Statement of Terms and Conditions document for
the developer to provide security cameras and no trespassing signs during construction.

A condition has been added to the Statement of Terms and Conditions document to
provide 5% of the townhouse units as affordable housing units.

Landscape screening has been added around the pickleball and playground area near

the clubhouse to mitigate noise and provide screening. Landscaping includes pollinator
shrubs and pollinator trees.

203



ZEBULON

NORTH CAROLINA

MUNICIPAL UTILITY ALLOCATION POLICY
Statement of Purpose and Goals

Introduction

Drinking water supplies throughout the greater City of Raleigh distribution system are finite, subject to
disruption by drought and/or other calamity and Zebulon’s allocation is contractually limited. The Town
staff, the Planning Board, and the Board of Commissioners have given a great deal of thought and study
as to the best utilization of this valuable resource to benefit current and future citizens.

The Town of Zebulon’s municipal water and sewer capacity is a valuable resource that must be conserved
and apportioned to new development projects that promote the Town’s policy of ensuring a diversified
tax base and housing supply. Such an allocation policy will tend to promote diversity of housing available
to a wide cross section of citizens of diverse socio-economic backgrounds and promote economic viability
and sustainability by providing for retail and other commercial development within the Town of Zebulon.

In order to preserve and enhance property values, manage its limited water supply as a vital natural
resource, promote economic development, and incentivize smart growth practices, the allocation of
Zebulon’s potable water capacity shall hereafter be in accordance with this policy.

Land Use and the Tax Base

The local government expense of providing fire and police protection, schools, parks, social services, water
and sewage systems and other essential public services to residential neighborhoods is generally greater
than the ad valorem tax revenue generated by such neighborhoods. On the other hand, the cost of
providing services to commercial and industrial development is generally less than the tax revenue
accruing to the local government. Having a predominantly residential tax base would require the Town of
Zebulon over time to assess a higher tax levy to raise funds to provide essential services or to reduce the
level of public services provided. This is one reason among many why local governments including Zebulon
strive to achieve a balance of both residential and non-residential growth.

Zebulon’s historical development is transitioning from industrial to residential, leading to a current tax
base of approximately 40% residential and 60% commercial/industrial. The following table shows
Zebulon’s tax base over the past five years *

Zebulon Tax Base (Past Five Years)

Fiscal Year Commercial Residential
2021-2022 60% 40%
2020-2021 65% 35%
2019-2020 72% 28%
2018-2019 73% 27%
2017-2018 71% 29%

1 “Tax Base Components | Wake County Government,” Wake County North Carolina,
https://www.wakegov.com/departments-government/tax-administration/data-files-statistics-and-reports/tax-
base-components

204



As shown in the table above, the residential tax base has steadily increased proportionally over the past
five years. This trend in the tax base data, combined with the vested planned residential development in
the coming years, demonstrates the need for the Town to address this shift through policy. The Zebulon
Board of Commissioners believes that it is fiscally responsible and otherwise in the public interest to
promote and encourage non-residential development in the jurisdiction as an alternative to rapid
residential development to keep the ratio between the two development types well balanced. A goal of
maintaining a tax base of 60% residential and 40% commercial/industrial is hereby established.

Development Goals for the Full Build-Out of Zebulon

Communities without a wide variety of housing types and styles also put pressure on the Wake County
Public School System which remains committed to having students of a wide range of socio-economic
backgrounds attend each local school. In addition to the goal of maintaining a balanced tax base, the Town
of Zebulon is committed to achieving a balance of housing types within its jurisdiction.

This commitment is consistent with both the Town'’s Strategic Plan and Comprehensive Plan. The Town of
Zebulon: Vision 2030 Strategic Plan lists “Growing Smart” as one of its three focus areas, calling for the
planning of appropriate land uses and affordability of the community. The Grow Zebulon Comprehensive
Land Use Plan identifies six guiding principles for the town. Two of those principles are “Zebulon will be
BALANCED" and “Zebulon will be PRUDENT.” A balance should be achieved for the Town’s tax base, its
land uses, and its housing types to allow for an affordable community with employment and business
opportunities that will help the community prosper. The achievement of balance in Zebulon will
contribute to the Town being prudent. As stated previously, a local government’s cost of providing
services to commercial properties is generally less than that of residential properties. Having a balanced
tax base that is not proportionally over-saturated with residential properties will contribute to keeping
the Town financially sound.

Below are three development goals that are integral to the utility allocation policy and the future of the
Town. These development goals apply to the entire, future Zebulon jurisdiction including the ETJ, short-
range and long-range urban service areas.

GOAL #1: Maintain 60%-40% ratio of residential to non-residential tax values.

Upon Adoption-January 2021
60% Residential - 40% Non-Residential

GOAL #2: Residential Housing Percentage Breakdown
SFD|TH|MF — 75%]|10%|15% (Note — Duplex counted as MF)

Upon Adoption-January 2021
80.5% | 0.5% | 19%

GOAL #3: Encourage Mixed Use Development to improve pedestrian
connectivity to non-residential activity.

205



Policy and Procedures

Water Allocation

All existing parcels of real property within the corporate limits of Zebulon, regardless of proposed acreage,
shape, or location as of the adoption of this ordinance are entitled to 115 gallons per day of water
allocation to build and sustain a single family or a limited business or commercial use. No additional water
allocation will be awarded for proposed development except in accordance with the requirements of this

policy.

Wastewater Connection

All projects considered for utility allocation must provide a wastewater system connection with adequate
receiving capacity, as determined by the Wake County Health Department and/or City of Raleigh Public
Utilities Department and approved by the Town of Zebulon Planning Director.

General Conditions & Requirements

o All proposed projects must be within the existing corporate limits or have filed a valid and
complete petition for Voluntary Annexation.

¢ All proposed projects under consideration must have a complete application submitted for the
appropriate Master Plan, Subdivision, Site Plan, Special Use Permit, Conditional Zoning Request,
Zoning Compliance Permit, Building Permit, or any other necessary approval.

e All projects are subject to a Utility Allocation or Developer’s Agreement approved by the Town’s
Board of Commissioners. If the Developer/Applicant fails to meet all terms of that agreement the
unused allocation will be reclaimed, no new building permits will be issued, and no new
connections to the water or wastewater systems will be permitted. Active building permits will
have certificates of occupancy held until mitigating measures are agreed to by all parties.

e Projects with proven vested rights upon adoption of this ordinance will be permitted to finish
their projects as previously approved.

e Public water may be utilized for irrigation purposes so long as the Primary Use associated with
the site has previously gained water allocation through the Town.

e Any third parties who buy land to build upon are bound by the approved Utility Allocation
Agreement or Development Agreement for that property. If the agreement is not fulfilled, the
above terms and conditions still apply regardless of who owns the land.

Compliance Required

This policy allocates municipal water in gallons per day for new development proposals, master plans, site
plans, building plans, and/or structures seeking construction approval. Each phase of a phased
development must comply with the terms and development schedule of an approved Utility Allocation
Agreement before the next phase can begin or the development risks loss of previously reserved
allocation.

Previously dedicated but unused allocation can be reclaimed by the Town’s Board of
Commissioners for:

(1) the lack of compliance with any existing Utility Allocation or Developer’s Agreement;
(2) violation of applicable town policy provision, ordinance standard, condition of approval;
(3) violation of federal or state regulation; or

(4) other good cause.

206



Utility Allocation Application Process

Upon receiving a new development proposal requesting water capacity, the Planning Staff shall direct the
Developer/Applicant to demonstrate the project’s qualifications. A Developer/Applicant shall state on the
appropriate application, and stipulate within an approved Utility Allocation Agreement, the use or uses
proposed to be built as part of the project along with the construction design and materials. Town action
on the request will be deferred until the application is complete and the requested information has been
provided.

Proposed projects shall complete the UTILITY ALLOCATION WORKSHEET according to its instructions to
determine the total number of points achieved. The Utility Allocation Application package will be reviewed
for completeness and compliance by the Technical Review Committee (TRC) in conjunction with the
applicable development approval for the subject property {(conditional rezoning, planned development,
site plan, etc.).

Qualification for water allocation is judged by:

e The level of developer investment

e Anticipated increases in the Town's ad valorem tax base

e Construction and dedication of public infrastructure

e Provision of employment opportunities for Zebulon citizens

e Provisions of diversified housing stock

e Preservation of open space

e Protection of existing tree canopy

e Conservation of existing habitat

e The provision of recreational amenities for current or future Zebulon residents

Projects must be awarded 60 TOTAL POINTS or more to merit water allocation.

Points are awarded in two categories, BASE POINTS and BONUS POINTS. BONUS POINTS are broken down
into six categories.

1. Nonconformity Abatement and Public Infrastructure Improvements
2. Green Development Standards

3. Gateway and Transit Improvements

4. Amenities

5. Affordable Housing

6. Other

Unless a project can gain all necessary BONUS POINTS from a single improvement identified in the
approved list, improvements must be made from at least two of the categories of BONUS POINTS.

All features and/or improvements that earn a projects BONUS POINTS must be clearly shown on a
development plan for each application type.

207



Expiration of Allocation Award

A developer/applicant who has secured allocation according to this policy and hasn’t progressed in
construction plan approval, building permit approval, or on-site construction for a period of 12 months
will lose the award of allocation without benefit.

Annual Review of Policy & Appeals

This policy shall be reviewed in January of each year and, when appropriate, readjusted by the Town's
Board of Commissioners. The Town’s overall progress on policy goals will be considered and the
multipliers and/or point thresholds readjusted accordingly.

Appeals of any provision of this ordinance shall be decided upon by the Town’s Board of Commissioners
upon receiving a recommendation from the Planning Board.

BASE POINTS: List of Preferred Land Uses and Required Characteristics:

The uses listed below have been determined to be the most desirable and important uses for the Town
of Zebulon to promote and maintain economic and housing diversity. Only projects that completely
meet the stated performance characteristics will be considered for utility allocation. Please select one of
the following Base Point classifications.

60 Base Points Single Family Homes (Expedited Subdivision or Recombination)

Newly constructed Single Family Homes built upon new lots created via the minor
subdivision, exempt subdivision, expedited subdivision (3 or fewer lots) or
recombination process.

60 Base Points Change of Use

This category captures renovation, rehabilitation, up-fit or retrofit of existing
buildings or portions of buildings that pre-date this policy and require a code
summary sheet, change in building occupancy, certificate of occupancy, building
permit and/or building inspections and do not increase the utility demand from
the previous use of the building.

45 Base Points Business Office/Finance/ Insurance / Professional Services Center - Large
Qualifying projects must exceed 100,000 square feet of heated floor space and
create at least 150 employment positions that exceed the average annual Wake
County salary according to Wake County Economic Development or the
Employment Security Commission. Employees perform professional, scientific,
and technical services for others. Such services require a high degree of expertise
and training and provide high salaried employment opportunities. Examples
include software engineering, legal, medical, accounting, consulting,
architectural, biomedical, chemical, research and development, and
administrative services. Finance or Insurance Centers shall also pool financial risks
by underwriting insurance and annuities. Some establishments support employee
benefit programs. Examples include bank or credit union headquarters,
brokerages, investments, insurance, financing, and data processing
establishments.

45 Base Points Manufacturing/Industrial Employment Center
Manufacturing or Industrial establishments in this category exceed 200,000
square feet of floor space located in plants, factories, or mills and employ power-

208



driven machines and materials-handling equipment. They may also employ
workers who assemble or create new products by hand, without the
characteristic machinery-intensive enterprise. Many manufacturing
establishments process products of agriculture, forestry, fishing, mining, or
quarrying as well as products of other manufacturing establishments. Most
manufacturing establishments have some form of captive services (e.g., research
and development, and administrative operations, such as accounting, payroll, or
management) in conjunction on-site.

45 Base Points Governmental Uses/Public Administration

This category encompasses centers for all government functions; it includes
federal, state, and local government agencies that administer, oversee, and
manage public programs and budgets and have executive, legislative, or judicial
authority. Establishments develop policy, create laws, adjudicate civil and criminal
legal cases, and provide for public safety and national defense.

40 Base Points Single Use Retail
Newly constructed single use, stand-alone building used primarily for retail,
restaurant, or similar commercial use.

40 Base Points Hotels, Motels, or other Accommodation Service Establishments

This category serves lodging and short-term accommodations for travelers. They
may offer a wide range of services, from overnight sleeping space to full-service
hotel suites. They may offer these services in conjunction with other activities,
such as entertainment or recreation. Stays in these establishments are generally
less than one month. This classification does not include boarding or rooming
houses.

40 Base Points Arts/Entertainment/Museums

These establishments operate facilities or provide services for a variety of
cultural, entertainment, and performing art functions. Establishments include
those that produce, promote, or participate in live performances, events, or
exhibits intended for public viewing; those that preserve and exhibit objects and
sites of historical, cultural, or educational interest; and those that operate
facilities or provide services to serve activities associated with the
aforementioned.

40 Base Points Amusement, Sports or Recreational Establishment

Establishments in this category operate either indoor or outdoor facilities offering
family activities (i.e. sports, recreation, or amusement) and provide services, such
as facilitating amusement in places operated by others, operating recreational
sports groups and leagues. Examples include golf courses, indoor sports venues,
bowling alleys, miniature golf courses, athletic clubs, skating rinks and arcades.
This category may be used in conjunction with a commercial or residential
development as a mixed use development.

40 Base Points Mixed Use Development (Transit Oriented)

Newly constructed or substantially rehabilitated collection of vertically mixed
retail, office and residential uses in multi-story buildings centered within a one-
half mile radius of an existing rail or bus transit station or the intersection of

209



Horton Street and North Arendell Avenue in Downtown Zebulon. In order to
qualify as mixed use, developments must dedicate at least one-third of the total
heated square footage to residential use and the remainder to a mix of retail and
office uses. All three use types must be represented and at least 10% of the
heated square footage must be dedicated to street level, storefront retail uses.

40 Base Points

Mixed Use Development {Urban Infill)

Newly constructed or substantially rehabilitated collection of mixed retail, office
and residential uses in a multi-story building on a previously developed parcel
within the corporate limits. In order to qualify as mixed use, developments must
dedicate at least one-third of the total heated square footage to residential use
and the remainder to a mix of retail and office uses. All three use types must be
represented and at least 10% of the heated square footage must be dedicated to
street level, storefront retail uses.

40 Base Points

Mixed Use Development (Greenfield)

Newly constructed collection of mixed retail, office and residential uses in a multi-
story building or buildings on a previously undeveloped parcel. In order to qualify
as mixed use, developments must dedicate at least one-third of the total heated
square footage to residential use and the remainder to a mix of retail and office
uses. All three use types must be represented and at least 10% of the heated
square footage must be dedicated to street level, storefront retail uses.

35 Base Points

Housing Services for the Elderly Establishments

This category offers housing services for the aged, not requiring a license from
the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, such as
independent retirement housing, multi-unit assisted housing with services
(MAHS), and continuing care retirement centers. All facilities must provide, but
not necessarily be limited to, the following services/facilities: On-site laundry
facilities, on site management, guaranteed transportation services at least four
days per week, on-site exercise facilities, on-site computer access, and a
clubhouse/common lounge area for all residents.

35 Base Points

Mixture of Use Development (Retail/Office-Institutional/Commercial)

Newly constructed collection of horizontally arranged uses including retail, office-
institutional and commercial within a master planned project on a previously
undeveloped parcel or parcels totaling at least 10 acres. Mixture of use projects
must include at least two (2) use types with at least 25% of the space devoted to
each use type included in the development.

30 Base Points

Retail/Commercial Center

Newly constructed center of at least 50,000 square feet, typically containing an
anchor such as a grocery store and other smaller spaces and/or outparcels for
subordinate uses. Uses are entirely consumer-driven and include all manner of
retail, service and office possibilities.

30 Base Points

Business Office/Finance/ Insurance / Professional Services Center — Medium
Qualifying projects must exceed 50,000 square feet of heated floor space and
create at least 75 employment positions that exceed the average annual Wake
County salary according to Wake County Economic Development or the

210



Employment Security Commission. Employees perform professional, scientific,
and technical services for others. Such services require a high degree of expertise
and training and provide high salaried employment opportunities. Examples
include software engineering, legal, medical, accounting, consulting,
architectural, biomedical, chemical, research and development, and
administrative services. Finance or Insurance Centers shall also pool financial risks
by underwriting insurance and annuities. Some establishments support employee
benefit programs. Examples include bank or credit union headquarters,
brokerages, investments, insurance, financing, and data processing
establishments.

30 Base Points

Business Office/Finance/ Insurance / Professional Services Center — Small
Qualifying projects 50,000 square feet of heated floor space or less. Employees
perform professional, scientific, and technical services for others. Such services
require a high degree of expertise and training and provide high salaried
employment opportunities. Examples include software engineering, legal,
medical, accounting, consulting, architectural, biomedical, chemical, research and
development, and administrative services. Finance or Insurance Centers shall also
pool financial risks by underwriting insurance and annuities. Some establishments
support employee benefit programs. Examples include bank or credit union
headquarters, brokerages, investments, insurance, financing, and data processing
establishments.

30 Base Points

Multi-Tenant Retail Center

Newly constructed center 50,000 square feet or less, typically containing a more
than one tenant space within a single structure. Uses are entirely consumer-
driven and include all manner of retail, service and office possibilities.

30 Base Points

Single Use Office
Newly constructed single use, stand-alone building used primarily for office and
professional.

30 Base Points

Bungalow Court or Pocket Neighborhood
Newly constructed Bungalow Court or Pocket Neighborhood per the standards of
the Unified Development Ordinance.

30 Base Points

Distribution/Trucking Center
Newly constructed center of at least 500,000 square feet where products and
resources are transported to and delivered from via truck or rail.

25 Base Points

Warehouse
Newly constructed center of at least 500,000 square feet where products and
resources are stored.

25 Base Points

Religious Institutions
Any facility such as a church, temple, synagogue, mosque or monastery used for
worship by a non-profit organization and their customarily related uses.

20 Base Points

Intensive Industrial Uses:
Uses classified as Special Land Uses within the Industrial Classification.

211




20 Base Points

Multi-Family Residential & Condo Units

20 Base Points

Major Subdivision 4- 25 Lots
Any subdivision of land of four (4) — 25 Lots.

10 Base Points

Major Subdivision 26 lots or more
Any subdivision of land of 26 or more lots.

Board
Determination

All Other Uses Not Categorized

This category of use captures all other uses not categorized elsewhere.
Allocations for such uses are left to the discretion of the Town’s Board of
Commissioners upon recommendation of the Planning Board and acted on a case-
by-case basis.

POINTS REQUIRED: ---——--—-- 60 TOTAL POINTS
—> BASE POINTS HAVE: 10
BONUS POINTS NEEDED: --- 50

" POINTS PROVIDED:

{ BONUS POINTS PROVIDED: 50 _
: +10 BASE POINTS )
60 TOTAL PONTS _

212



BONUS POINTS

Proposed projects can gain BONUS POINTS by agreeing to provide any of the following items over and
above the UDO or Standard Specification requirements for their development proposal.

NOTE: No bonus points are given for UDO requirements.

CATEGORY 1 — Non-Conformity Abatement and Public Infrastructure Improvements

Section 1A - Abatement of Nonconformities

(Max - 3 points)

Abatement of any existing non-conforming structures

3

Abatement of any existing non-conforming use of land

2

Abatement of any existing non-conforming lots

1

Section 1B - Roadway Infrastructure Not Warranted by TIA/UDO/CTP

(Max - 10 points)

Construction of full cross section of existing off-site public street

5

Nearby intersection improvements

Traffic signal improvements

Signage or striping improvements

5
4
1

Section 1C - Off-Site Public Greenway Improvements

(Max - 10 points)

Construct more than 4000 linear feet of 10-foot-wide path

10

Construct more than 3000 linear feet of 10-foot-wide path 8
Construct more than 2000 linear feet of 10-foot-wide path 6
Construct more than 1000 linear feet of 10-foot-wide path 1
Construct 500 to 1000 linear feet of 10-foot-wide path 2

Section 1D — Off-Site Bike-Ped Improvements

(Max — 5 points)

Construction of off-site sidewalk improvements (Subject to TRC 2
Approval)
Construction of off-site bike lane improvements (Subject to TRC 3
Approval)

CATEGORY 2. Green Development Standards/ Building & Site Design

Section 2A - Conservation of Natural Habitat Meeting Active Open Space
Requirements as Defined in the UDO

(Max - 10 points)

| One point per acre up to 10 acres

1-10

Section 2B - Parking

{Max — 15 points)

Structured Parking Facilities - must reduce footprint by 20%

10

EV Charging Stations (two-port)

5

Provision of on-street public parking (1 point per stall up to 10 Max)

(1-10 x10=

213

10

10



Section 2C - Stormwater SCM'’s

(Max — 10 points)

Stormwater - Restored Riparian Buffer

10

Construct a fountain or other stormwater amenity within the
BMP/SCM
(as approved by Staff)

(4)

Stormwater - Landscaped Green Roof

Stormwater - Underground capture system for on-site irrigation

Stormwater - Bioretention

Stormwater - Wetland

Exclusive use of porous pavement in parking areas where suitable

Nl |uv

Section 2D - Building/Site Design

{Max - 20 points)

Compliance with residential design guidelines per Section 5.2 of the

10

alternatives to vehicular travel within the development. (Subject to
TRC Approval)

ubDO

Non-Residential building design that incorporates an active upper 5
story.

Pedestrian oriented and walkable site design which promotes 5

Section 2E - Infill/Redevelopment

(Max — 16 points)

Development or Redevelopment within DTC

10

Development or Redevelopment within DTP 6
Redevelopment of previously vacant building space over 20,000 6
square feet
Redevelopment of previously vacant building space under 20,000 5
square feet

Section 2F - Historic Preservation
Historic Structure Preservation via Deed Restriction (Determined by 10
TRC)
Restoration of Historic Structure (Must be approved by TRC) 5

Section 2G — LEED Certification

(Max — 10 points)

LEED Certification for Neighborhood Development (LEED ND)

10

Platinum LEED Certification 10
Gold LEED Certification 8
Silver LEED Certification 6
Bronze LEED Certification 4
LEED Certified Certification 2

CATEGORY 3 — Outdoor Enhancement and Transit Improvements

Section 3A - Outdoor Enhancement

(Max — 12 points)

| Construction of a Parkway Street Section on a Collector level street

5

214



Construction or Preservation of Gateway Landscaping or Structure
(Subject to Comprehensive Plan Consistency and TRC approval)

Outdoor Display of Public Art (Subject to TRC Approval)

'S

Public Facing Outdoor Mural (Subject to TRC Approval)

f=

Maintenance of Roadside Gateway Plant Bed (requires maintenance
agreement)

Planting Pollinator Garden (225 Square Foot Minimum)

Exclusive use of xeriscaping techniques and drought tolerant species

Enhanced Roadside Landscaping (Subject to TRC Approval)

Enhanced Buffer Landscaping (Subject to TRC Approval)

Construction of a Parkway Street Section on a Local level street

Installation of Native Shade Tree Species (per Tree up to 10 Trees)

X9

=)o R o | wo [w)

Section 3B - Transit {Pursuant to location being adjacent to a planned or
active transit route)

{Max - 8 points)

Provision of more than 50 designated Park & Ride Stalls

Provision of 25 designated Park & Ride Stalls

Provision of 10 designated Park & Ride Stalls

Provision of mass transit easement w/ structure (bus stop with
shelter & bench)

N WU |oo

CATEGORY 4 - Amenities

Section 4A - Private Greenway

(Max - 3 points)

Construction of more than 3000 linear feet private greenway
meeting Town of Zebulon standards

3

meeting Town of Zebulon standards

Construction of more than 2000 linear feet of private greenway 2
meeting Town of Zebulon standards
Construction of more than 1000 linear feet of private greenway 1

Section 4B — Pool {Combinations may be approved by TRC)

(Max - 8 points)

Olympic Pool and Aquatic Center

8

Junior Olympic Pool

Lap Pool (four lane minimum)

Resort Style Pool

Any Other Pool

Ny I

Section 4C - Outdoor Deck/Patio

(Max - 3 points)

Deck/Patio - More than 3000 square feet

3

Deck/Patio - More than 2000 square feet

@

Deck/Patio - More than 1000 square feet

1

Section 4D - Pool Amenities

| (Max - 2 points)

215

20



Jacuzzi/Hot Tub/Whirlpool 2
Water Playground with apparatus 2
Sauna/Steam room 2

P

Section 4E - Clubhouse

(Max - 10 points)

spaces.

Commercial Coffee Shop with at least 10 designated public seating

10

S,

With fuli kitchen and over 4000 square feet of meeting space

=
o

With full kitchen and less than 4000 square feet of meeting space

Meeting space without kitchen more than 3500 square feet

Meeting space without kitchen 2500 - 3499 square feet

Meeting Space without kitchen 1500 - 2499 square feet

» T
g :

Meeting Space without kitchen less than 1500 square feet

No meeting space, bathrooms and changing rooms only

Outdoor Kitchen or Grills

M w B v |w

L A | } A | A ) 3 3

w4 ) A 3 h b, » A . N b A i " X
N e R B et St Vgt St St Sl St S St o g e s Yl Pt S S N N N Nt Nt Ve gt N

Section 4F - Additional Active Recreation

(Max - 10 points)

Gymnasium (regulation size indoor basketball court)

10

Baseball/Softball Field (regulation size)

5

Football/Soccer Field (regulation size)

Skate Park

Tennis Courts (two regulation courts, fenced)

Multi-Use Hardcourt (two regulation basketball courts, street
hockey, fenced)

vijunin|wv

Pickleball Court (three regulation courts, fenced)

Pocket Park — 5,000 square feet

D

I'\

IPEMA Certified Playground Equipment

Lighted Field of Play for nighttime use

Electronic Scoreboard or Covered Dugouts or Bleachers

Community Garden — 15-foot by 15-foot, with water access and
potting shed.

w | w | w B

Section 4G — Additional Urban Open Space Enhancements (Within Non
Residential Zoning Districts)

(Max — 10 points)

Fountain

Canopy Including Fixed Permanent Seating

Drinking Fountain with Pet Fountain

Permanent Game Tables

Permanent Tables with Shade Cover

All Weather Bulletin Board

Covered or Internal Bicycle Parking

Artist-Design Bicycle Racks

Little Free Library

Drinking Fountain

Public Work Bike Stand With Tools

Rir(R[R[R|IRP|R|L|NINN

216

&

(]

a

W

w

o

- W .



ATEGORY 5 — Affordable Housing

Inclusion of a'percentage of the provided housing stock of a proposed
development cosm‘m re than 30% of a household income not exceeding
80% of the Area Median Income (AMI)

{(Max — 10 Points

15% Affordable Hou‘s‘mg

10

10% Affordable Housing

CATEGORY 6 - Other
(Max 5 Points)

Integrated public safety operation systems (EX. Flock Safety or others
as approved by the Police Department)

Smart Waste and Recycling Stations

217



@ Stantec

Old Bunn Road Subdivision
Traffic Impact Analysis

November 7, 2024

Prepared for:

Pabst Design Group, PA

107 Fayetteville Street, Suite 200
Raleigh, NC 27601

Prepared by:

Stantec Consulting Services Inc.

801 Jones Franklin Road, Suite 300
Raleigh, NC 27606

File: 171002766

218



Sign-off Sheet

This document entitled Old Bunn Road Subdivision Traffic Impact Analysis was prepared by Stantec Consulting Services
Inc. (“Stantec”) for the account of Pabst Design Group, PA (the “Client’). Any reliance on this document by any third party
is strictly prohibited. The material in it reflects Stantec’s professional judgment in light of the scope, schedule and other
limitations stated in the document and in the contract between Stantec and the Client. The opinions in the document are
based on conditions and information existing at the time the document was published and do not take into account any
subsequent changes. In preparing the document, Stantec did not verify information supplied to it by others. Any use which
a third party makes of this document is the responsibility of such third party. Such third party agrees that Stantec shall not
be responsible for costs or damages of any kind, if any, suffered by it or any other third party as a result of decisions
made or actions taken based on this document.

Prepared by 3 2o /@9& w

(signature)
Breyer Roberts, El W
Reviewed by / / ,é"'c'"
(signature)
Matt Peach, PE, PTOE A/ L\/
Approved by OU&{? {,4,\\
(signature)

Jeff Weller, PE

Peac 2w,
e

h, o=

11/7/2024

219



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUNMMARY ......oooiiiiiinmissnniiesnoiimisnss asssssansssstisas essnss snassessas sessssssas s sanssensnssessnasnns I
1.0 INTRODUCTION.......cccoiiimrinmninsinensennim st issssnase s e s s ssanessasanassss sssmms asanassnsessansssiannnssas 1.1
2.0 INVENTORY OF TRAFFIC CONDITIONS ..o sesssssssnissnsasnsssseassenas 21
2.1 STUDY AREA ...ttt e r e et 2.1
22  PROPOSED ACCESS. ..ottt st s 2.2
2.3  EXISTING ROADWAY CONDITIONS ......oooiiiii i 22
3.0 TRIP GENERATION......ccoitirmistemiinisas st n s s s s smns s st s s e e s s s s s s 3.6
4.0 TRIP DISTRIBUTION .......ccoiiiiiiiimmecinsanisseniien s snsssassmnsssnsssassassesnssssses sasnsassssssnnasassnns 4.6
5.0 TRAFFIC VOLUMES.......cccoccimmiemmminsmminimiiiisnissnissansssesrassassssass sisssiss st sasess sasas sssnsanasansne 5.9
5.1 DATA COLLECTION. .. ..ottt sttt e 59
5.2  APPROVED DEVELOPMENT TRAFFIC ..o 5.9
53 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC GROWTH........ccoiiiiiiii et 5.10
54  NO-BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES ... 5.10
55  TOTALBUILD TRAFFIC ....coiiiiiii it 5.10
6.0 CAPACITY ANALYSIS......ccocerrmriimmnaniinn s ssas s sssssesssssnss s sassssssssesanasanns 6.16
6.1 EXISTING CAPACITY ANALYSIS (2024) .......ccooviiieeeeeeir e 6.17
6.2  NO-BUILD CAPACITY ANALYSIS (2028) .......covieeiiieiieeir e 6.18
6.3  BUILD CAPACITY ANALYSIS (2028).......cooiiiiieiimiienniie e 6.19
6.4  BUILD WITH IMPROVEMENTS CAPACITY ANALYSIS (2028) .......ccovivviniincnine 6.21
7.0 RECOMMENDATIONS........ococmiimtmmsnirmssenicsnnisenssm e ssnn s s ssas sssanssssssesssssassnsissnassnnas 7.24
8.0 REFERENCES.....co i eretiiseininss st sissansssins st s sssss s ssnssessmnesssnsasss s s smsassss esnnnsanss 8.27
2 T T X = = =1 1 o o DO AR PP TPRRPPT 9.28

220



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

LIST OF TABLES

Table ES-1: Level of Service SUMIMAIY ............oooiiiiiiie ettt iii
Table 1: PrOPOSEA ACCESS .....uviiiiiiieceiieeee e e e e e irre e e e sesstte e s s s s e e e e s s beseeeeeaaaaabbaeee e s sabereaas 2.2
Table 2: Existing Roadway CONAItIONS ...........ooo it 2.2
Table 3: TriP GeNETatiON ..........oviiiiiecceie e trr s ee e s e e e e et e e e e e e aaaneaeee e e e aaeaaans 3.6
Table 4: Approved Development Trip Generation — Woodland Crossing ..........ccccccvveericicnene 5.10
Table 5: Level of Service Criteria...... oo 6.16
Table 6: 2024 Existing Analysis ReSUIS ... 6.17
Table 7: 2028 No-Build Analysis RESUIS ..............ccoiiiiiiiiicis e e 6.18
Table 8: 2028 Build Analysis RESUIS..........c.cooviiiiiee e 6.20
Table 9: 2028 Build with Improvements Analysis Results ............cccoeriicc e 6.22
LIST OF FIGURES

Figure ES-1: Recommended IMProvemMENtS. .........cccciiiiiiiiiii et e e e iv
FIgure 1: STUAY ATCa ... ettt e et e e e e b e e e e et ee e e b be e e sreaeanenens 2.3
Figure 2: Annotated Site PIaN .............c..oiiii e et ee e en e 24
Figure 3: Existing Roadway Lan@age ............cuveeeieeiiiiiien ittt 25
Figure 4: Site Trip DistribDULION .....c..ooi e 4.7
Figure 5: Site Trip ASSIGNMENT.... .o et et 4.8
Figure 6: 2024 Existing Traffic VOIUMES ..........uviiiiii e 5.11
Figure 7: 2028 No-Build AM VOIUMES.........ooociii et 5.12
Figure 8: 2028 No-Build PM VOIUMES........cc.co i ee e e s sne e 513
Figure 9: 2028 BUild AM VOIUMES .....ooovviiiiiie et 5.14
Figure 10: 2028 Build PM VOIUMES ........vviieeiiiniieee ettt et e 5.15
Figure 11: Recommended IMprovements.........cccoo it 7.26

221



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Executive Summary

The proposed Old Bunn Road Subdivision is located along Old Bunn Road in Zebulon, NC. Currently, the 159.48-
acre site consists of open space. Construction of the site is anticipated to be completed in 2028. At full build-out, the
site will consist of 357 single-family detached houses and 260 townhomes. Access to the site is envisioned to be
provided by two (2) full-movement access points along Old Bunn Road.

Using the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 11% Edition?, it is estimated that the site
will generate 5,185 new daily trips going to and from the site, with 367 trips in the AM peak hour (91 entering, 276
exiting), and 481 trips in the PM peak hour (297 entering, 184 exiting). Traffic analysis was completed for both the AM
and PM peak hours during the years 2024 (existing) and 2028 (future no-build and build).

Based on the anticipated operations of the study area network, the following off-site improvements are recommended
to be completed as part of the proposed development.

e No improvements are recommended at this intersection

e No improvements are recommended at this intersection

e Monitor the intersection for the installation of a traffic signal. If a signal is found to be warranted before full build-
out of the proposed development, it is recommended that the cost of the signal be pro-rata across all known
development projects impacting the intersection.

The installation of a traffic signal at the US 264 eastbound ramps at NC 97 are also shown to reduce approach delays
and have the intersection operate at an acceptable level of service. These signals are not anticipated to be needed
for acceptable operations during the initial phases of development as the intersections operate at LOSF in the PM
peak hour but lower delays in the AM peak hour under 2028 no-build traffic conditions. During peak hours, it is not
uncommon for unsignalized side street approaches to operate with high delays. The traffic on the main line of NC 97
operates without delay resulting in minimal delay overall at the intersection. In-order to merit the installation of a traffic
signal, the Manual on Uniform Traffic Gontrol Devices (MUTCD) establishes nine warrants for the installation of a
traffic signal. Three of these nine warrants involve traffic volumes at the intersection that occur over eight, four, and
one hour periods. Accordingly, it is recommended that the intersection be monitored to determine the necessity and
appropriate time to install a traffic signal as approved by NCDOT.

222



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

¢ Monitor the intersection for the installation of a traffic signal. If a signal is found to be warranted before full build-
out of the proposed development, it is recommended that the cost of the signal be pro-rata across all known
development projects impacting the intersection.

The installation of a traffic signal at the US 264 westbound ramps at NC 97 are also shown to reduce approach
delays and have the intersection operate at an acceptable level of service. These signals are not anticipated to be
needed for acceptable operations during the initial phases of development as the intersections operate at LOS F in
the PM peak hour but lower delays in the AM peak hour under 2028 no-build traffic conditions. During peak hours, it
is not uncommon for unsignalized side street approaches to operate with high delays. The traffic on the main line of
NC 97 operates without delay resulting in minimal delay overall at the intersection. In-order to merit the installation of
a traffic signal, the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) establishes nine warrants for the installation
of a traffic signal. Three of these nine warrants involve traffic volumes at the intersection that occur over eight, four,
and one hour periods. Accordingly, it is recommended that the intersection be monitored to determine the necessity
and appropriate time to install a traffic signal as approved by NCDOT.

e  Construct an exclusive southbound right-turn lane with 350 feet of full-width storage and appropriate taper
Construct an exclusive eastbound left-turn fane with 450 feet of full-width storage and appropriate taper
Install a traffic signal at the intersection

¢ No improvements are recommended at this intersection
e No improvements are recommended at this intersection

Construct Access A as a full-movement access point with one ingress lane and one egress lane
Provide Access A with a minimum of 100 feet of internal stem length
Construct an exclusive westbound right-turn lane with 50’ of full-width storage and appropriate taper

Construct Access B as a full-movement access point with one ingress lane and one egress lane
Provide Access B with a minimum of 100 feet of internal stem length
Construct an exclusive westbound right-turn lane with 50’ of full-width storage and appropriate taper

A summary of the level of service and delay for this report is shown in Table ES-1. The recommended improvements
are shown in Figure ES-1.

&

223



dnau BuB) 8L UO pajou sem alyeA Jed spuodes ooy Buipasoxs Aelep #

. . . ; g $$300y
L) 0 (6vi)d (T61) 0 (F's1) 0 auS 1e Peoy uung PO
) ) ) . Y S8800Y
(9€2) 0 (#'81) 0 (L92) @ (0810 a)S 16 Peoy uung pio
(ooL)a (oo g (ooL)a (66) Vv (66) VY (6'6) Vv peoy uung PIO 18 6€ ON
(ZsL)o (go1) g (6'91) 0 (1) g (1'sL)o (goL) g 6€ ON 1B /6 ON
(8€2) D (z12) 2 #) 4 (oezi) 4 (1'504) 4 (#'02) 0 (r9l) 0 (ovL) g peoy uung plO e /6 ON
(€6)V (6'8) v e d (g€g) 4 #+9) 4 (r'/2)a (reie)a ®21)0 /6 DN e sdwey gm v9Z SN
(vl g (eoL)a (#) 4 (8'o¥) 3 (z'99) 4 ¥'02) D 012) 0 (€510 26 DN e sdwey g3 $9Z SN
. ; . . . . pleas|nog uny
(€81} 0 GvL)a (6'91) O (reL)a (eol) g ®8)Y | Lojbuiieg je peoy uung pIO
} . . ) ) ) peoy abejia
(CEANE: (o) 8 (ozv g (o g (coL g (96) v Syed 18 peoy uung pio
nd Wy nd WY wd WV Wd WY
5 {yoajoas ‘Aejaq)
sjusweaocsdwy 9DJAI9G JO [8AD1
WM PlING 8202 pIINg 8202 pIing oN 8Z0Z Bunsix3y ¥z0z

Alewwing 991A19G JO [aA97 1 L-83 dlqel

SISATVYNY LOVdINI J144VdL NOISIAIQENsS dvod NNna aio

224



Al

8025 0 JoN 9 2inby

{193}) wbuel eboICIS POPUBSIICIDY M
(1o9)) WBus1 eBoJOIS XX ] m m
poouuod dois @ P P b
uoyoZIDUB J0j Jojiuow Jedorasaa [ 1 0«. E = 3lm
|DUBIS POPUBLILLIODDY - ? py uung pio m m W
PRIIOAUCD I0UBHS J10IL n m m
JUBWIBACKIW} PEPUSUILIODDY gu Wa M
SUDY |9ADI| emmn = W
- +‘+ .*.ﬂ&hr...sv k “Sn 5 .W
TLEUIEN, X +He i Ll BN
5 53
[ N
o {13 g :
c-.— o % ol &
& vy ® g -
-] 4 o
2
“1
%ﬁ.—
< -
pY uung pio osmy Jm r sy nm...
P s
] 7
3 s
3 0
P
5 4

sjuaIRACId] papuswiwogdy : L-s3 ainbig

SISATVNY LOVdII J1d4V¥ L NOISIAIQaNS avod NNNa alo

225



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Introduction
November 7, 2024

The proposed Old Bunn Road Subdivision is located along Old Bunn Road in Zebulon, Wake County, NC. Currently,
the 159.48-acre site consists of open space. The development's location is illustrated in Figure 1. Construction of the
site is anticipated to be completed in 2028.

The traffic analysis will consider future build conditions at the build-out year (i.e. 2028). The AM and PM peak hours
will be analyzed for each scenario. These scenarios are provided below:

2024 Existing;

2028 No-Build;

2028 Build; and

2028 Build with Improvements.

At full build-out, the site is envisioned to consist of 357 single-family detached homes and 260 townhomes. An
annotated site plan prepared by Pabst Design Group, PA can be found in Figure 2. A full-sized and unedited copy of
the site plan can be found in the appendix.

The purpose of this report is to evaluate the development in terms of projected vehicular traffic conditions, evaluate
the ability of the adjacent roadways to accommodate the additional traffic, and to recommend transportation
improvements needed to mitigate congestion that may result from additional site traffic. This report presents trip
generation, trip distribution, traffic analyses, and recommendations for improvements needed to meet anticipated
traffic demands.

2.1 STUDY AREA

Stantec coordinated with Town of Zebulon and North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT)
representatives to determine the appropriate study area and discuss design assumptions. Correspondence regarding
the scoping of this study is included in the appendix. It was agreed that the following existing intersections will be
analyzed to determine the impacts associated with the proposed development:

Old Bunn Road at Parks Village Road

Old Bunn Road at Barrington Run Boulevard

US 264 Eastbound On / Off Ramps at NC 97
US 264 Westbound On / Off Ramps at NC 97
NC 97 at Old Bunn Road

NC 97 at NC 39

NC 39 at Old Bunn Road

¢

2.1

226



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Inventory of Traffic Conditions

November 7, 2024

2.2

PROPOSED ACCESS

Access to the site is envisioned to be provided by two (2) access points along Old Bunn Road as shown on the site
plan in Figure 2. A description of each site access is provided in Table 1.

Table 1: Proposed Access

Proposed Level of Intersection Direction of Adjacent Distance and Direction
Access Access Control Travel Intersection from Adj. Intersection
Fuil- Two-Way Stop Ingress and NC 97 at Old
Access A Movement Control Egress Bunn Road 600 feet West
Full- Two-Way Stop Ingress and NC 97 at Old
Access B Movement Control Egress Bunn Road 1,200 feet West
2.3 EXISTING ROADWAY CONDITIONS

Table 2 provides a detailed description of the existing study area roadway network. All functional classification and
average annual daily traffic (AADT) information, where available, was obtained from NCDOT from the Go! NC GIS
database. The existing roadway laneage is illustrated in Figure 3.

Table 2: Existing Roadway Conditions

Road Road ':;'r':: sry Ft?rﬁ:?ig:al Azp?g}z Speed Limit Maintenance
Hama Number | gection | Classification’ | (vpd) (mph) Agency®
OldBumRoad | o5 | | 2LEM | Major Collestor | 1,400 Unposted* NCDOT
e Road | 2341 | Undivided Local ) 45 NCDOT
et B Sivided Local : 25 Zebulon
US 264 Us2e4 | puane | OterPrincipal | 55 500 70 NCDOT
NC 97 NCo7 | (2L | Minor Arterial | 4,300 55 NCDOT
NC 39 NC39 | 2L | Minor Arterial | 4,400 55 NCDOT
*For Synchro analysis, used 55 mph *For Synchro analysis, used 35 mph
3>
22

227



€

Aemoajg a)s

peoy Apnis e

uopoesseju} Apmg .

aN3o3a1

ealy Apnis :| @anbi4

¥202Z ‘2 1squiaAoN
SUORIPUOY Dlyel] Jo AIoJusAu|

SISATYNY LOVdINI O144VdL NOISIAIQENS VO NNN8 a0

228



ve

£2-€L9
semuseon 4 | NOLLONMASNOD ¥Od LON
ATNOD ATINO MIINY ¥Od
e

2

I

a TN

=
Sl
=
-

|

M,

W
:

J1

|
g

v §5999Y

! L3N
T

J

T
|

La | E

NOISIAKIENS qv0A NNNA 010

LNOAVT 1d30NOD LIS
QBIA LOTNOISIAIGANS AYYNINITIYG

g $$990Y

A

7
Vi

NN NOIEQ 136
!
H
i
;

s e s et o ot -
e

Vv
8
£
2
¢

uejd a)Ng pajejouuy :Z ainbi4

¥20¢ ‘L J9qWISAON
SUOIIPUG) DIeI] JO AIoJuDAL|

SISATVYNY LOVdINI D144Vl NOISIAIAENS dvYOyY NNNd a0

229




4

6€ ON

230

& &
k Qv 2R 1
t Py uung pio 35 3m
2 2 2
: 1
&
+l+ 4L+ ob R
16 ON | 4 4|+ P L.74 e 16 9N
8
2
b4 g2 2
38 Shi
g g
3
2
o o
Py uung pIo .S.-ﬂv .omﬂv Jm r

8{095 €| JON §1 aInbiy

(128}) YiBua1 eBbIO)s XX
pajioyuod dois @
BUD {SADY), ¢owm

o3

pY oBe|IA s3iEd

uny uaibuped g
‘

abeaue] Aempeoy Bunsixg :¢ ainbig

202 ‘', 1oquienoN
suoIpuoD) ael] Jo AIojusau|

SISATVNY LOVdINI D144Vl NOISIAIQENS GvOod NNNg a0



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Trip Generation
November 7, 2024

Trip generation for the proposed development was performed using the 119 Edition of the Institute of Transportation
Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual®. The suggested methods contained in the Rate versus Equation
spreadsheet published by NCDOT® was also consulted prior to performing trip generation. The trip generation for the
proposed development is shown in Table 3.

Table 3: Trip Generation

Daily AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour
Land Use :Li Size Trips Trips Trips
Total | Total | Enter | Exit | Total | Enter | Exit
Single Family Detached Housing 210 | 357du. | 3254 237 59 178 | 329 207 | 122
Single Family Attached Housing 215 | 260d.u. 1951 130 32 98 152 90 62
Total 5185 367 91 276 | 481 297 | 184

To accurately determine the effect of the proposed development on the surrounding roadway network, an estimate of
the expected distribution of traffic entering and exiting the site is needed. These percentages were developed using a
combination of existing traffic volume counts, historic AADTs provided by NCDOT, and engineering judgement. This
trip distribution was submitted as part of NCDOT's TIA Scoping Checklist contained in the appendix. All traffic volume
calculations can be found in the appendix.

The following percentages were used in the AM and PM peak hours. These percentages are also shown in Figure 4.

40% to/from the west on US 264,

20% toffrom the east on US 264;

20% to/from the south on NC 97;

10% to/from the west on Old Bunn Road;
5% toffrom the south on NC 39;
3% to/from the north on NC 39; and
2% to/from the north on NC 97.

The trip generation volumes in Table 3 were applied to the network according to the trip distribution percentages
above. The resulting site trip turning movement volumes are shown in Figure 5.

4.6

231



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Trip Distribution

November 7, 2024

Figure 4: Site Trip Distribution

@

4.7

5 ®
$ % |
53583
122 m EXE ;ég %0
e d A AL £
6 ON %0 "'I'l" e Y AL
wllegs T | BB
g
.
0 @ 8
3
" <
3 8 Ly Rt
il b Gl A 2k
%Sl wsud tzsld [ey | g Py UURG PIO
%G b [%G1) m— [92%6;}: §§§
[
g
BE |
g == | %0
8= dwey uo J l.r%o durey
uny u':ulﬁaug.uegd l. SM¥ez SN 4"‘ M ¥9zZ SN
wd [ 1 BE
%0y | B8
I3 e l‘. ey u
o8 e 3, dumie
Py SBB|IA Sxed Q %0™) §§
20 [ |
%0y | B8
g

232



)

Figure 5: Site Trip Assignment

OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Trip Distribution
November 7, 2024

&
Y g
[=
E 2 3s
3 5 5(8
= 2 2|2
ryyi
s % E|e 838 | Lilo
) O WO lgmm(p) 0 «=(0) 0
1=2 4 AWIE 9‘-(9119
6€ ON 0 0ad {0) Qs - 8¢ ON
{0) O = g;!.g (0) o= QSS
ey |55 pgs
b
E
L g
= -
m| (7)) =~
§§g| §§ 255 | tolo
2< =9 00O |emm(5i) g
= e g | Sarer) i
AT —(eeL)Lle"’ fllo
Glsad 1) ved (6 v1F PY UUNE PIO
(1)1 == (e8) ¥Z) =—> (8) v | emunp :ﬁ;g
(ri)izemy | HEES
2
N
@ oo | Ciss) 8l
S5 j" +=(0} 0
c& dwiey up l oo dwey 4o
pug - oJ | FMFOZSN BMVIZ SN
uny uojBuiueg .1"
aodal =
ooy | €3 "
©
55
28
_9 durey 4o lb@ dwey uo
ox HIVITSN (4))) 9g I 1 83792 SN
o l {0) O == _f
pY eBejIA sspegd 2 o=y [B 9;_
oo =1 E
lolomy | &5
O: s
e

233

4.8



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Traffic Volumes
November 7, 2024

5.1 DATA COLLECTION

Morning (7:00-9:00 AM) and evening (4:00-6:00 PM) turning movement counts were collected by National Data &
Surveying Services on Thursday, May 23, 2024, at the following locations:

Old Bunn Road at Barrington Run Boulevard
US 264 Eastbound Ramps at NC 97

US 264 Westbound Ramps at NC 97

NC 97 at Old Bunn Road

Additionally, the following locations were counted during the morning (7:00-8:00 AM) and evening (4:00-6:00 PM)
periods on Thursday, June 5, 2024 by National Data & Surveying Services:

e Old Bunn Road at Parks Village Road
e NC97atNC 39
e NC 39 at Old Bunn Road

it should be noted that traditional calendar schools were in session when the counts were performed. The count data
is categorized by cars, heavy trucks, bicycles, and pedestrians.

Traffic counts were not balanced due to the low volume roads and distances between study intersections.

The 2024 existing AM and PM peak hour volumes are shown in Figure 8. Raw count data for these locations as well
as all traffic volume calculations are included in the appendix.

5.2 APPROVED DEVELOPMENT TRAFFIC

There are two (2) approved developments within the study area. Those are, Barrington Residential and Woodland
Crossing.

Barrington Residential is to be built west of the proposed development along Old Bunn Road. The development is
currently under-construction and at full build-out is expected to consist of 274 single-family homes, 92 duplex units,
and 471 townhomes per the Traffic Impact Analysis performed for the development (dated September 26, 2016). A
copy of the report is included in the appendix.

This residential development consists of 45 single-family homes along Old Bunn Road to the west of the proposed
development. A traffic analysis document was not provided for this study; therefore, for the purposes of this analysis,
the trip generation values shown in Table 4 below were used.

O

234



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Traffic Volumes
November 7, 2024

Table 4: Approved Development Trip Generation — Woodland Crossing

Land Use AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour
ITE Size Trips Trips
LUC

Total | Enter | Exit | Total | Enter | Exit

45

du 36 9 27 47 30 17

Single Family Homes 210

The site trip volumes for this development were assigned to the network using the same trip distribution discussed in
section 4.0.

5.3 BACKGROUND TRAFFIC GROWTH

Background traffic growth is the increase in traffic volumes due to usage increase and non-specific growth throughout
the area. The 2024 existing volumes were grown by a 1 percent annual rate to estimate 2028 volumes. The growth in
vehicles as a result of this background growth in 2028 for the AM and PM peak hours are shown in Figure 7 and
Figure 8; respectively.

5.4 NO-BUILD TRAFFIC VOLUMES

Approved development traffic volumes were added to the background traffic to determine the 2028 no-build traffic
volumes. The 2028 no-build traffic volumes for the AM and PM peak hours are shown in Figure 7 and Figure 8
respectively.

5.5 TOTAL BUILD TRAFFIC

The 2028 build traffic volumes include the 2028 no-build traffic and the proposed development traffic. A discussion of
the site trip distribution and assignment is provided in Section 4.0. The site trip distribution and volumes are shown in
Figure 4 and Figure 5, respectively. The 2028 peak hour build AM and PM volumes are shown in Figure 9 and Figure
10, respectively.

235



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Traffic Volumes

November 7, 2024

Figure 6: 2024 Existing Traffic Volumes

® 5 P 2R, £
g2 %32
E o &)=
2223
= | -
PR
2qE L{u))a o
0 =0 |qum(gsl) 981 =(r17) 651
AV
6E ON v 2o (581) 18| ==
(S20) 121wt .!_I_g o) L=y
(99 €22
)
&
w £
- a
(7]
ggg L%O))l
4
|Gl ey
(86).41-’9«." Py uung PIo
& (e} €L mm | S22
E (e9) 9™y |ER T
S =T
5 =
°
el
25 - Lidu
on 3?‘" - 1)1
pAlE J l dwey up l f"‘?z””' dwey 3O
MM‘E_O MOz SN ‘1' amroz sn
(2 zzod "\' 57
I Y E=3=) 23
o= IR
v—% —
8
ey
33
-i—g; dwey 4o l"'e dwey up
J l TIAWCEN (oo o g ' CE ]
py ebBeA syied e : )(S)O—b Af
oe1) €11 I3
Y | RAEX
(IR | Ry 33
'\:
.—8 gl
A

236



Figure 7: 2028 No-Build AM Volumes

(2]

OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Traffic Volumes
November 7, 2024

5
8 5 g
. §
® B o~
£ > 2 =
3% 2
t z E Z|g Eg8&
RN 8gE
- & 3ls 588 | Qi il 06
3338 % 0= @ g {761} [0] (9) 9¥1 wma{591} [0] (9} 461
TR EL JIG] Fiioor £ ) i
L 2 8¢ ON (1ol o) £ oF (881} (0] (£) (Q[wmm 6€ ON
EEEE (@21} [0] (2) 121 semt ‘;};g {1l (o) 1=y gg
eAlelleles™y (2= =2
£xt =
=8z o=
89 &
k-]
4
c
w
7] :g
2sg
=
ggg tgﬂ)l(i]](?))t
= {re} [v] (1) 6
J|Sl Firioior
fee) Is11 (1) 21 Ly
b {62} 51} (1) €1 mupr ‘le'rf
£ aylez1) (el 9%y | R&=
a §s82
2 )
o ~F |87
=g g5
g8 s% | Salouisl (011
23 S e {1} [0] (0) 1
PAIg J] durey uo J) | Eisenions e i 30
uny uoibupieg ) WM 79z sn - I aM¥9z sn
o el ez [ 1 s
lidleel W siy | £5 g |==
T5 g |25
S Fo | ax
St =2 |3
2—35 dwey 40 l"’e durey ug
0 SN e 05 I [ E=weean
py eBeA sed o ( )(cl))][?l)(o)o—» r
811} [of (8) €11 T
woiaovd [l B 23
{turolol L=y | &R T2
St —
°g 5122
=S g2
-8

237

5.12



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Traffic Volumes

November 7, 2024

Figure 8: 2028 No-Build PM Volumes

o

== {527} [0 (8) ¥12

‘-{ve) {911 (1) 1

&
(%)
£ ¢ B
§ 2 2
£=>3 g
: ;1 8 2 e
§ .25 B3 525
§:£0 3 5|3 858 | Gl
s 2 B33 o 8N | g {902} (0] [8) 851
2 9% 2 ISl Finoion
£E 8B Ve
E B E % C: 6€ ON w0l o) red .1' {861){([)?][(?)(9)91-’ ar
| xEEE {081} 10 (2) €1 mmb | = 2020 ollooy | s
- babule™y =g = =2
B85 S
T8 o=
83 w
- B
-4
€
L 3
= =8 o
n 82
S5 8
gy
;T".\i Gfotiol (00
2O [e=={oe} 91l (L) €1
J|Gl ety
= 6v} (6] (2) sed PYng PIO
T (€5} 6] (¢) cymme ;!lg
2 leoihisel () 9%y | =
8 85
. ~ ===
e ~& |Z=
i =8 |%%
25 B
S =3 | Sz
25 3’3 =110l (0l 1
e J] o J L e o116 921 gyey o
=——@) , amrzsn 1 M oz SN
el (1) iz [ al
N ™) O~
{1 lvsl (1) oLy 8¢ + |=2
== ¥ |=k=
el ry < =
g2 55 |52
g2 =2 == |83
TE KT el
=X E%: 2]
g%
=~ dwey 4o l‘. dwizy up
S T oeu el v seod T4 aavezsn
Py sbejiiA Sped 5 () [0] {0} G *f
eyt oisod | | (Get (ol Shge ey 35
wiriol () eLey S8 55
S )
Rs HER
N'\ Z|D
S

6€ ON

238

5.13



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Traffic Volumes

November 7, 2024

Figure 9: 2028 Build AM Volumes

(7

S
e [&]
il =
2 3|
¥3 £3
B4E
g 3|2 g | s
| IR 00 |76 =59
e AW e
6 ON S €€ ON
tod ar
BLI—D:OT!!: % | og
omy | T
b=
[+ 4
c
5
k]
t T
n
23 | =3 | ¢ 38 ..‘_';E
b b = I
Il ILies JIGl e
uun
o . o "III" Py uung pio
e d Yot =— Ere=| v
govy | 2
(=]
=g Cre
< | qumm |
s
51 dueys ug Jl@"“' _dwenyo _
PAG Jl M9 SN M 92 SN
uny uojBupieg 4\ '
a ~ N
ozod ‘1' °Q
sl | 5
<t
2R
dwey 3o lbe dwey ug
o3 a3 ¥9z SN ) a3 ¥92 SN
Jl Qs | 1 §
Py ebe(iIA sxued e QIl" ® 0
t1od ‘1'
TCYEE
" 5
[&]
=

239

5.14



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Traffic Volumes

November 7, 2024

Figure 10: 2028 Build PM Volumes

2

5
in L
L =
E O le
2 |e
2y
E &g
T =
s |8 tu
l ; mg'\ g 907 —tTT
Jl'» Pl Pl
6EON g £6 Lt 6€ ON
4 “ar
oel—'?'f 3 | eg
ik SR
o
-4
E
L &
= =
m|
§ o)
= -3 | o
o8 | o8 | 1L =S
ceL el
Jh s and 015159 Jbeﬁ—yty Jl"er"
Pd uung pio
sied sied e AGI T
GHZ m— £5¢ = (S =
s1cmy | SR
£
(=
=]
Ky
~ QO
&2 dwey uo Jl £el dwey 40
pAIg l M v9Z 8N € M ¥9Z SN
uny uoiBupieg o ‘\I
o
izl ‘\' -3
Ly | §R
53
dwey 30 l"e dwey ug
o 2 a3 ¥9z SN ot d I g3 ¥92 5N
J] s={ ¢
py aBeyA Sped O seimy 183
wed ol
riy| 3§
S
[8]
-4

240

5.15



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Capacity Analysis
November 7, 2024

Capacity analyses were performed for the roadway network in the study area. The traffic analysis program Synchro,
Version 11, was used to analyze all signalized and stop-controlled. The program analyzes intersections according to
methods put forth by the Transportation Research Board’s Highway Capacity Manual® (HCM). The HCM defines
capacity as the “maximum rate or flow at which persons or vehicles can be reasonably expected to traverse a point or
uniform section of a line or roadway during a specified time period under prevailing roadway, traffic, and control
conditions, usually expressed as vehicles per lane per hour.”

Level of service (LOS) is a term used to describe different traffic conditions and is defined as a “qualitative measure
describing operational conditions within a traffic stream, and their perception by motorists or passengers.” LOS varies
from Level A, representing free flow, to Level F where traffic breakdown conditions are evident. At an unsignalized
intersection, the primary traffic on the main roadway is virtually uninterrupted. Therefore, the overall delay for the
intersection is usually less than what is calculated for the minor street movements. The overall intersection delay and
the delay for the intersections’ minor movement(s) are reported in the summary tables of this report. Generally, LOS
D is acceptable for signalized intersections in suburban areas during peak periods. For unsignalized intersections, it
is not uncommon for some of the minor street movements or approaches to be operating at LOS F during peak hour
conditions and that is not necessarily indicative of an area that requires improvements.

Capacity analyses were completed under NCDOT Congestion Management Capacity Analysis Guidelines” and the
Policy on Street and Driveway Access to North Carolina Highways®. Table 5 presents the criteria of each LOS
indicated in the HCM.

Table 5: Level of Service Criteria

Level of Service Signalized Intersection Control Unsignalized Intersection Control
(LOS) Delay Delay
{seconds / vehicle) (seconds / vehicle)
A <10 <10
B >10 and <20 >10and <15
Cc >20and <35 >15and £25
D >35and <55 >25and <35
E >55and £ 80 >35and £50
F >80 > 50

Peak hour factors for all analysis scenarios were set to 0.9. All heavy vehicle percentages for all analysis scenarios
were set to 2%. Any calculated volume of zero (0), one (1), two (2), or three (3) vehicles per hour was increased to
four (4) vehicles per hour per NCDOT Congestion Management Capacity Analysis Guidelines’.

All synchro files and detailed printouts can be found in the appendix. A summary of the results of the analyses is
provided in the following sub-sections.

¢

241



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Capacity Analysis
November 7, 2024

6.1 EXISTING CAPACITY ANALYSIS (2024)

In the base year of 2024, under the existing geometric conditions, all study intersections and approaches operate at
LOS D or better in both the AM and PM peak hours. Additionally, no significant queues were observed in the model.

The results from the 2024 existing analysis are shown in Table 6.

Table 6: 2024 Existing Analysis Resuits

s ol s oA
Intersection Approach Group (sec.iveh.) (LOS) (feet) (?;leeel:)e
AM | PM | AM PM | AM | PM | AM | PM
EB L 75 | 75 A A 0 | 25 | 26 | 20
o Old Bunn Ro.‘;\:(do::j Parks Village - L 06 | 102 A B 0 24 | 24
R 89 | 89 A A 0 31 | 34
EB L 75 | 75 A A 0 0 | 26 | 26
@ | OvBu Readal Samington . L | o8 [103] a B | 25 | 25 | 56 | 32
R 90 | 89 A A 25 | 25 | 51 | 42
WB Lt | 7.8 | 88 A A 0 0 | 40 | 44
@ | us 264 EBRamps atNC 97 - LT |153|210| C c 125 | 325 | 86 | 90
119 112| B B 176 | 176 | 0 | ©
EB L 84 | 80 A A 5 75 | 59 | 44
@ | us264WB Ramps at NC 97 E LT 179|274 C D 40 | 60 | 83 | 102
R |90 |[105] A B 0 0 0|0
EB LTR | 83 | 7.8 A A 25 37 | 22
o) NC 97 at Old Bunn Road B LR _f 412 < = 2 2l
NB LTR [140[157| B C 75 5 | 58 | 38
SB LTR | 125|164 | B c 175 | 375 | 76 | 110
Overall 10.1 | 131 B B
EB LTR | 92 |[154 | A C 10 | 80 | 68 | 124
o NC 97 at NC 39 WB LTR | 103 |105| B B 30 (175 | 72| 72
NB LTR | 105|122| B B 40 | 425 | 84 | 96
SB LTR | 97 [125| A B 25 | 50 | 96 | 108
2 NG 36 at OId Bunn Road EB LR | 99 | 99 A A 25 | 25 | 49 | 39
NB LT | 7.7 | 77 A A 25 | 0 | 33| 30

242



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Capacity Analysis
November 7, 2024

6.2 NO-BUILD CAPACITY ANALYSIS (2028)

In 2028, under the geometric conditions discussed in section 2.3, all study intersections and approaches are
expected to operate at LOS D or better in both the AM and PM peak hours; with four exceptions. The results from the

2028 no-build analysis are shown in Table 7. The following lane groups cperate at LOS F in the PM peak hour:

e  Southbound shared left / through movement at the intersection of US 264 EB Ramps at NC 97

e Northbound shared left / through movement at the intersection of US 264 WB Ramps at NC 97
¢  Southbound shared left / through / right movement at the intersection of NC 97 at Old Bunn Road

One lane group was found to operate at LOS E in the PM peak hour:

e  Northbound shared left / through / right movement at the intersection of NC 97 at Old Bunn Road

Table 7: 2028 No-Build Analysis Results

Max.
Delay Leve: of 95" % Obs.
, Lane (sec.iveh.) Service gsne Queue
Intersection Approach ols g . (LOS) (feet) 2y
AM PM AM PM AM PM | AM | PM
EB L 7.8 7.7 A A 0 2.5 29 | 28
° Old Bunn Road at Parks Village L 107 | 12.0 B B 25 5 2% | 40
Road SB : ; -
R 9.4 9.3 A A 0 2.5 36 | 37
EB L 7.7 8.4 A A 25 10 39 | 66
Old Bunn Road at Barrington
@ Run Boulevard B L 134 | 169 B c 40 325 | 114 | 86
R 9.6 9.3 A A 12.5 7.5 96 | 66
wB LT 79 9.2 A A 25 25 54 | 66
@ US 264 EB Ramps at NC 97 sB LT 204 | 66.2 c F 275 | 172.5 | 108 | 142
13.1 | 11.9 B B 225 20 0 19
EB L 9.2 8.4 A A 7.5 10 65 | 48
0 US 264 WB Ramps at NC 97 NB LT 274 | 644 D F 67.5 | 1275 | 110 | 115
R 93 | 124 A B 25 10 o} 0
EB LTR 85 8.4 A A 7.5 20 59 | 98
WB LTR 7.4 7.9 A A 0 0 0 1
@ NC 97 at Old Bunn Road
NB LTR | 183 | 404 o & 12.5 30 65 | 72
SB LTR | 20.4 | 1051 c F 100 | 287.5 | 194 | 402
Overall 106 | 143 B B
EB LTR 97 | 16.9 A Cc 15 95 73 | 111
@ NC 97 at NC 39 WB LTR | 108 | 11.1 B B 35 225 | 87 | 71
NB LTR | 101 | 13.0 B B 275 | 475 | 84 | 102
SB LTR | 111 | 136 B B 475 60 87 | 110
EB LR 9.9 | 10.0 A B 25 5 58 | 52
o NC 39 at Old Bunn Road
NB LT 7.7 7.7 A A 5 25 25 | 38

243



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Capacity Analysis
November 7, 2024

6.3 BUILD CAPACITY ANALYSIS (2028)

As part of the 2028 build analysis, two (2) access points to the proposed development were added to the network.
These are detailed in Section 2.2. In 2028, with the proposed development in place, all study intersections and
approaches are expected to operate at LOS D or better in both the AM and PM peak hours; with four exceptions. The
results from the 2028 Build analysis are shown in Table 8. The following lane groups operate at LOS F in either the
AM or PM peak hour:

Southbound shared left / through movement at the intersection of US 264 EB Ramps at NC 97
Northbound shared left / through movement at the intersection of US 264 WB Ramps at NC 97
Northbound shared left / through / right movement at the intersection of NC 97 at Old Bunn Road
Southbound shared left / through / right movement at the intersection of NC 97 at Old Bunn Road

244



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Capacity Analysis
November 7, 2024

Table 8: 2028 Build Analysis Results

Max. Obs.
Delay aeliaf 95" % Queue *
Lane | (soc.iveh.) e (feet) Sree
Intersection Approach Group . . (LOS) (feot)
AM PM AM PM AM PM | AM | PM
EB L 7.9 7.8 A A 0 25 36 28
Old Bunn Road at Parks
@ Village Road . L 110 | 125 | B B | 25 5 | 25 | 45
R 9.6 9.4 A A 0 2.5 40 38
EB L 78 85 A A 25 10 50 | 199
Old Bunn Road at Barrington
@ Run Boulevard SB L 14.1 18.3 B C 42.5 35 124 | 144
R 9.8 95 A A 125 75 | 116 | 496
WB LT 8.1 9.7 A A 7.5 5 78 63
@ | uUs 264 EB Ramps at NC 97 . LT | 408 | # E F | 775 | 645 | 158 | 489
R 14 123 B B 25 225 | 52 175
EB L 10.3 8.9 B A 7.5 10 74 48
@ | us 264 WB Ramps at NC 97 \E LT | 538 |2114| F F | 1175 | 230 | 122 | 173
R 9.8 16.9 A C 5 22.5 0 90
EB LTR 89 97 A A 15 53 90 | 222
WB LTR 7.4 7.9 A A 0 0 3 7
@ NC 97 at Old Bunn Road
NB LTR 35.3 # E F 30 > 87 | 228
SB LTR 123.6 # F F 552.5 i 516 | 517
Overall 10.3 | 152 B C
EB LTR 9.9 18.3 A c 175 | 1075 | 67 118
@ NC 97 at NC 39 wB LTR 11.0 11.5 B B 35 25 82 77
NB LTR 103 | 1356 B B 275 | 525 | 100 | 104
SB LTR 113 | 145 B B 475 | 675 | 107 | 120
EB LR 10.0 | 10.0 B B 5 5 58 43
@ | NC39atOldBunn Road
NB LT 7.8 7.8 A A 2.5 25 41 41
° Old Bunn Road at Site Access EB LT 78 9.0 A A 0 25 | 446 | 554
A SB LR 19.0 | 26.7 c D 425 | 425 | 619 | 1057
o Old Bunn Road at Site Access EB L7 77 85 2 A 0 0 111 | 217
B SB LR 154 | 19.2 o] c 32.5 30 160 | 992

# delay exceeding 400 seconds per vehicle was noted on the lane group
* excessive gueueing noted

245



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Capacity Analysis
November 7, 2024

6.4 BUILD WITH IMPROVEMENTS CAPACITY ANALYSIS (2028)

Based on the findings of this study, specific improvements have been identified and should be completed as part of
the proposed development. The recommendations are illustrated in Figure 11. The results of the analysis containing
the recommended improvements are shown in Table 9.

US 264 EB Ramps at NC 97

e Monitor the intersection for the installation of a traffic signal. If a signal is found to be warranted before full build-
out of the proposed development, it is recommended that the cost of the signal be pro-rata across all known
development projects impacting the intersection.

US 264 WB Ramps at NC 97

e Monitor the intersection for the installation of a traffic signal. If a signal is found to be warranted before full build-
out of the proposed development, it is recommended that the cost of the signal be pro-rata across all known
development projects impacting the intersection.

NC 97 at Oid Bunn Road
e Construct an exclusive southbound right-turn lane with 350 feet of full-width storage and appropriate taper

e Construct an exclusive eastbound left-turn lane with 450 feet of full-width storage and appropriate taper
e Install a traffic signal at the intersection

NC 97 at NC 39

« No improvements are recommended at this intersection

NC 39 at Old Bunn Road

e No improvements are recommended at this intersection

Old Bunn Road at Site Access A

e Construct Access A as a full-movement access point with one ingress lane and one egress lane
e Provide Access A with a minimum of 100 feet of internal stem length

e Construct an exclusive westbound right-turn lane with 50" of full-width storage and appropriate taper
Old Bunn Road at Site Access B

e Construct Access B as a full-movement access point with one ingress lane and one egress lane
e Provide Access B with a minimum of 100 feet of internal stem length

e Construct an exclusive westbound right-turn lane with 50’ of full-width storage and appropriate taper

6.4.1 Build with Improvements Analysis Results

The results of the capacity analysis with the recommended improvements in-place are shown in Table 9. For
simplicity, the table only shows study intersections where improvements have been recommended.

o

246



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Capacity Analysis
November 7, 2024

Table 9: 2028 Build with Improvements Analysis Results

Level of 95t % Max. Obs.
Delay 4
. Lane weh) Service Queue Queue
sec. b
Intersection Approach Group ( (LOS) (feet) {feet)
AM PM AM PM AM PM | AM | PM
Overall 10.3 14.5
B T 58 12.5 63 220 | 110 | 183
R 5.6 9.4 27 88 74 | 135
u US 264 EB Ramps at NC 97
WB LT 7.0 10.4 146 129 | 249 | 281
B LT 237 | 254 74 178 | 155 | 215
R 235 | 17.8 77 79 82 | 153
Qverall 8.9 9.3

EB L 5.2 4.8 32 33 | 104 | 102
T 49 8.0 79 250 | 92 | 232
I US 264 WB Ramps at NC 97 e T 7.4 6.2 162 98 | 154 | 118
R 7.0 6.2 114 65 | 137 | 104
LT 233 | 233 89 85 | 124 | 156

NB

R 184 21.1
Overal} 212 238
L 26.3 358

29 59 19 30

143 | 466 | 173 | 323

TP (OP|D(OIO[O|P|O|IO|T|O|XZ|>|>|>|P|O|0|>|>|>»|0

QP |O|XP|P|(O|0|0|P|OI0C|0|0|2(>|>|2|2|W|(O0O|W|>» |0 |w

EB
TR | 45 | 56 34 | 101 | 82 | 151

u NC 97 at Old Bunn Road WB LTR | 26.0 | 34.3 242 | 206 | 195 | 197
NB LTR | 280 | 30.0 54 | 50 | 85 | &2

o LT | 311 | 364 94 | 120 | 107 | 128

R 173 | 83 310 | 129 | 286 | 156

@ | O'Bunn Road at Site Access EB L 78 | 90 0 [25 ] 16| 92
A SB LR 184 | 236 40 [375| 94 | 78

© Old Bunn Road at Site Access EB L 7.7 85 0 0 13 | 55
B SB LR | 149 | 174 30 | 25 | 82 | 66

With the recommended improvements in place, all study intersections are expected to operate at LOS D or better.
Furthermore, the installation of a signal and turn lanes at the intersections of NC 97 at Old Bunn Road significantly
reduces the queuing observed when compared to the build without improvements scenario.

Additionally, the installation of a traffic signal at the US 264 eastbound and westbound ramps at NC 97 are also
shown to reduce approach delays and have the intersection operate at an acceptable level of service. These signals
are not anticipated to be needed for acceptable operations during the initial phases of development as the
intersections operate at LOS F in the PM peak hour but LOS C and D in the AM peak hour under 2028 no-build traffic
conditions. During peak hours, it is not uncommon for unsignalized side street approaches to operate with high
delays. The traffic on the main line of NC 97 operates without delay resulting in minimal delay overall at the
intersection. In-order to merit the installation of a traffic signal, the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices
(MUTCD) establishes nine warrants for the installation of a traffic signal. Three of these nine warrants involve traffic

¢

247



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Capacity Analysis
November 7, 2024

volumes at the intersection that occur over eight, four, and one hour periods. Accordingly, it is recommended that the
intersection be monitored to determine the necessity and appropriate time to install a traffic signal as approved by
NCDOT.

248



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Recommendations
November 7, 2024

Based on the analysis and information presented herein, all study intersections are expected to operate with
acceptable levels of service with the proposed development and recommended improvements in-place. The
recommended improvements are described below and shown in Figure 11.

¢ No improvements are recommended at this intersection
e No improvements are recommended at this intersection

¢ Monitor the intersection for the installation of a traffic signal. If a signal is found to be warranted before full build-
out of the proposed development, it is recommended that the cost of the signal be pro-rata across all known
development projects impacting the intersection.

The installation of a traffic signal at the US 264 eastbound ramps at NC 97 are also shown to reduce approach delays
and have the intersection operate at an acceptable level of service. These signals are not anticipated to be needed
for acceptable operations during the initial phases of development as the intersections operate at LOS F in the PM
peak hour but lower delays in the AM peak hour under 2028 no-build traffic conditions. During peak hours, it is not
uncommon for unsignalized side street approaches to operate with high delays. The traffic on the main line of NC 97
operates without delay resulting in minimal delay overall at the intersection. In-order to merit the installation of a traffic
signal, the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) establishes nine warrants for the installation of a
traffic signal. Three of these nine warrants involve traffic volumes at the intersection that occur over eight, four, and
one hour periods. Accordingly, it is recommended that the intersection be monitored to determine the necessity and
appropriate time to install a traffic signal as approved by NCDOT

¢ Monitor the intersection for the installation of a traffic signal. If a signal is found to be warranted before full build-
out of the proposed development, it is recommended that the cost of the signal be pro-rata across all known
development projects impacting the intersection.

The installation of a traffic signal at the US 264 westbound ramps at NC 97 are also shown to reduce approach
delays and have the intersection operate at an acceptable level of service. These signals are not anticipated to be
needed for acceptable operations during the initial phases of development as the intersections operate at LOS F in
the PM peak hour but lower delays in the AM peak hour under 2028 no-build traffic conditions. During peak hours, it
is not uncommon for unsignalized side street approaches to operate with high delays. The traffic on the main line of
NC 97 operates without delay resulting in minimal delay overall at the intersection. In-order to merit the installation of
a traffic signal, the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) establishes nine warrants for the installation

¢

249



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Recommendations
November 7, 2024

of a traffic signal. Three of these nine warrants involve traffic volumes at the intersection that occur over eight, four,
and one hour periods. Accordingly, it is recommended that the intersection be monitored to determine the necessity
and appropriate time to install a traffic signal as approved by NCDOT.

Construct an exclusive southbound right-turn lane with 350 feet of full-width storage and appropriate taper
Construct an exclusive eastbound left-turn lane with 450 feet of full-width storage and appropriate taper
Install a traffic signal at the intersection

e No improvements are recommended at this intersection

e No improvements are recommended at this intersection

Construct Access A as a full-movement access point with one ingress lane and one egress lane
Provide Access A with a minimum of 100 feet of internal stem length
Construct an exclusive westbound right-turn lane with 50’ of full-width storage and appropriate taper

Construct Access B as a full-movement access point with one ingress lane and one egress lane
Provide Access B with a minimum of 100 feet of internal stem length
Construct an exclusive westbound right-turn lane with 50 of full-width storage and appropriate taper

250



9¢/

8|p2g 0 JON sl 2By

(128}) WiBua abnicis PapPUBLILODEY m
{;o3)} Wbua] BEPIDIS XX g m m
payoyuoD dois @ M 2 g2
uolozZ)pubis Joj Jojjuow 1adoiaaag - Ta*- ° m .m ﬁ
[ouBj§ popUSWIWIOSeY - T Py uung pio m R m mv
pajeyuod joubis oo | W M
UBWAAQIOUY PHPUBWILIDIGY e “ua m
a
JUDT [DADI] Gmma W
= tot +u..__r. Gt b A e g =
L6 ON *v + % P .oﬂﬂv wley L.u.t 46 ON
8
c S5
I * m
. a2 i3
J — .w M s|3 M
=z 9 2
o vy -
8 44
LIS
8
]
) q
4 - -
£0 £
Py uung pIo =3 (2 sy 1
- g
] &
3 s
8 o
> L
S a

sjuswaaocidw| papuawwioday ;| ainbig

202 'L JaquianoN
SUoEepPUSLILIOIaY

SISATTVNY LOVdINI D144V L NOISIAIQENS dvOod NNNg alo

251



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

References
November 7, 2024

8.0 REFERENCES

1 NCDOT Functional Class, NCDOT, October 2019
http://ncdot. maps.arcgis.com/home/webmap/viewer. html?layers=029a9a9fe26e43d687d30cd3c08b1792

2 NCDOT AADT Web Map, NCDOT, February 2020
http://ncdot.maps.arcgis.com/home/webmap/viewer. html?webmap=b7a26d6d8abd419f8c27{58a607b25a1

3 NCDOT State Maintained Network Map, NCDOT, October 2019
http://ncdot. maps. arcgis.com/home/webmap/viewer. html?webmap=5d3ad7897 17 14a30be7 ff97fd580e4dS

4 Trip Generation Manual, 11" Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers, September 2021

5 NCDOT Congestion Management Rate vs. Equation Spreadsheet, NCDOT, July 2022
httgs://connect.ncdot.gov/resources/safetv/Conqestion%ZOMnqmt%20and%2OSiqninq/DRAFT%ZO-
%20Trip%20Generation%20Rate%20Ean.xism

& Highway Capacity Manual 6™ Edition: A Guide for Multimodal Mobility Analysis, Transportation Research Board,
2016

7 NCDOT Congestion Management Capacity Analysis Guidelines, NCDOT, July 2015
https://connect.ncdot. goviresources/safety/Conaestion%20Mngmt%20and%20Signina/Congestion%20Management/
Capacity%20Analysis%20Guidelines. pdf

8 Policy on Street and Driveway Access to North Carolina Highways, NCDOT, July 2003

252



OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS

Appendix
November 7, 2024

A link containing all relevant files is electronically sent with this report:

NCDOT Scoping Checklist

Site Plan

Raw Traffic Count Data

Approved Development Information
Traffic Volume Calculations
Synchro Files

Synchro / SimTraffic Reports

253



STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
JR. "JOEY" HOPKINS

ROY COOPER
SECRETARY

GOVERNOR
December 10, 2024

Old Bunn Road Subdivision

Traffic Impact Analysis Review Report

Congestion Management Section

TIA Project: SC-2024-220
Division: 5
County: Wake

S
I Clarence B. Bunting, P.E. Regional Engineer
= Trevor S. Darnell, Project Design Engineer
="
="
-

254



Old Bunn Road Subdivision
SC-2024-220 | Zebulon | Wake County
Per your request, the Congestion Management Section (CMS) of the Transportation Mobility
and Safety Division has completed a review of the subject site. The comments and
recommendations contained in this review are based on data for background conditions
presented in the Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) and are subject to the approval of the local
District Engineer’s Office and appropriate local authorities.

Date Initially Received by CMS 11/07/24 Date of Site Plan N/A
Date of Complete Information 11/07/24 Date of Sealed TIA 11/07/24
| Proposed Development l
The TIA assumes the development is completed by 2028 and consists of the following:
Land Use Land Use Code Size
Single-Family Detached Housing 210 357 d.u.
Single-Family Attached Housing 215 260 d.u.
Trip Generation - Unadjusted Volumes During a Typical Weekday
IN ouT TOTAL
AM Peak Hour 91 276 367
PM Peak Hour 297 184 481
Daily Trips 5,185
| General Reference |

For reference to various documents applicable to this review please reference the following
link: https://connect.ncdot.gov/resources/safety/Pages/Congestion-Management.aspx

Once the driveway permit has been approved and issued, a copy of the final driveway permit
requirements should be forwarded to this office. If we can provide further assistance, please
contact the Congestion Management Section.

Access A
The proposed Access A is in close proximity to the NC-97 / Old Bunn Road intersection. If
operational issues develop, access may need to be restricted.

Signalization 1
We defer to the District Engineer, the Division Traffic Engineer, and the Regional Traffic
Engineer for final decisions regarding signalization.

255



o

INFORMATION PACKET FOR
ZEBULON NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

NOTICE OF NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING

This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the
Town’s website or disclosed to third parties.

Dear Neighbor:

You are invited to a neighborhood meeting to review and discuss the development proposal at:
1915 and 1917 Old Bunn Road, Zebulon, NC 27597 2715-29-0916; 2716-21-5371
(Address) (Pin Numbers)

in accordance with the Town of Zebulon Neighborhood Meeting procedures. This meeting is intended to be a
way for the applicant to discuss the project and review the proposed plans with adjacent neighbors and
neighborhood organizations before the submittal of an application to the Town. This provides neighbors an
opportunity to raise questions and discuss any concerns about the impacts of the project before it is officially
submitted. Once an application has been submitted to the Town, it may be tracked using the Interactive
Development Map located on the Town of Zebulon website at:
https://www.townofzebulon.org/planning/interactive-development-map

A Neighborhood Meeting is requested because this project will include:

Conditional Rezoning

Planned Unit Development

Site Plan within the Downtown Core or Downtown Periphery Zoning Districts
Zoning Map Amendment (results in more intensive uses or increased density)

Special Use Permit (Quasi-Judicial Hearing)
*Quasi-Judicial Hearing: The Board of Commissioners cannot discuss the project prior to the public hearing.

=

The following is a description of the proposed (also see attached map(s) and/or plan sheet(s)):

Applicant plans to petition the Town of Zebulon to apply a Planned Development zoning designation to the
above-captioned Property. Currently, the Property is outside of the Town of Zebulon's corporate limits and
extraterritorial jurisdiction (ETJ) and applicant will apply for annexation. The purpose of the zoning request
is to allow for the development of a residential subdivision comprised of a mix of townhouses and single-
family detached homes.

Estimated Submittal Date: December 2, 2024

MEETING INFORMATION:
Property Owner(s) Name(s) Thomas C Hendrickson and Jill D Hendrickson

Applicant(s) Eastwood Homes of Raleigh, LLC

Contact Information (e-mail/phone) bguillet@eastwoodhomes.com / 919.758.8208
Meeting Address: 301 South Arendell Avenue, Zebulon NC 27597 {Zebulon Community Center - Karate Room)

Date of Meeting: November 25, 2024

Time of Meeting: _ 7:00 pm - 9:00 pm

**Meetings shall occur between 5:00 p.m.-9:00 p.m. on a Monday through Thursday (excluding Town recognized helidays). If you have questions
about the general process for this application, please contact the Planning Department at 919-823-1809. You may also find information about the
Zebulon Planning Department and on-going planning efforts at https://www.townofzebulon.org/services/planning

Page 3 of 8
256



P INFORMATION PACKET FOR

ZETU LON NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

PROJECT CONTACT INFORMATION

This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third
parties.

Development Contacts:

Project Name: ©Old Bunn Road Subdivision | Zoning; Planned Development (PD)
Location: 1915 and 1917 Old Bunn Road, Zebulon, NC 27597
Property PIN(s): 2715-29-0916; 2716-21-5371 | Acreage/Square Feet: 159.72 /6,957,604

(Net outside of right-of-way)

Property Owner: Thomas C Hendrickson and Jill D Hendrickson

Address: PO BOX 1166

City: Zebulon | State: NC Zip: 27597

Phone; N/A Email; N/A

Developer: Eastwood Homes of Raleigh, LLC

Address: 7101 Creedmoor Road, Suite 115

City: Raleigh State; NC Zip: 27613

Phone; 919.758.8208 Fax: N/A Email: bauillet@eastwoodhomes.com

Engineer: Pabst Design Group, PA

Address: 107 Fayetteville Street, Suite 200

City: Raleigh State:; NC Zip: 27601

Phone:; 919.848.4399 Fax: 919.848.4395 Email: dpabst@pabstdesign.com

Attorney: Morningstar Law Group
Address: 434 Fayetteville Street, Suite 2200

City: Raleigh State: NC Zip: 27601

Phone: 919.890.3318 Fax: N/A Email: mstuart@morningstarlawgroup.com

Page 4 of 8
257



e INFORMATION PACKET FOR
ZEBULON NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

PROVIDING INPUT TO THE PLANNING BOARD OR BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS:

Each Board of Commissioners meeting agenda includes a Public Forum time when anyone is permitted to speak
for three (3) minutes on any topic with the exception of items listed as Public Hearings for that meeting. The
Board of Commissioners meets on the 15t Monday of each month at 7:00 p.m. and Joint Public Hearings are
scheduled for the 2nd Monday of every Month. (except for holidays, see schedule of meetings at
https://www.townofzebulon.org/agendas-minutes. You may also contact Board of Commissioners at

https://www.townofzebulon.org government/board-commissioners.

PRIVATE AGREEMENTS AND EASEMENT NEGOTIATION:

The Town of Zebulon cannot enforce private agreements between developers and neighbors and is not a party
to the easement and right-of-way negotiation that occurs between developers and neighboring property owners
for easements or rights-of-way that are necessary to build the project.

Tt is recommended that all private agreements be made in writing and that if a property owner feels it necessary,
they should obtain private legal counsel in order to protect their interests in both private agreements and during
easement negotiations. The only conditions that the Town of Zebulon can enforce are those conditions that are
made a part of the conditional zoning of the property by agreement of the developer and the Town.

As an example, if a developer offers to build a fence for a neighbor to mitigate some impact, the Town can only
enforce the construction of the fence if the fence becomes a condition of the rezoning. This would occur by the
developer offering the condition as part of their conditional zoning application package or at the Joint Public
Hearing on the conditional zoning and the Town accepting it as a condition. Private agreements regarding a
fence being constructed will not be enforced by the Town.

To request that any agreement with a developer is made a part of the conditional zoning at the time of approval,
you may ask at the public hearing if the agreement is included in the conditions. If it is not, you may request that
the Board of Commissioners not approve the rezoning without the agreement being included in the conditions
(note that it is up to Board of Commissioners whether to approve or deny the rezoning but they cannot impose
conditions that the applicant does not agree to add). The developer’s proposed conditions can be viewed any time
after a rezoning is submitted on the Town of Zebulon Interactive Development Map which can be found at:

https://www.townofzebulon.org/planning /interactive-development-map

DOCUMENTATION:

Neighbors to a requested new development and/or rezoning are strongly encouraged to fully document (such as
through dated photographs) the condition of their property before any work is initiated for the new development.
Stormwater controls installed on developed property are not designed to and will likely not remove 100% of the
soil particles transported by stormwater runoff. As a result, creeks and ponds could become cloudy for a period
of time after rain events.

Page 5 of 8
258



. INFORMATION PACKET FOR
ZEBULON NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING SIGN-IN SHEET:

This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third
parties,

Old Bunn Road Subdivision
301 South Arendell Ave, Zebulon, NC2 39 7

Project Name:

Meeting Address:
Date of Meeting; November 25, 2024 Time of Meeting: 7pm-9pm

Property Owner(s) Names; _ Thomas C. Hendrickson and Jill D. Hendrickson
Eastwood Homes of Raleigh, LLC

Applicants:
Please print your name below, state your address and/or affiliation with a neighborhood group, and provide your phone
number and email address. Providing your name below does not represent support or opposition to the project; it is for
documentation purposes only.

Name/ Organization Address . Phone# E-mail
1 Ve Aoy /30 Ol Bony| —
2 l:um Adams 1201 E Cunngn Ak 952552
3 | Scovr Ly M CIs OIS D STASE0UNO TIC BIC [TRT4H
4 Susnm LYPNCH il
5 bhine £ fnaeth Sims [ 1d) Huy 916 ANT-2(4-(417 Ko Sims 123 Camallia
6 F—\::(L\ (5\1{!\.(“'( !‘07!'? Su.. f-) /1)‘ D! b
7 [.a aJ- R‘)fu«”r_
8 Tothu x/ 0120 S pnsy Bud Dr
9 Potot v hy Loddon 2091 228 Buns /4 |9/5-43-294

a
10 [ omechia. Conin | 525 mumwfw,q:w@ 2 phlcamgavin@gmesl,,
7

11 \T2u e Pau | (1335 ENC 9 Hiudl Y5§+723:2¢ MlmquLcmﬂ

12 ' PO Ao SYD 2kl

13 | one attendee did not sign in

22
23
24

25
Attach Additional Sheets If Necessary.

Page 6 0f 8

259



_@_ INFORMATION PACKET FOR
ZEBULON NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION FROM THE NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING

This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third

}l)’a:;ii;ct Name: -Old Bunn Road Subdivision

Meeting Address: 301 South Arendell Ave, Zebulon, NC 27597

Date of Meeting: November 25, 2024 ime of Meeting: 7 om - 9 om
Property Owner(s) Names: Thomas C. Hendrickson and Jill D. Hendrickson

Applicants: Eastwood Homes of Raleigh, LLC

Please summarize the questions/comments and your response from the Neighborhood Meeting in the spaces below (attach
additional sheets, if necessary). Please state if/how the project has been modified in response to any concerns. The response
should not be “Noted” or “No Response”. There has to be documentation of what consideration the neighbot’s concern was
given and justification for why no change was deemed warranted.

Question/Concern #1: What is the range of home sizes in the development?

Applicant Response: Townhomes range from 1.500 to 2.500 square feet, standard homes are about 3,000 square

feet. targeted 55+ homes are 3.500 square feet. and larger estate homes are up to 4.500 square feet.

Question/Concern #2: What lot sizes will be available?
Applicant Response: Single-family detached lot sizes will consist of 6.000. 7.200. and 8.400 sq ft.

Question/Concern #3: How are homes positioned relative to Hwy 977
Applicant Response: The townhomes located along Hwy 97 will have their primary entrance facing the roadway.

Question/Concern #4: Will the townhomes include garages?

Applicant Response: Yes. the townhomes along the Old Bunn Road and NC Hwy 97 E road frontage will have

rear loaded carages that will not be visible from the street.

Question/Concern #5: What type of architectural features can we expect for the townhomes?

Applicant Response: The townhomes fronting Old Bunn Road and NC Hwy 97 E will have an urban design with

front-facing doors and alley-access garages. Real-life images of similar designs are available if you would like to

see them.

Question/Concern #6: What environmental measures are being taken concerning Beaverdam Creek?

Applicant Response: All applicable regulations are being followed. No homes will be built in flood hazard areas.

Page 70f 8
260



Question/Concern #7: What distance will homes maintain from flood hazard areas?

Applicant Response: That distance varies. but no structures or residential lots will be located in the flood hazard

areas. and much of the area immediately outside of the flood hazard area is planned to be occupied with

stormwater control measures and open space.

Question/Concern #8: Are there any wetlands on the property?

Applicant Response: Yes. There are jurisdictional streams. ponds. and wetlands on the property. The stream on

the southeast portion of the property is not jurisdictional and does not have a riparian buffer associated with it and

was released by the NCDWR who walked the property. Army Corp of Engineers have vet to visit the site but will

to confirm jurisdictional features.

Question/Concern #9: What is the proposed buffer between the development and neighboring properties? Can a

buffer be provided adjacent to the property to the east along the existing roadway?

Applicant Response: There is an existing buffer on the adjacent property along a portion of the western boundary

that is 100ft wide. No buffer is currently shown adjacent to the property immediately to the east. along Hwy 97.

but we will take a look at that based on this comment.

Question/Concern #10: What steps are being taken to ensure environmental protection?

Applicant Response: Environmental professionals have conducted on-site evaluations to comply with state.

federal. and local requirements.

Question/Concern #11: What infrastructure upgrades are planned to support this development?

Applicant Response: Road widening, sewer extension. and a new traffic light will be provided. A new lift station

will replace the current one to ensure adequate sewer capacity for a larger sewershed.

Question/Concern #12: What plans are in place to manage increased traffic?

Applicant Response: A traffic impact analysis has been completed. and road improvements. including widening,

and a traffic light are proposed The study is currently under review by NCDOT and the Town.

Page 70f 8
261



Question/Concern #13: Will new schools be built to accommodate the increased population?

Applicant Response: Discussions with the county’s school system are ongoing to plan and fund new schools.

Question/Concern #14: What about utilities such as water and sewer?

Applicant Response: Water and sewer will be connected to the Raleigh system. Sewer infrastructure will be

extended eastward with a new regional lift station.

Question/Concern #15: Will the developer pay for traffic signals or other roadway upgrades?

Applicant Response: Yes. traffic signals and roadway upgrades are the developer’s responsibility.

Question/Concern #16: How will green spaces be incorporated into the development?

Applicant Response: Green spaces. stormwater control measures. and a public greenway trail along Beaverdam

Creek are planned to enhance community living and support environmental sustainability.

Question/Concern #17: What will homeowners see from their properties across from the development?

Applicant Response: Townhomes facing Hwy 97 will have front doors visible. while garage doors will not be

visible from the street.

Question/Concern #18: Will nearby properties be annexed into Zebulon?

Applicant Response: No additional properties will be annexed in connection with this request.

Question/Concern #19: Will homeowners face double taxation due to annexation?

Applicant Response: Only properties annexed into the town will pay municipal taxes.

Question/Concern #20: Why did vou choose planned development zoning instead of R-30?

Applicant Response: Planned development zoning provides flexibility for housing designs and community

features, aligning with the town's suburban growth strategy. whereas R-30 zoning provides for a more rural

development type.

Question/Concern #21: Do you have a rule or ratio for non-buildable space?

Applicant Response: Possibly 20 percent, but our exact percentage details are not vet finalized.

Page 70of 8
262



Question/Concern #22: How does the buffer compare to where the new homes will be?

Applicant Response: There is an offsite preservation easement near the existing lake along the western boundary

of the property. with a 100ft buffer from our property line to their townhomes.

Question/Concern #23: Could you give us the name of the developer and the communities they have previously

worked on?

Applicant Response: Eastwood Homes has constructed many communities. and all are invited to visit them.

Several are located in the Triangle area.

Question/Concern #24: How many homes are being built and what are the price points?

Applicant Response: While it’s too early to know exact pricing, there are several cost points including entry-

level townhomes. core products, age-targeted homes, and larger estate lots. We plan to build just under 600

houses, with a density of 7 units per acre for the townhome product. 4.75 for the core product, 2.5 for age-

targeted homes. and 2 for the estate homes.

Question/Concern #25: A buffer is requested bordering property to the east.

Applicant Response: We appreciate that feedback and will look at options for a buffer there.

Page 70f 8
263



e INFORMATION PACKET FOR
ZEBULON NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

AFFIDAVIT OF CONDUCTING A NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING, SIGN-IN
SHEET AND ISSUES/RESPONSES SUBMITTAL

This document is a public record under the North Carolina Public Records Act and may be published on the Town’s website or disclosed to third
parties.

I, PHiL? D, PARST TR, , do hereby declare as follows:
Print Name

1. 1 have conducted a Neighborhood Meeting for the proposed Rezoning, Major Site Plan, Master Subdivision
Plan, or Special Use Permit.

2. The meeting invitations were mailed to the Zebulon Planning Department, all property owners within 300
feet of the subject property and any neighborhood association that represents citizens in the area via first class

mail a minimum of 10 days in advance of the Neighborhood Meeting. /30\ 5. ARENDELL AUE,

3. The meeting was conducted at _ ZEBVLI ¥ COMMUNITY LLEVTER (location/address) on
W/ 2s/2.4 (date) from Y:60®m  (starttime)to g0 P\ (end time).

4.1 have included the mailing list, meeting invitation, sign-in sheet, issue/response summary, and zoning
map/reduced plans with the application.

5.1have prepared these materials in good faith and to the best of my ability.

afa/ey e QTS ITDZ
Date

STATE OF AJogpp Coro Do
COUNTY OF /{)atce

Sworn and subscribed before me, \lcg-é(_l./ @ {t’("" , a Notary Public for the above State and
County, on this the Aol day of_QéCm“g_" , 20 ,{/4/ .

SEAL B
o
Notary Pyblic
JULIA OGDEN
NOTARY PUBLIC
WAKE COUNTY, N.C.

JutsgCorte

My Commission Expires:

(o /23 2
=

Page 8 of 8
264



.:a.cmvwﬁ\ﬂs sy \on.‘mm: S ‘uraiay} BjER Ms 404 papinosd aue’ 199} 000‘} sfenba youi |,
pojjduwy 40 passaidxa ‘sepueueM ON ‘SASAINS LON /8 pue )
‘sosodind uogeULIOjUI J0f paonpoid ale SABW B} 4ONMOH hﬂth Uz .-_-O— -n—ﬂN .ﬂﬂog uu :n —v—o h —_ ﬁ— .ﬁ m —_ m—_

"2jqiss0d LORRLUION) GRINIDE PUR JUBLND JSOW aY) u OOO.N 000'L 00S

ysyand pue sanposd o} poye Aiens sayew sdepr =°m_ >_ vn —.—m vﬂom uun m u—o

Jewfepasiqg

Tel eI

wioys
Supioo}4 Jooly pus

= dVW ALNDIALG:

r_ A —= 1




.:pa&&&ﬁsﬂtoﬁm:mn.:..Easm~wnm<teumn.sEqﬁw. 199} 000' L slenba you |
pagdwi 1o passaidxa ‘saguelsm op ‘SASANS LON ale pue )

‘sesodind uogeuuo 10} peanpod aie sdew el YenemoH I T T T T T T T 1 L6SLT DN .CO—-A-UN .‘GO“ uung pPloO ZL6l B SlLé6l
‘ajqIssod LORBLLIOM] 8}RINIIB PUB JUBLIND JSOW 3Y) ¥ 000'2 000'L 005 0 . aun
ysygnd pue eanpoid 03 poye Aiane sexew sdept
Jauneasiq Z :o_m_>_ un:m v m m ﬁ_o

I m—— I ) S — 777t
(uolngaz) UBGINGNS [ERUSPISY ‘TY ]

(uojngaz)
= 350 [BP3GS - £T [eRUIPISSY ‘aNS £1-Y 2 {£1unod axem) 0=y
{uo|ngaz) jewsnpur Areay ‘TH =] (faunod axem) GH ey

{(uojnqaz) |epIBWWO) AARSH “OH _H_

Auadoid D ﬂ.
_, .riu: T Km.w_mn_

L6

_‘.—\hb\u.

senbey Gujuez
{ad) uswdejsaeg
peuue]d pesedoig

Uojs|AlpQns
uojbupireg

6E

z l [ | _ C /
dVIN DONINOZ

LL

266



€c-€19 ey |
paewnn o3roud | " f NOILONYLSNOD ¥O4 1LON
_‘uozoo FIVOS OIHAVHD >N__<z_2_|_mm—n—
e o | ~
8| L | ~
i
l |
! i
o , [
il - — |
N i
‘_\ _
L ! !
2| | _ |
3 e [
\ Tl T ,F - /!
‘ R e Jo
\.,\ﬂw,\f\« / /\ -
[~ -k -
.j: i =3 Sl
t L;r _ ﬂ\\er/Il 3 /
1\ / )/ b
?_‘ J:: ___.: /\/\ N 3
m r__pr:f L )/,,%v./\\\ ) -
vi & =i ;W\V // \/ N T S
E - . N '
s m ST Aws v\/\\ PRGN
m W m = ﬁlxt._._ L\/VY(\ /\ / / <N ,.,\\/ /\\\) /\\u —
3 wm m 3 Jijl_,\ el S~ /\\,‘. LS
22 (_ _ [ / I =/ A e s B PR _ ()
ﬂ.nw ——L - \rs\ P A N S R A L
HE S e
Nma \\w\/,ﬂ\ L b— S~ 1
A “T . AN S -
/ \ AT oV 7 -
o ~ ;\ ; m/l / \ \ o _/ A FL /
= 1 \./\/ \r M\ /L\A\; 4 /.Frl//
L [ !
A R ERRNEY ‘\
TiTed ‘
N ", ‘,
I ’ / I
i - / ‘_\
* ., K
S \ i
H
1[ o f ,
M i
VV = \ \
o) S | ;
& | N =
4 = / \\ ™
4 R
I f

NOISET

Vd




£6S4Z ON 'NO1Ng3z
£6S/Z DN ‘NONG3Z
L6GLZ ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S.2 ON ‘NOINgG3Z
L6SLZ ON ‘NONg3Z
L6SLZ ON ‘NO1Ng3Z
28G4T ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S4ZON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S£T ON ‘NOINg3z
L6542 ON ‘NONg3Z
LBG4T ON 'NO1N83Z
£654T ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S/Z IN ‘NOING3IZ
£6S.T N ‘NONG3z
£BS/Z ON ‘NO1N93Z
£6S/2 ON ‘NO1Nd3z
£6SLT ON ‘NO1INg3zZ
£6S£Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
£BSLZ ON ‘NoOWNg3Iz
£6S4T ON ‘NONg3z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S/T ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6G£Z ON ‘NO1NG3z
L6542 ON ‘NONG3Z
L6S4T ON ‘NO1Ng3z
L6S/Z ON ‘NOTN83z
L6SLZON ‘NO1NG3Z
£6S/Z ON ‘NO1INg3z
L6542 ON ‘NONG3z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S/Z ON ‘NONG3z

ae1s ‘Ao

AV MOY NOLONIHYVd vOr
JAY MOY NOLONIYHvd 9cv
Qay TIH AINLNd 824

AMH £6 ON 3 S¢ET

HivVd XO01SAvYH LEL

HLVd XO01SAvH 9¢4

Q4 NNNd d10 S16T

Qd TTIH AINLNd TEL

JAV NONNV9O 3 5¢CT

a4 NNN4d 10 8061

JAV NONNVO 3 60¢CT

Hivd JO0LSAVH 9¥L

G4 NNNG aioo

G4 NNNE 10 L1161

Qd NNNg 410 0281

Q4 T1IH AINLNd 6EL

Q4 THHAINLNd ¢EL

JAY MOY NOLONIYHYE 8TY
HLlvd A001SAVH 6EL

H1vd XO01SAVH S€L

a4 NNNg aiovelt

Q4 NNNd Q10 1¢0¢

JAV MOH NOLONIYHYE 8EY
HLVd XO0L1SAvH 0

HLYd XO01SAvH 0

Hivd XO01SAvH 0

HLYd XO01SAvH 0

Q4 T1IH AaNLNd £E£

H1Vd X001SAVH 8€4

H1Vd XD0LSAVH 8¢L
AMHY9Z SN Q10 6€TT

ssalppy

011 INMIAILLIIAYH 4O SHOLONYISNODH® H
HIIAIS "SAWOD I NV3S ‘STIVIS

WINVAIYd ‘VIMINWILLOD X HUINVY ‘VILNAXVIVA
INAVd VIIONY “INVd IONFUMYT STWYM “INYd
YdNYIN ‘WYNVAYONS HSIWVY ‘NYIVHYONIY
VN3IIAVHd ‘IONYY

QT ‘'NOSHIIHANTH SYIWOHL O ‘NOSHOIYANIH
WINVAIH ‘VIANNONINE YdIHS ‘VAVANVIA

a1 ‘NOSHOIYANTH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIYANIH
a 1M ‘NOSNOIHANIH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIYANIH
a T ‘NOSHOIYANTH SYWOHL 3 ‘NOSHOIYANIH
IONVY VWYY ‘NLLYSO AVSYHd YHIWISHYN ‘NLLYD
07115311434 0dd AlIWV4 131vd

a 1M ‘NOSHOIIANIH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIdaNIH
71YAN3YE XIOHOVY1d STWVI XI0dIV

|H1334d ‘ATIVdVIVEWYN VAVHOVYH ‘VAVIWYTYN
47Nvd ‘QUvTIIm

31V ‘NYWNIH NVIHQY O1dNY1D ‘Yd3IHD

JT1ON SINWOH 2di

NNV HYH0893a ‘NOWYYD

AVY HIAINN3( ‘D90H NVIdE AOVHL ‘O90H

O VAI ‘NIQT0H V 143804 ‘NIdT0H

INIONI NVAYE ‘ANVTIOH

ONINOWYIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIHHYE
ONINOWLVIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIHYvYE
ONINOLLYIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH IN NOLONIdHYE
ONI NOILYIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIHdvE

331SNYL VTINd INVAVd ‘AQd3d 331SNYL ¥11Nd HYHAIYS ‘AQa3d

VAHSHV ‘1190S WAIHAYY ‘NYHIVNYMSIA
H VAVYIWLYN ‘IONId X 1INY ‘VAYWIYN
QOOH HLIaN( ‘NNA3wW

7304Yd AYOH NNNg @10 ST6T WOYd 13S440 .0S4 NIHLIM 34V MOT138 S31143d0dd

Jaumo

268



£65/2 ON ‘NO1INg3az
£65/2 ON ‘NOINg3IZ
£6S/2 ON ‘NOINg3Iz
£65£2 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S£2Z DN ‘NOTNg3z
46522 ON ‘NO1INg3z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOTINg3zZ
£6S/2 DN ‘NOTNg3zZ

/6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6G/Z 0N ‘NOTNg3zZ
£6S£Z ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S22 ON ‘NOING3zZ
£6S4TON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S/Z DN ‘NOTNg3z
£6S.Z IN ‘NOTINg3zZ
£65/¢ 9N ‘NOINg3z
£6S/Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S/2¢ 3N ‘NO1Ng3z
L6842 ON ‘NO1NG3z
£65£2 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
L6842 ON ‘NO1Ng3zZ
/6542 ON ‘NOINg3z
L6822 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£654£2Z ON '‘NOTNd3z
L6842 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S4T ON ‘NOINg3z
£6SLTON ‘NOTNg3z
L6522 DN ‘NOTNE3Z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOINg3z
/6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6G/2 ON ‘NOTNd3z

IAVY MO NOLONIddYd 18
JAVY MOd NOLONIHYVE 0T
QY TIH AINLNd £2L

AV MOY NOLONIYYVYE 0S
JAY NATADVYHE ¥CL

JAV MOY NOLONIdHYE 1S
JAV MOY NOLONIYYVYd 05t
JAV NATAIOVHE 804

JAV NATAOVHE ETL
HLvd J301SAvH 0
Hlvd J301SAavH 0
HLvd J001SAavH 0

JAV NADIOVHE CTL

ad THH AINLNd SEL

IAV NONNVO I ¥0CT

H1vd XO01SAVH 0€L

Q4 NNN9 d10 TSLT

Qy X0049113dS veL

JAV MOH NOLONIYHYE 807
HLVd XO0LSAVH ¢eL

JAV MOY NOLONIJHYg 02
ANV NATIOVHE v0L

AAVY NATAOVHE 60L

HIVd XO0LSAVH LTL

IAY NONNVO 37021

JAVY NADIOVHE STL

JAY NADIOVHE TOL

Qa4 T1IH AININd S¢L

HIVd XO0LSAVH L.
JAVNONNYO 30

a4 NNNg d10 000¢

JAV NONNVO 3 08C1

YHAIHS “IYHONIHS NIYYYN HEVHOS “TYHONIHS

YOISSAM ‘SANYYE SNIYHYAVS ‘SINHVE

NNATVYNNOHS ‘SIAVH

Y3JINNIM ‘ATTLNVYHE

INAVM AT1aVHE "HIHOLITA

YININYIA “JLON HSILYS ‘WvINd

AVl SNOYVI ‘SHIANNYS

AVHLY1 ANV NIvd VAYUVYA NIVY VAVIWYNYHQA

40 331SNYL ITLSNYL NIVH VAVIWYNYHA ‘NIvH YAVHVA

¥ NILSN( ‘LSIM W H13EYZIN3 “1SIM

ONI NOILYIOOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIYHYY

ONI NOLLVID0SSY SHANMOIWOH ON NOLONIHHYL

ONI NOLLVYIJOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIHdvd
INIOLINY ‘SINOI HYNIHYL ‘SINOfF

NNrdv ‘Y1Naais HONIS AYNIA ‘dNXVHL

NHOM HOAJYL *HVOVS

HIANVHOWYY ‘Y1109 I4VWNY YNVHORY ‘VNIAOSVNYAYA
3 ATHANY ‘SOIM 8 HdISOI ‘SOOIM

YIWIHLYHd ‘WYNOE YHANIOVYN ‘DIXVT

JYANO3A ‘NOSYI T3V ‘NOSHOVI

011 HLVd J00LSAVH ¢€4

S VHSIANS ‘dWYHO HI ANOL ‘QHYMAIH

A YX3INNIZ3 ‘NMNVANY | YHOIEO ‘NMNVANY

SIYI ‘YINYNL O NHVIA “YINHNL

NAYYYS ‘NIOYYIN H1FINVYd ‘NLLVOVHLOMN

NNAT ‘SWvYaV 1100S ‘SWyay

AHITI0dI "ONVON W NITHNVYIN ‘HOIWIL

AONVWN ‘ILLId NHOf ‘|LLId

17314V ‘IANHOHL

OT1ALY3d0OYd HIVd XOO01SAVH VL

1SNYL IT190ATHYI HI1FIHM F HONVITI FILSNYL H SOTHVI STIWYI “YITIIHM
1SNYL 3T90ATHYI HI1FIHM r HONVITI FILSNYL Hf SOTHVO STWYI ‘HITIIHM
1SNYL 37190ATHYI I TFIHM F HONYITI FILSNYL HI SOTHVO STWYS ‘HITIIHM

269



L6S/T ON ‘NO1N83Z
£6S/T ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S/2ON ‘NO1NG3Z
£6G/2Z ON ‘NOINg3z
(6542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S4Z ON ‘NO1NE3z
£66/Z ON ‘NONg3Z
£6SLT ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6SL2 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOng3z
LBSLZ ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6SLTON‘NO1Ng3az
£6SLTON‘NO1Ng3zZ
£BG/Z DN ‘NOTNG3z
£6S/2 ON ‘NONg3zZ
£6S/2 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S4C ON ‘NONg3Z
£6542Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
L6542 ON ‘NOngaz
£6SLZ IN ‘NOTNg3z
£6S/2 DN ‘NOINdaz
£6SLT ON‘NO1NG3Z
£6G£T DN ‘NO1Ng3z
£65/Z DN ‘NOINd3Z
L6SLT ON'NO1NG3aZ
(6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S/¢ ON ‘NOTINg3z
£6S42 ON 'NOTING3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOING3Z
/6542 ON ‘NO1INg3z
£6S4Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
L6SLZ IN ‘NONg3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NO1Ng3z

ad T1IH AIN1Nd 9TL

3AV MOY NOLONIYYvd 00
4A N3ASH3AI 8YS

4Q N3dsd3n3 ¢ss

Ha N3IASHIAT 95§

ad T1IH AINLINd STL

ad TIHAINLNd LT4

QY >00Y8113dS 0L

JAV MOY NOLONIddvd vEY
JAV MOY NOLONIdHvd T
JAY NATIOVHA S04

JAY MOY NOLONIYYvd 1¢S
JAY MOH NOLONIYYd 61S
Qd TIHAININd vTL

Qd T1IH A3NLNd ¢/

ayd T1IH AANLNd €04
Qu004g113dS 644

a4 0049M3dSctL

ad 004497113dS 10L

JAV MOY NOLONIHHVYd 9ty
Q4 TTIH AIN1Nd 982

Q4 T1IH AIN1Nd 884

HA N3IASHIAT LYS

a4 >0048113dS 824
ad004491134dS 9TL

a4 X00449113d4S 00£L

ad TH AINLNd 20L

ad THH AINLNd 024

Qd TTIH AANLINd 8TL

IAV NADIOVHY S¢L

IAV NATAOVHE €EL

a4 11IH AINLNd TOL

Q4 T1IH AIN1Nd S04

4anydo YHINYWYS ‘Ava T3INVA 3SYHO ‘AVa

H3ILNNH VAHSOr ‘S3INOI

071 31AILLIAYH 4O SHOLONYLSNOO H® H

011 3TNAILLIAYA 40 SHOLONYLSNOOH B H

071 3IMIAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONYISNOOH® H

YAWMOS ‘AdGIHIHLNW NIIAVHd VIO

IHVY ‘HONIS NIJAVHd ‘AVAVA

VHHLIAVd ‘ILINVONVHOW

INVHAVIW “VINWNNIA AQQFHHSIHYN VIOM

AV NYITIN YOISSAM ‘NVITIN

VANOTVYHO “1138dWVD

TYNOS “IYMHOd TYAVHA ‘HXFHVd

dYHAIMYHNIW ‘WYHANYD

[HLYAYO ‘NYAISNINYHL NVAISNNVHL IV TIdYIVavavYN

331SNYL ILLINNY NITTHLY ‘ZNIFHNIZ T 331SNYLAUNIH dITIIHd ZNIFHNIT T
OT1171ANY

1734YYA ‘NYIWITH YNNVOT NAYHIWI ‘AvY

OT1 ITHAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONYISNOD H B H

011 ITNAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYLSNOO H B H

IAVY ‘VT131 VNI Tvdv1vy

Y1HdNNY “TILVd HSIOVIW ‘NYHLYNYHONVd

NOY3T 43dSVr ‘SINOI

1l SYWOHL Q4YHOMI ‘43L1HYD TT0DIN INVIWVHS HILEVO

07193400S

0717 3d00S

AvY QIAVA “T13IMOd

AT1932 NI43 ‘@dvHINv4Na

331SNYL AUNIH dITTIHd ‘ZNIFHNIZTY 33LSNYL ALIINNY NITTHLYN ZNIFHNIT
331SNYL ILIINNY NITTHAY ‘ZNIZHNITTH FALSNHL AYUNTH dITTIHd ZNIFHNIT T
331SNYL JLLINNY NIFTHLYN ‘ZNIFHNIFTI 33LSNYL AINIH dITTIHd ZNIIHNII D
INIGVYN 311S3T ‘HITXIHL SIMIT ITVA HITX3HL

OT1ANV

OT171aONY

270



£6SLZT ON ‘NOINgG3z
L6842 ON ‘NO1Ng3zZ
L6542 ON ‘NONg3z
£6542 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6542 ON ‘NOINQ3Z
£6542 ON ‘NOINQ3z
£6542 ON ‘NOINQ3Z
£6542 ON ‘NOINQ3Z
£6542 ON ‘NOT1NQ3Z
£65S4Z ON ‘NOING3Z
L6SLZ ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S4Z ON ‘NONg3Z
£6542 ON ‘NOINQ3Z
£6S/Z DN 'NONG3Z
L6SLZ ON ‘NONgG3z
L6S/Z ON ‘NOING3z
L6SLZ ON ‘NOINgG3z
L6542 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NONg3zZ
£6SLT ON ‘NONG3Z
L6S£Z ON ‘NON43z
£6S/Z ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NO1INg3zZ
46542 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S/TON ‘NOINg3Z
LBS£Z ON ‘NOTNg3Z
L6542 ON ‘NO1Ng3zZ
£6S/ZON ‘NOINE3Z
£6SLZON ‘NO1Ng3z
46542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOINg3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOINg3z
L6SLT ON ‘NOINg3z

HQ NIASHIAd £0S

HLYd XO01SAVH 1TL

Hivd XO0LSAvH 804

H1VYd X001SAVH £0L

a4 00449113dS 804

AAV MOY NOLONIdUvd viy
HLYd XO0LSAVH 0L

JAV NONNVO 3 91¢1

AV MOY NOLONIYYYE 0
AV MOH NOL1ONIdHvYe 605
Q4 11IH ASN1Nd 6TL

JAVY MO NOLONIddvE 00
AV MOY NOLONIdHYY €€V
JAY MO NOLONIYHvYE €TF
H1vYd X201SAvH 904

ad X004d8113dS 124

AV MO NOLONIddve 8t
JAV MOY NOLONIHdvE ver
3AV MOY NOL1ONIHHVYE 90F
Hivd XO0L1SAVH evL

HLVd XD0L1SAVH V0L

H1Vd XO0LSAVYH €L

HLVd XDOLSAVH 6TL

H1vd XO0L1SAVH S0

JAVY NONNVO 3 80¢1

Qd X00d9113dS LTL

ad T11IH AANLNd 0E4

H1¥d XO0LSAVH TvL

ad T1IH AIN1Nd 6¢L

a4 NNNg 10 €10C

JAY MOY NOLONIHYVE S¢S
JAY MOY NOLONIddve 025
JAY MO NOLONIYYVE L1G

OTINOLIONIdHYE O4d

IHINV ‘INVSYTVIN NEY8 HLVHYS ‘VTTIVdITNHA
VYAWMOS ‘VONVA S NIHLYW INVHAYIVANIHO
WAINNOW ‘AQQIHIONYD VMHSIA ‘YOOANNM

NV Y4VLSNIW OIvd NYIWT ‘HIAVA QYWHY QHOW QHYIW WYSSYE ‘HITYS
NOQNVHE VNNV ‘LLINNIE STWVI SYWOHL ‘LIINNIE
7014031 “HONIW

01T INFWIOVNVIN ALd3d0dd NOLNHOHL
OT1NOLONIddvd 044

OTTNOLONIHHYE D44

OTINOLONIddvd O4d

OTTNOLONIYYYE O4d

071 NOL1ONIddve 044

O1TNOLONIHYVYE 044

IHLVMS ‘AT13AVY3IE VWYY HSIANY ‘WYAVHYS
IAIQ INHSHYT ‘WIVA NGYE YHAYNIIYS ‘WIVA
1SNYL ONIAIT HAIVHS NVHYI 9009HIW ANV QIWHY HISV4 331SNYL YHZV ‘HAIVHS
HYY083a ‘JLIHM

f NIAYYIN ‘3T13ZZIW 1 VANVYHO ‘91713ZZIW
O071831143d04d 193138

MIHANY FAVIVIA

VYNOMI ‘Z¥INOT NV( ‘ZVWO

VIV VOVN VT13AVY IV

VIYVIW ¥SIT ‘33T NITIV dIAVA 3317

[ H138VZIM3 “93HSI4 W NHOf ‘YIHSIH

INVHIAA3Y ‘ITTVANIHYE HYIVHIIW ‘VINNOILY

071 SINTFWISIANI ZWOOZ

JIYAL ‘SINYHVE

YOSANIM NVHLYNOS ‘SWYAV NI43 NITLIVD ‘NMOYd
ANOWAVH ANOHLINY ‘NMmOY4d

VNI13 VIV ‘STHHOL ZIANYNYIH

VNdVYMS ‘VANONVHIAIA

H138VZI3 ATTHSY ‘HIAIOW NVHYT IONYE ‘HIAIOW

271



£6S4Z ON ‘NOTNG3z
£BSLT ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6G/2 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6G£2 ON ‘NO1nNg3Z
£6S4T ON ‘NOINg3Z
L6S4ZT ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S4Z ON ‘NOINg3z
LBSLT ON ‘NOIN93z
£65/2 ON ‘NONg3z
£6S/Z ON ‘NO1Ng3Z
£6S.4Z ON ‘NO1N93z
£6S/Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOTN93z
£6SLZ DN ‘NOINg3zZ
£65/T ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S/T ON ‘NOINg3z
4662 ON ‘NO1N93z
£6S/Z ON ‘NOINg3z
L6SLT ON ‘NOING3Z
£6SLTON ‘NO1N93z
£6S/T ON ‘NONG3zZ
£6S/Z ON ‘NOTN93z
£6SLTON ‘NOTNg3z
£65/2 ON ‘NO1Ndaz
/6542 ON ‘NO1Nd3z
£65/2 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6SLT ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NO1Nd3Z
L6542 3N ‘NO1Ng3z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6SLT ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S/Z ON ‘NOTNg3z

JAY MOY NOLONIHHVYE 905
IAV MOH NOLONIHYVE ¢0S
a4 TTIH AINLINd 804

ANV MOY NOLONIYdvd OF 1
JAVY MOY NOLONIddvd 8cv
JAVY MOY NOLONIdYYgE 91v
JAV MOY NOLONIYYVYdE 0
JAV MOY NOLONIddvd €19
JAV MOH NOLONIddvd 019
JAY MOY NOLONIHHYd 908
AV MOY NOLONI4dvd +09
3AY MOY NOLONIddvd €09
JAY MOY NOLONIdHYd 009
3IAVY MOd NOLONIHdYd €65
3AV MOY NOLONIddvd 065
AV MOY NOLONIdHvd 985
JAVY MOY NOLONIHHYE €8S
JAY MOY NOLONIHYVd 08S
JAV MOY NOLONIHHVdE 0
JAV MOY NOLONIddVYd 945
JAVY MOY NOLONIHYVE ¥£S
JAVY MOY NOLONIHYVYL ¢LS
AV MOY NOLONIJYvE 045
JAY MOY NOLONIdHVd 995
JAY MO NOLONIHYVE vSS
JAV MOY NOLONIJdvd 0SS
AV MOY NOLONIddYd 7S
IAY MOY NOLONIHYvd ¥¥S
JAV MOY NOLONIddvd 0vS
JAV MOY NOLONIYdvd 0
JAVY MOY NOLONIHYHYY 625
HA N3IASH3IAT 8¢S

Ha N3ASH3IAI ver

1SNYL ONIAIT NvSSNYE INDINOW IHL 331SNYL INDINOW ‘NYSSNVE

HYWMINVLIHD ‘ILVdI TV

YNHSIENIHOD ‘TTIVdYIVHINIHO

WYITIM NHOf “43S3v

1SNYL ONIAIT HIIYHS 9009HIW ANV AWHY HISYH 331SNYL YHZV ‘HAIVHS

NYSNS ‘SHILVM
OT1NOLONIYdvE 044
OTINOLONIddvd O4d
O11NOLONIYdvYd 344
OTINOLONIddvd 044
OTINOLONIYVE 34
OTINOLOSNIYdvd 040
OTTNOLONIddvd 044
J1TNOLONIYdYd 244
011 NOLONIdEva 244
OTTNOLONIdHvYd 244
OTINO1ONIddvd 34d
071 NOL1ONIddve 044
OT1NOLONIgdvd O4d
OT1 NOLONIdHVE 044
OT1NOLONIYdvYd 344
OTINOLONIYYVE 34a
OTTNOLONIYYYE 044
OTINOLONIddvd 044
OTINOLONIdHvYE 240
OTTNOLONIYdvVd 344
OTTNOLONIddvd 344
OT1 NOLONIYHYd 044
OTINOLONIYdYd 93d
0TI NOLONIddvd 044
011 NOLONIYdvYd 944
OT1NOLONIddvE 040
OTTNOLONIHYVE 344

272



/6542 ON ‘NO1Ng3Z
£6S/Z ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£L6S£Z ON ‘NOINg3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3zZ
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6SLT ON ‘NOINg3z
L6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOTNg3zZ
L6542 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NO1Ng3z
L6S/Z IN ‘NOINg3Z
L6SLT ON ‘NOINg3Z
£65/2 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
/65/2 ON ‘NO1ING3Z
£6S/Z IN ‘NOINg3IZ
£6S42 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6542 ON ‘NO1N93zZ
£65/2 IN ‘NOTINg3z
£6S/Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
£65£Z ON ‘NOINg3IZ
£6S/2 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOING3Z
L6522 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
/65T ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOINg3zZ
£654Z ON ‘NOINg3zZ
£6S£2 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6SL2 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S4T ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S/Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z

JAY MOY NOLONIHHVE 2ES
Q4 X0048713dS S¢9

JAV MOY NOLONIHHVE 6€5
JAV MOY NOLONIdHvd EvS
JAV MOY NOLONIdHvE T¥S
ad T1IHAINLINd €TL

HAa NIdSHIAI 81S

HA N3dSH3INT 0¢S

HAa N3AsH3IAT ¢es

HA N3ASH3AI PES

HA NAASY3IAT GSS

HA N3ASH3AI €SS

HA N3ASH3INT 1SS

4a NIASYIAI SPS

HA N3IASH3IAI EVS

HA N3IASH3INT 6ES

HA NIASYHIAIF LES

HQa N3IASHIAT GG

HA N3ASH3InI €eS

HA N3ASHINT 629

HA NJASHIAI L2S

dAa N3IASH3IAT Ges

da N3IASH3nT €¢S

AV MOY NOLONIYYvYg 9¢v
ad X0049113dS 0L

JAV NADIOVHE 624

JAV MOY NOLONIYHVYE 9€5
JAV NATADVHL 024

JAV MOY NOLONIHHvE 914
Q4 X004d4113dS S0L

JAV MOY NOLONIHHVYE 0TS
JAV MOY NOLONIHHVYE €25
JAV MOY NOL1ONIYHVYE 925

YOSIHONVYY ‘SONVINIWYY TINWYS ZAANITIW

OTTITNAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYISNOD HBH
O 3TTAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONYISNOO H B H
0711 3ITMIAILLIAYS 4O SHOLONYISNOO H® H
OTT3TUAILLFAYL 40 SHOLONYISNOOH B H

SSOH N3173 AHLOHOQ ‘NHONVA STTHVYHO 13VHIIW ‘NHONVA

OTT3TTIAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONYISNOOHB H
07T ITTAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONYISNOO HB H
OT113TAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONHYISNOO H R H
O ITNAILLIAYL 4O SHOLONHYISNOO H B H
OT1T13TNAILLIAVL 4O SHOLONYLSNOO H B H
1T ITAILLIAVL 40 SHOLONYISNOO H B H
07171 3TIATLLIAYS 40 SHOLONYISNOO H B H
O 3MIATLLIAYS 40 SHOLONYLSNOO H® H
O113TTAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYLISNOO H B H
I113ITIATLLIAYL 4O SHOLONHISNOO H®R H
OTT3ITUAILLIAVL 40 SHOLONYISNOD H® H
OT1 3TTAILLITAYL 40 SHOLONYISNOO H B H
O113IMNIATLLIAYH 40 SHOLOMNYLISNOO H® H
OT13TUAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONYISNOD H B H
O ITAILFAYS 4O SHOLONYISNOO H® H
O ITNATLLIIAYL 4O SHOLONYISNOO H® H
OT13THATLISAVL 40 SHOLONYISNOO H 8 H
TAVHOIW AHYHOVZ ‘133IMS

YNVANVYJS ‘IVM1Vd Y TVdIYS ‘IVAVTVd
3DULSNM ‘MVAIWY

[ANHAYW VINANVYN LIHOY ‘NON3IW

33LSNYL VWYANNY ‘HONIS F3LSNHL LIWY “HYIWN

Ya3ldd ‘NO1SIM-SINOS

Z SINNATO ‘NISNILSIHHO WYITIIM AHOD ‘NISNALSIHHD

VAVIA I1INVT ‘NYIW1HYd

OV YNNMYHIITIVIA TINTIVA IHLNYY ‘1aNdvaN3g

VANVYWY V14 ‘IOA0H

273



£6SLZ DN ‘NO1INg3az
L6542 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£8S£Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NO1Ng3Z
£6S/T ON‘NO1Ng3Z
£6SLT ON ‘NO1NgG3z
£BS/T DN ‘NO1Nd3z
£6G/Z 0N ‘NO1Ng3Z
£6S4Z ON ‘NOINg3Z
L6SLZ ON ‘NONg3z
L6542 ON ‘NONg3z
£65£2 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6G/2 ON ‘NOINd3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NON93Z
£6S/ZON ‘NO1N93az
£6S/2 ON ‘NO1Ngaz
L6SLZTON ‘NONg3z
£BSLTON ‘NO1Ng3z
£65/2 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£6SLCON ‘NO1Ng3z
L6842 ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOINg3Z
/652 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
L6522 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S42 ON ‘NOINgG3z
£65/Z DN ‘NO1INg3az
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3z
£6S£T ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£L6SLTON ‘NO1INg3Z
£6S/Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£L6S4ZON ‘NO1Ng3z
£L6SLZ DN ‘NO1Ng3Z
L6SLZ IN ‘NOTNG3z

JAV MOY NOLONIJHVE 0EY
Qd NNNd Q10 9181

ad T1IH AINLNd 0T£

4a N3ASH3AT 1SS
N13144000

JAV MOY NOLONIYYVYd 785
4Qa N3JSH3Ad 0SS

40 N3IASH3AT 8ES

JAVY MOY NOLONIYYvd ers
HLVd A201SAvH 60

HLYd ¥J0LSAVH S¥L

Q4 NNN4 d10 600¢

HAa NIASH3IAT 929

JAVY MOY NOLONIHYVE LCS
Qd TIH AINLNd 924

JAV MOY NOLONIdYva PES
H1Vd XO01SAvVH €14

JAY MOd NOLONIYHYd €55
QYNNNEQiIoo

3AY MOY NOLONIHHYE 0€S
JAV MOY NOLONIHYVE 0
JAV NONNVYO 3 0S¢T

HA NIASHIAT OFS

40 N3dSy3AT 885

AV MOY NOLONIdYvd €25
ay 00449 113dS S¢L

a4 J00449113dS 60

JAVY NATIOVHE CEL

JAV NATADVHA 822

JAV NATAOVHE TS

Q4 TTIH A3IN1Nd 04

Qd THIHASNINd TTL

JAV MOY NOLONIYHYE LES

3SIN3Q 3ATIEYD ‘SANOS

SQ73id YNVIQ “TIVHOSYd

3dOH H138vZI73 ‘ATIANNOD

OT13TUAILLIAVYL 40 SHOLONYISNOO H B H

ONI NOILVIOOSSY SHINMOIWOH DN NOLONIYdvd
OTINOLONIddvd 34d

OT1ITNAILLIAYL 4O SHOLONYLSNOOH B H

1T ATIAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYISNOD H B H

OT1 NOLONIddvd O4d

VYOINOYIA VANYL ‘SNVAT @ NOSV( ‘SNVAT
[ANHAYIW ‘ATTVAVTIIONYL HYWN VS THNANY
IT0DIN ANV44IL ‘NMOHE TvIN,O INIATVYID ‘NMOYE
011 ATNAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONHLISNOO H R H

A VYANOS ‘NOSNHOf 3 HLAY ‘NOSNHOf

HSIdVH ‘10d3d IA3dIYS ‘ISHvd

[ANHAVIA ‘VINANYN LIHOY ‘NON3IW

YAAVN VIVIVI IAVY ‘THNLAddNA
OTINCLONIYYYE O4d

OTINOLONIYYVE O04d

YIHSVLYN 131SI¥ ‘NYIWIHOA

OT1 NOLONIdYvd 544

1SNYd1 3790A3 YY1 ¥ITIIHM [ HONYI 13 IALSNYL HI SOTHYD STWVI ‘WI1FIHM
YNIWOTIHd ‘SMIHLLYW Hd3SOf ‘SMIHLLYIA

NNV NILSIEA ‘AHdYNW

VHSVL ANAY

J11534d00S

J11€3400S

NOLYE ‘A0AZY WYY 13A8Y ‘ATTVMLIW

AT301D ‘SNIDOIM NIWVINIE ‘SNIOOIM

ANIVIA VIHITVA ‘SYIWOHL

[HNOIANW INVIVE ‘NNAYSIN IHLYAYYAVYAIS ‘WYANYIWYHENS
VANIYE ‘HONIS TNHSNV ‘HONIS

YANVAYT INHSVT ‘YHHYN

274



#1942 ON ‘HOIF VY

L6542 ON ‘NOTNG3Z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S42 ON ‘NOTNG3Z
£6S42 ON ‘NOING3azZ
£6S4Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S42 ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S4T ON ‘NOTNG3z
£6S42Z ON ‘NOTNg3zZ
L6SL2 ON ‘NOING3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOINg3Z
L65LT ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6S.2 N ‘NOINg3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOING3IZ
£6S4T ON ‘NOINg3IZ
/6542 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6S£2 ON ‘NOING3Z
L6SLZ ON ‘NOTNG3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
L6522 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6S4T ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S/2 ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S42 ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S4Z ON ‘NOING3Z

Q4 390ld N33AVY 0T0TT

ONINOLLYIODOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIYYYd

$3SS3HAAV ALH3d0OYd A09Y FHL NVHL SSIHAAY ONITIVIX INFHTJ1a V HLIM SHINMO ALdId0Ud 38V MO39 SISSIHAAY

4a LNIOd ANNNS 62401
HQ LNIOd ANNNS £LTL0T
Ha INIOd ANNNS 02207
a4 NNN9 Q10 601¢

40 LNIOd ANNNS 82,01
Q4 NNNd Q10 1012

HQa WHY4 IMOTISNIM 70T C
HA LNIOd ANNNS S¢£01
Q4 NNNG a10 L1128
AMAH L6 ON I T2V

Td1L ANNOHOVLS €501
Td1 ANNOHOVLS 6701
AMH £6 ON 3 S0V

HA INIOd ANNNS ¥2£0T
a4 39VTIASHYVYd 0
T41L ANNOHOVYLS ¥rL0T
HA INIOd ANNNS 12407
TdL ONNOHOVLS 9401
TdL ANNOHOVLS SvL0T
AMH Z6 DN 36091

Td1L ANNOHOVLS 62407
AMH6E ON O

Tdl ANNOHOVLS LELOT
{4 NNN4d 10 00t1¢e

33LSNYL d INNIH ‘NIMAOO0S 331SNYL HI L WYINTIM ‘NIMAO09D

A VIAVT ‘AT1LNVHE S VNHSO( ‘IL1INYNG
VNNV ‘SIM3TNHOT ‘SIM3T

"H AHO93HO ‘HOIH

VNVIQ NIH3 NOHLIH MIHANY HHVIN NOIHLIH
HIJINNIC INTDINILSNr ‘INIIN

1VANTHE ‘NYIWYH [ Q4YMAT ‘NYIWYH
AVANOL ‘SIAVA D AHVY9 ‘SIAVA

HLIGNT ‘NNVIW NIATY ‘NNYIW

"S ANNS ‘SWIS "W HEINNIN ‘SWIS

JIAVIN NVSNS ‘HONAT LLOOS M3IHANY ‘HONAT
O AYYIL MYY1D

011 531143404d 9N10 TVidvD

Nvaiyay ‘LLoni3

T10HYYO 3 ‘YIANAOS

INNIIYQY ‘SWYITIM LINOYAL ‘SWYITIM

d Y34INNIr ‘N3LLYE 3 VNHSOr ‘NaLLvd

[ VAN “T1044v0 1HIHAOLSIHHO “T104YYO

NNVI1 VHWWYL ‘NOSIHHOW 13INVA AHH3d ‘NOSIHHOW

ONISTVIHILYIA NOLONIWIIM
4 AT13X NYYTO W NIATIN NHV1O

331SNYL LNVSNS ‘LLNOOH 331SNYL d SIWVS ‘LLNOOH

W VNNOQ ‘30Vd ¥ NIHdVYM ‘30Vd
W VNP ‘INOS04 O NNAT ‘a8YNOW

(avO4 NNNQ @10 ST6T WOY4 431VOI1dNA LON) 1304Vd AvOd NNNE 10 LT6T WOYL 13S340 .0SZ NIHLIM 34V M0138 S31143doud

L6542 ON ‘NOING3z
L6542 DN ‘NOING3Z
L6S/Z ON ‘NOINg3Z
L6S4Z ON ‘NONG3Z
£65/2 ON ‘NOINg3z

Q4 THH AINLNd 0L

HIVd JO0LSAVH 6L

JAY MOH NOLONIHYVd St
HIVd JX30LSavH L

3AV MOY NOLONIYdva vis

N NVINYS ‘VIVYAYO YHSWYHANS ‘V13AINYd
VHSY ‘WYSYTIAYNHSIENIIHS
OTINOLONIdYve 04d

4 VIIHMIN ‘VIANWIVLNNS AQQ3H HINVMSY( ‘VIANVAVINND

UWISYHE ‘YNUVMS

275



87T0C VANOLI1dIWVYYd
£8S/¢ ON 153404 IAVYM
09S¢ ON ATASIHHONW
€¢S42¢ ON X3dv

96S£¢ DN ITHASONNOA
E£1SLZ ON AHVD

61G4¢ ON AdVO

Zr1S8ZV 13340 NIINO
T1642 ON AdVO

Y1942 DN HOI3vY
6154¢ ON AdVO

£65/¢ ON NO1N4a3z
61542 ON AdvD

64vLL X1 ANVTHVYONS
8VT0C VA NOLI189IWVHd
09576 VO NHVMIN
TTSLZ DN AYVO

S¥S4¢ ON ITVALHOINM
61G.¢ ON AdVO

EV0TC QW ALID LOIM3
£6S4¢ ON NONG3Z
995176 YO NOLINVSYI1d
TZT02 YANOAQNY3IH
9064y NI ALLIAVAVT LSIM
£6S/¢ ON NO1N493Z
8¢r8e

05946 VO SIWOO1
£6SLT ON ‘NOTNg3z
ST9/2 ON ‘HOI3TvY

280¢e
74 *HOV34 AQY3A IINOd

Had ST1v4 31IN3O 991¢r

1D ONIZvO HvIS vece
NTNMOLSILHV ET0T

ANd 3YIdS L¥S

a4 HOYNHO WIHITH13a 198
1d VALV 62¢

IAVIVO AZOD 8PTT

AVM FOVIHHYD 3 1ST1C

60¢ 31S Q4 WHV4 3HIva i OvTT
10 ALLIMANIM SOETT

10 LIINYNH 8048

L¥5X0d Od

da YILYMNITO €CPT

13 1SIW NVOJOW 0181

0S IA0D SNVAITINS 6£0€T
3NV 3341HOVId 9558

4a SITNVSHIA 80E

06£X04d Od

Td1 O931Nvd 291
TdLIANOLSdVOS 5186

IAV NONNVO M TOST
ONYITVS IA VIA 7961
N7130N3d INOILS LvEd
13VINOTOO 911

AH 79€SN 010 8ETT

P0OS# S AATE NdVd AV EOVT
13 SAOOM DILSNY §Sce
9911 X04d Od

[ATA=IRY

Qa4 3SN3IN IHL 40 STiv4 00¢L
1B

F104HID FIOVTIIA SSYHOMVS 000€T

HYHAITYYNIW ‘WYHANYD

IHLYAVO ‘NYAISANYHL NVAISNINVHL ‘IV1TIdVIvdvavN

IAVY ‘VT13LYN3IT 11vdY1Ivd

VLIYdNNY “T11LVd HSIOVIW ‘NYHLYNYHONVd

371934008

011 ANY

AVHIV1 ANV NIV YOVHYA NIVH YAVINYNYHO 40 331SNYL
33LSNYL NIVY YAVINYNYHA ‘NIvd vAVaYA

VIWIHLYYd ‘WYNOSG YHANIOVN ‘DN

OTTHLYd XD0LSAVH 2L

VHSY ‘WYSYTIAYNHSIENIILS

WINVAIH “VTIMINWILLOD X HLINNYY VIINMAVIVI

INAVd VTIONY “INVd IONIUMVYT STWYI TNVd

VdNHIN ‘WYNYAVONS HSTWVY ‘NVIVHVONIH

VYNIIAVHd ‘1ONVY

WINVAIYd ‘VIANNONINEG YdHHS ‘VAVANYW

IONVYH VWYY ‘NLLYD AVSYHd VHWISHYN ‘NLLYD

0711 531143d04d AllWv4 131vd

$Q7314 YNVIQ “TIVHOSVd

IH1334d ‘ATIVAVIVEWY YAYHOVYY ‘VAVWYTYN

OT1ON SIWOH €dW

AVY HIJINNI( ‘O©90H NVIdE AOVHL ‘O90H

331SNYL Y1INd INVAYd ‘AQd3H 331SNYLVTINd YYHAIYS ‘Add3d
VAHSIV 11908 WIIHAVY ‘NVHLYNYMSIA

H VTIHMIN ‘VIANWIVINND AQQ3H HINVMSYI “VIANWIVINND
QOOH HLUIANr ‘NNa3w

1SNYL IT8OATHYI HI1FIHM  HONVYI 13 I3LSNUL Ul SOTHYO STWVI ‘WI1ITIHM
331SNYL AYNTH dITTIHd ‘ZNIFHNIZT 331SNYL ILLANNY NIFTHLYN ZNIFHNIT ™
a Tf ‘NOSHIIHANIH SYWOHL O ‘NOSHOIHANIH
OTT3ATIIAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYLSNOOH® H

OTINOLONIgdYd 04d

276



09542 ON JTTIASIHHOW
¢0S/LC ONX3dV
6154¢ DN AdVO
€¢S4C ON X3dv

£6G4¢ ON NOTINg3Z
61642 ON A"VO

96542 ON ATIIASONNOA
96542 ON ATIIASONNOA
9654¢ DN ATTIASONNOA
€1G4¢ ON AdVO

0954¢ ON ITIASIHHOW
SOTOCVAIIATY

S¥S/2 ON JTVALHOIN

0¥S£Z ON SONIYS ATIOH

6T54€ DN AdVO

6154¢ ON AHVO

8rT109 711 dvaWO1
¢88.¢ ON 3dOH ONIYdS
8¥T0C VA NUNEHSY
840G X1 Y3dS0OHd
SGE6T Vd NHIATVI
6TS4C ON AYVD

€TLL2 DN WVYHYNA
61G4¢ ON AdVO

61S4C ON AdVYO

€S880

€¢26¢ IS VIGWNT00
£654¢ DN NO1Nd3z
£6G42 DN NO1Ng3Z
08S/¢ ON ITIASIHHOW
£0/6¢ OS ANV NVIANI
T¢156 VO ISOMNVS
09576 VO XdVMIN

1D N11S3Hd CTT

HA ANVISI Qv3HATvE 18T
1O MOTIIM AVE 81¢€
N1.13n0dN08 Ave 898
8€8X0d Od

(a4 NOILVLS 3414 H3INIdHVD TCEL
Qa4 HOYNHO W3H3THI39 198
a4 HOYNHO W3H3THL39 198
Q4 HOYNHO W3H31H13d 198
TH1dIT480TT

a4 THIW HOON3dS 60€

T1d 1ISNNS 434 660€2
NT3ITNAIOATTLNY ¥OrS

HA INVIZvdL 102

1D MOTTIMAVE 81E

JAVIAVO AZOO LEET

1D NHOOV 9157

IS HONVHd 3 51¢

431l WHv4 ANVTIONG E6¥EC
N1 AdNGHSY 009

QY LNIOd AYYVYNO £2¢

AVM JAOHO NOLdIWWHO 81702
dd SIHOIAH AI401 81T

40 JIA0HO NOLSOND 8001
TdLND0Y HAdSIHM L10T

a4 M3IN 85¢
10)vO3Q1IMTE

1S JHOWVOAS M TOS

0¥e X048 Od

4 INIOd 30v4d9 600¢

HA VSIW SINNH £189

AYM IDVTd ATIVM T89E
AYMONIINLS0LS

IHMVY ‘HONIS NIJAVHd ‘AVAVA

HSIHVH ‘1003d IA3AIYS ‘ISdvd

[INHAYIW ‘VINANYN LIHOY ‘NON3W

[INHAYIW ‘ATTYAY TTIONVL HYIWNA IVS THNANY
J109IN ANV44IL ‘NMOYE TvIN,0 ANIATVHIO ‘NMOdE
VNIWOTIHd ‘SMIHLLYIW Hd3SOf ‘SMAHLLYIW
O11€3400S

JT1¥3400S

011534008

A NVINYS ‘YAVAYAVYD YHSWYHANS “Y13AINYd
VAN3YE ‘HONIS INHSNY ‘HONIS

VANVAYTINHSYV ‘VHYYN

VYOSIHINVHA ‘SONVINIWHY TINWYS ZIANI 1AW
VYNVANVAS ‘IVMTVd 4 TVdIYS ‘IVAVIVd

[HNHAYW ‘YINANYN LIHOY ‘NON3W

331SNYL YWYANNY ‘HONIS F31SNHL LIWY ‘HYINM
OVY YNNIHVHIITIVIA ‘TYNTIVA IHLNWY ‘IaNdvaN3d
1SNYL ONIAIT NYSSNYE INOINOW FHLIALSNYL INDINOW ‘NVSSNvd
YNHSIHAIAO9 ‘ITIVAVIVHINIHO

VAWMOS ‘VONVA S MIHLEYN ‘INVHAYTVINIHO
WIINNOW ‘AQQIHIONYD YMHSIA “dOOANN
IHIVMS ‘AT13AVHIFE YINYYH HSTANY ‘WYAVHYS
INIA INHSIVT ‘WIVA N8YE YHAYNIFYS ‘WIVA
1SNYL ONIAIT HYIVHS NYHYI 9009HIW ANY GIWHY HISY4 331SNYL VHZY ‘HIIVHS
OT1531143404d 103738

INVHIQd34 ‘FTIVANIYYE HYIVHIIW ‘VINNOILT

OT7T SINIFWLSIANI ZWOOZ

JOSANIM NVHLYNO( ‘SWYAV NId3 NITLIVO ‘NMOdd
ONOWAYY ANOHINY ‘NMOHE

VNdVYMS ‘VANONVY3AIQ

VAWMOS ‘AGQIYIHLNIW NIFAVH V10N

VHHLIAVd ‘ILNVONYHOW

TYNOS “TYMYOd TYAVHA ‘H)3dvd

277



1915 and 1917 Old Bunn Road

Planned Development
Rezoning

and Annexation Request

Neighborhood Meeting
November 25, 2024



INFORMATION PACKET FOR
ZEBULLON NEIGHBORHOOD MEETINGS

PROJECT CONTACT INFORMATION
This document is a public recosd under the North Carofina Public Records Act 2nd may be published on the Town's website or disclosed to third

Development Contacts:

Project Name: O!d Bunn Road Subdivision ] Zoning: Planned Development (PD)
Location: 1915 and 1917 Old Bunn Road, Zebulon, NC 27597

Property PIN(s): 2715-29-0916; 2716-21-5371 | Acreage/Square Feet: 159.72 / 6,957,604

(Net outside of right-of-way)

Properry Owmner: Thomas C Hendrickson and Jill D Hendrickson

Address: PO BOX 1166

City: Zebulon | State: NC Zip: 27597

Phone: NA Email: N/A

Developer: Eastwood Homes of Raleigh, LLC

Address: 7101 Creedmoor Road, Suite 115

City: Raleigh State: NC Zip: 27613

Phone: 919.758.8208 Fax: N/A Email: bguittet@eastwoodhomes.com

Engineer: Pabst Design Group, PA

Address: 107 Fayettevilie Street, Suite 200

City: Raleigh State: NC Zip: 27601

Phone: 919.848.4399 Fax: 919.848 4395 Email: dpabst@pabstdesign.com

Attorney: Morningstar Law Group
Address: 434 Fayetteville Street, Suite 2200

City: Raleigh State: NC Zip: 27601

Phone: 919.890.3318 Fax: N/A Email: mstuart@morningstarlawgroup.cam

279



Neighborhood Meeting
Agenda

November 25, 2024
7-9 pm

Zebulon Community Center
301 S. Arendell Avenue
Zebulon, NC 27597

Welcome and introductions

Site overview

Planned Development District Rezoning and Annexation Processes
a. Timeline

b. Future meetings

Development proposal

a. Uses

b. Conditions

c. Builder

Discussion

280



Please use this page to provide any written comments or questions
you’d like to share. Thank you.




dNOYD MV 12l
dVLSONINHOWN »<

720¢ 'GC JOqQUIBAON
Bunas| pooyioqybiaN

juswdo|aAaq pauue|d

peoy uung p|o
L16l PUe GlL6l1




$he most current and sccursle information possbi.

i , the meps sre for
anc are NOT surveys. No warmaniies, expreesd or impled
ave provided for the deta ihevein, ¥z uoe,or Xa inlerpretalion.

wmw“hm@m

2,000 ft
1 ]

1 inch equals 1,000 feet

<| £
>
>
=[]
||
=
S

1913 & 1917 Old Bunn Rosd, Zebvion, NC 27397

Old Bunn Road Subdivison

283



éﬂl!#gﬂ!g&ﬁ“ 1895 000'L Srends You) | s A
) o dve it 343 & f T T T T T T T 1 h‘ﬂhﬂ N .-o—-_-ﬂ.N peoy uung ‘-o hhﬁh k4 BFOF

et e opant oy pogs frans sopear sy 1 000 0ot ws 0 UOISIAIPGNS PROYN Uun
piiksas N ISIAIpONS peoy 8 PIO

{vojngaz)

1 _.J. s [e12adS - £T PRUAPISAY "ONS £1-3 7 {hauncd axem) gy _||J_
{uojngaz) (E1asnpul AeeH ‘IH i {fauno) axepn) GH l
{vojnge) [eiuBuwCY ArRSH “OH D

T p———yppy———rn)

{uojngaz) UBQINGNS RRUBPISSY 7Y D

dVIN ONINOZ S

: ‘““ _ el ||

%

284



”-ﬁwﬁ\ A
Y B

Zie

[P

G

(Hi) Aneati eisnpu; [ (49) IeRuapisey jeisue) |

285

Aiepunog AwnoD sywr] pajesodioou) uoingez 7
Bauy ApNiS UBld PASUSYRidwWoD ﬂmw.v Ampunog jeoied
uoRoIPsUNT IBNCURIXT uojnqez ;¥ Auodoug siand AL
{nwian) een pexiy umoumog ueqny [ (W) i jepuepisen [T
(0an) 2100 umoumog uegun | (un) lenuepisey veqin ||

(das) wed ssousng ueqinans [ | (us)
(W) Wb jemsnpyy |

{enuopisay ueqIngng |

Hy) iepuepisay |einy

{nivs) esn pexiy ey wapers [l (Ow) uopeasssuoD jeiny

(09) epieuauog jeisuen [l (ud)

{08) ferueunuo) usquingng |
ImorieyD/esn pue]

aN393a

UORAIBY PUE BEd
(W32) Amswe)




WIeN
STy "§E L UOIDBS 89

@3HON 1qnd

[ Pe|npeYy>s Buubey) Signg

O TT L UOTDRS 995

VOS] JO UOHDIRHON

ORI TT L D05 eag

ION Hqng

#ainay 108l Bultuold i

Suaniyng
jo uouDdype))

Burrg UoN0o a0y
TE ¢ UoDas 995

uonNRg B3

[~ esuarsue) LoRoANadD
-8ld "Z'E°¢ Youaes 993

2IUBIDUOD
uoyooyddo-g.4

34N03004d

NOUYXINNY :Z°Z'Z 3nDi4

M

pejnpeypg Buuos Siqng piof

UD|d JHSOW o maiAy DL

I¥NGID0NJ INIWLOIIAIQ QINNVIY
IINIWEQIIAIQ QINNYIY G |7 330914

286



~
<o)
N

e

G20T ‘S Aely G20z ‘Lz dy | G202 ‘vLudy Avadol payoadx3/aunpesq
sJIauolIssSILwon pleog pleog sunas sune9 snqnd
JO pieog Suiuueld suiuueld pooyioqysiaN

pue SulleaH
ongnd wtof




it

lww_.._i..l

WAY i
E

: ) - )
NOLLONULENOD ¥O4 LON ek |
AANVYNININSND 1
Y ] . i‘l‘ﬂ t
= ] ———— \ ~ |
L. . | \ . Jaae ]
TN oM i -1 : . aﬁf.l..lf.:ll_
F_ T ,tfﬂwaf e
_W ) H Ju 3 ;
_.. N g .ﬁ -
i = 2 3 o= LT
= = e, S n
| = 3 rﬂvm l..&ﬂ.%vw nm“n.ﬁ_ < K
e =3 Frf. =y LN !
e e m\d.w:.l, R \M//\ 4
¥ - = f.\h...t. ..Jﬂl».qr ~5. R
- : =] TR N |
. £ T SE oge ene gl iy A
TRCLLAIR IO = o i |9 — 4 -_MV—S [ IR .\“b// fﬁ///. o
i n 9IS =3 i X BN
1 _ 2 AT Y :
& =1 T = H_U_JML...._,_,... R EZ
. I AL s Fz=:
g i He <= R
“u .f E-1) ” nnnnn _In.......t ._wm.lln
mm v = =3
0N BONOWIWCD. -
:

aa

wvan av gt

V=

DY I T SN | 0 S0 Wy

L
0

1
T EE

288



/

B e

JI=F

[]

L
i

|

Lk
|

wleisie
| ]

(T

]

|

gn
(-

289



——— — -STREET Q.

T o
@I‘|®1|®|g®‘l

e il

— I
® |
L

REEE

o e e - -

I~

ol®|®

— =
I le?@
PO e e




= \

SRS

|

2

| .
—STREET N—

|RARRARM
r/.. > 1

291



d4 0ot —

e

7 GAUVALLDY BOWHOS WYHLAVMNIIUN0 SRL

A¥Maogy,

—

T f\QlOOh

-

r
|
Ju

® |

1
-

l® |
]

|

ARL-TI-BUE Wd
09 Dd WO B0

292



293

juswdinba punoibAe|d
peay|iel; Aemuaaio)
jood Bullwims

SHNOY |leqapdld

yied 19)004d

uap.eb Jojeul|jod
uapieb Ajunwwo)
yied 6o

SUOIIPUOD

'saljiuswe palinbay

pasodolid
Loy

}oain wepianeag Buoje |iel) Aemuaalb olignd

papinoad sI Bupjied
19841S-1J0 aJaym 183} 0Z O Uibus| Aemalp winuiuiy

S81I0)S € Wnwixejy




slelslels] e

HiS

7T

&ls)

elalelale

i
!

i lalete

I

slelojole

294



"SUOISIAIPGNS 3SIN0D 0O

“Japeleyd
uegIngns ||e43n0 ue aasasaid 03 deds uado paseanul yum (sawoyumol 10 sawoy oned
se yons [enuapisal payoene “6-3) sadAy buisnoy Jayio s1esba1ul 1ey) sjuswdoleasp pauue|d

'sbuijjamp [enuapisal paydeaq e
sadfy asn pun1 Apwiigd

"3oeds uado 1310 sa1euIWOopald sadeuns paaed 13Y10 pue sAemaAup ‘sbuljjamp Jo wuoy 3y ul
abe1aA0D 31IS 219YM SBIJR PIIUDLIO-0INE SI0W WOI) Seale Jajdeleyd ueqingns saysinbunsip sy
'SDINL34 J31em 10 SOedS U0 UOWLWIOD Ul JOfPUR SSWOY U3IMI3Q pue S10| |eNPIAIpUL UO seale
pseA abiej Ajpainejas ul punoy 9q Aew ssauuado ayy “pooysoqybiau syl uiyum paurejuiews adeds
uado Jo 33163p 2y 01 aAnejas SJUBWA0IdWI 3YS J3Y10 pue sbuipjing usamiag aduejeq e buimsiyde
Aq pantasald pue paysigelsa St 1910e1eyd URGINGNS ISYM SEJe [eIuSpISa 104 S uoireubisap siy |

|erUapPIsSay ueqingns

295



Beginning at a point, said point being an existing iron pipe at the southwest corner of the C. Thomas
Hendrickson and wife, Jill D. Hendrickson tract as recorded in Book 9528, Page 1148 in the Wake County
Registry and as shown on that certain plat recorded in Book of Maps 1992, Page 72 in said registry, said
point also being on the northern 60 foot right of way margin of Old Bunn Road and having North
Carolina State Plane coordinates of N=759,010.09 and E=2,211,628.79; thence, leaving said right of way
along the western line of said Hendrickson tract NO0°08'12”W, 414.51 feet to an existing iron pipe on
the eastern line of Open Space 3 as shown on a plat recorded in Book of Maps 2023, Page 412 in said
registry; thence, NO0O°05’08”E, 430.33 feet to an existing iron pipe in the eastern line of Open Space 7 as
shown on a plat recorded in Book of Maps 2023, Page 413 in said registry; thence, NOO®05'25"E, 412.26
feet to an existing iron pipe in the eastern line of Open Space 17 as shown on a plat recorded in Book of
Maps 2023, Page 825 in said registry; thence, NO0°05'01”E, 374.93 feet to an existing iron pipe in the
eastern line of Open Space 18 as shown on a plat recorded in Book of Maps 2023, Page 824 in said
registry; thence, NO0O°06’38”E, 257.42 feet to a point, said point being an existing iron pipe at the
northeast corner of said Open Space 18 and at the southeast corner of the DFC Barrington, LLC tract as
recorded in Book 18542, Page 1854 in said registry; thence, along the eastern line of said DFC
Barrington, LLC tract the following courses and distances: thence, NO0°01’33”E, 119.22 feet to an
existing iron pipe; thence, N00°06’07"E, 366.32 feet to a point, said point being an existing iron pipe at
the northernmost corner of said Hendrickson tract shown on said Book of Maps 1992, Page 72; thence,
continuing along said DFC Barrington, LLC tract and the western line of said Hendrickson tract as
recorded in Book 9528, Page 1148 the following courses and distances: thence, NO0°21'43"E, 134.06
feet to an existing angle iron; thence, NO0°03’31”E, 635.77 feet to an existing angle iron; thence,
N00°03’31”E, 108.06 feet to a point in the centerline of Beaverdam Creek and being the northwest
corner of said Hendrickson tract; thence, leaving said eastern line of DFC Barrington, LLC tract along said
centerline of Beaverdam Creek the following courses and distances: thence, S54°42'15"E, 2.52 feet to a
point; thence, 561°11’47”E, 9.99 feet to a point; thence, $57°27'18”E, 19.87 feet to a point; thence,
$55°39’48”E, 21.50 feet to a point; thence, $63°25'54”E, 7.83 feet to a point; thence, 567°15°03"E, 16.81
feet to a point; thence, S64°23'09”E, 23.57 feet to a point; thence, $61°27°17”E, 21.06 feet to a point;
thence, 558°28'02"E, 19.36 feet to a point; thence, $63°26’09”E, 16.21 feet to a point; thence,
$65°39’36”E, 11.52 feet to a point; thence, $70°05’18”E, 13.03 feet to a point; thence, $75°13’36”E, 9.31
feet to a point; thence, $77°56'26"E, 43.97 feet to a point; thence, 568°31'06”E, 5.64 feet to a point;
thence, $62°21’48”E, 5.93 feet to a point; thence, S56°58’43”E, 23.85 feet to a point; thence,
$61°43’46”E, 5.68 feet to a point; thence, $70°57°07”E, 5.55 feet to a point; thence, 581°28’13"E, 6.32
feet to a point; thence, N89°41’52”E, 11.75 feet to a point; thence, N84°37°56"E, 4.02 feet to a point;
thence, N78°22’00”E, 4.34 feet to a point; thence, N72°43’10”E, 11.78 feet to a point; thence,
N73°05’40”E, 13.33 feet to a point; thence, N77°26'40”E, 14.09 feet to a point; thence, N84°56’39"E,
16.31 feet to a point; thence, $89°25’48”E, 12.25 feet to a point; thence, $84°35'47”E, 13.31 feet to a
point; thence, $82°52'27"E, 18.14 feet to a point; thence, $86°46’56"E, 10.02 feet to a point; thence,
S89°33’26"E, 24.25 feet to a point; thence, N85°14’21"E, 4.52 feet to a point; thence, N77°54'37”E, 5.37
feet to a point; thence, N66°13'48”E, 5.74 feet to a point; thence, N56°16'25"E, 28.25 feet to a point;
thence, N49°46’12”E, 8.52 feet to a point; thence, N43°18’35”E, 39.00 feet to a point; thence,
N35°48'14”E, 9.40 feet to a point; thence, N29°44’56”E, 9.07 feet to a point; thence, N23°47'23"E, 25.41
feet to a point; thence, N13°42'16”E, 5.28 feet to a point; thence, N02°51’47"E, 10.01 feet to a point;
thence, N09°27’56”E, 6.08 feet to a point; thence, N19°58’56”E, 13.17 feet to a point; thence,
N13°22'10"E, 6.49 feet to a point; thence, NO7°41’46”E, 28.00 feet to a point; thence, N21°47°40"E, 4.71

296



feet to a point; thence, N29°33’'05"E, 9.12 feet to a point; thence, N54°17'16"E, 2.46 feet to a point;
thence, N65°46°15"E, 4.11 feet to a point; thence, N73°45°11”E, 3.13 feet to a point; thence,
N88°20°40”E, 6.50 feet to a point; thence, S86°31°25”E, 10.27 feet to a point; thence, $88°11’59"F, 18.01
feet to a point; thence, N71°50’59”E, 3.42 feet to a point; thence, N49°26’05”E, 2.30 feet to a point;
thence, N40°36’42"E, 4.61 feet to a point; thence, N48°55’10"E, 12.27 feet to a point; thence,
N38°39’49”E, 2.40 feet to a point; thence, N48°31’01”E, 4.34 feet to a point; thence, N60°21’47”E, 3.17
feet to a point; thence, N69°25’25”E, 3.20 feet to a point; thence, N84°33'53"E, 3.26 feet to a point;
thence, S69°56'43"E, 3.46 feet to a point; thence, S46°34’32"E, 4.82 feet to a point; thence,
$30°57'21"E, 4.37 feet to a point; thence, $26°15’29”E, 5.09 feet to a point; thence, S30°44'42”E, 5.38
feet to a point; thence, $35°48'37”E, 4.70 feet to a point; thence, $41°38'24”E, 4.52 feet to a point;
thence, $S46°40°56"E, 4.46 feet to a point; thence, $53°07°48"E, 4.69 feet to a point; thence,
$62°48’17"E, 5.06 feet to a point; thence, $70°13’45"E, 4.25 feet to a point; thence, 578°22°07"E, 8.68
feet to a point; thence, $80°54’55”E, 21.77 feet to a point; thence, N87°36’58”E, 4.51 feet to a point;
thence, N78°10°32”E, 10.98 feet to a point; thence, N87°08’55"E, 6.26 feet to a point; thence,
$88°38’13"E, 5.25 feet to a point; thence, $82°53'06"E, 5.04 feet to a point; thence, $77°52’41”E, 18.15
feet to a point; thence, 582°28'58"E, 9.08 feet to a point; thence, $89°02’44"E, 7.50 feet to a point;
thence, $81°20°00”E, 4.55 feet to a point; thence, $74°19’34”E, 10.65 feet to a point; thence,
$69°26’35”E, 4.27 feet to a point; thence, 576°22'59”E, 8.23 feet to a point; thence, $81°18’52"E, 9.10
feet to a point; thence, S89°2735"E, 13.25 feet to a point; thence, N87°08’13”E, 13.77 feet to a point;
thence, 586°43'42"E, 8.77 feet to a point; thence, S78°29°07"E, 9.70 feet to a point; thence,
N71°02°38"E, 139.99 feet to a point; thence, 533°31’41"E, 40.85 feet to a point; thence, $66°29'54”E,
29.59 feet to a point; thence, S31°16'21"E, 104.58 feet to a point; thence, $56°56'50"E, 26.02 feet to a
point; thence, N46°09°05"E, 56.74 feet to a point; thence, $70°48’15"”E, 154.82 feet to a point; thence,
N60°44’37"E, 63.39 feet to a point; thence, N65°46'25”E, 55.65 feet to a point; thence, N74°49'04"E,
64.76 feet to a point; thence, 553°22'46"E, 44.37 feet to a point; thence, S68°50'13"E, 8.31 feet to a
point; thence, S71°49'58"E, 8.42 feet to a point; thence, $85°36'58"E, 9.78 feet to a point; thence,
N84°25'24"E, 11.55 feet to a point; thence, N77°25’51”E, 9.48 feet to a point; thence, N68°52’38"E, 8.85
feet to a point; thence, N61°02'36"E, 21.43 feet to a point; thence, N69°15’52"E, 9.36 feet to a point;
thence, N74°30°49”E, 7.26 feet to a point; thence, N82°00°42"E, 4.04 feet to a point; thence,
S00°00’00”E, 9.50 feet to a point; thence, S85°54’52"E, 10.53 feet to a point; thence, S00°00’00”E, 11.75
feet to a point; thence, N86°18’26"E, 7.77 feet to a point; thence, N83°04’'34"E, 8.81 feet to a point;
thence, N59°35'30"E, 6.67 feet to a point; thence, N55°29’31"E, 7.28 feet to a point; thence,
N49°34'43"E, 8.87 feet to a point; thence, N45°23'44”E, 12.64 feet to a point; thence, N39°24’37"E,
14.96 feet to a point; thence, N33°10°23”E, 11.42 feet to a point; thence, N23°44’14"E, 6.21 feet to a
point; thence, N30°57°25"E, 2.92 feet to a point; thence, N48°24’01"E, 6.68 feet to a point; thence,
N55°06'56"E, 5.79 feet to a point; thence, N65°32°30"E, 3.02 feet to a point; thence, N78°14'22"E, 3.06
feet to a point; thence, S85°32'06”E, 4.01 feet to a point; thence, $75°40'19”E, 11.87 feet to a point;
thence, $86°15’57”E, 5.76 feet to a point; thence, N88°07'17”E, 15.26 feet to a point; thence,
N70°54’'25"E, 3.44 feet to a point; thence, N54°46'14"E, 5.20 feet to a point; thence, N43°15'47"E, 8.76
feet to a point; thence, N50°18'44”E, 8.12 feet to a point; thence, N43°15’55"E, 4.38 feet to a point;
thence, N31°21’49”E, 7.69 feet to a point; thence, N46°12'29”E, 4.16 feet to a point; thence,
N58°24'31"E, 3.82 feet to a point; thence, N70°41'57"E, 6.62 feet to a point; thence, N80°58'11"E, 5.57
feet to a point; thence, N86°39'29"E, 26.80 feet to a point; thence, S86°37'34”E, 14.52 feet to a point;
thence, $80°54’37"E, 6.33 feet to a point; thence, S74°44’59”E, 8.55 feet to a point; thence,

297



S72°41°11”E, 20.16 feet to a point; thence, S77°24’48”E, 19.21 feet to a point; thence, $69°52'43"E,
11.45 feet to a point; thence, S68°07'18"E, 17.78 feet to a point; thence, $75°44’47"E, 15.74 feet to a
point; thence, $87°57°20"E, 3.50 feet to a point; thence, N79°52’18"E, 3.55 feet to a point; thence,
N71°15'41"E, 7.39 feet to a point; thence, N68°32'00”E, 10.09 feet to a point; thence, N64°45'42"E, 9.17
feet to a point; thence, N84°48’17”E, 10.08 feet to a point, said point being at the northeast corner of
said Hendrickson tract and the northwest corner of the Wilmington Materials, Inc. tract as recorded in
Book 11154, Page 293 in said registry; thence, leaving said centerline of Beaverdam Creek along the
eastern line of said Hendrickson tract and the western line of said Wilmington Materials, Inc. tract
501°0325”E, 500.00 feet to an iron pipe set; thence, S01°03'25”E, 2,413.00 feet to an existing iron pipe
at a corner with said Wilmington Materials, Inc. tract and Lot 1 as shown on a plat recorded in Book of
Maps 1986, Page 318 in said registry; thence, continuing along said eastern line of Hendrickson
S01°03’25"E, 851.87 feet to a point, said point being at the southeast corner of said Hendrickson tract
and on the northern 100 foot right of way margin of NC Highway 97; thence, along said right of way
S77°39°05"W, 9.42 feet to a point, said point being at the southwest corner of Lot 1 as recorded in Book
of Maps 1986, Page 318 in said registry; thence, continuing along said right of way $77°39’05”W, 551.36
feet to a point, said point being where said northern right of way margin of NC Highway 97 meets and
intersects with said northern right of way margin of Old Bunn Road; thence, leaving said right of way of
NC Highway 97 along said right of way of Old Bunn Road the following courses and distances: thence,
N58°05'54”W, 216.45 feet to a point at the southeast corner of said Hendrickson tract as shown on Book
of Maps 1992, Page 72; thence, continuing along said right of way N58°06’33”W, 109.71 feet to a point;
thence, N59°16’38"W, 108.48 feet to a point; thence, N63°05’36”W, 99.27 feet to a point; thence,
N66°53'13”W, 104.01 feet to a point; thence, N70°13'43”W, 96.93 feet to a point; thence,
N72°51'06"W, 107.77 feet to a point; thence, N73°40’34”W, 99.12 feet to a point; thence,
N73°49°20”W, 164.03 feet to a point; thence, N73°49'41”W, 163.99 feet to a point; thence,
N74°25'54”W, 299.86 feet to the Place and Point of Beginning, containing an area of 6,957,604 square
feet or 159.72 acres, more or less.

298



e

—Tlioz/ce ol

HLSCN QIS 3N

2
- ws_l
@z
ul-gy
Zlyite
flagss
W OB
fijg=-t
M 1H
»
B
S5
285

% s,

L\ VICINITY MAP

MATCH LINE - SHEET 2

i

Lo, P g

¥ CERTIFICAT

\
ﬂ VoA m
) Vo ]
{ I
\ 1Y
1 Vo
i A
m 1 —_ —.
\ \
\
il
\
..... A\
\ 1
\ 1]
\ i
\
i)
1
\
’—
i
1 '
ﬂn
_ b S m ; : 4ilthll
S MU W S - =

I
:_rmx_

uaessach 18 0BRGH

4 uswn L L.

AE sad Fooowes

Z40 4 133HS |

Phdsthintiit

2eivitdeniazaoati

i}
i
(NIt
sl A

.

e

2 Fitd el parioemon ums v y 17, 2834

& Powr
ESTRTTL, shecove cote My 10 202
HORSZONTAL DATUM = MADS 1011
VERTICAL DATUM  HAVD 8

|

BOUNDARY & TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY

ik
i

PROPERTIES OF

Zz
o}
7]
4
Q
74
a
z
w
T
a
-
.
]
o3
o
%)
<
=
o
T
-

3
I
7]
:
e
o
s
4
:
3

L

¥T/OL/ 4 BLYGIOH

NORTH CAROLINA
299

WAKE COUNTY
Qa
SCALE: 1"=100"

7615, (919) 847-1800

, Lic, 7008 Harps Mill Road, Ste. 105, Raleigh, NC 2.

NEWCOMB isnd surve




PEOY [y SAIEH 800 T ‘SioAenins pue] SOIMIN

0084-L¥8 (616) G192 DN ‘ybiefey ‘coL 8js

IHSNMOL H3AI 31LLT

ALNNOD BIYM
NOSMORIONIH "0 T7Ir' ® "0 SYWOHL

00l=.) TWOS
o

VNITOYVD HLUON

O8N0 20006

FLE NAME: B/T
PLOT DATE: 7,716/24

} + O¥POBOs@1 donmmnanesno
i
il

g
IR
.-u......o::n:mnm
By
i

40 S31143d0¥d
AIANNS JIHAYHO0JOL ® AHVONNOF

| SHEET20F 2

I L33HS - 3NN HOLYN

T

S~

.

|
h

YW ALINIOIA |

3P

&%ﬂzmﬁmﬁ? %ﬁg

PeRen s i

Eﬂmgwﬁ, - .”,m




Notice of Public Hearing

Notice is hereby given pursuant to the provisions of Article 2.3.6 of the Town of Zebulon
Unified Development Ordinance that a public hearing will be held on April 14, 2025, at
6:00 PM at the Zebulon Municipal Complex, 1003 N. Arendell Avenue, and will be
conducted by the Board of Commissioners and the Planning Board for the purpose of
considering the following items:

IDT Project Number 1556960 — Planned Development 2025-02 — Zebulon
Mixed Use (0, 1928 & 1938 Zebulon Rd)

PIN # 1796748489, 17968544029, 1796845839. A request by Spectrum
Investment Solutions on behalf of property owner Martha B Stancil, for a
rezoning to the Planned Development (PD) zoning district for a mixed-use
development with retail and apartments.

IDT Project Number 1555968 — Planned Development 2025-03 — Old Bunn
Rd (1915 & 1917 Old Bunn Rd)

PIN # 2715290916, 2716215371. A request by Eastwood Homes of Raleigh
LLC on behalf of property owner C. Thomas Hendrickson & Jill D Hendrickson,
for a rezoning to the Planned Development (PD) Zoning district for the
development of 617 residential lots.

Public comments may be submitted to Planner II Catherine Farrell at
cfarrell@townofzebulon.org no later than 12:00 Noon on the day of the hearing to be read
into the record. Links will be provided along with the full application packet and
documentation on the Planning Department web page at
https://www.townofzebulon.org/departments/planning/public-hearing-information  For
questions or additional information, please contact us at (919) 823-1811.

301



Notificacion de Audiencia Pablica

Por la presente se notifica, de conformidad con las disposiciones del Articulo 2.3.6 de la
Ordenanza de Desarrollo Unificado del Pueblo de Zebulon, que se celebrara una
audiencia publica el 14 de abril de 2025, a las 6:00 PM en el Complejo Municipal de
Zebulon, 1003 N. Arendell Avenue, y seré llevada a cabo por la Junta de Comisionados
y la Junta de Planificacion con el propésito de considerar los siguientes puntos:

IDT Proyecto Niimero 1556960 - Desarrollo Planificado 2025-02 - Zebulon Uso
Mixto (0, 1928 & 1938 Zebulon Rd)

PIN # 1796748489, 17968544029, 1796845839. Una solicitud de Spectrum
Investment Solutions en nombre del duefio de la propiedad Martha B Stancil, para
una recalificacion al distrito de zonificacion de Desarrollo Planeado (PD) para un
desarrollo de uso mixto con tiendas y apartamentos.

IDT Proyecto Numero 1555968 - Desarrollo Planificado 2025-03 - Old Bunn
Rd (1915 & 1917 Old Bunn Rd)

PIN # 2715290916, 2716215371 Una solicitud de Eastwood Homes of Raleigh
LLC en nombre del propietario C. Thomas Hendrickson & Jill D Hendrickson,
para una recalificacion al distrito de Zonificacion de Desarrollo Planificado (PD)
para el desarrollo de 617 lotes residenciales.

Los comentarios del publico pueden presentarse al Planner II Catherine Farrell en
cfarrell@townofzebulon.org no mas tarde de las 12:00 del mediodia del dia de la
audiencia para ser leido en el expediente. Los enlaces se proporcionaran junto con el
paquete de solicitud completa y la documentacion en la pagina web del Departamento de
Planificacion en https://www.townofzebulon.org/departments/planning/public-hearing-
information. Para preguntas o desea més informacion, péngase en contacto con nosotros
en el (919) 823-1811.

302



NORTH CAROLINA
CASE # PD 2025-03 IDT# 1555968 — Old Bunn Road Subdivision
PROJECT ADDRESS 1915 Old Bunn Road & 1917 Old Bunn Road
PIN NUMBER: 2715290916, 2716215371

HEARING DATE: April 14, 2025

State of North Carolina

County of '35: }g& 4

BEFORE ME, the undersigned Notary, CWV"(’ @— WD S on
this CH'( day of A 2024 , personally appeared Catherine Farrell,

known to me to be a credible person ané of Ia\‘NfuI age, who being by me first duly sworn, on her oath,

deposes and says:

| Catherine Farrell, Interim Senior Planner for the Town of Zebulon, affirm that the following Public
Notice Procedures have been completed in accordance with applicable North Carolina General Statute
and Town of Zebulon Unified Development Ordinance Section 2.3.6 have been satisfied for the above
referenced hearing.

e First Class Mailing Sent on April 3, 2025 (see attached mailing list and copy of mailing)

e Advertisement in a Paper of General Circulation sent on March 31%, 2024 (Wake weekly,
publication dates 4/4/2025 & 4/11/2025)

o Posting Public Hearing Signage on Property on 4/3/2025 (pictures attached)

e Posted to Planning Department Website 4/3/2025

MM,«M.&/ Aprfl g, 2oz

Catherine Farrell Date

subscribed and sworn to before me, this 91{ day of 459/1- ‘ / 20—)’(.

[Notary Seal:]

ﬂ%ﬂ M@ ClarmifoetC €, LIosX

[signature of Notary] [printed name of Notary] —
W ,,
o E G' '."1
NOTARY PUBLIC & WEZ: Woor,
rd e‘s’g-" o‘ARY &
My commission expires: o(~° 12047 £gie
T > Vi
e ..,..PUB\- SRS
"q.,‘ZSTaﬁ.bog‘,o"

Y05

303



304



PLANNING

View Published Edit Revisions
Code £nforcement —_—

Homs / Departments / Planning

PUBLIC HEARING INFORMATION

Notice of Public Hearing

Notice is hereby given pursuant to the provisions of Article 2.3.6 of the Town of Zebulon Unified Development Ordinance that a public hearing wiil be held on April 14, 2025, at 6:00
PM at the Zebaton Municipa! Complex, 1003 N. Arendell Avenue, and will be conducted by the Board of Comumlssioners and the Planning Board for the purpose of considering the
following items:

DT Profect 1556960 - Planned Deveis

2025-02 - Zebuion Mixed Use (0, 1728 & 1938 Zebulon Rd)
PIN & 1796748489, 17988544029, 1796845832, A request by Spectrum Investment Solutions on behalf of property owner Martha B Stancl), for a rezoning to the Planned
Development {PD) zoning district for a mbeed-use development with retall and apartments.

DT Project. bor 1555968 - Pk d Derveh

t 2025-03 - Okd Bunn Rd (1915 & 1917 O¥d Bunn Rd}
PiN #271529G916, 2716215371, A request by Eastwood Homes of Raleigh LLC onbehalf of property owner C. Thomas Hendrickson & Ml D Hendrickson, for a rezening to the
D {PD} Zoning for of 517 resi lots.

Chris Medina

Public comments may be submitted to Planner i Catherine Farvell at cfarreliitownofzebulon.org no tater than 12:00 Noon on the day of the hearing to be read into the record Links
will be provided along with the full application packet and documentation on the Planning Department web page at

hearing-informaticn For gt or additlonal please contact us st GuS 823-1811.

305



i

= o [:-_ﬁ_l l

306



PLANNING

Long Range
Docurnants

Farms and Appiications

Public Hearnng Information

Planning Office
A

Matt Lower

o

Cate Farrell

Chris Medina

View Published Edit Revisions

Home / Depsrtments / Planning

PUBLIC HEARING INFORMATION

Naotice of Public Hoaring

Notice Is hereby given pursuant to the provisions of Articte 2.3.6 of the Town of Zebuton Unified Development Ordinance that a public hearing wilt be held on April 14, 2025, at 6:00
PM st the Zebulon Municipai Complex, 1003 N. Arendail Avenue, and will be conducted by the Board of Commissioners and the Planning Board for the purpose of conskdering the
following items:

DT Project Number 1556960 - Planned Devefopment 202502 - Zebulon Mixed Use (0, 1928 & 1938 Zebuion Rd}

PIN 1796748489, 17988544029, 1726845839. A request by Spectrum tnvestment Solutions on behalf of property owner Martha B Stancil, for a rezoning to the Planned
Development (PD) zondng district for a mixed-use development with retall and apertments.

IDT Profect Number 1555968 - Pienned Davelopmemt 2025-03 - Ol Bunn Rd (1915 & 1917 O¥d Burn Rd)

PIN # 2715250916, 2716215371. A request by Eastwood Homes of Raleigh L1C on behaif of property owner C. Thomas Headrickson & Jill D Hendrickson, for a rezoning to the
Planned Dr (PD) Zoning ct for of 617 lots.

Puhiic comments may be submitted to Planner || Catherine Farred at cfarrell@townofzebulon.org no fater than 12:00 Noon on the day of the hearing to be read into the record. Links
wiil be providest along with the fult packet and dt the g Depertment web page at. httpsy A
hearing-information For questions or additional Information, please contact us at (919) 823-1811.

307



« C itos waksweaidy.cl

Waki Wity

Puwerea by Column

Q Search @
zebuton
B Date
0309/2025 04/08/2025

© Notice Type

“elect notice type

Reset Get Alerts

H

us/searchiactiveNetice = XNRFBLit45EwnQBxnOUR-{

€ Get your public natice pubhshed quickly and easily, Click “Get Started” to draft and submit your legal notice. For help with commonly asked qut

Help Center

THE WAKE WEEKL: - (WAKE COUNT a
Notice of Haaring

Hearng Natice is hereby given pursuant to the provisions cf As

tide 2.3.6 of the Town of Zebulon Unified Development Ordinanc

€ that 2 public heaning will be held on April 7th, 2025 at 500 PM

at the Zetulon Municipal Complex. 1003 N. Arendell Avenue. and

will be conducted by the Board of Commissioners for the ournas

@  WAKE COUNT®. NORTH CAROLAA By wesona

THE WAKE WEEKL® ~ (WAKE COUNT x5
Notice of Hetring

..Hearing Notice is hereby given pursuant to the provisions of Ar

tile 23.6 of the Town of Zebulon Unified Develapment Ordinanc

e that a public heanng will be held on April 7th. 2025 at 6:00 PM

at the Zebufon Municipal Compiex, 1003 N. Arendetl Avenue. and

wvall be conducted by the Board of Commissioners for the purpos.

© WAKE COUNT NOTTH CAROLIA ) zces-o32e

THE WAKE WEEKL: - (VeaKE COUNT ED
Public Notice

Notice of Service of Process by Public...tha 14th day of Mach, 2

025. Maria Guadalupe Ramirez Perez. Plaintiff, 12924 Eagle Ridge

Road, Zebulon, NC 27597. The Wake Weekly Warch 14, 21, 28, 20
28

© WAKE COUNT', NOFTH CARSLMN £y 20250321

THE WACE WEERL: - \WAkE COUNTY) Ep
Estate (Probate) Filings
NOTICE TO CREDITORS ESTATE OF ROBERT ...Aptil, 2025. Parnet

a Jean Jones Hughes. Executor (/O Gay & McNally, PLLC PO BOX
10 Zebwion, NC 27597 The Wake Weekly April 4. 11, 18, 25, 2025

@ wAKE COUNTY NORTH CAROLNA B 2050004

THE VAKE WEEKLY - (WAKE COUNTY} g
Public Notke

Hotice of Sefvice of Process by Public....the 14th day of March, 2

025, Mana Guadalupe Rarmurez Perez, Plaintiff. 12928 Eagle Ridge

Rosd, Zebuion, NC 27597, The Wake Weekly March 14, 21, 28, 20
25

@ ViAKE COUNT' NORTH CAROLINA ) :asczze

THE WAKE WEEKLY - (WAKE COUNTY) Ep
Forediowure Sale

NORTH CAROLINA WAKE COUNTY Spacial fro.....Record Owners:

Artanda M. Miles and Gary D. Jones Address of Propesty: 615 Stra

ttord Dxve Zetwion, NC 27597 Deed of Trust: Book: 16330 Page:

2507 Dated: March 28, 2016 Grantors: Arlanda M, Miles and spou

se, Garv D. Jones Original Beneficiarv: State Emoiovees' Credit Un

@ ViAKE COUNT: NORTH CAROLNA B w0z

A9y

Notice of Hearing
Published in The Wake Weekly - (Wake County) on April 4, 2025

[Eveen

Wake County. North Carolina

Hotice Text
Notice of Public Hearing -

Naotice is herety given pursuant to the provisions of Article 2.3.6 of the
TFown of Zebulon Unified Development Ordirance 1hat a public hearing will
be held on Apeil 14, 2025, at 6:00 PM at the Zebulon Municipat
Complex, 1003 N. Arendell Avenue, anc witl be conducted by the Board
of Commissioners and the Planning Board for the purpose of considenng
the following items:

1DT Project Numbsr 1556960 Planned Development 2025-02 Zebulen
Mixed Use (0, 1928 & 1938 Zebulon Rd)
PIN # 1796748489, 17953544028, 1795345839, A request by Spactrum
investment Salutions on behalf of property cwner Martha B Stancil, for a
g to the Pranned O P {PD) zening dhstnct for a mixed-use
with retail and ap

DT Project Number 155 Planned Development 2025-03 Old Bunn Rd
(1915 & 1917 Old Bunn Rd)

PIN * 2715290916, 2716215371 A request by Eastwood Homes of Raleigh
LLC on behalf of property owner C, Thomas Hendrickson & Jil D
Hendrickson. for a rezoning to the Planned Development (PD) Zoning
cistrict for the development of 617 residential lots.

Pubtic comments may be submitted to Planner Il Catherine Farrell at
darrell@townofzebuton.org no later than 12:00 Noon on the day of the
hearing to be read into the record. Links will be provided along with the
full packet and doc on the Planning Department

web page at
fol P
it For g or additional i ion, please cantact us at
(919) 823-1811.
The Wake Weekiy
Aprild, 11. 2025 .
‘ .

Share Copy Link

308




£652Z ON‘NONG3Z
(6547 3N ‘NONg3z
{6542 ON ‘NOTNG3Z
L6S£Z ON ‘NONG3Z
L6SLZ ON 'NOTNE3Z
£6522 ON ‘NONg3aZ
£654Z ON ‘NO1NQ3zZ
£654T ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOTNG3Z
L6542 ON 'NOTNg3Z
£6S2Z ON 'NOWNg3Z
£B6SLT ON ‘NONg3Z
£654Z DN ‘NOTNG3IZ
£6542 ON 'NONE3Z
26542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S4T DN 'NOINg3zZ
£6SLZ IN'NOTNG3IZ
46542 ON ‘NONg3Z
£6SLTON ‘NOTNG3z
£66/Z ON ‘NONg3Z
£6SLT ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6S4Z ON ‘NOING3z
/65427 ON 'NO1Ng3z
£654T ON ‘NOING3Z
£6522 ON ‘NOTNG3Z
£6SLZ DN ‘NONE3Z
L6SLZ IN'NOTNB3Z
{6542 ON ‘NONG3z
£654¢ ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6S42Z ON ‘NONg3Z
£6SLZ DN ‘NOTNg3zZ

a1e1s ‘Ao

JAV MOY NOLONIHYYE V0P
JAV MOY NOLONIYYVE 9EY
a4y 17IH AINLNd 82L

AH £6 DN 3 G2ET

HIYd XD01SAVH LEL

H1vVd X001SAVH 9€L

Q4 NNN8Y Q10 S16T

QU TIH AININd TEL

3AV NONNV9 3 6¢¢1

Qa4 NNN9 010 8061

JAV NONNYO 36021

HLvYd XD01SAVH SvL

gy NNNg alo0o0

QY NNNE 010 LT6T

Q4 NNNE G110 0281

Y 1TH AINLINd 6EL

QY 1TIH AINLINd TEL

JAY MOY NOLONIHHYE 811
Hivd X001SAvH 6EL

H1Vd X001SAQVH S&L

QY NNN8 410 veLt

Q4 NNN8 10 1202

JAY MOY NOLONIYYVE BEY
H1Vd X001SAvYH 0

HiVd ¥O01SAvH 0

H1Vd ¥201SavH 0

HLVd XJ01SAYH 0

Q4 TIHAINLING LEL

H1vd ¥J0LSQVH 8EL

HiVd X¥O01SAvH 824

AMH 92 SN Q10 6ETT

SSalppy

011 ITHAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONYISNOD H R H
YIS "SAWOD I NY3S ‘STIVINS

WINVAIYd 'VIMINWILOO X HLIINYY ‘YN IV
ANAY Y1IONY “INVd JONIHMY T STWVT “INYd
YdNYIN ‘WYNYAYONS HSTWVYH ‘NYIVHYONIY
VYN3I3AVYd ‘IONVY

Q THM ‘NOSHOIHANIH SYIWOHL 2 ‘NOSHOIYANIH
VINVAIYd ‘VIGNNONING YdIHS ‘YAYANYIW

G T NOSAHIIYANIH SYIWOHL O "NOSHOMANIH
QT "NOSHOIHANIH SYWOHL O “NOSHJIYANIH
aTUF ‘NOSNDIYANTH SYINOHL O ‘NOSHIIHANIH
IONVY VIAYY ‘NLLYD QYSYdd YHWISHVYN ‘NLYO
071 S3114340Hd ATIWYY 13Lvd

QT ‘NOSHDIHANTH SYIWOHL O ‘NOSHOIANIH
TYAN3YE ‘XIOHOVT 4 STWVT XIOHIV

H1334d ‘ATIVAVIVAWY YAVHOVY "VAOYWY VYN

Y INYd ‘QUVTIIM

31V ‘NYIWNIH Nviday 01aNv12 ‘vd3iHO

OT1ON SIWOH ZdiW

NNV HYHOZ30 ‘NOWHYD

AVY HIJINNI( ‘OO0H NVIHE ADVHL 'O90H

O VAI'NIQTIOH ¥ 14380 ‘NIATOH

INIONI NVAYE ‘ANVTIOH

ONINOWLVIOOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLIONIHYe
ONI NOIVIOOSSY SHINAMOIWOH DN NOLONIHAVE
ONINOWVYIDOOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIHYYY
ONI NOILVIDOSSY SHINMOIIWOH ON NOLONIHYVYE

331SNYL VTN INVAV ‘AQG34 331SNYL ¥1TNd HYHAIYS ‘AQd3y

VAHS)V 1L80S WIIHAYY ‘NYHLYNVMSIA
Y VAYWHVYN ‘TIIONID X TINY ‘VAYIWNTYN
QOOH HLIGNT 'NINa3W

132Hvd AVOY NNNE 10 ST6T WOYd 135440 .05Z NIHLIM ¥V MO138 S311HI1d08d

12UMO

309



£6542 ON "NOING3Z
£BSLT IN ‘NOING3Z
48642 ON ‘NOIN93zZ
£BS£Z ON ‘NO1Ng3z
£BSZT ON ‘NO1NQ3zZ
£85/Z ON ‘NO1NQ3Z
LBSLT ON'NO1N83Z
£BSLT ON ‘NO1NE3Z

£BSLT ON 'NOTNg3z
£BSLZ DN 'NOTING3Z
£BSLT ON ‘NOINgaz
L6SLTON'NONG3z
L6SLT DN ‘NOING3zZ
LBSLZ ON ‘NONG3Z
£6G£Z IN ‘NOTNG3Z
L6SLZ ON ‘NOINg3z
£BS4T ON ‘NOING3Z
£6S4T ON 'NONG3Z
L6542 IN ‘NOING3az
/6547 ON ‘NO1NG3zZ
LBSLT ON ‘NOTNG3IZ
£6S4T ON ‘NOTNG3Z
L6SLT ON ‘NOING3Z
L6SLTIN ‘NOTNGIZ
L6SLZ ON ‘NOING3Z
£6SLTON ‘NONGIZ
L6542 ON'NOTNG3Z
£BSLT ON‘NO1ING3z
£6SLT IN'NOTNG3IZ
£6S£Z ON ‘NONG3z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOINg3z
£65£2 IN ‘NO1NQ3z

IAY MOY NOLONIYHVE 15
JAV MOY NOL1ONIYYVE 0T
Qd TIH AININd LEL

JAY MOY NOLONIHHVYE F0S
JAVY NATADVYHE L

IAY MOY NOLONIYHVYE CTS
JAVY MOH NOLONIHdYE 0S¥
JAV NATIOYHE 804

IAV NATAOVHE ETL
HLYd X001SAvH 0
HLVYd XO01SAvH ¢
Hlvd XJ01SavH 0

IAV NAIOVYE CTL

QY 1TIH ASNLNd SE£

JAY NONNVYS 3 ¥0CT

HLVd ¥O01SAvH 0eL

QY NNNE QIO TSLT

a4y Mo0HET13dS el

JAY MOY NOLONIHYYE 801
Hivd XOO0I1SAVH ZeL

JAY MOY NO1ONIHYYE 0Cy
JAV NATAOVHE ¥0L

JAY NATHOVHE 604

H1Vd X301SAVH LTZ

3JAY NONNVO 3 10ZT

IAV NADIOVHE 912

JAV NATHOVHE T0L

Q4 71IH AINLNd S22
H1Vd HOO01SAYH L¥L
JAVNONNVO 30

a4 NNN2 d10 000¢
AV NONNVO 3 08¢T

VHYIHS TYHONIHS NIVEYN HEVHOS “TYHONIHS

YOISSAf "SINYYE SNINYYAYS ‘'SINYvYE

NNATYNNOHS 'SIAVH

YNNI ‘ATTLNVHY

INAVM ATT1AVYHE HIHOLIT

VININYIN ‘310N HSILYS ‘WYTINa

AVl SNOUVI "SHIANNYS

AVHIYTANY NIYY YAOVHYA NIYY YAYIWYNYHA

40 331SNYL FALSNHL NIVH VAVINYNYHA 'NIvY YAYHYA

¥ NILSNI ‘LSIM W H138VZ173 1S3IM

ONINOILYIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONIYYVYE
ONINOLLVID0SSY SHINMOIWOH ON NOLONHHYd
ONINOILLYIDOSSY SHINMOIWOH DN NOLONIYYvd
INIOLNY ‘SANOT HYNIHVL ‘SINOT

NAHY VINaais HONIS AVNIA ‘HMIvHL

NHOMHOAIHL ‘YYOVS

HIANYHIWYY V1109 IHVINNN YNYHOHY “YNIAOBYNYAYA
3 AFHANY ‘SOOIM 8 HdISOr ‘SODIM

VINIHLYHd ‘WYNOE YHANIOVN ‘DINV1

JHANOIA ‘NOSYD 1314V ‘NOSAHIV!

OTTHLVYd #O01SAYH ZEL

S VHSIANTIO *dIWVHO Hf ANOL ‘QHYMAIH

{ YAINNIZI ‘NMNYANY | YHOISO ‘NMNVANY

SIMI “HINHNL O NYYIN ‘YINHNL

NAYHYS ‘NIOYYIN H13INVH ‘NLLYOVHLOY

NNAT 'SWvQY LLODS ‘SWvay

AHITI0dT 'ONYON W NITHNVIN ‘HOIWIL

ADNVN ‘ILLId NHOTI ‘ILLId

T13148YD ‘INYOHL

OTTALY3d0Hd HIVd HOOLSAVH 4vL

1SNY1I1GOAIHYI HITIIHM T HONYITI FILSNHL UI SOTHYO STWVI ‘HITITHM
1SNYL 319IAFYHI HINFIHM [ HONVIIZ 33LSNYL Hr SOTHYD STWYT ‘WITITIHM
1SMHL 3190A3EY 4313IHM I HONYITI IILSNHL UM SOTHYD ST ‘HITIFHM

310



£65£2 ON 'NOWNE3Z
£B54T ON ‘NOINg3Z
£B6S£Z ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6542 DN ‘NONGIZ
L6SLZ ON'NOING3Z
£6S/T ON ‘NOINg3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NOWNG3Z
/6S4T ON‘NOWNE3Z
L6542 JN ‘NONg3Z
46542 ON ‘NOINE3Z
£6SLZ IN ‘NOING3z
26542 ON ‘NOIN93Z
£6542 ON ‘NONGIZ
£B6G4T ON ‘NOTNEIZ
£654Z ON ‘NOINE3Z
£6S22 ON'NOTNG3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOIN83IZ
{6542 IN ‘NOTNG3Z
£BSLZ DN ‘NO1Ng3z
£6SLT ON ‘NOTNG3z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOING3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOINE3Z
£65£Z ON ‘NOING3IZ
{6522 ON ‘NO1N93zZ
/6542 ON ‘NOINE3zZ
L6542 ON ‘NOIN83Z
/6S£Z DN 'NOWN4G3Z
£6S£Z ON ‘NONG3Z
£6SLTON ‘NOING3Z
£654T ON ‘NONE3z
£6S/Z ON ‘NONG3Z
26542 DN ‘NOTN93Z
£65/2 ON ‘NOINg3Z

Q4 TIH AININd 9TL

AV MOY NOLONIHHYd 005
HO N3ASY3AT 8YS

HA N3GSYINI ¢SS

HA N3IASH3IAT 9GS

Q4 TH AININd ST£

QY THH AINLINd £LTL

ay 004dT113dS 022

AV MOY NOLONIYYYE YEY
JAY MOY NOLONIHHYE v
JAY NATHOVHE S04

IAV MOH NOLONIYYVYE 125
AV MOY NOLONIHHEYE 615
QY TTH AININd ¥TL

a4 17H AINLNd 224

QY THH AINLNd €02

QY X004 113dS 624

a4 A00HgIIdS TTL
aQdA00d913dS 10L

JAY MOY NOLONIHYYE Ovp
Qa4 T1IH AIN1Nd 984

QY T1IH AINLINd 8EL

4O N3ASH3AI LVS

QY NO0HET13dS 8CL

QY N00Y¥a113dS 91L

a4 x00481134S 004

@y TIH AINLNd 204

ays 1IH AINLNd 024

Q4 T1IH AINLINd 8TL

AV NATIOVYE SCL

JAV NADIOVHE €84

a4 T1H AINLNd T0L

Q4 TIH AINLNd S0L

29N49 YHINVIWYS ‘AVQ 13INVA 3SYHD ‘AVa

Y3INNH YNHSOS ‘SINOI

0T 3ITIAILLIAVL 40 SHOLONYISNOO H R H

0T 3TNAIILIAVS 40 SHOLONYLSNOO H B H

OTTITNAILIAYS 4O SHOLONYISNCGO H R H

YAWMOS ‘AQA3YIHINW NIFAVYHd ‘VLON

IHMYYH ‘HONIS NIFAVYH ‘AVAYA

YHHLIAY ILINYONYHOW

IAVHAYIW “VINWNNIA ADJIHHSIHYN VIOM

AVT ‘NYIMTTN YDISSAM ‘NYITIN

YANOTVYHO “1738dWvD

TYNOS “IWMHOd TVAVHA 'H)3HVd

YYHANYHNIW ‘WYHANYD

YHLYAVO ‘NYAISNNYHL NYAISNNYHL IV TIdYIVHYAYN

331SNYL ILIINNY NIFTHLYN ZNIFHNITTA 33LSNYL AYNIH dITTHd ZNIFHNII T
OTTTANY

TI344VA ‘NYWITHL YNNYOT NAHHLWVY ‘AvY

07171 ITTAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYISNCO H® H

OT1ITNAILLIAYL JO SHOLONYLSNOO H B H

IAVH ‘VTI13LYNIIT TIVdYIIvY

Y1IYdNNY T11LYd HSIOVIN ‘NVHIYNYHINYd

NOH31 43dSVr ‘SAINOT

I SYWOHL QHYHOIY ‘YIL1HvD JTODIN INVIWVHS ‘HI1HVO

071934008

OT1# 34008

Avd AIAYQ “113MOd

AT23D NIY3 ‘QuvHONVY4NA

331SNYLAYNIH dITTIHd ‘ZNIZHNITT 33LSAYL ILIINNY NIFTHLYY ZNIZHNITT
J3LSNYL ILLINNY NITTHLYY ZNIFHNIT 331SNYL AYNTIH dITTHH ZNIFHNIZ™
331SNYL ILANNY NIFTHLYN ‘ZNITHNIT T JILSNYL AHNIH dITTIHd “ZNIFHNISTA
INIAYN 311S31 “WITXIHL SIMITTTVA ‘YITXTHL

OTANY

OTT1ANY

311



LB6SLZ ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6S4T ON ‘NOTNG3IZ
£6S4Z ON 'NONg3zZ
£BS4T IN ‘NONg3Z
£6G47 ON 'NO1Ng3z
L6547 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
/654Z ON ‘NOTNG3IZ
26542 ON ‘NO1N93zZ
L6SLZ DN ‘NOTNG3Z
£6S4Z ON 'NO1Ng3zZ
£65£T IN‘NOTNG3Z
26542 ON ‘NO1INg3zZ
LB6SLZ DN ‘NOTING3zZ
{6522 ON ‘NOINg3Z
£654T DN ‘NONg3az
£6SZZ DN ‘NOING3z
L6547 ON‘NOINg3Z
£654T ON ‘NOINg3azZ
L6547 DN ‘NOING3Z
£6SLT DN ‘NO1N83z
/6S/2 ON ‘NOINd3zZ
46542 ON ‘NO1NG3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£6S4Z ON ‘NOINE3Z
L65/Z DN "'NOTN83Z
£BSLZ ON ‘NONG3z
[654Z ON ‘NONG3IZ
/654 3N ‘NONG3Z
26527 ON 'NONG3z
26542 ON ‘NOINg3z
L6SLZ DN 'NOTNG3Z
£65£2 DN ‘NOINg3z
£B5SLZ ON ‘NONG3Z

Y0 NIASHIAI LOS
HLYd YDO1SAVH TTZ

HLYd ¥OOLSAVH 80L

HLYd ¥DOLSAVH L0

QY Y00Y9113dS 80L

JAY MOY NOLONINEYE virt
H1Yd XDOLSAYH 0L

JAV NONNYD 39121

IAY MOY NOLONIHYEYE 0
JAY MOY NOLONIHYYE 605
@Y TIH AINLNd 6T

JAY MOY NOLONIHYYE 00¥
JAY MOY NOLONIHHYE EE7
JAY MOY NOIONIHEYE ETY
HLYd ¥D0LSAVH 904

QY YOOugT13dS 122

IAVY MOY NOLONIHHYE 8t
3AY MOY NOLONIHYYS b2t
JAY MOY NOLONIHHYE 90F
HLYd YOOLSAVH 2z

HLYd XO01SAYH ¥0L

HLYd XDOLSAVH SV

HLYd ¥OO1SQAVH 6TL

HLYd YO01SAVH S02

IAY NONNYO 3 8021

aY YOOUgT13dS LTL

QY T1IH AINLNd 08£

HLYd XDOLSAYH TrL

QY TVH AINLNG 622

ay NNNE Q10 £102

JAY MOY NOLONIYYE SZ5
JAY MOY NOLONIHYYE 025
JAY MOH NOLONIYYYE £T5

OTTINOLONIYYYE D40

IHLNYE INVSYIVIH NEVE HLYHYS YTIvdINHA
VAWMOS ‘VONYA S AIHLEYA INVHAYIVLINIHO
YHNNOW ‘AQQIHIONYD YMHSIA "HOOANNN

NGV Y47LSNIW Olvd NYIW3 ‘HIAYA GYIWHY GHOW QHYIW WYSSYa *HITYS
NOGONYYE VNNV ‘LLIINNIE STWYI SYWOHL ‘LLINN3E
1314Q3L "HONIW

OTTUINIWIOVNVIN ALHIdOHd NOLNEOHL
OTINOLONIdYvd 044

OTTNOLONIgYvYd 044

JT11 NOLONIdYYd O4a

JT1NOLONIgdvd D40

O NOLONIYYYE 04a

371 NOLONIHYYd 044

IHLYMS ‘ATIIAYHIIEG VWYY HSIANY “WYAVHYS
1A3Q IWHSHYT ‘WAVA NEYE YHAOVYNIFYS ‘WAVA
LSNYL ONIAIT HOIYHS NYHYI 8008HIW ONY A3WHY HISY4 331SNYL YHZY ‘HIIVHS
HYY083a JLIHM

F NIAMYIW “3T13ZZIW 1 YANYHD “3113ZZIN
O71S311¥3d0Hd 1037138

MIHANY ‘JAVIVIN

YNOMI ‘ZYIWOT NYT ‘ZYWOT

VIvd YOVN ‘Y113AVYH IV

Y14V YSIT 931 NITTY AIAYA 337

 H139VZ113 "H3IHSIH W NHOS “H3IHSI4

INVHIAQ3IY IV IVANIYYE HYIVHIAW VINNOILT
OTISINIWISIANI ZWOO0Z

33YAL ‘SINHYY

HOSANIM NYHLYNOI ‘SWYAY NIYT NITLIVO ‘NMOYE
GNOWAYY ANOHLINY ‘NMOYY

VNI VIHVIN ‘STHHOL ZAANYNHIH

VNdYMS ‘VONONYHIAIC

H139vZN3 AFTHSY "YIAIOW NYHV 30NYHE ‘HIAIOW

312



£6SL2 ON ‘NONG3Z
£65£42 ON ‘NONG3Z
£B6SLT IN ‘NOINg3Z
£654Z ON 'NOWNg3Z
L6SLZ ON ‘NOIN83Z
L6542 DN 'NONG3Z
L6842 IN'NOINEG3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NOINY3IZ
£BSLZ ON ‘NOTNE3Z
£6S4Z ON 'NOINE3Z
L6SLZ ON 'NON83Z
L6542 ON 'NOTNGIZ
£BSLT ON ‘NOTNY3Z
46542 IN 'NO1N83z
46542 ON ‘NONQ3Z
£BSLZ ON 'NO1Ng3z
£65£2 ON ‘NO1IN83Z
/6S4Z ON ‘NOTNE3Z
LB6SLT ON ‘NOING3Z
/6542 IN ‘NON83Z
£6SLZ DN 'NOTNE3Z
26522 ON ‘NONE3Z
£6SLT ON 'NOING3Z
£68LZ DN 'NONG3Z
L6542 ON ‘NONg3Z
£65LZ DN ‘NOWNG3Z
£65£Z ON ‘NOING3Z
£BSLT 3N ‘NONE3Z
£6G/2 ON 'NONG3z
£6G£2 ON ‘NOTNE3Z
£65LT 3N 'NOTNGIZ
£BSLT ON ‘NOTNG3IZ
£6S£Z ON "NOTNY3Z

AV MOY NOL1ONIHYVYE 90§
JAY MOY NOLONIJHYE 20S

Q4 711IH AINLNd 804
AV MOY NOIONIHHYE OvY
IAY MOY NOLONIYHYA 8T
3AY MOY NOLONIYYvd ST¥

JAV MOY NOLONIHYYE O

AV MOY NOLONIYdvE ¢T8
JAY MOY NOLONIdHYd 019
IAVY MOY NOLONIHHYE 809
IAVY MOH NOLONIHHVYE 09
JAY MOH NOLONIYHVE 209
IAY MOY NOLONIHYVY 009
IAY MOY NOLONIgYva 265
JAY MOY NOLONIJHYE 065
IAY MOH NOLINIHYEYd 985
JAY MOY NOLONIMYYE ¢85
JAY MOY NOLONIYYYE 08S
JAY MOH NOLONIYHVYE 0
3NV MOY NOLONIYYYE 945
JAV MOH NOLONIYYYE PS5
AV MOY NOLONIgdvE 249
JAY MOY NOLONIYHVE 049
JAV MOY NOLONIHYYE 895
JAY MOY NOLONIYHYE ¥SS
AV MOY NOLONIHYVE 0SS
JAV MOY NOLONIFYv 915
AV MOY NOLONIYYYE vPS
JAY MOY NOLONIBYVE 0¥S
AV MOY NOLONIHYYE 0
AV MOY NOLONIHHVE 625
HA N3ASHIAT 8¢S

HA NIASHIAT vy

1SNYL ONIAITNYSSNYE INDINOW JHL I3LSNYL INDINOW ‘NYSSNve

HYWMINYL1IHO ‘ILYdITYW

YNHSIENAOD TTIVVIVHINIHO

WYNTIM NHOM "Y3S3Iv

1SNYL ONIAN HYIVHS 800GHIW ONY QIWHY HISY4 33LSNHL YHZY ‘HAIYHS

NVSNS ‘SY3LvYMm
OTTINOLONIFYYE 344
OTTNOLONIgHYE 044
OTINOLINIdYve 044
O NOLONIYHYd 044
OTINOLONIHEYE 240
OTINOLONIYYYE O4d
071 NOLONIgHYd 340
OTT NOLONIYYYE 044
JTINOLONIdYvd 244
OTINOLONIdHYE D4a
OTTNOLONIdYYE D40
OTTNOLONIYYYY 040
OTINOLONIYYYE D44
071 NOLSNIYYVYd 044
0711 NOLONIYYYE 244
OTINOLONIYYYE 244
OTTNOLONIgHvYE 044
OTTNOLONIgdvYe O4a
OTTNOLONIdYVg 044
OT1NCLONIddvd 044
OTTNGLONIYYYE 040
OTTNOIONIdHYd 244
071 NOLONIdHYd 240
011 NOLONIgdvd O4d
OTINOLINIYYYE O4a
OTTINOLONIYYYE 2440
OTTNGIONIYYYE 340

313



£65£2 ON 'NO1NGIZ
L6542 ON 'NO1N83Z
£B6S£T ON ‘NONg3Z
£65/2 ON ‘NOTN83Z
£65£2 IN ‘NO1NG3Z
£6S£T DN ‘NOTNY3Z
£6S4Z ON ‘NOINE3Z
£654¢ ON ‘NON83z
£6SLZ N ‘NO1NE3Z
£6S£Z DN ‘NOTNE3Z
L6542 IN ‘NOTNG3Z
L6542 ON 'NONg3zZ
£6S4T ON 'NONG3Z
L6542 ON 'NOINQ3Z
£B6S/Z DN ‘NONg3z
46522 ON ‘NOTN83z
LB6SLZ DN ‘NOINg3Z
/6542 ON ‘NO1Ng3Z
£6S42 ON ‘NOTNE3Z
£6SLZON ‘NOING3Z
L6542 ON ‘NOINQ3Z
46542 ON ‘NONG3Z
L6542 ON ‘NONE3Z
L8542 DN *NO1NE3Z
LBSLZ DN ‘NOINE3Z
£65£2 ON ‘NOINg3Z
46542 DN 'NO1Ng3Z
26542 ON ‘NO1Ng3Z
£BS£Z ON ‘NO1N93z
£65£Z IN‘NOINE3z
L6542 ON ‘NOTNE3IZ
£65£Z ON ‘NOING3Z
£6SLT ON ‘NONg3z

JAY MOY NOLONIHYYY ¢ES
QY X00d81713dS 59

JAV MOY NOLONIHYYE 6€S
JAVY MOY NOLONIMYYE EVS
AV MOY NOLONIYYVE T¥S
Qd TIH AINLNd ETL

YA N3ASHIAT 81S

HA NIASY3AT 0Cs

Hd N3IASY3A3 2CS

44 N3ASH3AI PES

Y44 N3IASH3AI 56S

40 NIASH3AT €SS

40 N3IASH3A3 165

4d N3ASY3A3 S¥e

HA NIASHIAI EVS

Ha N3AsHIAI 6ES

HA NIASHIAT LES

HA NIASH3IAI SES

HA N3ASYINT €8S

HQ N3JSH3IAT 625

HA N3ASH3IAT £2S

Ha NIASYIAT S¢S

HAa NIASYHIAT €2S

AV MOY NOLONIHHYE 92
gy 0049 113ds voL

IAY NATAOVYG 621

IAY MOY NOLONIYYVE €S
AV NADIOVHE 024

3JAY MOY NOLONIdYvYE 91§
ay 300d9113dS S0L

JAY MOY NOLONIYYvYE 0TS
ANV MOY NOLONIYYVE 225
IAY MOY NOLONIYYVE 925

VOSIHONYHL ‘SONVINIWYY 1INWYS ZIANITIW

371 3TNA3LL3AVS 40 SHOLINYISNOO H3H
OTTITNAILLIAYL 40 SBOLONYLSNOO H B H
OTT13MIA3LLIAYS 40 SHOLONYLISNOD H® H
O INTNAILLIAYL 4O SHOLONYISNOO H B H

SSOY NIT13 AHLOHOQ 'NHONVA SITHYHD 1IVHIIW 'NHONYA

O ITNAILLIAYS O SHOLONYISNOD H B H
OT1ITUAILIIAYL 4O SHOLONYISNOO H® H
077 3TUAILLIAVYA S0 SHOLONYISNOO H B H
OT1ITUAILIFAYL JO SHOLONYISNOD H B H
O ITNAILLIAYS 4O SHOLONYISNOO H B H
37T INNAILLIAVL 4O SHOLONYLISNOO H B H
OTTINIAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYISNOD H ® H
OTTITTNAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONYLISNOD H B H
ITTITNATLEIAYS SO SHOLONYLSNOD H B H
OT ITNAILLIAVS 40 SHOLONYLSNOQI H B H
OT1 ITUAILLIAVS 4O SYOLONYISNOO H® H
011 ITNAILLIAVS JO SHOLONYLSNOO H R H
O ITNAILLTAVL 40 SHOLONYISNOO HR H
OT13TUAILLIAVS 40 SHOLONYLSNOD H R H
O ITNAILLIAVL JO SHOLONYISNOD HRB H
OT1 ITNAILL3AVL 4O SHOLONHISNOO H B H
0711 ITUAILLIAVS 40 SHOLONYISNOIOH R H
TAVHOIW AYVHOVZ ‘LI3MS

YNYANVYJS "IVMTVd 3 TVdIYS ‘IVAYTVd
IDISNf ‘MYATWY

IANHAYIW “VINGNYN LIHOY ‘NON3IW

331SNYL YWYdNNY ‘HONIS F31SNHL LAY YW

va3idd ‘NOLSIM-SINOS

Z SINNATO ‘NISNIALSIHHD WYITIM AHOD "NISNILSIHHO

YAV I1INVI ‘NYIWLYYd

OVH YNNIEYHIITIVIN TYNTIVA IHLNYY ‘landvan3g

VANYIWY Y14V ‘3900H

314



£6S4T ON ‘NOTNg3z
£65/2 ON'NOING3Z
£6S.2 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
£BSLZ ON ‘NONG37
£6S/2 ON ‘NONG3Z
LB5LZ ON ‘NOTNg3Iz
£6642 ON 'NONG3Z
46S4Z ON ‘NOINA3Z
£BS/T ON 'NOTNG3IZ
LBSLZ ON 'NOTNG3IZ
£6S/Z ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6S4Z ON 'NOTNg3zZ
£BSLZ DN ‘NOTNg3Z
£6S4T ON ‘NOINg3z
£654T ON 'NOTNG3z
£6S.2 ON ‘NOTINg3Z
48542 ON 'NOTNg3z
46642 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6542 ON ‘NOTNE3z
/6547 ON ‘NONE3Z
£6S4T ON 'NOTNG3Z
£6S£T ON ‘NOTINY3Z
£6SLZ ON 'NOTNA3Z
£BS£Z ON‘NOTNE3Z
46542 ON ‘NO1N93z
£6S4T ON ‘NO1N93z
£BSLZ DN ‘NOING3zZ
£6SLZ DN 'NO1N93z
£BSLZ DN ‘NOTNG3Z
£65/Z ON ‘NOING3AZ
£6S£Z ON ‘NOIN93Z
LBSLZ DN ‘NOING3z
£6S4T ON ‘NOING3Z

IAY MOY NOLONIHHYS OEY
a4 NNNg 10 9181

QY THH AINLNd 0TL

43 N3ASY3AI vSS
NT31HH00 0

AV MOY NOLONIHYYE 85
Ha NIdSY3IAT 055

4 N3ASY3A3 8ES

JAY MOY NOLONIYYYE 2¥S
H1vd XO01SAVH 604

HLvd X001SAavH St

a4 NNNd9 410 600¢

Ha NJASH3AT 9€S

JAV MOY NOLONIYYYE £2G
@4 TTIH A3NLNd 924

JAY MOY NOLONIHYYE vES
HLYd XOO1SavH €T£

JAY MOY NOLONIgYYd €SS
QY NNNE Q00

AV MOY NOLONIHHYE 0£G
JAY MOY NOLONIHEVYE 0
AV NONNY9 3 0521

4 N3IASH3AT OvS

Ha N3ASY3IAT 8SS

JAV MOY NOLONIHHVE €26
ayA004d113ds seL

@y X0049113dS 60L

JAV NATAOVYHE C¢EL

JAY NATIOVHE 824

AV NADIOYYE 122

Q4 THH AINLINd 0L

G4 IHAINLNG TTL

AV MOY NOLONIYYYE L85

3SIN3A IM3NYaYD ‘'SINOT

SG713H YNVIQ “1IYHISYd

3dOH H138¥Z13 'ATIINNOD

OTTINMNAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYISNOD H R H
ONINOILYIQOSSY SHINMOIWOH DN NOLONIYHYY
071 NOLONIYYE D40

DT ITVAILLIAVL 40 SHOLDNYLSNOD H R H
OTT3ATUAILLIAYL 40 SHOLONHISNOI H R H
JTTNOLONIYHYE 040

YOINOHIA VANYL 'SNYAT A NOSYT ‘SNYAT
IHNHAYIW ‘ATIVAYTTIONYL HYIWN)! IVS ‘IHNANYY
JT0JIN ANV4IL ‘NMOYE TYAN.O INIQTYYIO ‘NMOYE
JT1TIMIAILLIAYS 4O SHOLONYISNOD HB H

0 YANOS ‘NOSNHO[ Y HLAY ‘NOSNHOf

HSIYVH 1003d IAIAIYS ‘ISHYd

FINHAYW ‘VINANYN LIHOY ‘NONIIW

YAAVN ‘YTIVIVIA IAVY ‘THNLNddNA

077 NOLONIYYYE 544

07T NOLONIYYYE 240

YIHSVYLYN 131SidN ‘NYIWIHOA

OTTNOLONIYYE 240

1SNYL I190AIHYI YIF1FIHM M HONYI 13 F3LSNYL HI SOTHYD STWYT ‘HITIIHM
YNIWOTIHd 'SMIHLLYIN Hd3SOr ‘SMIHLLYIN

INNY NILSIHN ‘AMdHNW

YHSVYL ‘ANAY]

0711534008

J11€ 3408

INOLYE 'QOAZY WIHYY 1309V ‘ATTYMLIW

A1301D "SNIDDIM NIWYINIE ‘SNIDOIM

ANIVI3 VIHIIVA ‘SYWOH.L

MNDIANKW MY TVE ‘NINAYSIN IHLYAYYIYAIS ‘WYANYIWYHENS
YANIHG ‘HONIS TNHSNY ‘HONIS
VANVAVYTIWHSHYT ‘YdYVYN

315



P19LZ ON ‘HOIT VY

L6SLZ ON ‘NOINgG3Z
£6S42 ON ‘NOTNg3Z
46542 ON ‘NO1Ng3z
/6542 ON ‘NOINg3Z
L6542 DN ‘NOINg3z
£6S4Z DN ‘NON83Z
L6SLZ DN ‘NONg3az
£6G4T DN ‘NONG3Z
£6S/2 ON ‘NONG3Z
L6SLT ON'NONG3Z
£6S22 ON ‘NONG3Z
£6S4T ON ‘NOTNg3Z
46522 ON ‘NONG3Z
£66/2 DN ‘NO1Ng3zZ
26542 ON ‘NO1Ng3Z
L6S4T ON ‘NONG3z
£65£2 ON ‘NOTNg3z
£6542 ON ‘NO1Ng3Z
46542 ON ‘NONg3Z
46542 ON ‘NO1N93Z
£6S4T ON ‘NONE3Z
/6SLT ON‘NO1NG3Z
£6SLZ ON ‘NO1Ng3z
L6542 IN‘NO1Ng3AZ

QY 390414 N33IAVY 0T0TT

44 INIOd ANNNS 62201
Ha INIOd ANNNS £T40T
4d INIOd ANNNS 02401
Q4 NNNE Q10 60Te

A INIOd ANNNS 82201
Q4 NNN9 Q10 1012

HA WYY IMOTISNIM FOTE
HA INIOd ANNMNS S2L01
QYNNNG Ao LT1¢
AMH L6 ON3 Tevl

TdL ANNOHOVIS €5401
THLANNOHOVIS 67201
AMH £6 ON 3 S0VT

4Q INIOd ANNNS V2401
QY JOVTIIASHYYd 0
141 ANNOHOVLS ¥rL0T
HA INIOd ANNNS T2£01
T41 ANNOHOVIS 88401
TH1 ANNOHOVLS S¥L0T
AMH 26 ON 36091

TdL ANNOHOVLS 6¢£0T
AMH 6€ ON 0

T41 ANNOHOVLS LEL0T
Q4 NNNg a10 0012

ONINOILYIDO0SSY SHAINMOIWOH IN NOLONIYHYE
$35S34AAY ALHIdOUd 3A08Y IHL NYHL SSIHAAY ONNIVIA LNTYIJAT V HLIM SHINMO ALYId0dd JUV MOT13d S3SsS3Haav
331SNY1 d INNIY ‘NIMA00D FFLSNYL HI L WYITIM ‘NIMAO0D

Q VIAVT ‘ATLNYYHE S YNHSO! ‘AL1INYNG
VNNV ‘SIM3TNHOf 'SIMIT

"4 AHO93YD ‘HOIH

VYNVIQ NIH3 OH1IH MIHANY IV HOTYL3H
YIAINNIC ANIIN NILSNF “INITN

TYANIYD ‘NVIWVH [ GHYMAT ‘NYWVH
AYANOL ‘SIAVA D AYV9 ‘SIAVA

HLIANT ‘NNYIN NIATY ‘NNYIW

'S ANNS 'SWIS “IW HIINNIA ‘SWIS

1YY NVSNS 'HONAT LLOJS MIHANY ‘HONAT
O AYHIL AYY1D

0377 S3114340dd 9N W1ldvD

NvaIH3x ‘LLoi13

TI0YHVYD 3 "HANAOS

INNIHAY ‘SWYITIIM L INOHAL ‘SWYITTIM

d HIHNNIMNILLYE O YNHSO! “NaLLYg

[ YANI “TI0¥YVD 1YIHJOLSIHHO "T10HHYD

NNYIT VHIWWYL ‘NOSIHHOW 13INYQ AHY3d ‘NOSIHHOW

ONISTVIHALYIN NOLONIW M
4 A3 MNHYTO W NIATA “Hev1D

J3LSNYL L NVSNS “LLINDOH 331SNHL d SIWYI ‘LLNOOH

W YNNOQ '30Vd ¥ NIHYYM “J0vd
W YITNS INOS04 O NNAT ‘88YNOW

(avod NNNE G170 STET WOY4 a31VI11dNA LON) 1308Vd QYO NNNE a10 L16T WOYd 13S340 .05 NIHLIM 34V MO39 §31143d0Yd

£6SLT ON'NONE3IZ
46542 ON ‘NONg3Z
£654¢ ON ‘NO1NE83Z
£654Z ON ‘NOTNgaz
LBSLT IN ‘NONG3Z

a4 7H AINLNd S04

HLYd ¥D01SAYH 6¥L

IAV MOY NOL9INIgYve Sty
HIVYd YO0L1SAVH vv .

AV MOY NOLONIMYVE TS

M NYTNHS WIVYAYD YHSWYHANS VI3AINVd
VHSY “WYSYTIAYNHSIYNIIYS
OTINOLONIYYYd 044

H YUHYIN ‘VIANWIVINND Add3Y HINYMSYI ‘VIANYIVINND

HISYHE ‘YNHYMS

316



81102 YA NOLITalYHY
£8S£¢ ON 1S3HO4 IHVYM
09G4¢ ON ITNASIHHOW
€642 IN X3dY

9654¢ ON JTUIASONNOA
€1S4Z DN AYVO

6154¢ ON AHVD

ZPTS2 Zv 5X33HI NIIND
TTSLT ON AHYD

P19.2 IN HOITTVY
6TSLZ ON AYYD

£6S4T ON NONg3z
61542 ON AHYD

BLVLL XL ANV HYONS
87T0Z YANOLINgWvYHE
095176 YO YHYMIN
TTS/2 ON AYYD

StSZZ ON ITVALHDINY
61S4Z ON AYYD

EY0TZ AW ALID LOITT3
£6SLZ ONNOTNG3Z
99576 YO NOINVYSY31d
1102 YA NOQNY3H
9064Y NI 3LLIAVIVT 1SIM
L6542 ONNO1NE3Z
8cyee

05956 YO SINOO1
£6S42 ON ‘'NOTNg3Z
61942 JN ‘HOIF VY

280ze
14 'HOV3d 3AYIA 3INOd

4A STIVd IT1UINIO 991CF

10 ONIZYO HYIS vZZe
NTNAMOL SIIHY ET0T

aNg JYIdS L¥S

04 HOYNHD W3HIIH138 198
Td VATILYIN 62E

JAY HVO AZOD 8YTT

AVM 3OVIHHYO I 1GTTIC

60¢ 31S T4 WHvY4 3YIVAIDI OvLT
10 ALLIMONIM SOETT

LI LLIHNH 804G
L¥SX080d

YA Y3ILVMNITO €2vT

13 1St NYOHOW 0181

OS 3A0D SNYAITINS 6E£0€C
JAY IFHIHOVId 9568

44 SI1IVSYIA 80¢E

064 %049 0d

181 093INVYd 29T

4L INOLSdVOS 5186

JAY NONNVYS M TOST
ONYITVS IO VIA Y961
NT3ION3Id INOLS LpvEC

103 WINOTI0D 91T

AMAH $8C SN 10 8ETT

FOS# S AATE AUVd 3NV E0PT
10 SA00M JILSNYH §52¢E
9911 X042 0d

¢0c 31S

Qd ISN3N IHL 40 ST1v4 00CL
¥2als

F10HID FOVTTIA SSYHOMYS 000€T

HYHAINYHNW 'WYHAONYSD

IHHLYAVD ‘NYAISNNVHL NYAISANYHL IV T1IdVIVEYAYN

IAVY ‘VT13LYNIAT " TvdyTivy

YLIHdNNY LYd HSTOVIW ‘NYHLYNYHONYd

011934008

JT1aNY

AYHLYT ONY NIVY YAYHVA NIVY YAVIWYNYHQ 40 33LSNYL
331SNYL NIVY YAYIIWYNYHA ‘NYH YAVHYA

VHIHLYH ‘WYNOZ VHANIOWN ‘DT

07T HLYd XOOLSAVH 2e¢

YHSY ‘WYSYTIAYNHSIYNITYS

WINVAR ‘VIMNWILLOO Y HLIINYY VILNOYY IV

INAY VIIONY “INVd IONIHMY T STWYT “INYd

YdNYIN ‘WYNYAYONS HSAWYY ‘NYIvHYONIY

YNIIAYYd TONVY

YINVAIY ‘YIANNONING YATIHS ‘YAYANYIN

IONVH YWVY ‘NLLYD QYSYHd YHIWISHYN ‘NLIYD

OT1S3ILHIdOYd ATIWYS 131vd

$Q7131d YNYIA “1TYHOSYd

1H1334d ‘ATIVAYIVAWYY YAVHOYY ‘YOVIWYIYN

OTTIN SIWOH TdW

AV HIJINNIF ‘“O90H NYIHd ADVHL ‘D90H

331SNYL VTN INVAV ‘AQQTY FTLSNYLVTIND YYHAIYS ‘AQd3y
VAHSV ‘11908 YXIHAYY ‘NYHLYNYMSIA

d VITHNIN “VIANYAVINND AQQ3H HINYMSYT 'VIAONYIYLINAD
QOOH HLIANT 'NITa3W

1SNYLITEOAIHYI HITITHM ( HONYI 1 IFLSNYL HF SOTHYD SIWYT ‘YITFIHM
J3LSNYL AYNIH diTUHd "ZNIFHNIFIN 331SNHL ILINNY NI THLY ZNITHNIT T
@711 ‘NOSHOIHANIH SYIWOHL 2 ‘NOSHIIHANTH

011 3TIAILLIAYS 40 SHOLONYLSNOD H'S H

OTTNOLONIYYYE 340

317



09542 ON ITASIHHOW
20542 ON X3dV

61542 ON AYYD

£¢SLT ON X3dY

/6S/2 ON NOIN83Z
61642 ON AUYD

96542 ON ITTASONNOA
96S4¢ IN ITTNASONNOA
96522 IN ITHASONNOA
€162 DN AYVD

09S4¢ ON ATUASIHHOW
SOTOZ VA 3IQY

GPS42 ON ITVALHOINY
OVSLZ DN SONIYdS ATTOH
61542 ON AUVO

61542 ON AWVYD
8710971 a4va01
€882 IN IdOH ONIYdS
810 YA NUNGHSY
8£0GL X1 H3dSOHd
GSE6T Vd NHIATVIN
6TSLT DN AYYD

E£TLLZ DN WYHYNG
61542 ON AYYD

61542 ON AYVD

25880

€262 IS VIGWNI0D
£6542 INNOTNE3zZ
L6GLZ ON NOINY3IZ
09542 ON ITTIASIHHOW
L0462 IS ONVT NVIANI
12156 VD IS0 NVS
09616 VO MHVMIN

10 A1S3d 2Tt

Hd ONVYISI QYIHATVE TEST
1O MOTIIM AVE 81E
N1.13n0ONOY Avd 898
8€8X04d Od

QY NOILYIS 3HId Y3INIJHYD TZEL
Q4 HOYNHO W3IH3TH138 198
QY HOYNHO WaH3TH13g 198
QY HOYNHI W3H3H138 198
THLdIN480TT

04 7l HOON3dS 60€

1d LISNNS d34 660€2
NT3TTAISAILNY YOTS

YA INVIZVHL T0C

1D MOTIIM AvE 81€

JAYIVO AZOD LEET

10 NHOOV 91ST

ISHONVYE 3 91T

Y31 WdV4 ONYIADNE E6¥ET
N7 AYNGHSY 009

@4 LNIOd A¥YYND £22

AVM IAOHO NOLdWVHD 8102
¥ SIHOIFH AL4018TT

4 IA0HO NOLSONDI 800T
T41AD0H YIJSIHM LTOT

Q4 M3IN 85S¢
LOWvoaaImie

1S FHOWVOAS M TOS

0¥E X04d Od

ay INIOd 30VH9 600C

HO VSIW SINNH £189

AVM 3OV1d ATIVM 189€
AVMITI ITINLS0L9

[HXYY 'HONIS NIJAYYHd ‘AVAVA

HSIYYH '10a3d IA3A1YS ‘ISHYd

INHAYIW 'YINANYN LIHOY ‘NONIW

HNHAYIW ‘ATIVAVTTIONYL UYWAY IYS ‘NN
FT10DIN ANVHIL ‘NMOYE TVIN.O INIQTYHIO ‘NMOYE
YNIWOTIHA 'SMIHLLYIW HdISOf ‘SMIHLLYIW
0717£34008

0T 34008

011634008

A NYINYS ‘VIVAVAYO YHSWYHANS “v13AINYd
YAN3IYG ‘HONIS TNHSNY ‘HONIS

YANVAYTINHSYVT ‘YHYYN

YOSIHONVYS "'SONVINIWHY TANWYS ‘Z3ANTTIW
VYNVANVYS ‘IVMIYd H TYdIYS IYAYTYd

HNHAYIW ‘VINGNYN LIHOY ‘NONIIW

331SNYL VIWVANNY ‘HONIS 331SNYL LIWY "HYWNY
OYY YNAFHYHAITIVIA ‘IINTIVA IHLNYY 10NdYanN3g
1SNYL ONIAIN NYSSNYE INDINOW 3HL IZLSNHL INDINOW ‘NYSSNVE
YNHSIHNIAOS TTIVdVYIVHINIHD

YAWMOS ‘YONYA S MHLYW ‘INVHY IVINIHO
YHINNOW ‘AGAIHIONYD YMHSIA ‘HOOANNY
IHLYMS ‘AT13AVHIID VINVY HSTANY 'WYAVHYS
IAIQ IWHSHYT “‘YAVA NAYE YHAYNIIYS ‘ViIVA
1SNYL ONIAN HXIVHS NYHYT 8009HIW ANY AIWHY HISYS 33LSNYL VYZV ‘HMVYHS
O011531143d0Yd 153138

INYYIAA3Y *ITIVINIdYE HYIvYIIW ‘VINNDI1T

D717 SINFWLSIANI ZWOOZ

HOSANIM NYHLYNOS ‘SWvAy NIY3 NITLIVD ‘"NMOYE
ANOWAYY ANOHINY ‘NAMOYY

VYNdYMS ‘VONONYYIAIQ

YAWMOS ‘AGQIHIHLNIN NITAVHL ‘V10Y

VHHLIAVd ‘IINVONYHOW

TYNOS “TYMYUOd WWAYHAG ‘HYFHVYd

318



WRITTEN STATEMENT OF ADOPTION

ZEBULON OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION

NORTH CAROLINA SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

Per Zebulon Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) 2.2.15.G.3, the Zebulon Board of
Commissioners shall adopt a written statement upon the approval of a Planned
Development (PD):

1. The Board Commissioners Approves Ordinance 2026-07
2. Ordinance 2026-07 is fully consistent with the Town’s adopted Policy Guidance in the
Comprehensive Plan
3. Ordinance 2026-07 is consistent with the comprehensive plan as it willimplement the
following goals and policies:
a. Land Use and Development:

i. Goal 1: A land use allocation and pattern that advances Zebulon’s
objectives of achieving greater housing variety, supporting its economic
development and tax base needs, and creating a complete community with
convenient resident access to schools, recreation, shopping and services
(Land Use and Development, pg. 2)

ii. Goal 3: Ongoing and effective collaboration between land use and
transportation planning to ensure a well-connected community with
adequate means and capacity to accommodate multiple forms of
circulation between local destinations (Land Use and Development, pg. 2).

b. Goals for Housing and Neighborhoods:

i. Goal 1: A quantity and diversity of housing options that makes living in
Zebulon attainable for a wide range of age groups and income levels
(Housing and Neighborhoods pg. 2).

ii. Goal 4: Preserved and enhanced integrity and value of existing
neighborhoods, and quality design of newer residential areas to ensure their
livability and long-term sustainability (Housing and Neighborhoods pg. 2)

c. Goals For Recreation and Amenities:

i. Goal 1: A “lifestyle” community, with a range of amenities and activities for
all ages and interests, to keep residents enjoying their home town along with
visitors (Recreation and Amenities, pg. 4).

ii. Goal 6: A more attractive community based on quality design and character
of both private development and the public realm (Recreation and
Amenities, pg. 4).

4. Ordinance 2026-07 does not amend the Town’s adopted policy guidance in the
Comprehensive Plan.

319



WRITTEN STATEMENT OF ADOPTION

ZEBULO N OLD BUNN ROAD SUBDIVISION

NORTH CAROLINA SEPTEMBER 8, 2025

5. Deviations from the Town’s adopted policies are spelled out in the provided Planned
Narrative that is approved along with the proposed site plan.

6. Ordinance 2026-07 is reasonable as it aligns with the town’s long-term planning goals,
provides marginal public benefit, and represents orderly expansion of the town'’s
corporate limits.

7. Ordinance 2026-07 is in the public interest as it addresses Zebulon’s growing population
by providing diverse housing types, neighborhood-serving amenities, and key
transportation improvements with network wide benefits.

Glenn L. York — Mayor

SEAL

Dora K. Moore — Interim Town Clerk

320



ORDINANCE 2026-07

Planned Development Statement of Terms and Conditions
for

Old Bunn Road Subdivision

Zebulon, North Carolina

Submitted to:
Town of Zebulon
1003 N. Arendell Avenue
Zebulon, North Carolina 27597

Submittal Dates:

First Submittal: December 2, 2024
Second Submittal: February 14, 2025
Third Submittal: March 17, 2025
Fourth Submittal: May 21, 2025
Fifth Submittal: July 18, 2025

Prepared for:
Eastwood Homes of Raleigh LLC

EASTWOOD
built with care.

7101 Creedmoor Road, Svite 115
Raleigh, North Carolina 27613

Prepared by:

B PASST DSSICN GROP. 1A '« MORNINGSTAR
A,.d_‘lﬁ Engineenng | Consulting 3 F'\"\“fv
107 Fayetteville Street, Suite 200 434 Fayetteville Street, Suite 2200

Raleigh, North Caroline 27601 Raleigh, North Carolina 27601

321



VL.
Vil

XI.
XIl.
X,
XIV.
XV.
XVi.

XVIL.
XVIII.

XIX.
XX.

Table of Contents

IVEPOOUCTION w5 vt o« ssisimsmroioss st i 8T o s 51 335600 A B S B 66 3
Site Location and Area Context ..o e 3
Statement of Planning Objectives (PD Standard 2.8.) ...t 3
Consistence with Adopted Policy Guidance (PD Standard 8) ..........cooeviiviiiivieeninnn. 5
Compatibility with Surrounding Areas (PD Standard 9) .......coooiiviiiiiiiiiiiieieeee, 7
Compliance with Subdivision Standards (PD Standard 3) ..., 8
Site Plan Review (PD Standard 4) .. ..ot e 8
Permitted Uses (PD Standard 13) ...t e e e 8
Densities (PD Stanard 5) ..ot e ....9
Development Standards (PD Standard 7) .............. e "
Development Phasing Plan (PD Standard 10) .......coovvivieiinieiiineiiirceenn, T 12
On-Site Public Facilities (PD Standard 12).....c..iiiiiiiiiiie e 12
Open SPace anG AMBNIIOS ... . it e e e 13
SrEetS . T R SR S e~ S B 14
Potable Water and WastewWater . ..o e e 14
Stormwater ManagemMent ... . e 14
Natural Resources and Environmental Protection.............ccoooiii i, 15
SOl WSt L. S R o S e 15
ATChIteCtUral CoNAitIONS . oo e e e e 15
ZONING CONOITIONS .. ui i i et e 18
2

322



l. Introduction

The intent of the proposed Planned Development (the "Development”) is to create a diverse
residential community in the Town of Zebulon (the “Town"), featuring @ mix of front-loaded
single-family detached homes, front-loaded and rear-loaded single-family attached homes,
and traditional single-family attached homes without garages. This variety is provided to meet
the housing needs of the Town while fostering economic growth, expanding the tax base, and
establishing @ well-rounded community. By offering a range of housing types, including
options for families, first-time homebuyers, seniors, and those seeking more affordable
homes, the Development will serve a broad demographic, providing suitable housing options
for various needs and budgets.

This Statement of Terms and Conditions, the attached Master Plan (the “Residential
Preliminary Plan”), and accompanying exhibits (collectively the “Zoning Document’) are
provided pursuant to the Town’'s Unified Development Ordinance (the “UDQ"), Planned
Development provisions. Specifically, the Zoning Document identifies how the Development
meets or exceeds the standards listed in UDO Section 3.5.5., Planned Development (the "PD")
District.

Il. Site Location and Area Context

The Development spans two parcels (the “Property”) totaling 159.72 acres, situated to the
north of the intersection of Old Bunn Road and NC 97 Highway East in Wake County, North
Carolina. The Property is bordered to the north by Beaverdam Creek and its associated flood
hazard area, to the east by a vacant, 285-acre forested property and a 5.39-acre property
with a detached single-family home, and to the west by the Barrington Subdivision, which
features both detached and attached single-family homes.

This area is part of a rapidly expanding region within the Town and County, offering
convenient connectivity to U.S. Highway 64 and Interstate 264. These major roadways provide
convenient access to downtown Zebulon, Five County Stadium, and surrounding cities such
as Raleigh, Wendell, and Knightdale. The location combines the advantages of suburban living
with proximity to urban amenities, making it an appealing choice for residents seeking an
ideal living environment and easy access to work, schools, recreational activities, amenities,
shopping, and services, located within a five-minute drive from downtown Zebuion.

lil. Statement of Planning Objectives (PD Standard 2.a.)

The proposed Development incorporates innovative land planning and site design principles
that prioritize both high-quality living standards and the achievement of the Town’s broader
goals. These concepts are designed to create a community that not only fosters a superior
quality of life for its residents but also aligns with the Town’s commitment to environmental
sensitivity, sustainable growth, and responsible development.

The proposed Development introduces several innovative land planning and site design
concepts, reflecting a thoughtful approach to integrating diverse housing types, community
connectivity, and historical preservation. These strategies are designed not only to meet
current housing needs but also to enhance the overall character and livability of the area.

323



Key planning objectives include:

1.

Strategic Housing Placement: As shown in the attached Master Plan, the Development
locates a mix of housing types in key areas to create a harmonious and functional
community layout. The proposal for rear-loaded single-family attached homes along
the frontage of Old Bunn Road and NC Highway 97 East, as well as the main entrance
to the development, helps establish an attractive urban form. By positioning these
homes closer to the road with rear-access garages, the development prioritizes the
streetscape and reduces the visual dominance of garages, contributing to a more
pedestrian-friendly and aesthetically pleasing environment.

Urban Design Elements: The inclusion of parallel parking throughout the single-family
attached home section continues the urban form, enhancing walkability and reducing
the need for off-street parking, which improves safety and neighborhood appeal. The
proposed east-west minor thoroughfare, lined with single-family detached homes,
features bike lanes and parallel parking, further emphasizing an urban design that
prioritizes alternative transportation options, connectivity, and a well-organized street
tayout.

Public Greenway and Amenities: The Development includes a public greenway that
runs along the northern property line and activated trails that run through the heart of
the community, linking the various housing types, public spaces, and amenities. This
greenway, with its trailheads, will provide residents with easy access to outdoor
recreation, promote an active lifestyle, and foster » sense of community. This
connectivity is crucial for encouraging interaction among residents and enhancing the
overall livability of the Development.

Historic Preservation: A feature of the proposal is the preservation of a federal-style,
nationally registered historic home, along with a family and enslaved persons’
cemetery, both of which are significant cultural and historical resources. By maintaining
these elements, the Development honors the rich history of the area, creating a
meaningful connection between the past and future. This preservation not only adds
historical value to the Development but also offers opportunities for educational and
cultural engagement for residents and their guests.

Environmental Sensitivity and Preservation of Natural Resources: The Development
will incorporate environmentally responsible practices, such as stormwater
management systems, and the preservation of natural landscapes while protecting
important natural features such as riparian buffers, wetlands, tree canopy, and
floodplains. This commitment to environmental sustainability will help maintain the
area's ecological balance, improve stormwater management, and provide residents
with natural spaces to enjoy. By preserving these areas, the development places value
on the local environment and contributes to the long-term health of the community
and its natural resources. This will reduce the ecological footprint and contribute to a
greener community.

324



V. Consistence with Adopted Policy Guidance (PD Standard 8)

The Zoning Document aligns with the Comprehensive Plan (the "Comp Plan") as well as all
relevant Town functional and small area plans (collectively "Policy Guidance Documents”).
The Development supports the Town’s goals of "achieving greater housing variety, supporting
its economic development and tax base needs, and creating a complete community with
convenient resident access to schools, recreation, shopping and services™ and is consistent
with the "character of land use within areas intended for particular character types.” (Comp
Plan p.2, Goals for Land Use and Development)

Specifically, the Development is consistent with the following policies from the Comp Plan’s
Land Use and Development Chapter (pp.3-4):

1. G1: “Land uses should not detract from the enjoyment or value of neighboring
properties.”

The Development offers a variety of single-family detached and attached homes in
different styles, price points, and sizes, along with open space, amenities, and greenway
trails. This approach ensures the Development is congruent with the surrounding area,
which features both detached and attached single-family homes, open space, and planned
greenway trails.

2. G2: “Potential negative land use effects (noise, odor, dust, excessive light, traffic, etc.)
should be considered in development review/approval and mitigated.”

The Development will comply with all UDO provisions regarding noise, dust, excessive
light, and traffic. A traffic impact analysis (the "TIA") has been provided, and mitigation
measures will be implemented, including dedicated turn lanes, road widening, and the
installation of a traffic signal at the intersection of Old Bunn Road and NC Highway 97
East. The Master Plan, along with the subsequent construction documents (the "CDs"), will
be reviewed by both the Town and the North Carolina Department of Transportation (the
"NCDOT").

3. G3: “Adequate transportation access and circulation should be provided for uses that
generate large numbers of trips. Pedestrian and bicycle access should be addressed
where appropriate.”

The Development’s addition of a new east-west minor thoroughfare with bike lanes will
significantly enhance connectivity within the area, linking important parts of the
development while improving access to nearby neighborhoods. This thoroughfare will
serve not only as a crucial route for vehicle traffic but also promote sustainable
transportation options, such as biking and walking. By incorporating sidewalks alongside
the bike lanes, the design prioritizes pedestrian safety and mobility, ensuring residents
have safe, convenient access to key destinations both within the community and in
surrounding areas. This approach fosters @ more integrated, eco-friendly transportation
network that supports active lifestyles and reduces reliance on cars.

4. G4: "Well-planned mixed-use projects are encouraged where compatible with nearby
development.”

325



The Development will provide a well-integrated mix of housing types, lot sizes, and
densities, designed to accommodate a range of resident needs while fostering a cohesive
community environment. The combination of different housing options ensures diversity
in both living spaces and affordability, contributing to @ more inclusive neighborhood.

In addition to the residential use, the Development will incorporate additional use types
including community gardens, two preserved cemeteries, private parks -such as pocket
parks and dog parks- and a public greenway trail.

5. G5: “Floodplain areas should not be encroached upon by development unless there is
compliance with stringent floodplain management practices. These areas should be
used for parks, recreation or related purposes, or for agricultural uses.”

The Development will preserve the flood hazard areas and will only encroach where
necessary for the construction of sanitary sewer infrastructure, public greenway trails, or
stormwater control measures (the "SCMs”).

6. G6: “"Environmentally sensitive areas should be protected, including wildlife habitat
areas.”

The Development is carefully designed to minimize impacts on environmentally sensitive
features such as riparian buffers, streams, wetlands, and flood hazard areas. The
development layout reflects an efficient use of land while preserving these critical
environmental resources. Natural features are preserved as passive open space that offer
recreational opportunities. This approach ensures that the development is sustainable and
contributes positively to the watershed’s health.

7. R1: “Residential areas should not be located next to heavy industrial areas.”

The Development is not located adjacent to heavy industrial areas.

8. R3: "Schools, parks and community facilities should be located close to or within
residential neighborhoods.”

The Development is within @ mile and a half of public schools, parks, and community
facilities.

9. R4: “Houses should have direct access to local residential streets but not to collector
streets or thoroughfares.”

The Development’s detached and attached single-family homes will have access to local
residential streets only.

10. R7: “"New residential developments should include an adequate area for parks and
recreation facilities, schools and places of worship.”

The Development will provide community gardens, and private pocket and dog parks for
its residents. Additionally, a public greenway trail will be provided.

326



11. P5: “Natural features should be used as buffers or preserved open space between or
around developed areas.”

The Development will preserve the flood hazard area along the northern property line as
a buffer and designated open space, providing a separation from the adjacent development
to the north. In addition, a substantial portion of the jurisdictional wetlands, streams, and
their associated riparian buffers will be preserved.

The Development aligns with the vision set forth in the Town’s Future Land Use and Character
Map (the “Map”) for the Property. The Map designates the Property as Suburban Residential,
which envisions a blend of housing types, with an emphasis on increased open space and
smaller lot sizes. By adhering to the Suburban Residential designation, the development
supports the long-term goals outlined in the Comp Plan, ensuring that it fits within the broader
framework for growth and land use in the region. The Comp Plan emphasizes the need for
balanced development that provides diverse housing options, encourages sustainable growth,
and maintains the character of existing neighborhoods — goals that are clearly reflected in
the proposed housing mix of single-family detached and attached units. By providing a variety
of single-family detached and attached housing options in different styles, cost points, and
scales, the PD helps address the housing demand in Zebulon. This variety ensures that a broad
spectrum of residents, including families, first-time homebuyers, seniors, and those looking
for more affordable options, will have access to suitable housing.

The Development aligns with the Town’s Comprehensive Transportation Plan (the
"Transportation Plan"), which includes plans for a widened 4-lane divided road along both Old
Bunn Road and NC Highway 97 East, as well as a new 2-lane divided roadway running east
to west through the Property. The Development will accommodate the north-side widening
of Old Bunn Road and NC Highway 97 East, along with the dedication of right-of-way and the
construction of the new minor thoroughfare. As previously discussed with the Town, instead
of the planned 2-lane divided section, the Development will feature a 2-lane road with bike
lanes and parallel parking spaces.

V. Compatibility with Surrounding Areas (PD Standard 9)

As mentioned in Section Il above, the Development is bordered to the south by Old Bunn
Road and NC 97 Highway East, to the north by Beaverdam Creek and its associated flood
hazard area, to the east by a vacant, forested property totaling 285-acres and a 5.39-acre
property with a detached single-family home—both located outside the Town’s extraterritorial
jurisdiction ("ETJ”)—and to the west by the Barrington Subdivision, which is currently under
construction and includes both detached and attached single-family homes.

It is reasonably expected that the vacant property to the east will be annexed into the Town
in the future and developed as a Planned Development. Meanwhile, the 5.39-acre parcel will
remain, with a portion of it buffered by a preserved jurisdictional wetland and a proposed 20-
foot-wide type ‘D’ (opaque) perimeter buffer.

The parcels to the north of Beaverdam Creek, which include a vacant, partially wooded 53.87-
acre tract and the Brookefield of Zebulon subdivision, are separated by the creek’s flood
hazard area, which extends approximately 500 feet in width, covering both the floodway and
floodplain. This preserved buffer will provide both vertical and horizontal separation between
the Development and these parcels.

327



Adjoining to the west of the Development is the Barrington Subdivision which is under
construction. According to the approved Master Plan dated 12/1/16, this project is entitled for
837 dwelling units with a mix of single-family detached and attached homes, recreational
amenities, and open space. The approved density for the project based on sections is as
follows:

1. Single-Family Detached Homes - 274 du(s) / 66 acres = 4.15 du(s)/acre

2. Single-Family Attached (Duplex) Homes - 92 du(s) / 18 acres = 5.11 du(s)/acre

3. Single-Family Attached (Townhouse) Homes - 471 du(s)/54 acres = 8.72 du(s)/acre
4. Overall - 837 du(s) / 210 acres = 3.98 du(s)/acre

The minimum lot size for single-family detached homes is 5,400 square feet with 8 minimum
lot width of 45 feet. The single-family attached homes provide for @ minimum lot width of
16 feet and 22 feet for the townhomes and duplexes respectively. The single-family attached
homes include a mix of units, some with front-loaded garages and others without. All single-
family detached homes feature front-loaded garages.

Development along the perimeter of the proposed PD district is designed to be compatible
with the surrounding existing and proposed developments. In areas where compatibility
concerns arise, buffers are incorporated to create a natural transition. The Development is
complementary to the Barrington Subdivision to the west, featuring similar densities,
dimensional standards, building heights, character and form. Refer to the attached Master
Plan.

VI. Compliance with Subdivision Standards (PD Standard 3)

Unless explicitly amended within the Zoning Document, the Development shall fully adhere
to the requirements set forth in Article 6, ‘Subdivision,” and Sections 2.2.17 ‘Residential
Preliminary Plan,” and 2.2.11 ‘Final Plat’ of the UDO.

VIl. Site Plan Review (PD Standard 4)

This Zoning Document incorporates a comprehensive master plan that meets the requirements
for a residential preliminary plan, as specified in the Town’s preliminary subdivision plan
checklist. As a result, upon approval of this Zoning Document, submission of a separate
residential preliminary plan shall be exempted.

VIII. Permitted Uses (PD Standard 13)

Principal Uses
The following principal uses shall be allowed:

Single-family Attached Dwelling
Single-family Detached Dwelling
Cemetery

Community Garden

Qutdoor Private Recreation

;mswN -

328



6. Park (public or private)
7. Restaurant, Walk-up Only
8. Open Space

Accessory Uses

The following accessory uses shall be allowed:

1.
2.

IX.

All accessory uses allowed in the R6 District

QOutdoor Dining

Densities (PD Stand

ard 5)

The following maximum densities shall be allowed per subdistrict:

bl S

ol

-2: 194 du(s) / 41.81

-1: 263 du(s) / 38.39 acres = 6.85 du(s) / acre

acres = 4.64 du(s) / acre

R-3: 61 du(s) / 25.18 acres = 2.42 du(s) / acre

R-4: 92 du(s) / 50.80

acres = 1.81 du(s) / acre

Overall (all subdistricts): 610 du(s) / 158.88 acres = 3.84 du(s) / acre

DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS
SUBDISTRICT R-1:
2,200 SQUARE FEET (SF)
SUBD -2:
6,000 SF
LOT AREA|SUBDISTRICT R-3:
MINIMUM (MIN):|7,200 SF
SUBD|STRICT R-4:
8,400 SF
SUBDISTRICT H-1:
117,454 SF
SUBD 1:
22 FEET (FT)
SUBDISTRICT R-2:
50 FT
LOT WIDTH|SUBDISTRICT R-3:
(MIN):|60 FT
SUBDISTRICT R-4;
70FT
SUBDISTRICT H-1:
N/A (REFER TO MASTER PLAN)

329



BUILDING SETBACKS
(MIN):

SUBDISTRICTR-1:

FROM PRIMARY STREET: 10 FT (20 FT w/ FRONT LOAD GARAGE)
FROM OLD BUNN RD & NC HWY 97 E: 20 FT

FROM SIDE STREET: 10 FT

FROM SIDE SITE BOUNDARY LINE: 6 FT

FROM REAR SITE BOUNDARY LINE: 20 FT

FROM ALLEY: 20 FT

BD -2:
FROM PRIMARY STREET: 20 FT
FROM SIDE STREET: 10 FT
FROM SIDE LOTLINE: 5 FT
FROM REAR LOT LINE: 20 FT

BD -3:
FROM PRIMARY STREET: 20 FT
FROM SIDE STREET: 10 FT
FROM SIDE LOTLINE: 5 FT
FROM REAR LOT LINE: 20 FT

SUBDISTRICT R-4:

FROM PRIMARY STREET: 20 FT
FROM SIDE STREET: 15 FT
FROM SIDE LOTLINE: 10 FT
FROM REAR LOT LINE: 20 FT

SUBDISTRICT H-1:

FROM PRIMARY STREET: 20 FT
FROM SIDE STREET: 20 FT
FROM SIDE LOTLINE: 15 FT
FROM REARLOTLINE: 15FT

LOT COVERAGE
MAXIMUM (MAX):

BD -1:
65%

SUBDISTRICT R-2:
65%

BDISTRICT R-3:
60%

SUBDISTRICT R-4:
55%

BDI -1:
35%

BUILDING HEIGHT
(MAX):

SUBDISTRICTR-1:
45/3 (FT/ STORIES)

|SUBDISTRICT R-2:
45/3 (FT/ STORIES)

SUBDISTRICT R-3:
45/3 (FT/ STORIES)

SUBDISTRICT R-4:
45/3 (FT/STORIES)

BD ) -1:

45/3 (FT/ STORIES)

10

330



X.

Development Standards (PD Standard 7)

The Development shall adhere to the development standards outlined in Article 5,
'Development Standards,' the subdivision and infrastructure design requirements specified in
Article 6, 'Subdivision,' and Section 4.3 ‘Use-Specific Standards’ unless explicitly modified as
stated below.

1.

UDO Requirement: UDO Section 4.3.3.0.7. VEHICULAR ACCESS TO INDIVIDUAL
DWELLINGS - “Vehicular access points to individual dwellings or individual lots within
a single-family attached development shall only be from the side or rear of the lot.”

Modification: Up to one hundred and fifteen (109) single-family attached dwellings
within the Development shall have vehicular access from the front.

UDO Requirement: UDO Section 4.3.3.P.1. FINISHED FLOOR HEIGHT - “Except for
single-family detached dwellings subject to a deed restricting limiting the age of
residents to 55 years of age or older, the finished floor elevation shall be at least 18
inches above the finished grade adjacent to the home’s primary entrance.”

Modification: All single-family detached homes within Subdistricts R-2 and R-3 shall
be constructed with a slab-on-grade foundation and will not include a finished floor
elevation that is raised 18 inches above the finished grade adjacent to the primary
entrance.

UDQ Requirement: UDO Section 4.3.3.P.3. SITE ACCESS - "Site access to single-family
detached dwellings shall only be in accordance with the standards in Table 4.3.3.P.3:
Sinale Family Site Access Standards.” Specifically, “Lots with a Lot Width of Less than
70 Linear Feet” shall have vehicular access from the rear at all interior lots and side or
rear at all corner lots.

Modification: All single-family detached homes within the Development shall have
vehicular access from the front.

UDO Requirement: UDO Section 5.1.6.E. MINIMUM DRIVEWAY WIDTH AND DEPTH -
“Driveways shall be configured to extend into the lot they serve for a minimum distance
in accordance with Table 5.1.6.E: Minimum Driveway Width and Depth.” Specifically,
minimum driveway depth as measured from the edge of the right-of-way serving the
driveway shall be twenty-five (25) feet in depth.

Modification: Twenty-five (25) single-family attached homes within the Development
shall have a minimum driveway depth of twenty (20) feet.

UDO Reaquirement: UDO Section 5.6.12.B APPLICABILITY - “The standards in this
section shall apply to all lot lines bounded by the following features, whether existing
or identified in the Town's adopted policy quidance. A. Collector streets; and b. Arterial
streets.

Modification: A streetscape buffer shall not be provided along Longstanton Avenue.

1

331



6. UDO Requirement: UDO Section 5.7.4.A Amount - "The minimum required amount

of open-space set-aside, as a percentage of a development’s size, shall be provided in
accordance with the Table 5.7.4.8: Minimum Open Space Set-Aside Required.”

Modification: An Open Space Set-Aside Composition minimum of twenty-nine (29)
percent Active (4.63 acres) of the required total Open Space and seven and seven
tenths (7.7) percent Urban (1.22 acres) of the required total Open Space shall be
provided.

Xl. Development Phasing Plan (PD Standard 10)

The Development will be implemented in two phases, as outlined in the phasing plan included
within the Master Plan.

XIll. On-Site Public Facilities (PD Standard 12)

Design and Construction

The developer shall be responsible for the design and construction of all required
on-site and off-site public infrastructure, ensuring full compliance with applicable
Town, State, and Federal regulations. This includes infrastructure necessary to
support the Development and its integration into the broader community.

Dedication

The developer shall dedicate to the public all necessary right-of-way and easements
required for the construction of on-site and off-site public infrastructure, ensuring
full compliance with applicable Town, State, and Federal requlations.

Modifications to Street Standards

The Development shall adhere to the Town’s Street and Storm Drainage Standards
and Specifications Manual, and the Town’s Standard Details unless explicitly
modified as stated below.

1. The Development shall incorporate 4 townhome street sections referred to as
Townhome Street Section *A’, Townhome Street Section 'B’, Townhome Street
Section ‘C’, and Townhome Street Section ‘D.” Refer to Master Plan for section
details.

2. The Development shall incorporate NCDOT Typical Section No. 2E - 2 Lane

Undivided with Curb & Gutter, Bike Lanes, and Sidewalks, 25-45 mph, as
provided within NCDOT's "Typical” Highway Cross Sections For Use in SPOT
Online Document. Refer to Master Plan for section details. This typical section
will be used for the Longstanton Avenue extension.

3. The Development shall incorporate NCDOT Typical Section No. 4F - 4 Lane
Divided (17'-6" Raised Median) with Curb & Gutter, and Sidewalks, 35-45 mph,
as provided within NCDOT's “Typical” Highway Cross Sections For Use in SPOT

12

332



Online Document. Refer to Master Plan for section details. This typical section
will be used for the required road widening along Old Bunn Road and NC 97
Highway East.

Xlll. Open Space and Amenities

The Development is designed with careful consideration of the Property’s natural and historical
character and its proximity to the Beaverdam Creek. It will provide approximately eight and
seven hundredths (8.07) acres, and twenty-three and thirty-nine hundredths (23.39) acres of
open space set aside for the single-family attached and detached sections respectively. The
provided open space yields twenty-one (21) percent and nineteen (19) percent of the total
area of the single-family attached and detached sections which exceed the required ten (10)
percent per UDO. Of these totals approximately two and forty hundredths (2.65) acres of
active and nine hundredths (0.09) acres of urban open space set-aside shall be provided for
the single-family attached section and one and ninety-eight (1.98) acres of active and one
and thirteen hundredths (1.13) acres of urban open space shall be provided for the single-
family detached section. The combined active and urban open space yields seventy-one (71)
percent and twenty-six {26) percent of the total required open space set-aside for each section
respectively. These open space areas, as depicted in the Master Plan, are integral to
preserving the natural landscape and promoting environmental sustainability.

The Development is designed with a variety of amenities strategically located throughout the
community, enhancing both recreation and quality of life for all residents. Key features include
a centralized large active open space, which will feature a pool and clubhouse for social and
recreational use as well as pickle ball courts, and a playground. Additionally, a public
greenway trail will be integrated along the northern boundary, and private greenway trails
internal to the Development, offering a shared outdoor resource for the entire community.
The private greenway trails will be activated with obstacles and exercise stations. Other
planned amenities may include a pocket park with a playground, pollinator gardens, dog
parks, community gardens, and food truck hookups with outdoor dining. These amenities are
designed to support active lifestyles, environmental sustainability, and a sense of community.

All features as allowed within the UDO for Passive, Active, and Urban Open Space set-aside
shall be allowed within the PD. Specifically, the following features may be selected

i. Passive Open Space

walking and/or bicycle trails;

tables, shelters, gazebos, grills, picnic facilities, and sitting areas;
lawn areas and/or community greens;

outdoor public art;

hammock garden;

fishing dock;

bird boxes;

environmentsl features such as lakes, ponds, wetlands, or streams.

N v A WN =

ii. Active Open Space

1. clubhouse;
2. swimming pool,;

13

333



3. playground;

4. sports fields or courts such as pickleball, tennis, soccer, bocce ball, putting green,
cornhole, and horseshoe pit;

5. greenway trail activated with obstacles and exercise stations.

iii. Urban Open Space

dog parks;

community gardens and/or pollinator gardens;
pocket parks

plaza and/or courtyard;

food truck hookups and/or outdoor dining area.

R wN =

Active open space requirements may be fulfilled by including urban space features and
amenities.

To claim four (4) bonus points within the utility allocation worksheet, the Development SHALL
provide inside the clubhouse “meeting space without kitchen less than 1500 square feet.”

XIV. Streets

The locations of all public streets and private alleys are outlined on the Master Plan. While
the final names of the public streets have not been determined, all streets will be officially
dedicated and identified as public streets on the final plat for each phase of development. To
ensure consistency and quality, all curb and gutter, sidewalk, and pavement installation for
public streets throughout the development will adhere to the Town’s Street and Storm
Drainage Standards and Specifications Manual and Standard Details.

XV. Potable Water and Wastewater

The Development will extend both public water and public sanitary sewer main to the
property, ensuring essential infrastructure is in place to support the community. Additionally,
3 regional pump station will be constructed on-site to serve the broader sewer basin,
enhancing the overall capacity and efficiency of the area's wastewater management system.
The locations of these utilities are depicted on the Master Plan, ensuring integration with the
surrounding infrastructure and compliance with necessary utility standards for long-term
sustainability and service reliability.

XVI. Stormwater Management

The Development will fully comply with all applicable stormwater management requirements
as outlined in the Town’s Street and Storm Drainage Standards and Specifications Manual,
UDO, and Wake County's Stormwater Performance Standards and Specifications.
Comprehensive SCMs will be implemented throughout the development to effectively manage
stormwater runoff through attenuation while providing water quality treatment. Additionally,
the existing drainage patterns will be preserved to the greatest extent possible, ensuring that
natural hydrologic patterns are maintained. This approach is designed to enhance
sustainability, reduce flood risks, and protect water quality in the surrounding area.

14

334



XVII. Natural Resources and Environmental Protection

The Property contains jurisdictional streams, ponds, wetlands, protected riparian buffers, and
flood hazard areas. To protect these sensitive environmenta! features, any impacts from the
installation of streets and infrastructure will be minimized. Where unavoidable, such impacts
will be mitigated and permitted in accordance with the appropriate regulatory agencies to
ensure compliance with environmental protection standards.

Furthermore, only essential structures, including sanitary sewer infrastructure, the public
greenway trail, and stormwater control measures (SCMs), will be permitted to encroach within
the flood hazard area. This approach prioritizes the preservation of natural resources while
allowing for necessary infrastructure to be developed responsibly and in alignment with
environmental regulations.

In addition, one of the features of the Development is the preservation of a federal-style,
nationally registered historic home and a family and enslaved persons’ cemetery, both of
which hold significant cultural and historical value. By maintaining these important cultural
landmarks, the Development acknowledges and honors the area’s history. Preserving these
elements not only adds depth and character to the Development but also helps bridge the
past and the future, creating an enduring connection to the community's heritage

XVIII. Solid Waste

All homes, except for the single-family attached dwelling units, will be serviced by the Town’s
Solid Waste Department, which will provide roll-out trash and recycling bins. The single-family
attached units will be served by a private waste management provider, with waste collection
occurring at two designated dumpster locations within the attached dwelling section of the
development.

XIX. Architectural Conditions

The Development will implement architectural controls to maintain @ cohesive character
throughout the community, while also providing enough variety to foster visual interest and
prevent monotony.

The Development will feature high-quality single-family detached and attached homes. To
enhance the streetscape and introduce architectural diversity, the project will incorporate a
range of distinctive residential elevations.

Although each architectural design will have its own distinct identity, several unifying
elements will tie the homes together, such as consistent color palettes, materials, roofing
styles, and decorative garage doors.
These Architectural Standards apply to all product types.

i. The Applicant commits to exceeding the architectural requirements in

Section 5.2.4 of the UDO. We will work with Town Planning and Building
staff to provide additional architectural features except for Section

15

335



iif.

Vi,

vii.

viii.

Xi.

Xii.

xiii.

Xiv.

XV.

XVi.

XVii.

5.2.4.E.3.e. Garage doors will not be required to be located at least two or
more feet behind a front porch or the primary entrance to the dwelling.

Front porches shall extend beyond the front plane of the garage by a
minimum of twelve (12) inches on twenty-five (25) percent of the homes
constructed. Front Porches shall be allowed to extend beyond the minimum
front setback to a maximum of ten (10} inches.

Front doors shall be illuminated with a front porch ceiling light.

Shutters, when provided, shall have a minimum width of eighteen (18)
inches.

Trim, when provided, shall be a minimum of three (3} inches wide.
Trim color shall be distinct from fagade color.

Porch railings, if included on homes, shall be complimentary color of the
house and shall be made of wrought iron.

No venting will be provided on any front facades except that when a
bathroom is located on the front of the unit, @ vent of a similar color to
either the siding or the trim may be provided on the front of the unit.

The use of corrugated metal siding, unpainted plywood, or smooth-face
concrete block is prohibited.

Vegetative screening for HVAC units shall be provided.

All street-facing garage doors shall contain window inserts and carriage-
style adornments.

Street-facing garage doors shall not exceed a maximum width of eighteen
(18) feet per garage door.

Each garage will either have one light on each side or two (2) lights above
the garage door.

No single family detached home shall be constructed with a front elevation
or color palette that is identical to the home on either side of it.

Accessory buildings, if constructed, shall be of similar materials and colors
to the primary single-family home.

Each front porch shall contain a covered stoop.

All homes will have two or more of the following design features on the
front fagade (not including foundation):

3. Stone

16

336



b. Brick

¢. Lap siding

d. Shakes

e. Board and batten

f. Roof gables

9. Roof dormers

h. Metal roofing as accent
i. Columns

j. Shutters

xviii. When two materials are used, the material shall be different but
complementary colors.

xix. All homes with crawlspaces, stem wall or poured concrete foundations shall
have the front of the foundation wrapped in brick or stone.

xx. Every home will have either a back deck, porch, or patio.
xxi. Cluster box units (CBUs) location shall be subject to USPS approval.
xxii. CBUs shall be covered.

xxiii. Single-family detached dwellings shall comply with the standards in UDO
Section 4.3.3.P, except for Section 4.3.3.P.3.

xxiv. At least one window shall be provided on the front of the home.

xxv. Roof pitches (excluding porches) shall be at least 6:12.

xxvi. Front and rear eaves shall project a minimum of twelve (12) inches. Side
eaves shall be @ minimum of four (4) inches. Eaves will be allowed to

encroach into required setbacks.

xxvii. All single-family detached homes will have @ minimum of two-car garage.

17

337



XX.

Zoning Conditions

The following zoning conditions are being proffered for consideration:

1.

10.

1.

12.

Principal uses shall be limited to Single-family Attached Dwelling, Single-family
Detached Dwelling, Cemetery, Community Garden, Outdoor Private Recreation, Park
(public or private), Restaurant, Walk-up Only, and Open Space.

Accessory uses shall be limited to all accessory uses allowed in the R6 District and
Outdoor Dining.

. The only residential building types allowed are Detached and Attached House

(Townhouse).
No building height shall be greater than forty-five (45) feet or three (3) staries.

Native tree species for required street tree plantings shall be provided where native
species are allowed under the Town's UDO.

At least twelve (12) distinct open space lots shall be provided.

A public greenway trail and associated easement shall be provided along the northern
property boundary adjacent to Beaverdam Creek.

All TIA recommendations for traffic improvement shall be provided.

. The following amenities shall be provided: dog park, community garden, pollinator

garden, pocket park, pickle ball court, swimming pool, greenway trailhead, and
playground.

No more than seventy (70) percent of the property may be covered by impervious
surfaces.

Except for a greenway trail, sanitary sewer infrastructure, and stormwater control
measures, no other structures shall be permitted within designated flood hazard areas.

A minimum of 5% of the townhouse units shall be designated as affordable townhouse
units for home ownership and are subject to the following conditions:

a. Affordable townhouse units shall be sold at a price affordable for households
earning 80% of the area median income (AMI) as established by the United States
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for the Raleigh-Cary
Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA).

b. An affordability restriction to preserve the affordability of each affordable
townhouse unit for & period of ten (10) years, in a form approved by the Town of
Zebulon, shall be filed and recorded in the property’s chain of title in the Wake
County Register of Deeds office prior to receiving a certificate of compliance for the
first affordable townhouse unit.

18

338



13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

c. The affordable townhouse units will be comparable in external appearance to the
market rate units of the same unit type.

The principal structure on the Bunn Residence Site shall not be demolished in whole
or in part except for purposes of maintenance or restoration, and no new building may
be constructed on the Bunn Residence Site.

The developer shall construct and install the parking lot, sidewalk, and landscape
buffers as illustrated within the H-1 subdistrict on the Master Plan.

A dual-purpose pool shall be provided that will include a minimum four-lane Junior
Olympic lap pool and two attached sections: one for toddlers and kids, and the other
as a8 wading area.

Each playground shall provide @ minimum of one (1) shade structure.

At a minimum the developer should provide security cameras and no trespassing signs
during construction.

19

339



STAFF REPORT

ZEBULON LETTER OF INTENT

NORTH CAROLINA OLD BUNN ROAD HISTORIC HOME
AUGUST 4, 2025

Topic: Letter of Intent, Old Bunn Road Historic Home
Speaker: Matt Lower, Planning Director

Prepared by: Matt Lower, Planning Director

Approved by: Taiwo Jaiyeoba, Interim Town Manager

The developer of the proposed Old Bunn Road Planned Development has indicated a willingness to
improve and donate the historic home located on the Bunn Plantation property, along with a portion of
the surrounding land, to the Town of Zebulon.

The Grow Zebulon Comprehensive Land Use Plan provides several policy directives that support the
Town's consideration of this offer, including:

* Recreation and Amenities Policy A: Emphasize Zebulon’s historic, recreational, and cultural
assets in all community events, marketing, and economic development efforts.

¢ Recreation and Amenities Policy L: With its public agency and local partners, pursue a
consensus-based historic preservation strategy for Downtown and other core areas of Town that
balances community, owner, and business interests.

Accepting this type of asset requires careful consideration of ongoing costs, responsibilities, and
alignment with long-term Town priorities. Prior to accepting any offer, Town staff will need to conduct a
structural assessment of the home, determine the scope of potential rehabilitation, and develop the
framework for identified a specific public use, maintenance plan, or funding source for its future
preservation or activation.

To support further due diligence and provide clarity for all parties, staff requests that the Board of
Commissioners directs the Town Manager to develop a non-binding Letter of Intent (LOI) with the
developer. The LOI would outline the Town’s preliminary interest in accepting the donation of the
historic home and accompanying land, contingent upon future findings related to:

Condition and structural integrity of the home

Cost and feasibility of preservation or rehabilitation
Identification of potential public uses

Community value and alighment with historic and cultural goals
Long-term ownership, stewardship, and funding strategies

The LOI would allow staff to coordinate inspections, initiate preliminary planning, and return with a full
recommendation to the Board before any final decisions are made.

Suggested Motion:
“I move that the Board of Commissioners direct Town staff to develop a non-binding Letter of Intent with
the developer of the Old Bunn Road Planned Development regarding the potential donation of the

historic home and surrounding land located on the Bunn Plantation property. Staff shall return to the
Board with findings and a formal recommendation prior to any final acceptance.”

340



STAFF REPORT
ZEBULON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UPDATE
NORTH CAROLINA SEPTMEBER 8, 2025

Topic: FY 2026 Monthly Financial Report Addendum

Executive Summary:
A monthly report summarizing the status of the Town'’s revenues and expenditures.

Background:

The attached financials are a summary of revenues and expenditures to date. These
monthly reports are provided to inform the Board of revenue and expenditure trends
throughout the year. The enclosed statements are through August 21, 2025.

Information:

Expenditures
With Fiscal Year 2025 almost closed with only one more month of sales tax and the final

quarter of utilities sales tax remaining, the revenues and expenditures appear to be the
following approximately:

o Revenues: $25,721,692 (up 10.2% from FY 2025)

o Expenditures: $21,335,618 (up 11.3% from FY 2025)

With approximately 2 months into Fiscal Year 2026 expenditures complete, the Town has
spent approximately 9% (~ $2,838,811) of its General Fund budget of $31,091,653. It is
important to note some larger early year expenditures — some vehicle and equipment
purchases, most all the annual property & liability as well as the workers compensation
premiums have been paid. This is why some departments have higher amounts of percent
of budget spent at this early point in the year. Some discussion on some early revenue
activity such as zoning fees and property taxes is below. The revenue and expenditure
statements are included for your review.

Revenues
e Property Tax (the Town's largest revenue stream)
+ FY 2026 collections: $528,205 collected to date (~ 3% of budget).
+ Observations:
# 66.8% more than collected last fiscal year ($316,694).
# One month of vehicle taxes have been collected for FY 2026.

o Sales Tax (second largest revenue stream)
+ May'’s sales (reports lag 3-months):
# $11,016 (5.1%) more collected than last May for all sales tax.
# $3,792 (4.008%) more collected than last May for “local” sales tax.
# “Local” sales tax (Article 39) is generated within, and returns to, Wake County.
# For every $100,000 in local sales, $3.55 comes back to the Town of Zebulon.

+ Year-to-Date comparisons (sales through the first eleven months of the fiscal year)

# $143,292 (+6.25%) more collected than at this time last year for all sales tax
# Collections represent 97% of budgeted revenues at 92% of the fiscal year.

341



STAFF REPORT
ZEBULON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UPDATE
NORTH CAROLINA SEPTMEBER 8, 2025

# Robust sales and an increased share were factors in the collections exceeding
budget.

» Utilities Sales Tax (5% of revenue stream): fourth quarterly disbursement to be received
September 15.
+ The first distribution of FY 2026 will not be received until December 15
+ Reflects natural gas and electricity sales and heavily weather dependent

¢ Permits & Zoning
+ $20,167 collected total (15% of budgeted revenues ($250,000)
+ 28.5% less than what was collected this time last fiscal year ($28,219).

o Parks & Recreation
+ 42,981 collected total (27.3% of budgeted revenues ($157,500)
+ 11.5% more than what was collected this month last fiscal year ($38,562).

¢ Transportation Impact Fees
+ $82,837 collected to date in FY 2026
+ 150.5% more than what was collected last fiscal year ($33,063).
+ Revenue placed in reserve for transportation projects to be spent within 10 years

e Recreation Impact Fees
+ $474,000 collected to date in FY 2026
+ 485% more than what was collected last fiscal year ($81,000).
+ Collections since inception of fee (January 2022) ~ $6,662,000

Policy Analysis: N/A
Financial Analysis: Budgeted revenue in FY 2026 is $31,091,653 while year to date

revenue collected is $1,669,107 (5% of budgeted). Budgeted revenue includes $6.45M Fund
Balance.

Staff Recommendation:
No staff recommendation or Board action is necessary. These are informational only.

Attachments:

1. General Fund Fiscal Year 2026 Expenditure Statement and Revenue Statement (as
of August 21, 2025)

342



%0
|EIUBWIUISA0ZI2IUI PaIALISAIUN

SNOAUR|SISIN
$30)AIDS 1§ SIES M
sSujuies JUSWISSAU|
$28) g syIad m
JelusWUIaA0ZI33U] PRIOISAY B
|ElUSLIUIaACEIRIUL PIDLISAIUN
$asUSN 1§ sexel J3YiQ W
152J9)U| 13 sal)eusd m

$9Xe) WalojeA Py E

%0
158J3)U{ 13 saljeuad

%ET

|EIUSLULIBA0BIFIUI PRIDLIISIY

%T
$35UBIN 13 SIXEL JBUIO

%9E
saxe) WaJo|eA Py

%E
52015 7§ S3|eS

%T
snoaue||adsiin

%L

%6

593} 1§ S3WIA

$BUjUIED JUBLIISDAU|

SZ0Z Ad - 918 OL SNU3AY |01 JO 9% pun4 |EIAUID UOJNGIZ JO UMOL

%004
%00
%L
%¥'e
%L'9
%5°8E
%S¢l
%00
%V’ L
%10
%0°9E

QLA enusAay [ejo] Jo %,

00°€59°160'L€

%¥'S €6°201°699°L $
%00 N $
%9°cE P9°'P€0'v2 $
%6°¢ 81°90b°9G $
%0791 ¥¥'G90°2LL $
%L°v6 82'680°2¥9 $
%88 $8'¥9Y'80C $
%00 - $
%P6 00'006'€2 $
%88 £0'0SP'2 $
%6°¢ 12121009 $
Poeyda||0d % QLA 9NUBADY

00'80€'GSY'9
00°S¥¥'LL
00°00Z'P9¥'L
00°000°00.
00°005°289
00s'12e2
000'869°¢
00°005°062
00°005'22
00°005°02£'S1
snueAsy pejewns3

YN R RS R

SanuUaAdy ejol
pajeudoiddy souejeg pun4
sSnoaue|0sIy

SA0IAISS P STRS

sBuiuies juswisaau|

$99} g sjulad
[euawanobisiul pajousay
[ejuawiuiaAcbialu) pajauysaIun
S9SUSDIT 9 Saxe] JAYI0
1saJalu| g saljjeudd

SOXE] WAIOBA PY

SalI0ba)ed SNUSADY

§202/12/8 Jo sV

ANNd TY43NIO
9202/0€/9 pouad bununcooy Joy
920¢ - G20z \UsWale]ls anuandy

NOTNG3Z 40 NMOL

¥NITOWEDY MEWOM

NOITNdAdZ

343



%1°6

%81
%8°€l
%09
%v0
%001
%S
%L Cl
%86
%e 0l
%0
%S9
%8V
%v'6
%0°C1
%V'€

AX3 %

L18'8€8°C$

€eTves
GEL'9L9%
LEL'LLS
Sv0°1$
6L1°LPS$
696°'62€$
bLe'6LLS
025'8LL$
620'vELS
zze'es
6L0°€S$
126°G€$
120'85$
LL9'L6$
6E9VES

alA aanjipuadx3

£59°160°1L€$

00€ZzZE 1S
GEL'8OV' VS
0S€°262%
000°19¢%
veL26E'SS
004°L6¥'9%
¥8€'G59°G$
005'818°L$
0ZEe'COE'LS
09.'60L$
0SP'L1L8S
0zZZ'LvL$
0S¥'919%
06€'99.$

009°1€0°L$
junowly doiddy

§20¢c/1e/8 Jo sy

sainjipuadxy jejo

ININGOTIATA DINONODIS 8 ALINNIWWNOD 069
NOILVIHO3Y ® SHHvd 029
HIALVMINHOLS 069
118 T13MOd 04S
344 0es
SNOILYHIdO-SHHOM 2l1and 0cs
30110d ols
1WON 103rodd 8 ALd3d0dd-SHHOM 2l1and 00S
ONINOZ ANV ONINNV1d 06¥y
WNIAv1s 0¥
ADOTONHOIL NOILVINHOANI 0Sv
NOLLVHLSININGY ovv
S3UNOSIH NYIWNH oey
3JONVNI4 ocy
AdOg ONINYMINOO Ol¥
jusauniedag #1deQg
dNN4 TVH3INIO

9202/0¢€/9 pouad Buiunosoy Joj
920¢ - G20z uswale)s ainjipuadxy
NO1NgdZ 40 NMOL

NOTNdAZ

344



‘uiS1I0 40 AJUNOD B3 O] PEUINISS DJE Xe) GE J[AIUY B 4O SPa3J0Id 19N «

%5 LES'OSET S | 1S5'925°C $ VET'TI8E $ (17) $ O0fT’09S $ 60v'69Y $ 888'STT'T S lelol
%08 80C9TC PYS'EET IT8'SE o 067 15 8TZEY 615'201 aunf
%St 20L'L02 $ | 6zT'LIT Z80'VE ) 96t'LY (43404 12916 Aoy
%071 ECT'LLT $ | vIv'86T 958'0E (9) 9YS'EY 962'LE €24'98 dy
%'S ¥is'TiT S | 0L6'€TT f44943 0 8€Z'0S E€IT'TY £60°001 yarepy
%65 Y19Vt S | T60'ZBT 816'92 (1) 650t SE9'EE 096'08 Aenigad
%60 GE6'£8T $ | 922981 791'8T [t4] Z60'1Y TeL've £96'T8 Atenuer
%S'S V6E'STT S | 66L°2ET 8EY'SE (1} £56TS 690'vY SEE'SOT 1aqwiaiag
%E9T 691'981 s | 126812 829'0E 4 L'ey LOP'6E Z91'66 1aquanoN
%S ¥99°£61 $ | v8v'a0z zET'0E (€) 892'9Y TT8'LE SLTC6 129030
%E0- 128202 $ | €S1'202 798'6T 0 0€0'SY z9t'LE 66L'68 Jaquiandag
%L’S T8EE0T $ | sp0'STT 180'VE 0 756'97 685°0¥ £r'ee 1sn3ny
%e'6 TTEL8T $ | 9£2'v02 § LET'TE (0 9Ly 959°8€ 2Z1°68 S Aing
A 1014 wioyy (33Q) 2l % (€z0z Ad) 1eaA Jo1d S|e101 vZ Ad SS3|UIEH PIOH AID (2/T) vy 3Py (z/t) zv epnay {z/1) ov 2Py « (T} 6€ 211y [T

v20Z Ad

Xe] sajes
%Z'9 LOD'E6T'T $ | 662'9EV'T $ 6SU'ELE s (D) TET'LES Z1S'9sy TTT'690'T S lelo)
%0001~ VPG EEC E B B B B = aung
%L 6TT'L1T s | srr'8ze 9199 (z1) vev'sy SYI'EV €11'86 AeN
%SLT YIt'S6T $ | ETTEET 0SE'SE 0 £L89'TS TE€TEY S86°¢01 [udy
%z'8 046'€T S | OvE'ZYT LYS'9E (1 TOL'ES LeT'sy £96'901 Yasep
%S 260281 S | s¥s'8stT 45508 3] ozL'or SPT'9E S20'18 Aenigag
%60 972981 5 | ogs't8T 66E'0E (4] TESOV OEE'9E 21508 Adenuep
%E'6 66L'LET S | 668°652 PSE'9E 0 66065 708'9% [ WAR Jaquiadag
%1€ 1Z6'81¢ S | 8LL'see PE6'SE 0 9rT'6¥ 6E0°EY 689°L6 13quIBAON
%59 84°902 S | 8v6'sTe TYT'eE 3] 96L'8Y 558°00 95126 1390330
%9°S £ST'202 $ | 6S5'ETT 509'62 (r) £65'8P 066 '8€ 2LL'96 Jaquardas
%0°E SP0'sTE $ | 695'TTT Stri'SE (13] SET'8Y 661°CY 06£'56 wsnany
%T'S 9LL'v02 $ | e9v'ste $ 6OS'EE $ () 10€'Ly $ 6vr'ov $ L1Z've S Ainp

A J03g w0y (320) oW % {b20Z Ad) Jeap Joud S|e101 SZ Ad ssajutiey ploH A (z/1) vw 2Py (z/1) Tv 2Py (z/1) ov 3PNV « (T) 6€ apiy Yluow
G207 Ad

xej sa|es

345



Monthly Summary of Sales Tax Collected

+ FY 2025 Article 39

~ FY 2024 Article 39

e

® FY 2025: Total

 FY 2024: Total

4300000 -

EW L. . T 1
+143,292

$250,000

“
%o |

LN N NN

T -y

\\\\\\\k\\\\v

J\.\\\l\.‘\\\\\‘

\"\\\\\\\!\\\\‘Q

$200.000 -

l
8
o
g

SO

NN

AN

AANNN k\\\\\
\\\\\\\\\\‘

AVANNNMNAANNN
AN,

ENSUAMANRAANY,
SOOI

“\\\\k\\\\
NNNNNNNNNNNY

NOOORNNY]
ﬁ

\\\\\‘!\\\\\‘Q
OONNANANNNY

\\\\\{\\\\
AU

$100,000

PaIs||o) XelL sIfes

-

:\\\\\\,K\\\\ae'

August September October November Dacember January February March April

July

346





